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JUDICIAL MERIT SELECTION COMMISSION

PUBLIC HEARINGS ON JUDICIAL QUALIFICATIONS

PUBLIC SESSION

Tuesday, April 24, 2001

10:30 a.m.

The Gressette Building

Columbia, South Carolina

COMMISSION MEMBERS IN ATTENDANCE:

SENATOR GLENN F. McCONNELL, Chairman

REPRESENTATIVE F. G. DELLENEY, JR., Vice-Chairman

SENATOR JAMES H. RITCHIE, JR.

JOHN P. FREEMAN

AMY JOHNSON McLESTER

REPRESENTATIVE JAMES G. McGEE, III

REPRESENTATIVE FLETCHER N. SMITH, JR.

HONORABLE CURTIS G. SHAW

RICHARD S. "Nick" FISHER

ALSO PRESENT:

MICHAEL N. COUICK, Chief Counsel

ERIN B. CRAWFORD, Senate Counsel 

SWATI N. SHAH, House Counsel

BEN MUSTIAN, House Counsel

KENNETH DAVIS, Senate Counsel

GAYLE ADDY

(The Commission opened its meeting in Executive Session.)

VICE-CHAIRMAN:  Judge Nicholson. Good to see you again.

JUDGE NICHOLSON:  Nice to see you, sir.

VICE-CHAIRMAN:  So soon again.

JUDGE NICHOLSON:  Yes, sir.

VICE-CHAIRMAN:  Before we start with your screening, we have some introductory remarks as far as the process goes itself.  Of course, this is a public hearing on judicial qualifications the Judicial Merit Selection Commission has called pursuant to Chapter 19 of Tile 2 of the South Carolina Code of Laws, to review all candidates for judicial office.  The function of the Commission is not to choose between candidates, but rather to declare whether or not the candidates who offer for positions on the bench are, in our judgment, qualified to fill the positions.  The inquiry we undertake is a thorough one.  It centers around the Commission's nine evaluative criteria and involves a complete personal and professional background check on every candidate.  The Commission's investigation has two components.  One is an exhaustive review of materials submitted by the candidate, reports of various credit and law enforcement agencies, results of a survey in the South Carolina bench and bar, and the candidate's completion of a practice and procedure examination; and, two, in cases where there is known opposition to a candidate, a public hearing for the purpose of further evaluating the candidate's qualifications.  

These public hearings are convened for the purpose of screening candidates for the following positions:  a vacancy in the Circuit Court for the Ninth Judicial Circuit, Seat 1; a vacancy in the Circuit Court for the Tenth Judicial Circuit, Seat 1; and a vacancy in the Circuit Court for the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit, Seat 1.

We have before us today the Honorable J.C. Nicholson, Jr., who is an At-Large Circuit Court judge and seeks a position with the Tenth Judicial Circuit Court, Seat Number 1.  If you would, Judge Nicholson, raise your right hand.

(HONORABLE J.C. NICHOLSON, JR., being first duly sworn by the Vice-Chairman, testified as follows:)

VICE-CHAIRMAN:  Thank you, sir.  Have you had an opportunity to review your Personal Data Questionnaire?

JUDGE NICHOLSON:  Yes, sir.

VICE-CHAIRMAN:  Is it correct?

JUDGE NICHOLSON:  Yes, sir.

VICE-CHAIRMAN:  Does anything need to be changed?

JUDGE NICHOLSON:  No, sir.

VICE-CHAIRMAN:  Do you object to

our making the summary a part of the record of

your sworn testimony?

JUDGE NICHOLSON:  No, sir.

VICE-CHAIRMAN:  It will be done at this point in the transcript.  

PERSONAL DATA QUESTIONNAIRE

Resident Circuit Court Judge for Tenth Judicial Circuit, Seat #1

Mr. Julius C. Nicholson, Jr.

HOME:
200 Nottingham Way, Anderson, S.C.  29621


864-225-9835

BUSINESS:
Anderson County Courthouse



100 S. Main Street, P.O. Box 8002, Anderson, S.C.  29624



864-260-4059

2.
Date and Place of Birth:  September 30, 1942, at Birmingham, Alabama.

3.
Are you a citizen of South Carolina?  Yes.

Have you been a resident of this state for at least the immediate past five years?  Yes.

5.
Family Status:  Married on July 11, 1992, to Janet Elaine Nicholson.

(b)
Divorced:  6-17-92- One Year’s Separation - Moving party-J.C. Nicholson, Jr.

(c)
Children:

Amanda Nicholson, age 31, School Teacher;

Stacy Nicholson, age 30, Captain in Air Force;

J.C. Nicholson, III, age 26, Junior at USC Law School;

Lara Nicholson, age 22, Housewife;

John Beeks, age 23, Senior at Clemson University.

6.
Have you served in the military?  If so, give the dates, branch of service, highest rank attained, serial number, present status, and the character of your discharge or release.

USAF


July ‘65 until August ‘70

Air National Guard
1971-1988

Retired Lt. Col. 10/88.

7.
List each college and law school you attended, including the dates of your attendance, the degrees you received, and if you left an institution without receiving a degree, the reason for your departure.

Citadel 1964 with AB in Political Science;

USC Law School 1973 With JD.

8.
List the states in which you have been admitted to practice law and the year of each admission.

South Carolina; November 1973

9.
List the significant activities in which you took part during your attendance at college, graduate, and law school. Give the dates you were involved in these activities and list any leadership positions you held.

Citadel - annual staff, 1963-1964; sailing club 1962-1964; football 1960-1961; baseball 1960-1961

USC Law School - flew in the Air National guard and worked two jobs to put himself through school

10.
Briefly describe your continuing legal or judicial education during the past five years.

(a)
Seminars with SC Bar

(b)
Circuit Court Judge’s Associate Meeting & SC Judicial Conference

(c)
University of Nevada Judicial College - 2 weeks & took General Jurisdiction Course

11.
Have you taught law-related courses or lectured at bar association conferences, educational institutions, or continuing legal or judicial education programs?  Yes, at Solicitors Conference.

12.
List all published books and articles you have written and give citations and the dates of publication for each.  None.

13.
List all courts in which you have been admitted to practice and list the dates of your admission.  Give the same information for administrative bodies that require a special admission to practice.

South Carolina Bar - November 1973;

South Carolina Federal District Court - April 1974;

Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals - October 1974;

United States Supreme Court - February 1990.

14.
Describe chronologically your legal experience since graduation from law school and include a list of all law firms with which you have been associated.  Describe the general character of your practice and divide it into periods with dates if its character has changed over the years.

During the twenty-five years I practiced law, I practiced in all areas of law.

Fogle & Watson-1973;

Fogle & Nicholson-1975;

J.C. Nicholson-1975-1978;

Nicholson & Williams-1978-1981;

Assistant Solicitor in Greenville-1982;

Epps & Krause-1982-1985;

Epps, Krause & Nicholson-1985-1994;

Epps, Nicholson & Stathakis 1995-3/1/99;

Circuit Court Judge 3/1/99 until present.

Retired judges/justices and judges/justices applying for reelection to their current position may omit Questions 16-21.

22.
Have you ever held judicial office?

Yes, Circuit Court 3-1-99 to present with unlimited trial court jurisdiction for trials in South Carolina except for cases which SC Supreme Court has original jurisdiction.

23.
If the answer to question 22 is yes, describe or attach five of your most significant orders or opinions and give the citations if they were reported.  Also list citations to any appellate review of these orders or opinions.

24.
Have you ever held public office other than judicial office?

Elected to County Council in Orangeburg County 1976-1982.

25.
List all employment you have had while serving as a judge other than elected judicial office. None.

26.
Have you ever been an unsuccessful candidate for elective, judicial, or other public office? If so, give details, including dates.

Judicial candidate for At Large Seat #13 in February 1996.

27.
Have you ever been engaged in any occupation, business, or profession other than the practice of law, teaching of law, or holding judicial or other public office?  No.

28.
Are you now an officer or director or involved in the management of any business enterprise? No.

30.
Describe any financial arrangements or business relationships that you have, or have had in the past, that could constitute or result in a possible conflict of interest in the position you seek.  Explain how you would resolve any potential conflict of interest.

I still receive funds from contingency cases from the buyout arrangement with my ex-law partners.  I recuse myself on any civil case which was opened with my ex-law firm prior to March 1, 1999.  I did not allow my ex-partners and associates to appear for any reason for 15 months after starting work as a judge on March 1, 1999.

31.
Have you ever been arrested, charged, or held by federal, state, or other law enforcement authorities for violation or for suspicion of violation of any federal law or regulation; state law or regulation; or county or municipal law, regulation, or ordinance?  No.

32.
Have you, to your knowledge, ever been under federal, state, or local investigation for possible violation of a criminal statute?  No.

33.
Has a tax lien or other collection procedure ever been instituted against you by federal, state, or local authorities?  Have you ever defaulted on a student loan?  Have you ever filed for bankruptcy?  No.

34.
Have you ever been sued, either personally or professionally?

The Orangeburg County Council was sued in the 70's but the case was dismissed.

36.
Are you now or have you ever been employed as a lobbyist, as defined by S.C. Code § 2-17-10(13), or have you acted in the capacity of a lobbyist’s principal, as defined by S.C. Code § 2-17-10(14)?  No.

37.
Since filing with the Commission your letter of intent to run for judicial office, have you accepted lodging, transportation, entertainment, food, meals, beverages, money, or any other thing of value as defined by S.C. Code § 2-17-10(1) from a lobbyist or lobbyist’s principal? No.

38.
S.C. Code § 8-13-700 provides, in part, that “[n]o public official, public member, or public employee may knowingly use his official office, membership, or employment to obtain an economic interest for himself, a member of his immediate family, an individual with whom he is associated, or a business with which he is associated.”  Please detail any knowledge you have of any formal charges or informal allegations against you or any other candidate for violations of these provisions. None.

39.
S.C. Code § 8-13-765 provides, in part, that “[n]o person may use government personnel, equipment, materials, or an office building in an election campaign.”  Please detail any knowledge you have of any formal charges or informal allegations against you or any other candidate for violations of these provisions.  None.

40.
Itemize all expenditures, other than those for travel and room and board, made by you, or on your behalf, in furtherance of your candidacy for the position you seek.  None.

41.
List the amount and recipient of all contributions made by you or on your behalf to members of the General Assembly since the announcement of your intent to seek election to a judgeship.  None.

42.
Have you directly or indirectly requested the pledge of any member of the General Assembly as to your election for the position for which you are being screened?  Have you received the assurance of any public official or public employee that they will seek the pledge of any member of the General Assembly as to your election for the position for which you are being screened?  No.

43.
Have you requested a friend or colleague to contact members of the General Assembly on your behalf?  No.

44.
Have you or has anyone on your behalf solicited or collected funds to aid in the promotion of your candidacy?  No.

45.
List all bar associations and professional organizations of which you are a member and give the titles and dates of any offices you have held in such groups.

(a)
Anderson County Bar Association;

(b)
SC Bar- member of the House of Delegates (1995-1997);

a) SC Trial Lawyers Association.

46.
List all civic, charitable, educational, social, and fraternal organizations of which you are or have been a member during the past five years and include any offices held in such a group, any professional honors, awards, or other forms of recognition received and not listed elsewhere.

Rotary.

47.
Provide any other information which may reflect positively or negatively on your candidacy, or which you believe should be disclosed in connection with consideration of you for nomination for the position you seek.  None.

48.
Personal References:

(a)
William N. Epps, Jr.

P.O. Box 2167, Anderson, S.C. 29622

(864) 224-2111

(b)
Stephen K. Haigler

121 W. Benson Street, Anderson, S.C. 29624
(864) 224-9677

(c)
Bill West, The People’s National Bank

1800 E. Main St., Easley, S.C. 29640

(864) 859-2265

(d)
Alec McLeod

P.O. Box 433, St. Matthews, S.C. 29135
(803) 874-3681

(e)
Douglas N. Kelly

1 Aviation Lane, Unit 1, Greenville, S.C. 29607
(800) 271-0607

VICE-CHAIRMAN:  The Judicial Merit Selection Committee has thoroughly investigated your qualifications for the bench.  Our inquiry has focused our nine evaluative criteria and has included a survey of the bench and bar; a SLED and FBI check; credit check; grievance and reprimand check; thorough study of your application materials; verification of your compliance with state ethics laws; a search of newspaper articles in which your name appears; a study of previous screenings, which are several; a check for economic conflicts of interest.  And we have not received any affidavits found in opposition to your election, nor are there any witnesses present to testify today.  Do you have a brief opening statement you would like to make?

JUDGE NICHOLSON:  No, sir.

VICE-CHAIRMAN:  Thank you, sir.  Please answer any questions that our able counsel might have for you.

MR. COUICK:  Good morning, Judge.

JUDGE NICHOLSON:  Good morning.

MR. COUICK:  Mr. Chairman and Members of the Commission, Judge Nicholson has provided a sworn statement with detailed answers for over 30 questions regarding judicial conduct, constitutional qualifications, office administration, temperament, and general housekeeping.  This statement was provided to all the judicial members earlier and is included in your notebooks today.  These questions were previously asked during public hearings approximately a year ago.  Those have now been reduced to written questions.  I've reviewed Judge Nicholson's answers.  I have no concerns with any statements made, nor with any response.  And with the Commission's approval, I would like to ask that those questions be waived in this public hearing today.  I would also ask that statement be entered into the public record at this time.

VICE-CHAIRMAN:  Do I hear a motion to waive the questions by counsel? 

JUDGE SHAW:  I so move.

MR. FISHER:  Second.

VICE-CHAIRMAN:  All in favor, aye? 

UNISON:  Aye.

VICE-CHAIRMAN:  Opposing?  None.  It will be done so at this point in the transcript.

MR. COUICK:  Thank you.

Sworn Statement to be included in Transcript of Public Hearings

Full Name:

Julius Carnes Nicholson, Jr.

Home:


200 Nottingham Way, Anderson, S.C. 29621




864-225-9835

Business:

Anderson County Courthouse




100 S. Main Street, Anderson, S.C. 29624




864-260-4059

E‑Mail Address:
jnicholsonj@scjd.state.sc.us.

1.
Why do you want to serve as a Circuit Court Judge?


I have enjoyed working as a Circuit Court Judge since my election in 2/99 and would like to be the resident judge.

2.
Do you plan to serve your full term if elected?  Yes.

3.
Do you have any plans to return to private practice one day?  No.

4.
Have you met the Constitutional requirements for this position regarding age, residence, and years of practice?  Yes.

5.
What is your philosophy regarding ex parte communications? Are there circumstances under which you could envision ex parte communications being tolerated?


I do not do ex parte communications.  I believe that if there is any ex parte it should only be for schedules and ex parte TRO Requests.

6.
What is your philosophy on recusal, especially in situations in which lawyer‑legislators, former associates, or law partners are to appear before you?  I did not hear anything with my ex partners or associates for 15 months after taking the bench on March 1, 1999.  I do not now hear any cases in the office prior to March 1, 1999.

7.
If you disclosed something that had the appearance of bias, but you believed it would not actually prejudice your impartiality, what deference would you give a party that requested your recusal?  Would you grant such a motion?


Depends on the situation and the possibility of a bad appearance.  I would probably grant Motion unless made strictly to prolong or delay.

8.
How would you handle the appearance of impropriety because of the financial or social involvement of your spouse or a close relative?  Recuse myself.

9.
What standards would you set for yourself regarding the acceptance of gifts or social hospitality?  


Do not accept gifts except for birthday, Christmas and Anniversaries from friends.  I accept invitations for social functions as long as they are strictly social parties or functions.

10.
How would you handle a situation in which you became aware of misconduct of a lawyer or of a fellow judge?  Report the misconduct.

11.
Are you affiliated with any political parties, boards or commissions that, if you were elected, would need to be re‑evaluated?  No.

12.
Do you have any business activities with which you would envision remaining involved if elected to the bench?  No.

13.
How would you handle the drafting of orders?


I request proposed orders and review and may or may not modify.

14.
What methods would you use to ensure that you and your staff meet deadlines?


Tickler Lists and Calendar Notes showing deadlines.

15.
What is your philosophy on “judicial activism,” and what effect should judges have in setting or promoting public policy?


I think a Judge should follow the law regardless of personal belief or public policy promotion.  A Circuit Court Judge is not in the business to set public policy; that belongs to the Legislative branch of government.

16.
Canon 4 allows a judge to engage in activities to improve the law, legal system, and administration of justice.  What activities do you plan to undertake to further this improvement of the legal system?


I have started, in Anderson County, an ADR program on 1/1/01 and plan on implementing a drug court hopefully in the near future as well as a reading program with Anderson College for probation purposes in the future.

17.
Do you feel that the pressure of serving as a judge would strain personal relationships (i.e. spouse, children, friends, or relatives)?  How would you address this?


No, it hasn’t so far.  I would address the pressure with the other person and try to work it out or get a third party professional to help.

18.
The following list contains five categories of offenders that would perhaps regularly appear in your court.  Discuss your philosophy on sentencing for these classes of offenders.

a.
Repeat offenders: Depends upon type past charges and date of charge but put a lot of emphasis on past criminal record. 

b.
Juveniles (that have been waived to the circuit court): Try to help unless a danger to society

c.
White collar criminals: Some jail time and amount of time depends upon prior record, background, crime, length of involvement, etc., plus restitution.

d.
Defendants with a socially and/or economically disadvantaged background: try to help unless previously had an opportunity and what is available is limited; however, if the person is a danger and has prior criminal record then some jail and how much depends upon whether the person has ever served time before.

e.
Elderly defendants or those with some infirmity: It depends upon the crime and prison record of the individual but I don’t think that the State needs to give free and expensive medical care unless absolutely necessary.



In general, I think every case and individual is different and the sentence needs to be designed for that individual and the crime while keeping in mind confinement, deterrent, rehabilitation and restitution.  These necessary punishments goals must be determined and the sentence given needs to be tailored for one or several of the goals while considering the individuals prior record, appearance in court as well as information received from lawyers, victims and prosecutors.   I always keep in mind some restitution.

19.
Are you involved in any active investments from which you derive additional income that might impair your appearance of impartiality?  No.

20.
Would you hear a case where you or a member of your family held a de minimis financial interest in a party involved?


No and it may be allowed, but, in my opinion, has the wrong appearance unless revealed to the parties and everyone discusses in private and agree.

21. Do you belong to any organizations that discriminate based on race, religion, or gender?  No.

22.
Have you attended all mandatory continuing legal education courses?  Yes.

23.
What do you feel is the appropriate demeanor for a judge?


Listen, patience, and politeness to all but firmness when necessary.

24.
Do the rules that you expressed in your previous answer apply only while you are on the bench or in chambers, or do these rules apply seven days a week, twenty‑four hours a day?  I try to treat others always as I would want to be treated.

25.
Do you feel that it is ever appropriate to be angry with a member of the public, especially with a criminal defendant?  Is anger ever appropriate in dealing with attorneys?


No, it is not appropriate to be angry because then you have lost all rational thought process.  I make a distinction between true anger and appearing to be stern in order to control some situations.  As to attorneys, I find no need to display anger but being stern after warning may be appropriate.  I do not think that a judge should ever talk rude to an attorney in public but only in private with both attorneys present and only when the subject is about contemptuous conduct by the attorney or the attorney is not listening or attempting to obstruct the judicial process.  However, I am human and can lose my cool but will take a recess to calm down. 

26.
How much money have you spent on your campaign?  If it is over $100, has that amount been reported to the House and Senate Ethics Committees?  None.

27.
Have you sought or received the pledge of any legislator prior to this date?  No.

28.
Have you sought or been offered a conditional pledge of support by any legislator pending the outcome of your screening?  No.

29.
Have you asked any third parties to contact members of the General Assembly on your behalf before the final and formal screening report has been released?  No.

30.
Have you contacted any members of the Judicial Merit Selection Commission?  No.

31.
Are you familiar with the 48‑hour rule, which prohibits a candidate from seeking pledges for 48 hours after the draft report has been submitted?  Yes.

I HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THE ANSWERS TO THE ABOVE QUESTIONS ARE TRUE AND COMPLETE TO THE BEST OF MY KNOWLEDGE.

S/Julius C. Nicholson, Jr.

Sworn to before me this 9th day of February, 2001.

Beth W. Miller, Notary Public for S.C.
My commission expires:  3-24-07

MR. COUICK:  As one final procedural matter, I would note for the record that based on the testimony contained in the candidate's Personal Data Questionnaire, which was introduced earlier into the record today, Judge Nicholson meets the constitutional requirements of this position regarding age, residence, and years of practice.  

EXAMINATION BY MR. COUICK:

Q.
Judge Nicholson, although you were screened fairly recently, there are several new members of the Commission.  I'm going to ask you a few questions to give them a sense of flavor of what you intend to do as a judge and your experience as serving as judge.  Why do you want to continue to serve as a Circuit Court judge?

A.
Well, for the last two years – or over two years, I have thoroughly enjoyed it.  It's been an interesting experience.  And, quite frankly, I love the job, I've enjoyed the travel, I've enjoyed getting to know the court personnel around the state and the attorneys, seeing how different attorneys operate in different parts of the state.  And I just find it a very interesting job, and I have thoroughly enjoyed it and would like to continue.

Q.
You currently serve as an at-large judge, is that correct --

A.
Yes, sir.

Q.
-- in the Circuit Court?

A.
Yes, sir.

Q.
And you are running for the resident judgeship in your area in your circuit; is that correct?

A.
Yes, sir.

Q.
Why would you opt to leave the one position for which you were elected fairly recently and seek election to the -- to this judgeship, Judge?

A.
Well, I guess I would try to answer that question twofold.  Number one, I sort of view it as being a resident judge in your home town, your home circuit, is probably maybe – not that at-large judge is not an honor.  I just feel like being a resident judge would be more of an honor being in your home town, number one.  And, number two, just pure personal, selfish reasons.  When I come up for reelection, hopefully in this seat, in six years, the candidates that run against me would be running from Anderson County versus the entire state.  And that's just purely selfish interest on my part.  And I guess the third thing is we travel a lot.  I've enjoyed the travel; but, hopefully, the second six months being a resident judge, I would be closer to home.

Q.
Do you have interests at home that would want you to be there more often?  Do you have family or business interests that would -- that need more of your time there, or is it just a --

A.
Just my wife.  And, as Mr. Fisher knows, the lake.  Hartwell.

Q.
Judge, we received 26 responses to the bench and bar survey that we sent out, and there was one that came back with a partial negative answer.  That answer was that sometimes they felt you were not open enough to the state's recommendations in criminal cases, and we talked about this during your interview.  Even though that's a very small number or percentage of criticism, I asked you to think a little bit about it and, perhaps, address it today.  Do you believe that's a valid criticism?  If so, what would you do differently?

A.
Well, my approach on recommendations is the defendant has also agreed to the recommendation.  So, I mean, he's agreed.  The solicitor has made a recommendation.  I view it as the court agrees to accept the recommendation or reject it.  And I sort of view it, not necessarily as a contract, but it's an agreement between the defendant and the prosecutor that this is what they recommend, and it's my job to either accept it or reject it; and, therefore, consequence, I will accept it.  

I generally sentence whatever the recommendation is.  If they say two years or five years or six years on recommendation, if I'm not going -- I tell the defendants that it's up to me; and if I'm not going to accept it, I'll either do one of two things:  I'll either let him stand down or sentence them myself.  And I have done it both ways depending upon the crime.  I can think of two instances in the last two years where I went over what the solicitor said and probably four or five instances where I went under what the solicitor said. 

So I don't know what else to say other than I sort of view it as an agreement between the parties.  That's their recommendation.  And, obviously, the solicitor knows and the defendant knows more about the individual case, and I'm going to find out in ten minutes of standing before me.  They've been dealing with the case for months.  I hear it in ten minutes.  We don't have presentencing reports.  So I have to depend upon a lot what the prosecutor says, the victim says, as well as the defendants and the defendant's prior criminal record and just an immediate impression of what I think about the individual doing the crime.

Q.
In the two years you've been on the bench, has there been any evolution in your thought process about how is the best way to administer as a Circuit Court judge or the whole court?  Have you reached any new conclusions or decisions about things that you would do differently in the future?

A.
I think we need to do something with the criminal docket system, and they are starting to pile up.  There's a program here in Richland County that I hope is going to be successful.  My biggest complaint has been on the criminal side.  Other than incarceration or probation, you're very limited in what you can do with individuals.  And my theory is not that I'm going to cure anybody, but at least you can sort of send a course of water.  It's up to him whether he wants to drink it or not.  So we don't have very many alternatives to send people.

I've been working in Anderson on two alternatives -- just for Anderson.  Number one, the reading program with the Anderson College where you can sentence people on probation and go through this reading program, and I understand in Arizona it's been very successful; and a possible work release program in Anderson County with the local jail.

On the civil side, I think you just need to listen to the attorneys and try to cooperate with the attorneys and get the case set for trial, get a scheduling order.  And I think we need to get a scheduling order in civil cases early on.

Q.
Are there any other goals that you've set for yourself for the next few or couple of years if you're reelected or elected for this position that you would like to personally achieve in your service as a Circuit Court judge?

A.
Those two goals:  the work release program, and the reading program with the local Anderson College I would like to try to achieve.  We've got the mediation installed now in Anderson County last year. We kicked it off January 1.  I just haven't had the time to work on the two.  I just had three projects, that alternative dispute resolution that we got started in Anderson and those other two projects I would like to work on.  And, obviously, it's a continuing thought process to try to be fair to all the parties.

Q.
Judge, your bench and bar survey results were fairly high in response and a very low number with anyone with a concern.  What is the secret, do you believe, to that type of relationship with the bar?  How do you believe you perpetuate or continue to have a good relationship with the bar?

A.
I think you've just got to cooperate with the bar and listen to them and try to be fair to the bar and listen to the parties and don't have any preconceived opinions one way or the other.  And if they've got a legitimate problem, try to work around the problem.  If they don't have a legitimate problem, you've got to tell them let's go to trial.

MR. COUICK:  Mr. Chairman, I would note for the record that the upstate Citizens Committee found Judge Nicholson to be qualified and recommended his qualification by this Commission, and I would ask that that Citizens Committee report be entered into the record.

VICE-CHAIRMAN:  Thank you, Mr. Couick.  Do I have a motion to enter --

MR. FREEMAN:  I so move.

SENATOR RITCHIE:  Second.

VICE-CHAIRMAN:  Any objection? All in favor, aye.

UNISON:  Aye.

VICE-CHAIRMAN:  It will be done at this point in the transcript.

 (The Citizens Committee Report was made a part of the record.)

MR. COUICK:  Thank you.  I have no further questions, Mr. Chairman.

VICE-CHAIRMAN:  Does any member of the Commission have any questions for Judge Nicholson?

Well, Judge Nicholson, again, I would like to thank you for your willingness to continue to serve on the -- as a judge.  You certainly are a highly regarded judge throughout South Carolina, and I appreciate your continued service.  We just remind you about those rules, which you already know about, the 24-hour rule, and wish you the best.  As you know, this is the end of your -- the public hearing.  However, if any time we feel the need to recall the public hearing, we could do so.  You could be called back and have to answer questions; but I don't foresee that happening in your case, but it is a possibility.  Up until we actually -- actually have the report, we can do that, as you well know.  But in any event, I hope you have a safe trip back to Anderson.

JUDGE NICHOLSON:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  Thank you for your time. 

 (Off the record.)

VICE-CHAIRMAN:  Next we have Honorable Roger M. Young.  Judge Young, how are you today?

JUDGE YOUNG:  Fine.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

VICE-CHAIRMAN:  Good to see you again.

JUDGE YOUNG:  Good to see you, especially after I dreamed last night that I showed up on the wrong date.  It's good to see everybody here. 

VICE-CHAIRMAN:  We have had people show up several hours late.  As I said, we have with us today the Honorable Roger M. Young who is a Master-in-Equity from Charleston who seeks a position on Circuit Court of the Ninth Judicial Circuit, Seat Number 1.  If you would, Judge Young, please raise your right hand to be sworn.

(HONORABLE ROGER M. YOUNG, being first duly sworn by the Vice-Chairman, testified as follows:)

VICE-CHAIRMAN:  Thank you, sir.  Have you had an opportunity to review your Personal Data Questionnaire?

JUDGE YOUNG:  Yes, sir.

VICE-CHAIRMAN:  Is it correct?

JUDGE YOUNG:  Yes, sir.

VICE-CHAIRMAN:  Do you have any objection to our making that summary a part of the record of your sworn testimony?

JUDGE YOUNG:  No, sir.

VICE-CHAIRMAN:  It will be done at this point in the transcript.  

PERSONAL DATA QUESTIONNAIRE

Circuit Court, Ninth Judicial Circuit, Seat 1

Mr. Roger M. Young

HOME: 
8121 Greenridge Road, North Charleston, S.C. 29406



843.569.1559

BUSINESS: 
Charleston County Judicial Center



2144 Melbourne Avenue, Room 232, North Charleston, S.C. 29405



843.740.5780

2.
Date and Place of Birth:  February 16, 1960, at Cass City, Michigan.

3.
Are you a citizen of South Carolina?  Yes.


Have you been a resident of this state for at least the immediate past five years?  Yes.

5.
Family Status:  Married on April 13, 1984, to Janice M. Young.


Never divorced;


Children:
Grace Lee Young, age 13, babysitting;




Roger M. Young, Jr., age 11.

6.
Have you served in the military?  No.

7.
List each college and law school you attended, including the dates of your attendance, the degrees you received, and if you left an institution without receiving a degree, the reason for your departure.


Baptist College at Charleston (now Charleston Southern University) 1977-80, B.S.;


University of South Carolina School of Law 1980-83, J.D.;


University of Nevada-Reno, 1998-2000, M.J.S.;


University of Nevada-Reno, 2001- enrolled in Ph.D program.

8.
List the states in which you have been admitted to practice law and the year of each admission.  Also list any states in which you took the bar exam, but were never admitted to the practice of law.  If you took the bar exam more than once in any of the states listed, please indicate the number of times you took the exam in each state.


South Carolina, 1983.

9.
List the significant activities in which you took part during your attendance at college, graduate, and law school. Give the dates you were involved in these activities and list any leadership positions you held.


Student Government Senate 2 years in college;


Participant in National Trial Competition and Moot Court Competition in law school.

10.
Briefly describe your continuing legal or judicial education during the past five years.


Date

Sponsor

Class



Hours


05/19/96
NJC

Logic for Judges


12.50


05/22/96
NJC

Opinion Writing



12.83


06/19/96
SCBar

Trial Practice Tune-Up


3.0


07/19/96
SCBar

ADR Basics



8.0


10/18/96
SCBar

Practice Before MIE


6.50


01/10/97
CCBar

Ethics




3.0


05/18/97
NJC

Basic Evidence



23.83


07/11/97
CCBar

Insurance Coverage During






Hurricane Season


2.0


09/19/97
CCBar

Real Estate Update


0.8


01/23/98
SCBar

Annual Criminal Law Update

6.50


03/01/98
NJC

Advanced Evidence


24.17


03/20/98
SCBar

Rules-SC Civil Procedure

6.0


06/11/98
SCBar

Developments in Real Estate Law
6.0


06/21/98
NJC

Managing the Complex Civil Case
26.0


10/09/98
SCBar

Practice Before MIE


6.0


03/26/99
SCBar

Mechanic’s Liens


5.67


04/12/99
NJC

Judicial Writing



28.25


05/07/99
CCBar

Real Estate Update


0.75


06/18/99
SCBar

SC Environmental Law


6.75


07/12/99
NJC

General Jurisdiction


82.75


02/27/00
NJC

Financial Statements in Court

13.50


03/01/00
NJC

Business Issues



13.08


10/13/00
SCBar

Business Torts



6.0


01/26/01
SCBar

Annual Criminal Law Update

6.0



In addition to these CLE classes, I took the following classes in the MJS program that I did not apply for CLE credit. These were graduate school classes that lasted 2-4 weeks. With the one exception noted below, each class ran from 8:30 a.m. to 4 p.m. four days a week and required at least two papers per class. The History and Theory of Jurisprudence class was a night class that ran for four weeks. It met from 6:30 p.m. to 9:30 p.m. I took it two weeks at a time over two summers while I was taking classes during the day.


Summer 99/00
UNR

History and Theory of Jurisprudence
3 credits


Spring 99
UNR
Conducting the Trial


2 credits (one week class, test instead of paper)


Spring 00
UNR

Law and the Social and






Behavioral Sciences


3 credits


Summer 98
UNR

Public Policy in the Courts

3 credits


Summer 00
UNR

Criminology



3 credits

11.
Have you taught law-related courses or lectured at bar association conferences, educational institutions, or continuing legal or judicial education programs?


CLE Presentations:

(a)
Speaker, “Practice Before Masters-in-Equity,” Bridge the Gap, SC Bar Continuing Legal Education Division and the Supreme Court of S.C., March 13, 2001;

(b)
Speaker, “Recent Judicial Decisions Involving Tax Sales,” County Auditors, Treasurers and Tax Collectors Academy, February 8, 2001;

(c)
 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1Moderator, “Business Torts, Accounting & Damages,” SC Bar Continuing Legal Education Division CLE, October 13, 2000;
(d)
Speaker, “Practice Before Masters-in-Equity,” Bridge the Gap, SC Bar Continuing Legal Education Division and the Supreme Court of South Carolina, May 23, 2000;

(e)
 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1Speaker, “Law of Tax Sales,” Charleston County Bar Association Real Estate Section, March 7, 2000;
(f)
Speaker, “Recent Judicial Decisions Involving Tax Sales,” County Auditors, Treasurers and Tax Collectors Academy, February 3, 2000;

(g)
 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1Speaker, “Twelve by Twelve” CLE, Charleston County Bar Association, December 16, 1999;
(h)
Speaker, “Equitable Remedies,” SC Bar Continuing Legal Education Division CLE, October 8, 1999;

a) Moderator, Mechanic’s Liens CLE, SC Bar Continuing Legal Education Division, March 26, 1999;

(j)
Speaker, “Practice Before Masters-in-Equity,” Bridge the Gap, SC Bar Continuing Legal Education Division and the Supreme Court of S.C., March 9, 1999, May 18, 1999;

(k)
Speaker, “Law on Tax Sales,” Practice Before Masters-in-Equity and Special Referees CLE, SC Bar Continuing Legal Education Division, October 9, 1998;

(l)
Speaker, “Law on Tax Sales,” Practice Before Masters-in-Equity and Special Referees CLE, SC Bar Continuing Legal Education Division, October 18, 1996;

I have taught a business law class approximately two to three times a year for the past five years at the Charleston branch of Southern Wesleyan University.

I taught Introduction to Criminal Justice this past fall at Charleston Southern University.

I taught Real Estate Transactions II at the USC Law School in the Spring 2000 semester.

I have been a guest lecturer on several occasions at Professor Steve Spitz’s classes at the law school.

12.
List all published books and articles you have written and give citations and the dates of publication for each.

(a)
The Law of Real Estate Tax Sales, South Carolina Lawyer, September/October 1999;

(b)
Tax Sales of Real Property in South Carolina, 1999 (South Carolina Bar-Continuing Legal Education Division);


(c)
“Sexually Violent Predator Acts,” Community-Based Corrections, 4th ed. Wadsworth-Thomason Learning (2000);


(d)
“Using Social Science to Assess the Need for Jury Reform in South Carolina,” 52 S.C. Law. Rev. 135 (Fall 2000).

13.
List all courts in which you have been admitted to practice and list the dates of your admission.


South Carolina, 1983

14.
Describe chronologically your legal experience since graduation from law school and include a list of all law firms with which you have been associated.  Describe the general character of your practice and divide it into periods with dates if its character has changed over the years.



When I graduated from law school in 1983, I became an associate with Howard R. Chapman, P.A.  Mr. Chapman died in December 1984.  From then on I was a sole practitioner.  My practice was a general practice handling primarily civil matters including litigation, real estate, and some criminal practice.  I became part-time Municipal Court judge for the City of North Charleston in 1988 and served there until 1990 when I resigned to run for the S.C. House of Representatives.  I was elected to the House in 1990 and served two terms.  I decided not to seek re-election in 1994.  I was elected to be the Master-in-Equity for Charleston County in 1995 and began service on January 1, 1996.  Since it is a full-time judgeship, I closed my law office in 1995.  I have been serving as Master for Charleston continuously since 1996, and have had a concurrent appointment as a Special Circuit Court Judge by the Supreme Court since then.


Experience:



In the first five to ten years of my practice I handled approximately a dozen criminals cases, including approximately a half-dozen felony matters, several of which went to trial.  After about five years of practice I began to handle primarily civil matters, but I would still handle criminal matters on appointment.  When I was a Municipal Court judge my jurisdiction was exclusively criminal.  I heard mainly summary trials, but I would usually preside over jury trials one week a month.  Most of these jury trials were DUIs and simple assault.  I have continued to study criminal law and procedure since becoming Master-in-Equity.  I have attended two of the Annual Criminal Law Update CLEs required for circuit court judges, including the most recent on January 26, 2001.  In addition, I had two days of criminal procedure included in the General Jurisdiction class I took two years ago at the National Judicial College, and I took a two week long class in Criminology last summer as part of my graduate degree program at the University of Nevada-Reno.



As Master-in-Equity my jurisdiction is exclusively civil.  Many people are of the misconception that the Master hears only cases involving real estate.  In fact, it is only a part of what we do, at least those of us who are full-time.  A lot of the litigation I hear is business-related, including breach of contract, insurance claims, unfair trade practice, partnership claims and accounting, and complex business litigation.  All of it is non-jury. Once a matter is referred to a Master for a trial, the Master has all the jurisdiction and powers as a circuit court judge sitting non-jury.  Coupled with my appointment as a Special Circuit Court Judge, that means I hear every type of motion in every type of civil case, including those involving jury matters.  I hear motions on jury and non-jury cases for the circuit court on Fridays and on an as-needed basis throughout the week.



Obviously, I have not had any jury trials in the past five years since I became Master.  However, I did try jury cases in my private practice and as a Municipal Court Judge.  In addition, I have studied jury trial practice at the National Judicial College and wrote my Masters thesis on reforming jury practice in South Carolina.

15.
What is your rating in Martindale-Hubbell?  If you are not listed in Martindale-Hubbell, state the reason why, if known.  If you are currently a member of the judiciary, list your last available rating.  I was not rated while in private practice.  Judges are not rated.

The following answers are all based on experience prior to serving on the bench.

16.
What was the frequency of your court appearances during the last five years?


(a)
federal:

3


(b)
state:

20

17.
What percentage of your practice involved civil, criminal, and domestic matters during the last five years?


(a)
civil:

90


(b)
criminal:
5


(c)
domestic:
5

18.
What percentage of your practice in trial court during the last five years involved matters that went to a jury?


(a)
jury: 

50

a) non-jury: 
50 (I presume this means the case was tried and the matter was submitted to a judge for a verdict since non-jury matters don’t ever go to a jury).


Did you most often serve as sole counsel, chief counsel, or associate counsel in these matters?  Sole counsel.

19.
List five of the most significant litigated matters that you have personally handled in either trial or appellate court or before a state or federal agency.  Give citations if the cases were reported and describe why these matters were significant.


(a)
C-21 v. C-21 Action Realty.  This was a federal district court case.  As a young associate I was given significant responsibilities in preparing and assisting in a two-day injunction hearing against one of the largest law firms in the state.


(b)
State v. Williams.  This was ABWIK and Armed Robbery case.  I was sole counsel for one of the co-defendants.  It was a three-day trial in circuit court.


(c)
AMIC v. Brown. Case involved violation of restrictive covenants and had interesting issues involving interpretation of covenants, waiver and laches.


(d)
Altman v. Altman. Case involved a dispute between a father and son over an alleged oral agreement involving real estate, construction trusts and parol evidence.


(e)
CMCT v. Bechtel. Case involved a multi-million dollar contract claim against the world’s largest construction company.

20.
List up to five civil appeals that you have personally handled.  Give the case name, the court, the date of decision, and the citation if the case was reported.  None.

21.
If you seek election to an appellate court, list up to five criminal appeals that you have personally handled.  Not applicable.

22.
Have you ever held judicial office?  If so, list the periods of your service, the courts involved, and whether you were elected or appointed.  Describe the jurisdiction of each of the courts and note any limitations on the jurisdiction of each court.



I was appointed Municipal Court Judge for the City of North Charleston from 1988 to 1990.  My jurisdiction was exclusively criminal and at the time had jurisdictional limits of 30 days in jail and $200 in fines.



I was elected by the General Assembly to be the Master-in-Equity for Charleston County in 1995 and began service on January 1, 1996.  Once a case is appointed to the Master, I have the same authority to hear a case as a circuit court judge sitting non-jury.  I have also been appointed by the Supreme Court to be a Special Circuit Court Judge for Charleston County for the past five years.  As Special Circuit Court Judge, my jurisdiction is to hear all motions in jury and non-jury matters, hear appeals from magistrate, municipal and probate courts, accept Grand Jury returns and hear and approve settlement of minor’s interest and wrongful death and survivor action settlements.

23.
If the answer to question 22 is yes, describe or attach five of your most significant orders or opinions and give the citations if they were reported.  Also list citations to any appellate review of these orders or opinions.


(a)
Kuznick v. Bees Ferry, 96-CP-10-4495. Affirmed in part, reversed in part by the S.C. Court of Appeals, 2000 WL 1409774;


(b)
Lowcountry Open Land Trust v. South Carolina, 96-CP-10-1933;


(c)
Strong v. Sand Castle Builders, 99-CP-10-2920;


(d)
City of Folly Beach v. SCDHEC, OCCRM, 99-CP-10-403;


(e)
Carter v. Patel, 97-CP-15-235.

24.
Have you ever held public office other than judicial office?  If so, list the periods of your service, the office or offices involved, and whether you were elected or appointed.



I was elected to the South Carolina House of Representatives in 1990 and 1992.



I was appointed to serve as interim City Attorney for the City of North Charleston from January to April 1995, and continued to handle legal matters for the City until I began service as Master-in-Equity.

25.
List all employment you have had while serving as a judge (whether full-time or part-time, contractual or at will, consulting or otherwise) other than elected judicial office.  Specify your dates of employment, employer, major job responsibilities, and supervisor.



I have taught a class in Business Law two to three times a years for Southern Wesleyan University’s Charleston campus for the past five years.  The supervisor is Randy Rankin.



I taught a class in Real Estate Transactions II for the USC Law School in the Spring 2000 semester.  I reported to Dean Phil Lacy.



I taught a class in Introduction to Criminal Justice for Charleston Southern University in the Fall 2000 semester.  The department head is Dr. Elizabeth McConnell.

26.
Have you ever been an unsuccessful candidate for elective, judicial, or other public office?  No.

27.
Have you ever been engaged in any occupation, business, or profession other than the practice of law, teaching of law, or holding judicial or other public office?



Only part-time jobs in high school and college.  Nothing else since graduating from law school in 1983.

28.
Are you now an officer or director or involved in the management of any business enterprise?  No.

30.
Describe any financial arrangements or business relationships that you have, or have had in the past, that could constitute or result in a possible conflict of interest in the position you seek.  Explain how you would resolve any potential conflict of interest.  None.

31.
Have you ever been arrested, charged, or held by federal, state, or other law enforcement authorities for violation or for suspicion of violation of any federal law or regulation; state law or regulation; or county or municipal law, regulation, or ordinance?  No.

32.
Have you, to your knowledge, ever been under federal, state, or local investigation for possible violation of a criminal statute?  No.

33.
Has a tax lien or other collection procedure ever been instituted against you by federal, state, or local authorities?  Have you ever defaulted on a student loan?  Have you ever filed for bankruptcy?  No to all.

34.
Have you ever been sued, either personally or professionally?  No.

36.
Are you now or have you ever been employed as a “lobbyist,” as defined by S.C. Code ( 2-17-10(13), or have you acted in the capacity of a “lobbyist’s principal,” as defined by S.C. Code ( 2-17-10(14)?  No.

37.
Since filing with the Commission your letter of intent to run for judicial office, have you accepted lodging, transportation, entertainment, food, meals, beverages, money, or any other thing of value as defined by S.C. Code ( 2-17-10(1) from a lobbyist or lobbyist’s principal? No.

38.
S.C. Code ( 8-13-700 provides, in part, that “[n]o public official, public member, or public employee may knowingly use his official office, membership, or employment to obtain an economic interest for himself, a member of his immediate family, an individual with whom he is associated, or a business with which he is associated.”  Please detail any knowledge you have of any formal charges or informal allegations against you or any other candidate for violations of these provisions.  None.

39.
S.C. Code ( 8-13-765 provides, in part, that “[n]o person may use government personnel, equipment, materials, or an office building in an election campaign.”  Please detail any knowledge you have of any formal charges or informal allegations against you or any other candidate for violations of these provisions.  None.

40.
Itemize all expenditures, other than those for travel and room and board, made by you, or on your behalf, in furtherance of your candidacy for the position you seek.


12-17-00
Supplies
Office Max
54.06


12-18-00
Copies

Office Max
53.28


12-19-00
Stamps

USPS

93.50



I have reported these expenditures to the House and Senate Ethics committees.

41.
List the amount and recipient of all contributions made by you or on your behalf to members of the General Assembly since the announcement of your intent to seek election to a judgeship.  None.

42.
Have you directly or indirectly requested the pledge of any member of the General Assembly as to your election for the position for which you are being screened?  Have you received the assurance of any public official or public employee that they will seek the pledge of any member of the General Assembly as to your election for the position for which you are being screened?  No to both.

43.
Have you requested a friend or colleague to contact members of the General Assembly on your behalf?



I have not asked anyone to campaign on my behalf. I have been asked by literally dozens of people what they can do to help me get elected. I have told anyone who has asked that while they have the right to speak to members of the General Assembly, they cannot ask any members of the General Assembly to vote for me until after screening nor can they indirectly seek a pledge from a legislator. I explicitly emphasize this latter point. Furthermore, in accord with the Judicial Screening Committee’s letter to the South Carolina Bar of April 9, 1997, I have asked any attorneys who have asked to help me not to write members of the General Assembly until after screening is complete.

44.
Have you or has anyone on your behalf solicited or collected funds to aid in the promotion of your candidacy?  No.

45.
List all bar associations and professional organizations of which you are a member and give the titles and dates of any offices you have held in such groups.


(a)
South Carolina Bar;


(b)
Charleston County Bar;


(c)
American Judicature Society;


(d)
American Judges Association.

46.
List all civic, charitable, educational, social, and fraternal organizations of which you are or have been a member during the past five years and include any offices held in such a group, any professional honors, awards, or other forms of recognition received and not listed elsewhere.


(a)
Board of Visitors, Charleston Southern University;


(b)
Charleston Southern University Distinguished Alumnus of the Year, 1998;


(c)
Order of the Palmetto presented by Gov. Carroll Campbell, 1994;

a) Service to Mankind Award by Sertoma International, 2000;

b) Honorary Doctor of Humane Letters from the University of Charleston, 1992;

c) Honorary Kentucky Colonel by commission of Gov. Brereton C. Jones, 1993.

47.
Provide any other information which may reflect positively or negatively on your candidacy, or which you believe should be disclosed in connection with consideration of you for nomination for the position you seek.



I enjoy every aspect of being a judge. I have dedicated my life’s work to improving the judiciary and the legal system.  I have been especially mindful of the need to have judges on the bench who are not only qualified, but who exhibit fairness and equal justice under the law.  To this end, I remind myself at every trial that the case I am presiding over is probably the most important thing in the parties’ lives.  I know that I cannot rule in such a way as to make everyone happy, but hopefully I leave the parties feeling that they received a fair trial.  One of the highest compliments I have ever received was when a lawyer against whose client I had ruled was quoted in the newspaper as saying that while he was disappointed I had ruled against his client, he thought I gave his client a fair trial.



One of the main reasons I wish to move to the circuit court is to continue my research in the area of jury reform.  Judges have a duty to improve the legal system.  My research has shown me that there are areas in which we can do better in South Carolina to improve our system of jury trials.  Jury trials are the cornerstone of our country.  The right to a jury trial was considered vitally important to the Founding Fathers of this country, so much so that they memorialized it in our Constitution.  My particular area of research is currently in the area of improving juror comprehension of jury instructions; however, there are other areas that I believe we should look at as well. Chief Justice Toal has spoken to me about this subject and she intends to launch a jury reform effort in South Carolina. Regardless of whether I am elected to the circuit court, I intend to help in this effort.

48.
Personal References:

a) The Honorable R. Keith Summey, Mayor, City of North Charleston


5069 Ashby Avenue, North Charleston, S.C. 29405
843.740.2504

(b)
Wyatt Nettles, SouthTrust Bank of Charleston



2193 Ashley Phosphate Road, N. Charleston, S.C. 29406
843.569.5200


(c)
Vic Revelise


8580 Roanoke Drive, N. Charleston, S.C. 29406

843.569.2832

(d)
Brady Hair



Post Office 63066, N. Charleston, S.C. 29419

843.572.8700


(e)
Sullivan Tindal, Jr.



2853 Shadow Lane, N. Charleston, S.C. 29406

843.553.2501

VICE-CHAIRMAN:  The Judicial Merit Selection Commission has thoroughly investigated your qualifications for continued service on the bench.  Our inquiry was focused on our nine-evaluative criteria, which included survey of the bench and bar; SLED and FBI check; credit check; grievance and reprimand check; thorough study of your application materials; verification of your compliance with state ethics laws; search of newspaper articles in which your name appears; study of previous screenings; a check of any economic conflicts of interest.  We have not received any affidavits in opposition to your candidacy, nor are there any witnesses here to testify today.  Do you have a brief opening statement that you would like to make?

JUDGE YOUNG:  I'll try to keep it brief.  Yes, sir.  Thank you.  First of all, let me state to the members of the Committee, I appreciate the work that y'all are doing here.  It's always interesting to see democracy in action.  And we choose our judges differently in this state than almost every other state, and we do it differently in this country than every other country.  And, to me, y'all ought to be commended for doing this. I appreciate the opportunity to be here today.  I feel like it's a challenging experience to go through, but it's a rewarding experience to go through.  You do a lot of self-evaluation when going through this process, and so I've enjoyed the process for the most part.

I am interested in this new position primarily for several different reasons.  One -- and I guess I need to explain, first, what it is that a Master-in-Equity does to some of the folks that may not know.  We do a lot of the civil side of what the Circuit Court does at this point already.  A lot of lawyers, and especially non-lawyers, that don't quite understand what a Master-in-Equity does, we -- they are typically associated, our court, with just real estate matters; but we typically hear anything on the civil side that the Circuit Court would hear, and we do a lot of taking the burden off of the civil court side by hearing a lot of cases that involve things other than just real estate.  

In addition, I have been appointed to Special Circuit Judge by Supreme Court for the last five years and hear all kind of matters as a result of that.  And so, as a practical matter, I have been doing probably half that job for the last five years anyway and have a lot of experience doing it.  In fact, I looked up on the computer the other day at the office and did a little bit of number running and realized that I have probably, in the last five years, processed a little over 4,000 cases, all of those Circuit Course cases, and probably presided over as a trial court judge in almost 900 cases.  These aren't summary court trials.  These are actual trials that a Circuit Court judge would be hearing if it weren't referred to me.  So I've got a lot of experience doing this and I enjoy doing the work, and that's why I'd like to continue on and handle some of the other aspects of the job as well.

VICE-CHAIRMAN:  Thank you, Judge.  At this point, would you answer any questions our able counsel might have for you.

MR. MUSTIAN:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Judge, good morning to you.  I have a few procedural matters to take care of first.  Mr. Chairman, Members of the Commission, Judge Young has provided a sworn statement with detailed answers to over 30 questions regarding his judicial conduct, constitutional qualifications, office administration, temperament, and general housekeeping.  That statement was provided to all the Commission members in your notebooks provided today.  I have no concerns with these statements or responses.  With the Commission's approval, I would ask that those questions be waived in the public hearing today and be put into the public record at this time.  

SENATOR RITCHIE:  So moved.

MR. FISHER:  Second.

VICE-CHAIRMAN:  Any opposing?  All in favor, aye.

UNISON:  Aye.

VICE-CHAIRMAN:  It will be done so at this point in the transcript.

Sworn Statement to be included in Transcript of Public Hearings
Full Name:
Roger M. Young

Home:

8121 Greenridge Road, North Charleston, S.C. 29406



843.569.1559

Business:
Charleston County Judicial Center



2144 Melbourne Avenue, Room 232, North Charleston, S.C. 29405



843.740.5780

E‑Mail Address:
roger.young@scbar.org

1.
Why do you want to serve as a Circuit Court Judge?



I have had the honor of serving the citizens of South Carolina and Charleston County as the Master in Equity for Charleston County for the past five years.  I have also served as a Special Circuit Court Judge by appointment of the Supreme Court during this time frame.  As such, I have been doing most of what a Circuit Court does on the civil side for the past five years.  I like trying cases. It is a natural progression to want to serve as a Circuit Court Judge.



This position has allowed me to grow professionally and to see how important it is to have the most qualified person possible serve as judge.  To this end I have worked hard to improve my skills as a judge.  I have used every opportunity available to continue my education as a judge. In 1998 entered the Masters in Judicial Studies degree program offered by the University of Nevada–Reno and the National Judicial College.  In December 2000, I became the first judge in South Carolina to earn this degree.  My Masters thesis on jury reform was published in the South Carolina Law Review this past January.  I would like to continue my work in the area of jury reform on the Circuit Court.  I am now pursuing my Ph.D in Judicial Studies at UNR and plan to pursue research in ways to improve the administration of justice in South Carolina.

2.
Do you plan to serve your full term if elected?  Yes.

3.
Do you have any plans to return to private practice one day?  No.

4.
Have you met the Constitutional requirements for this position regarding age, residence, and years of practice?  Yes.

5.
What is your philosophy regarding ex parte communications?  Are there circumstances under which you could envision ex parte communications being tolerated?



My personal policy is the same as that expressed in Rule 501, Canon 3 of the Code of Judicial Conduct.  The only time ex parte communications are appropriate is for scheduling, administrative purposes or emergency situations such as a request for a temporary restraining order where the other side cannot be reached and there is a substantial likelihood of irreparable harm if the injunction is not granted. In a situation where ex parte communication is permitted, I contact the other party as soon as possible.



As the judge, it is my responsibility to see this rule is enforced.  On very rare occasions an attorney may bring up a case in an off-handed manner and I will diplomatically suggest we end the conversation. That ends the conversation or moves it on to another subject. It has been my experience that attorneys respect the rules, the office and the role of the judge. It is very rare to have an attorney attempt ex parte communications other than for those very limited circumstances provided under the rules. In any event it is my role to set the tone to insure compliance with the rules.



The most frustrating (and frequent) attempts at ex parte communication come from pro se litigants.  They do not understand that the rules do not allow them to talk to the judge about their case.  I explain to them that the rules do not allow me to discuss their case without the other side present.  I have found that if you explain to them that they would not be happy if they found out the judge had already talked to the other side about their case, they usually understand. 
6.
What is your philosophy on recusal, especially in situations in which lawyer‑legislators, former associates, or law partners are to appear before you?



If I know a litigant well enough that I would feel uncomfortable sitting in judgment of them, then I recuse myself sua sponte.  If I happen to know a litigant through some prior association, but still feel comfortable sitting in judgment of them without prejudice to either side (knowledge can cause favor and disfavor), I will disclose the association to the other parties and tell them I still feel comfortable sitting in judgment of the case, but give them the option of asking me to recuse myself if they are at all uncomfortable.  I do this because I think the most important impression a litigant must have when the trial is over is that they received a fair trial.  I will not recuse myself where I think a party or lawyer may simply be judge-shopping and come up with some pretextual reason for me to recuse.



The only person I ever practiced law with has been deceased for over 15 years, so former law partners or associates are not an issue with me.  I do not have a problem with lawyer-legislators appearing before me as long as I am not up for election.  Since I announced my candidacy for this position, I have had two occasions where a lawyer-legislator represents a party before me.  Both times I told the other parties that I am currently a candidate for election to the circuit court and that the lawyer-legislator is a person who will be voting on whether I get elected.  Since I felt this could reasonably raise an appearance of unfairness, I recused myself when one party asked.  The other party requested that I remain on the case.

7.
If you disclosed something that had the appearance of bias, but you believed it would not actually prejudice your impartiality, what deference would you give a party that requested your recusal?  Would you grant such a motion?



Because a judge has a duty to hear cases assigned to him, my answer would have to depend upon the circumstances.  For instance, if someone thought I could not hear a case because of past political affiliation, I would not likely recuse myself because I have completely put party politics out of my life, nor would I allow someone else’s political affiliation to influence me.  I believe my recent evaluations show that the Bar does not believe I am influenced by who litigants or their lawyers are.  Having said that, I might be more inclined to recuse myself if I were hearing the case non-jury since I would be making the ultimate judgment on the case.  If I think the party’s motion might objectively have merit, and is not being raised just to “judge-shop,” then I give it very serious consideration since I firmly believe a litigant should not only receive a fair trial, but the judiciary should strive to do whatever is reasonably possible to insure that the parties involved perceive they receive a fair trial.

8.
How would you handle the appearance of impropriety because of the financial or social involvement of your spouse or a close relative?



I would not participate in any proceeding as a judge if the matter involved my spouse, my mother, my children or any other relatives within the third degree of kinship to me or my wife. For example, last year I was assigned to hear motions on a case that was highly publicized. It was unknown to me or my wife, but one of her cousins and one of her sister’s nephews were victims in this case. Upon finding this out, I disclosed this and offered to recuse myself. One of the parties requested that I do so and I agreed even though we were not particularly close to those family members and had not seen them in a number of years.



I do not maintain any financial investments that would require me to recuse myself. My investments are all retirement related and are de minimis with regard to an investment in a particular company.  In compiling this application I noticed that my stockbroker had me invested in quite a number of varied companies over the past five years in my 401(k) account.  To lessen the possibility of recusal, I have had my stockbroker begin a plan of divesting my account of individual stocks and invest in mutual funds. 



My wife is a commissioner on the North Charleston Sewer District and I would recuse myself on any matters involving the District. 

9.
What standards would you set for yourself regarding the acceptance of gifts or social hospitality?



The only gifts I am offered are from family members.  Around the Christmas holidays, a couple of lawyers or law firms usually drop off candy or cookies for every office in the courthouse.  My office staff takes the position that these are for them and will allow me to have a piece if they are in a benevolent mood.



When I have lunch with a friend we usually alternate who picks up the tab.  Other than that, the only functions I attend with attorneys have been bar functions.  As for other individuals, if my wife and I go to dinner with another couple we split the bill.

10.
How would you handle a situation in which you became aware of misconduct of a lawyer or of a fellow judge?


If I receive notice of actual misconduct, or if I receive information that indicates there is a substantial likelihood of misconduct, I am required to (and would) report it to the proper authorities.  If I see someone headed towards trouble, it would probably be appropriate to counsel the person to consider his actions.

11.
Are you affiliated with any political parties, boards or commissions which, if you were elected, would need to be re‑evaluated?


The only board with which I am affiliated is the Board of Visitors of Charleston Southern University, my undergraduate alma mater.  My wife is a commissioner on the North Charleston Sewer District.  I would recuse myself on any matters involving the District and Charleston Southern University.  The only political activity I engage in is voting.

12.
Do you have any business activities with which you would envision remaining involved if elected to the bench?  No.

13.
How would you handle the drafting of orders?


On routine administrative matters, I usually have the attorneys prepare an order.  On routine uncontested matters such as foreclosures and partitions, I usually allow the attorneys to submit a proposed order and use it if it is acceptable.  On contested trials, if I do not rule from the bench and the rules require a written order, I will often invite the attorneys to submit proposed findings of facts and conclusions of law.  They are required to submit these to opposing counsel.  Occasionally a lawyer will write an opinion that reflects not only my decision but my thinking as well, and I will use that order.  More often, I use those proposed orders as their closing arguments and I write my own orders.  Because I do not have a law clerk, I find it is often helpful to use the proposed orders to compose the findings of fact.  I look forward to having a law clerk assist me because I now have to do all my research, which dramatically cuts into the amount of time I have available to write orders.  I enjoy writing and have taken two classes at the National Judicial College in judicial writing to help me improve my skills.

14.
What methods would you use to ensure that you and your staff meet deadlines?


We employ a computerized system that monitors and reports the status of every case assigned to me. I intend to utilize a similar system if elected to the circuit court.

15.
What is your philosophy on “judicial activism,” and what effect should judges have in setting or promoting public policy?



I think it is important to define what is meant by judicial activism before answering this question. One usually associates the phrase judicial activism with federal judges who take over prison systems and school systems. That is not a role I desire or envision taking.



Being a graduate of a 20th century law school, I and most of my contemporaries have been trained in the method of jurisprudence known as legal realism.  Compared to 19th century lawyers, we are all activists.  However, since the question asks what role judges have in setting or promoting public policy, I presume that this question goes more towards how one views the role of the judiciary in relation to legislature.



Having served in the legislature and now as a judge, I believe most large public policy issues are best resolved by the people acting through their elected representatives. That is not to say that courts have no role in policy, because the courts play a very important part of the system of checks and balances set up by the Founding Fathers. However, what policy role the courts exert are usually exercised by appellant courts, not trial courts. Gerald Rosenberg wrote a book a few years ago that essentially proved, in my opinion, that courts have only a limited role in effectively formulating public policy unless and until the legislative and executive branches concur.



Furthermore, it is a fundamental rule that trial courts are bound by appellant court precedents.  As a trial court judge I cannot overrule precedents of the appellant courts of our state, and my decisions reflect that.  Furthermore, courts should presume the constitutionality of the acts of the legislature and strike them down only as a last resort. Perhaps because of my past experience as a legislator, I believe my record will reflect that I am very hesitant to legislate from the bench.  In other words, if I wanted to legislate, I’d still be in the legislature.

16.
Canon 4 allows a judge to engage in activities to improve the law, legal system, and administration of justice.  What activities do you plan to undertake to further this improvement of the legal system?



Shortly after I became Master-in-Equity, I designed and built the first web page on the Internet for a court in this state.  That web page contains many forms for practitioners, items of interest for lawyers and non-lawyers who interact with the Master-in-Equity Court, and items of historical significance about the Master-in-Equity Court.  I have been a leader in the use of technology in the courts in South Carolina and my office has been studied by Court Administration in the Chief Justice’s efforts to improve technology in the state courts in South Carolina. 



When I first came on the bench I was assigned several cases involving tax sales.  My research indicated a need for scholarly literature in this area and I wrote a small book entitled “Tax Sales of Real Property in South Carolina” which was published by the South Carolina Bar in 1999 and has been very favorably received by the Bar.  I also wrote an article in the South Carolina Lawyer magazine on the same subject.  I have lectured on the subject of delinquent tax sales for the past two years at the annual County Auditors, Treasurers and Tax Collectors Academy.



My Masters thesis, “Using Social Science to Assess the Need for Jury Reform in South Carolina,” was published by the South Carolina Law Review in the Fall 2000 issue.  The Chief Justice has indicated to me that she intends to begin a jury reform project in the near future.  I expect to be involved in that regardless of the outcome of this race.



I am working on a project for the University of Nevada-Reno and National Judicial College that uses excerpts from a videotaped trial to show the difference between causation and association in evidence.  This will be used in the University’s class on Law and the Social and Behavioral Sciences.



I wrote an essay on Sexually Violent Predator cases for the latest edition of “Community-Based Corrections 4th Ed.,” a college textbook published by Wadsworth-Thomason Learning. 



As for future endeavors, I am working on an article with Warren Moise, Esquire, of Charleston, on the use of character evidence in Sexually Violent Predator cases.  We hope to publish this article in a law review sometime in the future.  I am working on article on Equitable Maxims with Professor Steve Spitz that we hope to publish in the near future.  I am also starting work on my Ph.D in Judicial Studies at the University of Nevada-Reno and intend to write my dissertation on some area of improving the legal system in South Carolina.  I anticipate it will be in the area of jury reform.



I have lectured at a number of CLEs over the past five years. I have been the coordinator for the past two annual mandatory CLE meetings for Masters-in-Equity and have been successful in getting the SC Bar to bring several excellent speakers to South Carolina that I have met through attending classes at the National Judicial College.



I have presented the Master-in-Equity portion of Bridge the Gap for the past three years.

17.
Do you feel that the pressure of serving as a judge would strain personal relationships (i.e. spouse, children, friends, or relatives)?  How would you address this?


I have been a full-time judge for five years.  As a family we have worked through probably most issues that could cause strains in our personal relationships because of my being a judge.  They know that my job does not often allow me to discuss the particulars of cases I have pending.  One of the main reasons I left the legislature in 1994 was because of the travel and the age of my children.  My children are now seven years older and the travel will not be an issue.  My family has been supportive of my efforts to continue my education and is very supportive of my efforts to become a circuit court judge.

18.
The following list contains five categories of offenders that would perhaps regularly appear in your court.  Discuss your philosophy on sentencing for these classes of offenders.


a.
Repeat offenders: The least sympathetic of any of the classes and most deserving of incarceration. Repeat violent offenders are becoming more affected by South Carolina’s two strike law, and rightly so.  Non-violent recidivists are probably less likely to receive an extended sentence because of crowded prison conditions. However, some prison is warranted if record is extensive.


b.
Juveniles (that have been waived to the circuit court): Obviously the matter must be serious if it is removed from the family court. A tragedy, because if found guilty then a young life is going to be destroyed. A serious violent crime will require a lengthy sentence; however, one hopes the young person takes the opportunity to reform and acquire skills while in prison in order to eventually re-enter society. 


c.
White collar criminals: By definition not a violent criminal, and therefore a less likely prospect for a lengthy prison sentence. However, some prison should be considered to send a message to the community where appropriate. Restitution should be made in full as a condition of sentence.


d.
Defendants with a socially and/or economically disadvantaged background: A distinction should be made between violent crimes and property crimes. Background is less a factor if a violent crime is involved. It becomes more of a consideration where the offender is a non-recidivist. This is the biggest social issue facing our country today.


e.
Elderly defendants or those with some infirmity: Should be tested for legal capacity first. Statistically, elderly commit very few crimes, so there may be extenuating circumstances or some problem with onset of age-related disease or decline in health. Same with infirmity, but one should be careful about relying too heavily on biological theories of criminology.

19.
Are you involved in any active investments from which you derive additional income that might impair your appearance of impartiality?  No.

20.
Would you hear a case where you or a member of your family held a de minimis financial interest in a party involved?


By definition, a de minimis interest is a trifling or insignificant interest.  The rules require me to disclose the interest and weigh that as a factor if asked to recuse.  For instance, I currently own 200 shares of Wal-Mart stock.  Wal-Mart has 4.5 million shares outstanding.  If Wal-Mart gets sued for a slip and fall accident in South Carolina, I hardly think my interest would have any bearing on the outcome of the case.  However, if they were sued for anti-trust violations and that somehow ended up before me, I would probably have to reconsider my position.  In any event, I am divesting myself of individual stocks to avoid these issues in the future.

21.
Do you belong to any organizations that discriminate based on race, religion, or gender? No.

22.
Have you attended all mandatory continuing legal education courses?


Yes. I participated as a speaker or coordinator in most of them as well.

23.
What do you feel is the appropriate demeanor for a judge?


Personally, I find that treating people like I would like to be treated works best. I try to be patient, dignified and courteous to litigants, jurors, witnesses, lawyers and others with whom I deal. I also require similar conduct of lawyers, and of staff, court officials and others in my court and in my office. I find you can be efficient and businesslike while being patient and deliberate.  These are not mutually exclusive concepts.  I try to perform my duties without bias or prejudice and as impartially as possible, and I require the same from my staff.  The judge sets the standard for demeanor in and out of the courtroom.

24.
Do the rules that you expressed in your previous answer apply only while you are on the bench or in chambers, or do these rules apply seven days a week, twenty‑four hours a day?


These precepts apply to me not only while acting in my official capacity, but outside the courtroom as well. As a practical matter, I find adhering to them serves me well in every aspect of life.

25.
Do you feel that it is ever appropriate to be angry with a member of the public, especially with a criminal defendant?  Is anger ever appropriate in dealing with attorneys?  No to both. 

26.
How much money have you spent on your campaign?  If it is over $100, has that amount been reported to the House and Senate Ethics Committees?


I spent $200.84 on supplies, stamps and copies. I have reported that to both committees.

27.
Have you sought or received the pledge of any legislator prior to this date?  No.

28.
Have you sought or been offered a conditional pledge of support by any legislator pending the outcome of your screening?  No.

29.
Have you asked any third parties to contact members of the General Assembly on your behalf before the final and formal screening report has been released?  No.

30.
Have you contacted any members of the Judicial Merit Selection Commission?  No.

31.
Are you familiar with the 48‑hour rule, which prohibits a candidate from seeking pledges for 48 hours after the draft report has been submitted?  Yes.

I HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THE ANSWERS TO THE ABOVE QUESTIONS ARE TRUE AND COMPLETE TO THE BEST OF MY KNOWLEDGE.







S/ Roger M. Young

Sworn to before me this 27th day of February, 2001.

Harriet G. Hendricks, Notary Public for S.C.

My commission expires:  8/10/03

MR. MUSTIAN:  I note for the record that based on the testimony contained in the candidate's Personal Data Questionnaire, which was introduced earlier into the record today, Judge Young meets the constitutional requirements for this position regarding age, residency, and years of practice.

EXAMINATION BY MR. MUSTIAN:

Q.
Judge Young, you've discussed why you are ready to move into -- why you would like to move into the Circuit Court judgeship.  How has your serving as Master-in-Equity for the past five years, how does that effect your serving as Circuit Court judge, and what areas would you focus on to serve in that position?

A.
Well, as I stated earlier, I've really been doing the civil side of the job for five years.  I haven't been doing jury trials; but anything non-jury that a Circuit Court judge, I've been hearing.  Last week, for instance, I heard cases that involved medical malpractice, construction law, your typical negligence and personal injury cases.  I've heard breach of contract.  We typically hear a lot of complex business litigation, tends to get referred to the Master.  And, again, it's a full-time job in Charleston, so I've been kind of educating the bar a little bit; but, you know, these are the kind of cases that I think we could hear.  As long as you are willing to come over and get a day and time assigned certain trial, we hear them.  Cases lasts anywhere from, you know, a few hours to a few weeks.  We've literally had cases last that long.

The one thing that I haven't done in the last five years, of course, is criminal cases.  So I have been working on some areas in that to keep myself up-to-breast -- up-to-date on that.  I handled criminal cases when I was practicing law when I was a municipal court judge in North Charleston back in the late '80s, '88 to 1990.  I dealt with exclusively criminal litigation, did a lot of jury trials in that regard.  In fact, I had forgotten about it until the other day I ran into the Chief judge there and he told me they're still using the jury instruction notebook that I wrote back then.  I didn't even remember that I wrote it.  He told me they were still using that.  

I've also been involved in going out to the National Judicial College a lot, and you'll see that in the records there that I was the first trial court judge in South Carolina to complete the three requirements that they have in conjunction with the University of Nevada for the degree called Master Judicial Studies.  And as part of that, I've also been keeping up-to-date with criminal work as well.  I took a class last summer in criminology.  I taught a class last fall with the criminal justice of Charleston Southern University.  I've been attending the annual seminars that the Circuit Court judges are required to attend on criminal law for several years, including last year -- or past January. 

So I've been trying to keep myself up- to-date on some of the things that I haven't been doing in anticipation that, perhaps, some day I would have the opportunity to do this.

Q.
Do you feel that you're prepared to handle the workload associated with the Circuit Court judgeship now -- considering you're a Master-in-Equity now and you feel that you are prepared for the travel that may result from that?

A.
Yes, sir.  In some ways, I think it might even be less work than I do right now, to be honest with you.  I say that somewhat facetiously, but we do handle a full load.  My case -- right now if you were to have a case referred to me, it would take you probably four months to get a trial scheduled -- or four months

to get a trial date.  We're that busy.  I have cases that I'm hearing every single day.  

So we do a lot of work in my office.  And, in addition, one thing that we don't do that I would like to have the opportunity as a Circuit Court judge is have a law clerk, because I enjoy doing my own research and doing my own writing of orders, but there's just so many hours in the day.  And sometimes you get a couple of cases in a row that will settle and you can work and you get some time focused in and you can do some research and flesh out some things and do some good writing, and then you may not get any cases settled for a couple of weeks and you just stay busy.  

So I think the workload would probably be about the same.  I couldn't imagine it being much more, just things will be a little different, the subjects.

MR. MUSTIAN:  I would like to note for the record that the bench and bar surveys that were received for Judge Young were, overall, very favorable.  Out of the 43 questionnaires that were returned, only four indicated minor problems.  These minor problems dealt with issues of impartiality toward attorneys.  

BY MR. MUSTIAN:

Q.
Judge Young, how would you answer those -- those responses, and how would you work as a Circuit Court judge to deal -- with your dealings with attorneys?

A.
Well, you know, I thought about that since I met with you a couple of weeks ago and you mentioned that there were a couple of responses in that regard.  You know, one of the things that I really work on is try to treat everybody the same.  And my philosophy is real simple:  you treat people like you like to be treated and try to be courteous to everybody.  And when you -- I think there was some concern where they said, well, you might give partiality to local lawyers, and I really couldn't ever give, in my mind, how that might be.  I try -- when we finish up a trial, I usually take a few minutes afterwards to, in fact, praise the lawyers in front of their clients whether they did a good job or not, to be honest with you, a lot of times just because they've hired these folks, they've gone through all the stress of the trial, and I try to, you know, make them feel good about their lawyers.  And, typically, we see some real good lawyering.  You might occasionally see people that's not up to snuff; but, in most instances, real good lawyering.  So it's something that I feel sincere about doing.  

I tried to think in my mind where it could have been some cases like that, and the only thing I could come up with is occasionally I hear, as a Special Circuit Court, motions from the civil court or the jury and the non-jury docket; and over the last several years, I've had a few cases involving professional malpractice. I've had -- I've granted some of those summary judgment motions where the case has been dismissed and the lawyers got, you know, their case dismissed.  I've had a few where I said, no, summary judgment is denied and they have to go to trial.  

And the only thing I could figure is that we had somebody that was representing a case where I dismissed their -- their lawsuit against a local lawyer and they thought, well, maybe he was prejudiced or in favor of the local lawyer.  That's the only thing I can come up with, and there's really nothing you can do about that.  Some you win and some you lose.

Q.
In our interview together, we discussed the articles that came up during our newspaper search.  The article involved some comments you made while you were in legislature back in '92 and dealt with a statement you made concerning the establishment of immense caucus.  If you could, for the record, just describe the circumstances surrounding that situation.

A.
That, to me, was a humorous article.  It was written as political satire more than anything else, kind of a have-fun sort of thing.  So as a politician, those things come up.  It was to make a point it was written in that context.  The only thing that I could say how it would possibly impact what I'm here for today is that I would agree that that sort of article wouldn't be appropriate for a judge to write or to talk about, and I don't write articles in the newspaper anymore.  I don't write letters to the editor.  But certainly, at the time, I was fair game with written satire.

MR. MUSTIAN:  Thank you, Judge Young.  I would just note for the record that the bench and bar surveys that were received were very favorable.  Those issues that were raised by the bench and bar have been discussed today.  I would also note that the low country Citizens Committee reported Judge Young to be qualified and recommended.  Mr. Chairman, without objection, I would ask that the report be entered into the record.

VICE-CHAIRMAN:  It will be done so at this point in the transcript.  

(The Citizens Committee Report was made a part of the record.)

VICE-CHAIRMAN:  Does any member of the Commission have any questions for Judge Young?

JUDGE SHAW:  Judge Young, what is an Honorary Kentucky Colonel?

JUDGE YOUNG:  You know, that's something that you get that if you ever have the opportunity to play golf with a member of the Kentucky legislature, you ought to take up on it.  They do -- they have this thing where they send a nice certificate, you get an honorary title, and you get invited to a barbecue before the Kentucky Derby every year.  One of these days I'm going to go to it.  

But it's an honorary title that's bestowed by their governor.  They use theirs as a fundraiser.  You get solicited for funds on a yearly basis and you can buy little trinkets and stuff like that.  It's an interesting little thing they have.

VICE-CHAIRMAN:  Any other questions?  It's good to see you again, Judge Young, and I appreciate your willingness to serve on the bench.  And I'll just remind you of a couple of things.  One is the 48-hour rule that you can't contact anyone or have anyone seek commitments on your behalf or do it yourself prior to 48 hours after we issue the report.  Up until that time, the report is -- is not a permanent report.  Up until the time we do issue a report, we can reconvene the public hearings and call you back for further questioning, although I don't anticipate that occurring in your case.  But we could do that if we were set mind to.  So this concludes your part of the screening and your public hearing, and we hope you have a safe trip back to Charleston.

JUDGE YOUNG:  Thank you.  Appreciate it.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  We're back on the record.  We have before us Judge L. Mendel Rivers, Jr., offering to Circuit Court, Ninth Judicial Circuit, Seat Number 1.  If you would be so kind as to raise your right hand.  

 (HONORABLE L. MENDEL RIVERS, JR., being first duly sworn by the Chairman, testified as follows:)

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Thank you.  Have you had an opportunity to review the Personal Data Questionnaire?

JUDGE RIVERS:  Of course, I prepared one.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Yes.

JUDGE RIVERS:  I mean, I haven't seen --

MR. CHAIRMAN:  That's what I'm talking about.

JUDGE RIVERS:  I have not seen comments on it from anybody else, but I've, of course, reviewed it.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  So do you know of anything that needs to be changed at this point?

JUDGE RIVERS:  No.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Do you object to our making that summary a part of your sworn testimony today as if you fully stated those matters here on the record?

JUDGE RIVERS:  No.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  It will be done so at this point in the transcript.

PERSONAL DATA QUESTIONNAIRE

Court, Position, and Seat #: Ninth Judicial Circuit, Seat 1

Mr. L. Mendel Rivers, Jr.

HOME: 
1081 Groves Manor Court, Mt. Pleasant, S.C. 29464



843-884-6315

BUSINESS:
741 Johnnie Dodds Blvd., Ste. C, Mt. Pleasant, S.C. 29464



843-971-0555

2.
Date and Place of Birth:  October 6, 1947, at Alexandria, Virginia. 

3.
Are you a citizen of South Carolina?  Yes.


Have you been a resident of this state for at least the immediate past five years?  Yes.

5.
Family Status:  Married on March 19, 1989, to Rebecca Jane Benton.


Divorced: May 16, 1986. I was the moving party.  Charleston County Family Court. Grounds were one year’s separation.


Children:
1) Lucius Mendel Rivers, III, age 24 Production manager, Triquint Semiconductors, Portland, OR. Also pursuing Masters in Chemistry at University of Oregon;


2) James Abyad Rivers, age 22, Student (senior), University of California at Santa Cruz, Santa Cruz, CA;


3) Charles Francis Middleton Rivers, age 21, Student (sophomore), University of Montana, Missoula, MT.

6.
Have you served in the military?  Yes.


United States Naval Reserve, Judge Advocate General’s Corps, 1969-1986. Highest rank: Commander. Retired 1994.

7.
List each college and law school you attended, including the dates of your attendance, the degrees you received, and if you left an institution without receiving a degree, the reason for your departure. 


Princeton University, Princeton, New Jersey, 1965-1966. Departed to attend Georgetown University;


Georgetown University, Washington, DC, 1966-1969. Bachelor of Science in Languages;


Georgetown University Law Center, Washington, DC, 1969-1972. Juris Doctor.

8.
List the states in which you have been admitted to practice law and the year of each admission.  Also list any states in which you took the bar exam, but were never admitted to the practice of law.  If you took the bar exam more than once in any of the states listed, please indicate the number of times you took the exam in each state.


South Carolina, 1972.

9.
List the significant activities in which you took part during your attendance at college, graduate, and law school. Give the dates you were involved in these activities and list any leadership positions you held.

Junior Summer Abroad, l’Universite de Dijon, Dijon, France, 1967;

Awarded Phi Beta Kappa key and Caino Medal for achievement in Spanish, Georgetown University, 1969;

Investigator, Legal Aid Society of District of Columbia, 1970;

Reporter and Editor, Georgetown Law Weekly, 1970-1972;

Staff and Editor, Law & Policy in International Business, 1970-1972.

10.
Briefly describe your continuing legal or judicial education during the past five years.

(a)
2000—Taught Child Custody Seminar sponsored by NBI and attended Family Court Seminar sponsored by Chas. Co. Bar Assn.;


(b) 
1999—Had excess hours from 1998;

(c)
1998—Attended Winning Legal Negotiations sponsored by S.C. Bar and was certified as Family Court Mediator by SCCMDR (40-hour course).

In the past five years, I have enjoyed CLEs on Defending DUI cases and on Substance Abuse & Ethics, and I have taught Effective Family Law Practice, sponsored by NBI.  I have always maintained full compliance with all CLE requirements.

11.
Have you taught law-related courses or lectured at bar association conferences, educational institutions, or continuing legal or judicial education programs?  If so, briefly describe each course or lecture.


I taught Legal Environment of Business and Business Law at the College of Charleston, 1981-c. 1986. I also taught CLEs, as stated in Answer No. 10.

12.
List all published books and articles you have written and give citations and the dates of publication for each.


I was a published weekly columnist for the Charleston Post and Courier, 1985-1993.

13.
List all courts in which you have been admitted to practice and list the dates of your admission.  Give the same information for administrative bodies that require a special admission to practice.


South Carolina Supreme Court - 1972


United States District Court - 1974

14.
Describe chronologically your legal experience since graduation from law school and include a list of all law firms with which you have been associated.  Describe the general character of your practice and divide it into periods with dates if its character has changed over the years.


1972-1973—General practice of law as sole practitioner, with emphasis on plaintiff’s litigation, real estate, domestic relations, and criminal defense.

1973-1974—Associate with Young, Clement & Rivers (now Young, Clement, Rivers & Tisdale), Charleston, S.C., in litigation department, handling mainly insurance defense. 


1974-1975-- General practice of law as sole practitioner, with emphasis on plaintiff’s litigation, real estate, domestic relations, and criminal defense.


1975-1978—Partner in Tillman & Rivers. General practice.


1978-1993—Served as Judge of the Family Court of the Ninth Judicial Circuit, Seat 1, resident judge, Charleston County.


1993-2000-- General practice of law as sole practitioner, with emphasis on plaintiff’s litigation and domestic relations.


2000-2001—Partner in Rivers & Grogan, LLP. Strong emphasis on domestic relations and plaintiff’s litigation.



I divide my career into three phases: 1) the early years, when I had the privilege of many legal arrangements and learned to practice the whole spectrum of law as an employee, as a partner, and as a sole practitioner; 2) the judgeship years, when I learned to think deeply about the law and gained true respect for the amazing machine which is our legal system; and 3) the post-judgeship years, when I came into my own as an attorney and learned both how to think like an experienced lawyer and how to make a living!


Legal Experience:



Criminal – I have significant experience in handling adult criminal charges in the Magistrate’s Court and juvenile criminal charges in Family Court.  I have handled DUIs, drug possession, criminal domestic violence, and assault charges.  At the General Sessions Court level, I successfully handled a DUI (Second) charge for a significantly impaired client and successfully defended a probation revocation charge for another client. In another matter, I bargained with the federal prosecutor and was able, through careful negotiation, to persuade the prosecutor to drop all charges against my client who was accused of bank fraud in the Charleston phone-sex scandals.  To my knowledge, that client is the only defendant in the bank-fraud-phone-sex scandals to emerge with all charges dismissed. In addition, I have fifteen (15) years’ experience on the Family Court bench, many of which were devoted to terms of Juvenile Court, where I handled every type of criminal case from petty thievery to murder.



Civil – Although I have a strong emphasis on domestic relations in my practice, I do not shy away from Circuit Court cases and believe I have been successful in handling them.  Recently, I tried two plaintiffs’ cases before juries in the Charleston and Orangeburg Counties Courts of Common Pleas with substantial verdicts.  I tried a major personal-injury case involving a slip and fall in the Charleston County Court of Common Pleas and was successful in getting the case to the jury against the remaining two defendants.  Unfortunately, the jury felt sympathetic for the defendants!  (Despite that set back, I was able to settle the case against two other defendants for substantial amounts.)  I have both settled and tried civil cases in the Court of Common Pleas and feel at home there.  



I have handled civil cases as simple as fender-benders and as complicated as a slip and fall with five Defendants, including a famous rock star, without assistance or co-counsel.  I have deliberately chosen to handle those cases which appear both interesting and lucrative, because I enjoy new challenges. Family Court taught me a great deal about human nature and the essential equality of man.  Circuit Court has the potential to take that knowledge to the next level, because of the intellectual challenges and the complexity of the law usually not available in Family Court.



My personality is such that I thrive on an intellectual and legal challenge.  As important as Family Court is, the judge is unfortunately required to apply very familiar law to constantly recurring, similar facts.  At some point, the intellectually curious become bored.  After fifteen (15) years on the Family Court bench, I lost my enthusiasm to perform the same job over and over each day.  I gave myself the freedom to resign from the Family Court bench and pursue other interests, which I believe greatly benefited me.



I have been privileged to serve in the General Assembly, as an attorney, and as a judge.  I am old enough to have achieved a great deal of wisdom and young enough to have the energy to put it to excellent use.  I believe I have a combination of legislative, judicial, legal, and life experiences possessed by few other candidates.

15.
What is your rating in Martindale-Hubbell?  BV.

16.
What was the frequency of your court appearances during the last five years?

(a)
federal:
Two cases in the last five years, one civil and one criminal. Two court appearances.


(b)
state:
Appear approximately three - five times per week in Family Court, twice per month in Magistrate’s Court, and once per month in Circuit Court.

17.
What percentage of your practice involved civil, criminal, and domestic matters during the last five years?


(a)
civil:

10%


(b)
criminal:
  5%


(c)
domestic:
85%

18.
What percentage of your practice in trial court during the last five years involved matters that went to a jury?


(a)
jury:

15%


(b)
non-jury:
85%


Did you most often serve as sole counsel, chief counsel, or associate counsel in these matters?  Sole counsel.

19.
List five of the most significant litigated matters that you have personally handled in either trial or appellate court or before a state or federal agency.  Give citations if the cases were reported and describe why these matters were significant.

a) Heape v. Heape, 335 S.C. 420, 517 S.E.2d 1 (Ct.App. 1999).  Heape was a complicated, lengthy divorce trial which involved unsuccessful mediation, many days of trial, perjury, efforts to intimidate by extraneous lawsuits, and a voluminous evidentiary presentation. The result was very successful at the trial level.  Not only was the adversary required to pay substantial attorney’s fees to my client, but so was her paramour!  Unfortunately, in a landmark decision, the Court of Appeals ruled that paramours may not be required to pay substantial attorney’s fees beyond the minimal efforts to cause them to be restrained from interfering with the marriage.


(b)
Maggy v. City of North Charleston, et al.  Maggy involved a young woman who was badly injured when she slipped and fell at the North Charleston Coliseum during a Tom Petty concert.  We chose to sue the city, its hired coliseum management, the beer vendor, the coliseum architect, and Tom Petty himself.  (All involved, including defense counsel, earnestly hoped that Defendant Petty would be required to testify at length in deposition, or at least sing a song!  Unfortunately, he was dismissed as a party.)  The case involved endless depositions, visits to the accident scene, and delving into the minutiae of coliseum construction.  The case was settled against two defendants and tried against the remainder.


(c)
Rivers v. Unisun.  Rivers involved uninsured motorist coverage and the stacking of liability policies, as well as a suit by a minor brought under the shadow of a looming Statute of Limitations.  The real issue was damages and the extent of permanent impairment of a young woman.  The case was difficult to try, because it involved bringing forth doctors from various parts of the state and had to be tried in a county inconvenient for most individuals concerned.


(d)
Walsh v. Walsh.  Walsh was the domestic case which had it all:  Fight over custody, fight over visitation, fight over sexually aberrant behavior, fight over support, fight over property, fight over enforcement.  Walsh illustrates the dilemma of having to fight over every issue, as juxtaposed against the necessity to protect one’s client and to stand up against intimidation.  While the final result in Walsh was very favorable to the client, the client was understandably worn out by the struggle, as was her lawyer.


(e)
Freedland v. MUSC.  Freedland was an administrative hearing before the Honor Counsel of the Medical College of MUSC, in which the client was accused of violating an honor code which was poorly drafted to the point of almost ceasing to exist.  My task as attorney for the accused was first, to inform a group of self-important senior medical students that their honor code was legally insufficient to convict anybody of anything and secondly, to convince them that my client was entirely innocent of wrongdoing in any case.  Freedland illustrates the importance of keeping one’s “eyes on the prize” and making certain that the client gets what he needs, rather than the lawyer getting notoriety for a flamboyant lawsuit.  By negotiation, we achieved for the client what the litigation process could not.

20.
List up to five civil appeals that you have personally handled.  Give the case name, the court, the date of decision, and the citation if the case was reported.


(a)
Heape v. Heape -- Court of Appeals -- April 26, 1999 -- 335 S.C. 420, 517 S.E.2d 1 (Ct.App. 1999)


(b)
Scott v. Schneider—Court of Appeals – Decided 2000 -- Unpublished


(c)
Taylor v. Taylor—Court of Appeals – Decided 1999 -- Unpublished


(d)
Brown v. Brown —Court of Appeals – Decided 1996 -- Unpublished

(e)
McMillan v. Mid-Carolina Pools, Inc. —Court of Appeals – Decided 2001 – Unpublished

21.
If you seek election to an appellate court, list up to five criminal appeals that you have personally handled.  Not applicable.

22.
Have you ever held judicial office?  If so, list the periods of your service, the courts involved, and whether you were elected or appointed.  Describe the jurisdiction of each of the courts and note any limitations on the jurisdiction of each court.



I served as Judge of the Family Court of the Ninth Judicial Circuit, Seat #1, from 1978 until 1993.  That position is elected by the General Assembly, and the Family Court has exclusive civil jurisdiction over divorce, annulment, validity of marriage, custody of children, child support, alimony, visitation, distribution of marital property and debt, and awards of attorneys fees in connection therewith.  It has exclusive criminal and status-offense jurisdiction over juveniles. 

23.
If the answer to question 22 is yes, describe or attach five of your most significant orders or opinions and give the citations if they were reported.  Also list citations to any appellate review of these orders or opinions.

(a)
Marsh v. Marsh, 313 S.C. 42, 437 S.E.2d 34 (1993) and Marsh v. Marsh, 308 S.C. 304, 417 S.E.2d 638 (Ct.App. 1992), cert. gr. 1993. I was the first Family Court Judge to rule on, and to be appealed from, the issue of whether the Family Court may equitably distribute personal-injury awards accrued during the marriage. I ruled in the affirmative and was affirmed twice, by the Court of Appeals and by the Supreme Court. 

(b)
Charleston County Dept. of Social Services v. Father, Stepmother, and Mother, 317 S.C. 283, 454 S.E.2d 307 (1995).  Father, Stepmother was an extraordinarily painful child abuse case in which the natural mother, who came from a prominent family, was accused of oral sex (fellatio) with her young son.  Trial was difficult and prolonged.  I permitted the son to testify, because I believed his testimony was the only way to get near the truth.  His testimony persuaded me that the abuse did occur and that his mother was the perpetrator.  Shortly after my ruling, I resigned from the bench (to run for Congress).  The mother hired new counsel and sought a new trial by means of a Rule 63, SCRCP motion.  Judge Mallard granted her motion, and he was reversed by the Supreme Court.  In its opinion, the Supreme Court discussed at length my rulings and Judge Mallard’s reasons for granting a new trial.  The Supreme Court essentially affirmed my rulings and found Judge Mallard’s reasoning inadequate.


(c)
Eichman v. Eichman, 285 S.C. 378, 329 S.E.2d 764 (1985). A divided Supreme Court affirmed my ruling that a previous support and visitation order was res judicata as to whether the husband in a later divorce action could claim that he was not the father of the children who were the subject of the previous order and therefore could request paternity tests.  The issue is important, because many fathers (and husbands) claim to learn, years after consenting to pay child support, that they are not in fact the fathers of the children in question.  Interestingly, two justices dissented, reasoning that recent advances in paternity testing suggest that the doctrine of res judicata should not be applied under those facts. 

(d)
Frasier v. McClair, 282 S.C. 491, 319 S.E.2d 350 (Ct.App. 1984). This was a reversal. I believed that an adoption had been brought solely to obtain Social Security benefits and therefore denied the adoption.  Judge Curtis Shaw of the Court of Appeals wrote a lengthy opinion explaining that my reasons were unsupported by the evidence and that, in any event, such an improper purpose for the adoption, if it existed, would not permit the Family Court to deny the adoption, as long as the adoption was in the best interests of the minor child.  The decision was important to educate bench and bar as to the standards for granting adoptions. 

(e)
Spartanburg County Dept. of Social Services v. Padgett, 296 S.C. 79, 370 S.E.2d 872 (1988).  This case proved to be an important lesson in humility for me.  I was assigned to a term in Spartanburg County.  The Family Court Judges there had complained that local attorneys were deliberately underestimating the time needed to try their cases, and the Chief Administrative Judge had issued a “Notice to Attorneys,” threatening sanctions against offending attorneys.  I imposed a small fine upon two attorneys in two cases who appeared to have substantially underestimated the time required to try their cases.  Both appealed.  The Supreme Court ruled that I had overstepped my authority.  After reading their opinion, I agreed with them completely and wrote letters of apology to the attorneys.

24.
Have you ever held public office other than judicial office?  If so, list the periods of your service, the office or offices involved, and whether you were elected or appointed.



In 1972, I was elected to the South Carolina House of Representatives as a Democrat from Charleston County.  I served one term.  I chose not to seek re-election.

25.
List all employment you have had while serving as a judge other than elected judicial office. Specify your dates of employment, employer, major job responsibilities, and supervisor.



While serving as Family Court Judge, I taught Legal Environment of Business and Business Law at the College of Charleston from 1981 until approximately 1986.  From 1985 until 1993, I wrote a column of general interest in the Charleston Evening Post (later the Charleston Post and Courier).  The column was popular, and it eventually became a weekly feature.  I was required to stop writing the column when I ran for the Republican nomination for U.S. Congress in 1993.

26.
Have you ever been an unsuccessful candidate for elective, judicial, or other public office?


a)
In 1983, I ran for one of the original seats on the South Carolina Court of Appeals. I dropped out of the race after the balloting had begun, in favor of Franklin Robson, who dropped out in favor of Bob Stoddard, who was defeated by the incumbent Bert Goolsby.



b)
In 1988, I ran for the Circuit bench against William Howard, who was elected to replace Lawrence Richter, who resigned.


c)
In 1991, I contemplated running for the Circuit bench, for the seat now occupied by Vic Rawl.  I withdrew after speaking to various legislators and long before any balloting.


d)
In 1994, I was an unsuccessful candidate for the Republican nomination to U.S. Congress from the First Congressional District.  The race was won by the smart candidates who spent the most money.

27.
Have you ever been engaged in any occupation, business, or profession other than the practice of law, teaching of law, or holding judicial or other public office?  


I have pursued no other vocations beside the practice of law, with the exception of the answers contained in question #25, above.

28.
Are you now an officer or director or involved in the management of any business enterprise?  Explain the nature of the business, your duties, and the term of your service.



Yes.  I am one of two managing partners of Rivers Properties, LLC, a limited liability company formed by my wife and me for the purpose of buying, leasing, restoring, and selling real estate.  I am also a partner in the law firm of Rivers & Grogan, LLP.

30.
Describe any financial arrangements or business relationships that you have, or have had in the past, that could constitute or result in a possible conflict of interest in the position you seek.  Explain how you would resolve any potential conflict of interest.  None.

31.
Have you ever been arrested, charged, or held by federal, state, or other law enforcement authorities for violation or for suspicion of violation of any federal law or regulation; state law or regulation; or county or municipal law, regulation, or ordinance?  No.

32.
Have you, to your knowledge, ever been under federal, state, or local investigation for possible violation of a criminal statute?  No.

33.
Has a tax lien or other collection procedure ever been instituted against you by federal, state, or local authorities?  Have you ever defaulted on a student loan?  Have you ever filed for bankruptcy?  No.

34.
Have you ever been sued, either personally or professionally?  If so, give details.

In 1997, my wife and I were sued in Charleston County Small Claims Court by a former landlord, who claimed that our cat had wet his carpets.  My wife and I insisted upon trial by jury, and the jury returned a compromise (one-half) verdict for the Plaintiff for less than $1,000.00.  We paid the judgment.

36.
Are you now or have you ever been employed as a “lobbyist,” as defined by S.C. Code ( 2-17-10(13), or have you acted in the capacity of a “lobbyist’s principal,” as defined by S.C. Code ( 2-17-10(14)?  No.

37.
Since filing with the Commission your letter of intent to run for judicial office, have you accepted lodging, transportation, entertainment, food, meals, beverages, money, or any other thing of value as defined by S.C. Code ( 2-17-10(1) from a lobbyist or lobbyist’s principal?  No.

38.
S.C. Code ( 8-13-700 provides, in part, that “[n]o public official, public member, or public employee may knowingly use his official office, membership, or employment to obtain an economic interest for himself, a member of his immediate family, an individual with whom he is associated, or a business with which he is associated.”  Please detail any knowledge you have of any formal charges or informal allegations against you or any other candidate for violations of these provisions.  None.

39.
S.C. Code ( 8-13-765 provides, in part, that “[n]o person may use government personnel, equipment, materials, or an office building in an election campaign.”  Please detail any knowledge you have of any formal charges or informal allegations against you or any other candidate for violations of these provisions.  None.

40.
Itemize all expenditures, other than those for travel and room and board, made by you, or on your behalf, in furtherance of your candidacy for the position you seek.  None, except for postage.

41.
List the amount and recipient of all contributions made by you or on your behalf to members of the General Assembly since the announcement of your intent to seek election to a judgeship.  None.

42.
Have you directly or indirectly requested the pledge of any member of the General Assembly as to your election for the position for which you are being screened?  Have you received the assurance of any public official or public employee that they will seek the pledge of any member of the General Assembly as to your election for the position for which you are being screened?  No.

43.
Have you requested a friend or colleague to contact members of the General Assembly on your behalf? No.

44.
Have you or has anyone on your behalf solicited or collected funds to aid in the promotion of your candidacy?  No.

45.
List all bar associations and professional organizations of which you are a member and give the titles and dates of any offices you have held in such groups.


(a)
South Carolina Bar, continuously since 1972;

 
(b)
Charleston County Bar Association since 1993;


(c)
Family Law Section of South Carolina Bar since 1993.

46.
List all civic, charitable, educational, social, and fraternal organizations of which you are or have been a member during the past five years and include any offices held in such a group, any professional honors, awards, or other forms of recognition received and not listed elsewhere.

(a)
South Carolina Society, 72 Meeting Street, Charleston, SC 29401;

 
(b)
Preservation Society of Charleston, 147 King Street, Charleston, SC 29401;


(c)
National Audubon Society, 700 Broadway, New York, NY 10003;

(d)
Poetry Society of South Carolina, P. O. Box 99, Charleston, SC 29402;

(e)
Humane Society of the United States, New York, NY.

47.
Provide any other information which may reflect positively or negatively on your candidacy, or which you believe should be disclosed in connection with consideration of you for nomination for the position you seek.  None.

48.
Personal References:


(a)
Patricia P. Austin, Vice President



Regions Bank 



1210 Ben Sawyer Blvd., Mt. Pleasant, S.C. 29464-4532
Tel. 843-971-1291


(b)
Mary B. Morrison, CPA


Schleeter, Monsen & DeBacker, CPA’s, LLP


127 King Street, Charleston, S.C. 29401


Tel. 843-577-9850


(c)
J. Daniel Floyd, CPA



P.O. Box 646, Mt. Pleasant, S.C. 29465


Tel. 843-884-2665


(d)
Henry L. Moise, Esquire



396 Sirop Court, Mt. Pleasant, S.C. 29464

Tel. 843-856-9307

(e)
Ms. Edith S. Hatfield



1064 Groves Manor Court, Mt. Pleasant, S.C. 29464
Tel. 843-884-1400 

MR. CHAIRMAN:  The Judicial Merit Selection Committee has thoroughly investigated your qualifications for the bench.  Our inquiry is focused on our nine evaluative criteria and has included a survey of the bench and bar, SLED and FBI check, credit check, grievance and reprimand check, a thorough study of your application materials, verification of your compliance with state ethics laws, search of newspaper articles in which your name appears, study of previous screenings, and check of economic conflicts of interest.  We have received no affidavits filed in opposition to your election.  No witnesses are present to testify.  So I would ask if you have any brief opening statements you would like to make at this time.  Keep in mind, that's purely optional.  And if not, I'll turn you over to counsel for a few questions.

JUDGE RIVERS:  The only statement I would make is that I'm, of course, honored to be here and to have this chance to appear before you is, in itself, a great privilege.  I think that it's wonderful that South Carolina has continued to form its method of electing judges with the present system.  It is a wonderful improvement upon past methods, and I think it's a great tribute to the legislature itself in acting in its present form, and I'm glad to be a part in this process.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Thank you, sir.  If you would, please, answer any questions counsel has for you.

MR. MUSTIAN:  Good morning, Mr. Rivers.  I have a few procedural matters to take care of first.  Mr. Chairman and Members of the Commission, Mr. Rivers has provided a sworn statement with detailed answers to over 30 questions regarding his judicial conduct, constitutional qualifications, office administration, temperament, and general housekeeping.  That statement was provided to all the Commission members, and I have no concerns with these statements and responses.  With the Commission's approval, I would ask that those questions be waived in this public hearing today and be put into the public record at this time.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Is there any objection?  If not, so done.

Sworn Statement to be included in Transcript of Public Hearings

Circuit Court Judge

Full Name:

L. Mendel Rivers, Jr.

Home Address:

1081 Groves Manor Court





Mt. Pleasant, S.C. 29464

Business Address:
741 Johnnie Dodds Blvd. – Suite C




Mt. Pleasant, S.C. 29464

Home Telephone:
(843) 884-6315

Work Telephone:
(843) 971-0555

E‑Mail Address:
mendel-rebeccarivers@home.com

1.
Why do you want to serve as a Circuit Court Judge?  



I was proud to serve as family court judge for fifteen years and greatly enjoyed the opportunity and privilege.  After I had served three full terms (plus portions of other terms), I made a decision to follow in my father’s footsteps and ran for the Republican nomination for U.S. Congress from the First Congressional District.



My father served in Congress for thirty years.  Both of my grandfathers held honorary public positions in their respective communities.  Public service is part of my heritage, and I felt that his seat in Congress beckoned me.  Despite a lengthy and expensive campaign, my efforts were unsuccessful.  



I learned in my race for Congress that I was not a particularly effective campaigner or politician.  In the campaign, I tried to forthrightly tackle difficult issues, but many of the voters simply were not interested.  I now understand that my forte’ is to be able to analyze complex contested issues and to arrive at a resolution of that conflict in accordance with established rules. That is the essence of judging. The most effective service I ever rendered was as family court judge.  I enjoyed that period of my life immensely and believe I am now ready to assume greater duties and greater challenges.

2.
Do you plan to serve your full term if elected?  Yes.

3.
Do you have any plans to return to private practice one day?  No.

4.
Have you met the Constitutional requirements for this position regarding age, residence, and years of practice?  Yes.

5.
What is your philosophy regarding ex parte communications?  Are there circumstances under which you could envision ex parte communications being tolerated?



In general, ex parte contact between litigants or attorneys representing litigants, on the one hand, and the court, on the other hand, should be forbidden.  When I was first elected as Family Court Judge in 1978, certain lawyers and court personnel attempted to influence me by ex parte communication.  At that time, the rules were more vague and ill defined than today, and it was not always clear if those individuals were in violation of the rules.  Just the same, their attempts to influence the court always made me extremely uncomfortable, and I discouraged such communication.



In the last ten years, the rules have become clearer, and the vast majority of lawyers and judges now understand quite well that both the fact and the appearance of ex parte communication must be sternly discouraged.  I support that trend.



Under rare circumstances, ex parte communication is appropriate.  For example, an attorney may legitimately require immediate emergency relief which does not permit the luxury of a contested hearing.  In many cases, there will not even be an opposing attorney who can be contacted.  In those rare cases, a judge should issue appropriate ex parte orders carefully tailored to prevent the harm alleged to be imminent, with an opportunity for the other side to be heard as quickly as possible.

6.
What is your philosophy on recusal, especially in situations in which lawyer‑legislators, former associates, or law partners are to appear before you?  



The three types of lawyers envisioned above who might appear before me are different and should be discussed separately.



I have no difficulty in allowing lawyer-legislators to appear before me in whatever capacity may be appropriate.  The public fears that sitting judges will be intimidated by lawyer-legislators and will show them and their clients preferential treatment.  I have not found that to be the case; lawyer-legislators are in no different position from other highly prominent, visible members of the bar. No one suggests that other prominent lawyers should not be allowed to practice law vigorously.  Further, the General Assembly is a part-time position, and lawyer-legislators must be permitted to earn a living, the same as other legislators.



I would therefore refuse to recuse myself in a case where a  non-lawyer-legislator moved for recusal on the grounds that the other side is represented by a lawyer-legislator who may have voted for me or supported my election, unless there were additional facts which supported the recusal.  I am fully capable of disregarding the fact that a particular attorney in my court is a legislator, just as I can disregard the fact that any other lawyer may have additional qualifications, such as being a part-time judge or a law professor.



As to former associates and law partners, I believe it is appropriate for me to first announce in open court that one of the parties is represented by an individual who is a former associate or law partner and to describe fully the nature of that relationship and when it terminated.  I would then invite the opposing side to make such motions as it deems appropriate, including recusal, and would carefully consider the motion.



I would grant the Motion for Recusal in cases where the former associate or law partner had been professionally involved with me within the past five years.  Where the relationship ended longer than five years earlier, I would consider all of the facts in support of the motion and would grant the motion if the facts were sufficient.

7.
If you disclosed something that had the appearance of bias, but you believed it would not actually prejudice your impartiality, what deference would you give a party that requested your recusal?  Would you grant such a motion?



In general, yes.  There are 49 circuit judges, and all of them are presumably impartial and highly qualified.  As brilliant as I may perceive myself to be, any given case could be heard by one of my fellow judges.  I do not admire judges who cling to cases as if they owned them.



The public has a right to believe that its cases are being judged by disinterested judges.  Unless my recusal would work a hardship on the other party, I would be inclined to grant a Motion for Recusal in cases where there is the appearance of bias, even if I believed I could judge the case impartially.

8.
How would you handle the appearance of impropriety because of the financial or social involvement of your spouse or a close relative?



I would disclose to all of the parties in open court all of the facts of which I was aware concerning the financial or social involvement of my wife or a close relative.  I would then invite the parties to make such motions as are appropriate.  The situation is similar to the situation in question #7, because there is the appearance of bias. Therefore, I would be inclined to grant such a Motion to Recuse.

9.
What standards would you set for yourself regarding the acceptance of gifts or social hospitality?



A judge should not accept gifts from those who practice before him.  In the past, such gifts as a bottle of whiskey or a bushel of oysters were routinely given by attorneys to judges at Christmastime.  That custom is disappearing, as it should.  I will make it a policy to return any gifts given by attorneys who practice before me.



As to social hospitality, a judge should in general refrain from fraternizing with attorneys, except for casual, non-legal settings such as church groups, neighborhood civic groups, school activities, etc.  When one accepts a judgeship, one must also accept the limitations that come with the territory.  One of those limitations is that a judge’s best friends tend to become other judges and persons removed from the practice of law.

10.
How would you handle a situation in which you became aware of misconduct of a lawyer or of a fellow judge?



A judge is in a peculiarly upright position.  While he should not strive to become holy or believe he is better than his fellows, nevertheless a judge is society’s embodiment of propriety.  Therefore, a judge must not only obey the law even more than his fellows, but he must also expect his peers to do likewise.  It follows that one of the unpleasant duties of a judge will be to report misconduct of a lawyer or fellow judge.



The report should not be made lightly.  First, the judge should determine whether the alleged misconduct is a violation of a criminal statute, the Rules for Lawyer Disciplinary Enforcement, or the Code of Judicial Conduct. Second, if the judge determines that it is, he should approach the errant lawyer or fellow judge and tell him or her of his concerns.  If the explanation is inadequate, the judge should report the misconduct to the appropriate authority and be prepared to testify, if necessary.

11.
Are you affiliated with any political parties, boards or commissions which, if you were elected, would need to be re‑evaluated?  No.

12.
Do you have any business activities with which you would envision remaining involved if elected to the bench?  No.

13.
How would you handle the drafting of orders?


In general, I prefer to issue orders directly from the bench.  A tough decision seldom becomes easier by delaying it.  Where the matter must be taken under advisement, I would instruct the prevailing attorney to prepare the order, by means of a fax transmission which would set out my ruling and the facts and law which controlled my decision.  I would prepare a fax-form template which would give the general details I prefer for all orders, so that important details would not be overlooked.

14.
What methods would you use to ensure that you and your staff meet deadlines?



I would establish a standing, early-Monday-morning meeting with my law clerk and secretary to review the week’s schedule and to determine what deadlines must be met during the week.  I would make it clear to my secretary and law clerk that their jobs include making certain that the judge be apprised of all deadlines and gently but firmly prodded to meet them.  In addition, I would require that the office maintain a paper calendar and a computerized calendar with the “pop-up” reminders of deadlines. 

15.
What is your philosophy on judicial activism, and what effect should judges have in setting or promoting public policy?



Judicial activism is dangerous.  It is tempting, especially from the insulated position of a judge, to want to right all wrongs immediately.  Experience, however, has shown that few of us are as wise as we think we are, and the most vexing human problems require time, cooperation, and consensus to resolve.  A judicial activist runs the risk of personally identifying himself with the legal problem over which he presides. I would therefore try to tailor my rulings only to the clear mandate of established law.  Breaking new ground is the duty of the General Assembly and the Supreme Court.



As to setting or promoting public policy, I believe it is entirely appropriate for judges to voice their opinions on vital issues.  Judges should be encouraged to testify before legislative bodies and to participate in legal organizations which promote the discussion of public policy issues.  However, the judge must make it clear that any personal beliefs or public statements will not prevent him from applying the law as it stands today.

16.
Canon 4 allows a judge to engage in activities to improve the law, legal system, and administration of justice.  What activities do you plan to undertake to further this improvement of the legal system?



I look forward to joining legal organizations which promote reforms of the system, i.e. committees appointed by the Supreme Court, joint bench-bar committees of the S. C. Bar, and committees of national organizations such as the American Bar Association or the American Judicature Society.

17.
Do you feel that the pressure of serving as a judge would strain personal relationships (i.e. spouse, children, friends, or relatives)?  How would you address this?



No.  As far as my wife and children are concerned, I have carefully discussed becoming a Circuit Judge with my wife, and she has strongly encouraged my running. She believes, as I do, that serving as Circuit Judge will give us more quality time together.  She also believes that serving as a Circuit Judge would provide a greater opportunity for me to use my intellect to solve difficult issues than are now available as an attorney.  She has always told me that she feels I am destined to a life of public service.



As for my children, they are all now grown and living outside of South Carolina.  They were pleased when I served as Family Court Judge and fully support my offering for this position.  



As for friends and relatives, I have already experienced and mastered this problem, when I served for fifteen years as Family Court Judge. I would handle the problem by reminding friends and relatives that my position as judge is a sacred trust I hold only for a limited period of time.  They should not approach me about my handling of any case and should, in fact, be told that any such approach might be criminal conduct.

18.
The following list contains five categories of offenders that would perhaps regularly appear in your court.  Discuss your philosophy on sentencing for these classes of offenders.


a.
Repeat offenders:




I would very carefully review the record of their repeat offenses.  If the law calls for enhanced sentences for repeat offenders, so be it.  I will follow the law.


b.
Juveniles (that have been waived to the circuit court):





As Family Court Judge, I presided over juvenile waiver hearings.  I am painfully aware that certain juveniles possess an adult capacity for crime.  Therefore, if a Family Court Judge has seen fit to waive jurisdiction of a juvenile from Family Court to Circuit Court, it is my obligation as Circuit Judge to respect that decision and to try that juvenile precisely as if he were an adult.


c.
White collar criminals:





Again, it is not my position as Judge to write the criminal statutory law.  If the legislature has seen fit to impose criminal penalties upon certain white-collar conduct, then it is my job as Circuit Judge to carry the intent of the legislature into effect.  White-collar criminals harm society as much as other criminals, and they should be sentenced accordingly.


d.
Defendants with a socially and/or economically disadvantaged background:




Certainly, one’s background is a legitimate factor for a judge to consider in sentencing.  All of us come from unique circumstances.




However, the criminal law is based upon the concept of mens rea, or the criminal mind.  It is therefore presumed that any person convicted in my court of a crime had a criminal mind and chose to commit that crime.  An underprivileged or disadvantaged background does not excuse criminal activity, although it may suggest a greater capacity for rehabilitation and should be a sentencing factor.


e.
Elderly defendants or those with some infirmity:



The same considerations which apply to the answer in sub-paragraph d. above, apply here.  The elderly or infirm come from a background which can be described as disadvantaged.  That disadvantage should be a factor in sentencing.  It is not a justification to commit a crime.

19.
Are you involved in any active investments from which you derive additional income that might impair your appearance of impartiality?  No.

20.
Would you hear a case where you or a member of your family held a de minimis financial interest in a party involved?


The answer to the question depends upon the nature of the party involved.  For example, if I, my wife, or a family member owned shares of stock in a national corporation which was a party to a lawsuit before me, I would disclose that investment and allow the parties to make appropriate motions for recusal.  I would carefully consider such motions.  On the other hand, if I, my wife, or a family member owned shares of stock in a local business which was a party to an action before me, I would consider that investment to be more than de minimis, even if the percentage of ownership were small.  Therefore, I would refuse to hear such a case.

21. Do you belong to any organizations that discriminate based on race, religion, or gender?



I am a member of the South Carolina Society, one of the oldest fraternal organizations in South Carolina. I am unaware of any written or official rules or regulations of the South Carolina Society which discriminate based on race, religion, or gender; however, I am aware that it is customary in the Society to invite as members the sons and grandsons of current members.  My father placed my name up for membership when I was nineteen years old, but I was not invited to become a member until I was forty-five.  I placed my own sons’ names up for membership several years ago. 



The South Carolina Society is essentially a social and charitable organization which does not advocate or oppose any political issues. The original purpose of the Society was to assist the poor, and the Society still prides itself on making charitable contributions to various worthy causes throughout Charleston.  I attend only sporadically and have not found that my membership in the South Carolina Society in any way influences my views on the law or on society.



One of the most important functions of the Society is the maintenance of the South Carolina Society Hall, one of Charleston’s oldest and most beautiful buildings.  The Hall is offered to the public without discrimination based on race, religion, or gender for meetings and social functions (for example, wedding receptions, Christmas parties, bar mitzvahs and bat mitzvahs).  See the attached pamphlet advertising the Hall for public and private functions.

22.
Have you attended all mandatory continuing legal education courses?  Yes.

23.
What do you feel is the appropriate demeanor for a judge?



A judge should attempt to place all of the participants in the courtroom at ease while maintaining strict decorum.  The judge should insist upon all formalities and court etiquette being observed.  Ritual in the courtroom is essential.  The courtroom is the one place in our society where profound, even savage, disputes are routinely probed, discussed, debated, and resolved, in an open and courteous atmosphere.  In America’s courtrooms, even people who hate each other are called upon to treat each other with dignity and respect. Most people will rise to that challenge, as long as the judge insists upon strict adherence to established ritual.  Thereafter, the search for truth and justice may proceed.  Without careful attention to demeanor and court etiquette, that search may become impossible.

24.
Do the rules that you expressed in your previous answer apply only while you are on the bench or in chambers, or do these rules apply seven days a week, twenty‑four hours a day?



Obviously, a judge cannot insist upon court etiquette outside of the courthouse.  He should, however, conduct himself carefully outside of the courthouse.  For example, a judge has no business getting drunk at parties, even if his wife is the designated driver, or insulting persons on the street.  Such conduct may be acceptable for the ordinary person, but people who seek to become judges must accept with equanimity limitations on their conduct outside of their official place of business. 

25.
Do you feel that it is ever appropriate to be angry with a member of the public, especially with a criminal defendant?  Is anger ever appropriate in dealing with attorneys?



No.  The angry man has lost self-control.  A judge, in appropriate cases, should deal sternly with criminal defendants, contemptuous persons in court, or errant attorneys.  Stern dealing, however, need not emanate from anger.  From a position of self-control, a judge can reprimand or discipline someone in the wrong far more effectively than he can from anger.

26.
How much money have you spent on your campaign?  If it is over $100, has that amount been reported to the House and Senate Ethics Committees?



Less than $100.00, for postage and long distance telephone calls to the Joint Merit Selection Commission.

27.
Have you sought or received the pledge of any legislator prior to this date?  No.

28.
Have you sought or been offered a conditional pledge of support by any legislator pending the outcome of your screening?  No.

29.
Have you asked any third parties to contact members of the General Assembly on your behalf before the final and formal screening report has been released?  No.

30.
Have you contacted any members of the Judicial Merit Selection Commission?  No.

31.
Are you familiar with the 48‑hour rule, which prohibits a candidate from seeking pledges for 48 hours after the draft report has been submitted?  Yes.

I HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THE ANSWERS TO THE ABOVE QUESTIONS ARE TRUE AND COMPLETE TO THE BEST OF MY KNOWLEDGE.






S/  L. MENDEL RIVERS, JR.

Sworn to before me this 4th day of March, 2001.

Rebecca B. Rivers, Notary Public for S.C.

My commission expires:  11/9/04

MR. MUSTIAN:  I'd also like to note for the record that based on the testimony contained in the candidate's Personal Data Questionnaire, which was introduced earlier into the record, Mr. Rivers meets the constitutional requirements for this position regarding age, residency, and years of practice.  

EXAMINATION BY MR. MUSTIAN:

Q.
Mr. Rivers, you were a family court judge for approximately 15 years; is that correct?

A.
Yes, sir.

Q.
Why do you now want to serve as Circuit Court judge?

A.
I loved my service on the family court bench.  I was very privileged to be there.  It's a very important position.  I felt after many years on the family court bench that a certain -- certain staleness was creeping in that I was very concerned about myself.  I, perhaps, lost some of the initial great enthusiasm which I had when I began the job, and I resigned.  It was an important experience for me and, again, a great opportunity, a successful one.  

I had not planned to become a judge again.  When I learned this post was coming up through the resignation of Judge Martin, I became interested because I believed that to be a circuit judge gives one, who is so inclined, a great opportunity to engage in some very significant intellectual challenges.  The circuit judge, I realize, is not -- there's no post that's undermining the wonderful challenges or the glamorizing responsibilities.  But that job does give a person who wants an intellectual challenge an occasional great intellectual challenge.  I look upon myself as an intellectual kind of person.  I love the theory of the law.  I love the law.  I love the wonderful way the machine operates, and I believe I am very good at meeting intellectual challenges.  I think that I can do that quite well.  I've done it for the course -- many times in my law practice.  And I believe as circuit judge, I can meet some very complex situations, resolve them in a very fair and just way and can -- while I'm not reducing to simply the law, I can take complicated issues, understand the fundamentals behind them, and then arrive at a just and wise decision in accordance with the law.  I think that's what a circuit judge is supposed to do.

Q.
Regarding your experience as it relates to the candidacy both in family court judgeship and your private law practice, can you explain to the Commission how you feel your legal and professional experience thus far would help you be an effective Circuit Court judge and what you have learned from that experience, how it would change or effect your judgeship?

A.
This is sounding kind of flippant here, but basically experience anybody gets.  You have to look at I have been alive for a long time.  I never imagined myself being 53 years old.  It sort of sneaked up on me; and, behold, here it was.  And I've achieved a great deal of wisdom over those years that nothing but living can bring.  So that, of course, is my number one qualification.  But to answer your question more specifically, my legal experience as an attorney and my judicial experience as a family court judge has equipped me to become a circuit court judge because it gives me a chance to deal with a whole huge realm of factual and legal issues.  I have pretty much done it all.  I've handled all kinds of criminal cases in family court, some involved juveniles but the charges weren't exact same.  Same dreadful acts of what a juvenile does -- a juvenile criminal can be as bad as what an adult criminal does.  And I've dealt with those kinds of issues, I've dealt with those kind of legal defenses, I've dealt with the burden of proof.  I have dealt with all of the same issues that a circuit judge deals with in deciding criminal convictions.

I had to deal, as a family court judge, with all the problems and tribulations that will inflict a circuit judge.  Lawyers are not always fun to get along with.  The hours are sometimes long.  The workload and the demands are sometimes – sometimes considerable.  One has to deal with a lot of repetition sometimes.  You've got to do all this with a smile, and you've got to do it with a sense of this goes with the territory, and I'm not going to be abusive toward people, I'm not going to be angry about it, I'm not going to feel sorry for myself.  I'm just going to do it with a smile, and I'm going to enjoy the wonderful days and I'm going to go through the not-so-wonderful days, again, with a smile and with the understanding that I'm only here for a short time and I'm privileged to be here.  

As a lawyer, since being on the family court bench, I have had a general practice.  It's typically been domestic and family relations, but I've certainly had lots of other types of cases.  I've dealt with criminal cases, dealt with personal injury cases, I've had jury trials in circuit court since being on the family court bench.  And I feel that I have really run the gambit of all of the areas that will be testing a circuit judge.  I realize that that's an impossible boost for anybody to make, because it's a court of unlimited jurisdiction.  So it's got tremendous gambit.  But I have seen a large variety of cases in my professional life which I think equip me to understand the issues that will encompass me.

Q.
In your interview, we discussed the results of your bench and bar surveys.  You received 21 total responses.  Fifteen indicated some concerns, primarily about your judicial temperament while a family court judge.  How would you respond to these concerns, and what would you do to remedy these -- these concerns?

A.
As I told you in our interview, I was very surprised when you indicated those concerns that someone said I was abrupt.  I was quite surprised at that.  I think of myself, if anything, as bending over backwards.  Anything but improper.  In fact, I would have thought the complaint might have been that Judge Rivers sometimes wasn't abrupt enough when maybe the circumstances called for being abrupt.  Maybe he should have kept somebody off and didn't.  Maybe he was a little bit too accommodating.  Maybe he lost some efficiency.  I would have expected that.  I would accept that as, perhaps, to be a legitimate criticism.  But to say that I was abrupt really shocks me.  I felt that I -- I have always tried real hard, frankly, to learn from the tough experiences I've had with some not-so-many good judges I had in my time.  Men who were abrupt.  Men who get plain rude.  Men who wouldn't want to listen.  Men who couldn't be made to listen to someone.  Men who maybe had to be appealed and reversed to make him understand.  And I tried very hard never to be like that.  And so I will say that -- of course, if that's the perception some lawyers have, then I've got an obligation to accept that.  And it may be a correct perception.  And if I have been like that, then I need to understand that's not the way a judge should behave.  A judge needs to be polite consistently.  I think judges are getting much better about that, and I'm happy to say I think I've been part of that trend on the family court bench, and I want to continue to be part of that trend.  And I want very much to be the kind of judge that listens very patiently, accepts whatever a person has to say, allow him adequate time to create a position, and then is willing to make the tough decision, which is, I think, what I've done in the past.

Q.
Also in your interview, we discussed two complaints that you put down in your Personal Data Questionnaire that were filed against you and eventually went to hearings.  The first involved allegations concerning your opinions as a columnist.  The second involved allegations that you improperly refused to withdraw from representing a client in a case you were involved in while a judge.  Both cases were eventually dismissed; but, for the record, would you discuss the circumstances surrounding these situations?

A.
Certainly.  I used to write a column for ​The Charleston Evening Post​, which later became ​The Post and Courier​.  I was -- I felt awfully lucky to be allowed to do that.  I think because I was a judge and because I liked – I liked to write and I liked to express my point of view, the people found me interesting.  I have found that since I've been a lawyer, I am just as much as opinionated and they aren't interested anymore.  So that's just the way it goes.  But when I was a judge, I guess I was hot copy.  And so I used to enjoy writing stuff, and I wrote things that provoked response.  I think that made me feel a contribution to public discourse and doing something worthwhile.  And so I wrote a column in which I expressed a personal opinion about abortion, pro choice versus pro life.  And, apparently, someone complained to Chief Justice that that may had been an improper expression for a judge, which I felt was quite unfair, because I expressed lots of opinions about various things.

Everybody has got an opinion, almost everybody.  And a judge's obligation as – a judge is not to never have an opinion, but he is not to allow that to interfere with his judicial work.  A judge has to obey the law.  Of course he has opinions on all kinds of things, but he takes them to work and he buries them sometimes when he puts on the black robe.  The black robe means you rise above your pettiness, your opinionated position, if you like that.  I felt I've always done that, and I was frankly shocked by that -- by that complaint.  And I made a point of saying that I am not defending either side.  There was never any question but that I did write the column.  I thought it was a good column.  Nobody never said it was not an essay of good quality, but just said it expressed a viewpoint.  And it went – it went to hearing, and the Supreme Court eventually found that the expression of such a viewpoint in no way violates any kind of -- judicial kinds of ethics and, therefore, was dismissed.

The other matter involved one of the ethical rules involving a lawyer said that a former judge is not to represent a party in litigation in which you are substantially involved.  And I had been involved in a fairly

minor part of a family court suit that involved these two individuals whom I promptly got abrupt.  And then unbeknownst to me, the father-in-law became later a lawyer.  And then the lawyer for the other side happened to withdraw from the case on the grounds that I was in violation of that rule that said that a former judge may not preside over the party.

And my position was that that had been the previous lawsuit that had been ended.  I had not prepared the final order.  I had not been involved in the final order.  I didn't look at the final order.  That I issued some interim orders and that I was, therefore, not substantially involved and I was not -- that rule did not apply to me.  That was the legal issue.  Never had any doubt as to what I had done.  I was very happy not to write those.  It was a legal issue that, again, resulted in my favor.

And I would just point out that I have never had a complaint made against me that I was ever involved in conduct of which I was ashamed had the facts been as alleged.  I have never been accused of stealing any money, never been accused of hurting anybody, never been accused of betraying a client, never been accused of lying, never been accused of committing any acts that are, which you might call, malum in se, meaning that they are, in fact, violations of the accepted code of human conduct.  Instead, these were two rules that were, you know, just – just rules that were put down.  And someone said I stepped foul, and I think they were wrong and they were shown to be wrong.  But they were, what I would call, malum prohibitum, which means simply a rule of society that someone enacts.  And so I think that I have been vindicated as I should.

MR. MUSTIAN:  Thank you.  Those issues that were raised by the bench and bar have been discussed today.  I would note that the low country Citizens Committee reported Mr. Rivers to be qualified and recommended.

Mr. Chairman, without objection, I would ask that the report be entered into the record.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  All right.  Without objection, it will be done.

 (The Citizens Committee Report was made a part of the record.)

MR. MUSTIAN:  I have no further questions.  

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Thank you, sir.  Any members of the Commission have any questions at this point?  

MR. FREEMAN:  I have a question, Mr. Chairman.  Suppose that you were on the bench and reached a decision that was appealed and the appellate court reversed you and you strongly disagreed with the ruling and the logic behind it, were well familiar with the facts and had your ability as a columnist back, and the thought crossed your mind when you're writing your column to call the appellate court's decision "baloney," and you are deciding whether or not it would be appropriate to do that publicly as a sitting appointed judge referring to a decision with which you had disagreed by a superior South Carolina court.  Do you think it would be appropriate to go ahead and call that tribunal -- their decision "baloney?"

JUDGE RIVERS:  Don't you want to ask Curtis Shaw to ask that question?  That was alleged to have happened.  I did not call Judge Shaw's opinion baloney.  I think I called the set of facts that came before me baloney.  I said there is a baloney effort to get an adoption.  Someone accused me of calling Judge Shaw's decision baloney, which I think would be outrageous on the part of the lower court judge -- whether it's in a column or anywhere else -- and I did not do that.  I would not do that.  

And if a judge does that -- if I, as a circuit judge or as a family court judge, were to call appellant court Judge Shaw's decision baloney, I think that's grounds for public reprimand.  I think a judge never should do that.  I did not do that.  Someone said I did.  It did not happen like that, and I was -- I think it may have gotten in a newspaper article that I had said that, but the facts turned up I never said that.  And I -- that fact was eventually cleared up.  

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Anyone else?

MR. FISHER:  I have just a quick question.  Judge Rivers, you mentioned in here the South Carolina Society and the fact that it's available for -- it facilities are available for use by all people without any sort of discriminatory prohibitions.  Would you elaborate on the South Carolina Society just a little bit for us?  Are those just from the low country we're not aware of, the traditions of Charleston?

JUDGE RIVERS:  The South Carolina Society is, perhaps, the oldest one of the fraternal societies that I guess is still in existence in South Carolina, and it essentially is pretty much a limited membership, I think, to sons and grandsons, which is how, myself, got in.  Your name was put up, I guess, by your father usually when you're real young.  When you're middle aged, you might get in.  It's essentially a social organization, and it exists for men to get together and mostly -- mostly socialize and have a drink together and have dinner.  It certainly has -- it's been accused of being a stuffy place.  It's been accused of being a place where if you haven't got a funny name, you can't get in.  And I sometimes laugh and call it the last name first society, because everybody in there has got a last name for a first name.  

But it's a nice place, very friendly, and they, you know -- a lot of back slapping and drink some alcohol and then we adjourn for dinner, then we go home.  The society does make a point of having the facility made available for everyone; and that, in fact, is a major fundraising part of the society to have bar mitzvahs and weddings and all kinds of things held there in the hall, which helps to preserve the hall.  It's a real pretty building.  It's, again, one of those historical states and -- and another thing you might call a real contribution the society does, I think, is to preserve a very important piece of architecture.  And then we occasionally make some scholarship contributions to local schools.  

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Any other questions?  If not, that concludes this stage of the screening process.  Two things to remind you of.  One is, of course, no commitments can be taken until the Committee issues its final report and issues a preliminary report 48 hours before the report really becomes official.  Second thing is we would appreciate it if you would not discuss with the other candidates what went on in here today.  With that -- of course, the panel reserves the right to keep the record open should their study of the materials or anything, any other information, indicates that there's anything that needs to be covered.  That is not to indicate that there is anything to be covered, but it is a reservation of a right that this Commission has kept.  With that, we thank you for coming.

JUDGE RIVERS:  May I ask one question, please?

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Yes, sir. 

JUDGE RIVERS:  Did I pass my exam?

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Well, this is a review and the Commission will write an opinion on that.

JUDGE RIVERS:  Okay.  Very well.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Yes, sir. 

JUDGE RIVERS:  Thank you. 

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Thank you. 

MR. CHAIRMAN:  We're back on the record.  We have before us Judge James A. Turner.  He is offering for the position of Circuit Court, Ninth Judicial Circuit, Seat Number 1.  Good morning, sir.  And if you would be so kind as to raise your right hand.

 (HONORABLE JAMES A. TURNER, being first duly sworn by the Chairman, testified as follows:)

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Have you had an opportunity to review the Personal Data Questionnaire?

JUDGE TURNER:  Yes, Mr. Chairman.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Is it correct, or does it need any changes, additions, or deletions thereto?

JUDGE TURNER:  It is correct to the best of my knowledge.  There was one question in the preliminary interview concerning the date of admission to practice, and I thought I had answered that in another question.  It was 1991. 

MR. CHAIRMAN:  That correction has been made.  Do you have any objection to our making the summary a part of the record of your sworn testimony today as if you had fully stated all those matters here on the record?

JUDGE TURNER:  No objection to that, Mr. Chairman.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  It will be done so at this point in the transcript.  

PERSONAL DATA QUESTIONNAIRE

Circuit Court, Ninth Judicial Circuit, Seat 1

Mr. James Turner

HOME:
351 Confederate Circle, Charleston, S.C. 29407



(843) 766-1737

BUSINESS:
4045 Bridgeview Drive, North Charleston, S.C. 29405



(843) 202.6650

2.
Date and Place of Birth:  July 28, 1957, at Charleston, South Carolina.

3.
Are you a citizen of South Carolina?  Yes.


Have you been a resident of this state for at least the immediate past five years?  Yes.

5.
Family Status:  Married on June 23, 1996, to Janice Kirishtein.


Never divorced.


Child:  Abigail, age 23 months.

6.
Have you served in the military?  Not applicable.

7.
List each college and law school you attended, including the dates of your attendance, the degrees you received, and if you left an institution without receiving a degree, the reason for your departure.


College of Charleston (1976); transferred.


Limestone College (1976-1980), B.A. History, Psychology.


University of South Carolina School of Law (1987-1990), J.D.

8.
List the states in which you have been admitted to practice law and the year of each admission.  Also list any states in which you took the bar exam, but were never admitted to the practice of law.  If you took the bar exam more than once in any of the states listed, please indicate the number of times you took the exam in each state.


South Carolina, admitted 1991.

9.
List the significant activities in which you took part during your attendance at college, graduate, and law school. Give the dates you were involved in these activities and list any leadership positions you held.


Worked at the legislature during law school.


Student Body President and Editor in Chief of the newspaper, Limestone College.

10.
Briefly describe your continuing legal or judicial education during the past five years.


(a)
Landlord Tenant CLE – April 14, 2000;


(b)
Ethics Roundup, Professor Freeman – April 2000;


(c)
Ethics, SC Bar Annual Meeting, Hilton Head – June 2000;


(d)
DUI: S.C. Case Law and Opinions – November 16, 2000;


(e)
MUSC: Substance Abuse Seminar – December 2000;


(f)
Update on Recent Law – February 17, 1999;


(g)
Contracts – June 18, 1999;


(h)
Torts – April 14, 1998;


(i)
Evidence – June 9, 1998;


(j)
Jury Selection and Instruction – August 6, 1998;


(k)
Civil Trial Procedures – April 4, 1997;


(l)
Fourth Amendment Issues – October 6, 1997;


(m)
Virtue and Vice (Ethics) – November 6, 1997;


(n)
Update on Recent Law – February 29, 1996.

11.
Have you taught law-related courses or lectured at bar association conferences, educational institutions, or continuing legal or judicial education programs?


(a)
Orientation for new magistrates at the criminal justice academy in the area of conducting preliminary hearings.


(b)
Presenter at Tips From the Bench seminar sponsored by the South Carolina Bar, lecturing in the areas of civil and criminal practice in Magistrate Court.



(c)
Presenter at College of Charleston CLE for local attorneys on the topic of practice procedure and substantive law in Magistrate Court (civil).


(d)
Panel participant at yearly seminar on landlord-tenant issues sponsored by local apartment managers.
12.
List all published books and articles you have written and give citations and the dates of publication for each.


The New Magistrate Court Rules, The Bar Tab (1998).

13.
List all courts in which you have been admitted to practice and list the dates of your admission.  Give the same information for administrative bodies that require a special admission to practice.


Admitted to practice in state and federal court.

14.
Describe chronologically your legal experience since graduation from law school and include a list of all law firms with which you have been associated.

1990–1991
Stucky and Kobrovsky–general practice, including insurance defense and §1983 actions;

1991


Rosen, Rosen, and Hagood-school voting rights;

1991–1994

Private Practice–general practice;

1992–1995

Magistrate Preliminary Hearing Court;

1994–present

Magistrate Small Claims Court.



I have served as a judicial officer for the past five years hearing both civil and criminal cases.  I noted in responding to question 17 the percentage of my law practice that was devoted to either civil or criminal areas.



Specifically, I have conducted preliminary hearings and made rulings concerning all areas of substantive criminal law.  I was selected as the first Magistrate to hear transfer cases in Charleston County.



Presently, I serve and have served for seven years, as a Charleston County Small Claims Court Judge.  This position has enabled me to hear jury and non-jury matters in almost all areas of civil law.  I hear cases consistently on remand from Circuit Court.



Finally, I have been recommended to serve as Special Circuit Court Judge in our circuit to assist in handling present cases on the docket.

15.
What is your rating in Martindale-Hubbell?


Do not have a rating due to judicial service for the last several years.

16.
What was the frequency of your court appearances during the last five years?


(a)
federal:

N/A


(b)
state:

N/A

17.
What percentage of your practice involved civil, criminal, and domestic matters during the last five years?  N/A (percentages are for private practice more than five years ago)


(a)
civil:

40%


(b)
criminal:
20%


(c)
domestic:
40%

18.
What percentage of your practice in trial court during the last five years involved matters that went to a jury?  Not applicable.  (I handle both jury and non-jury trials as judge.)

19.
List five of the most significant litigated matters that you have personally handled in either trial or appellate court or before a state or federal agency.  Give citations if the cases were reported and describe why these matters were significant.

a) Passailaigue v. McCants (Legal issues included Statute of Elizabeth, anti-assignment statute and fraudulent conveyance issues and included appeals.

b) Ellis v. South Carolina Department of Highways and Public Transportation (Legal issues included Tort Claims Act and chain of custody issues)


(c)
Lester v. Pasjon (The case concerned the litigation of a partnership dissolution)


(d)
Cade v. Guerreri (Breach of contract case which featured technical testimony on construction)


(e)
State v. In the interest of Eric Milligan (Defense of a thirteen year old on cocaine charges and other matters)

20.
List up to five civil appeals that you have personally handled.  Not applicable.

21.
If you seek election to an appellate court, list up to five criminal appeals that you have personally handled.  Not applicable.

22.
Have you ever held judicial office?  If so, list the periods of your service, the courts involved, and whether you were elected or appointed.  Describe the jurisdiction of each of the courts and note any limitations on the jurisdiction of each court.


Preliminary Hearing Court, 1992 – 1995, appointed.


Small Claims Court, 1994 – present, appointed.

23.
If the answer to question 22 is yes, describe or attach five of your most significant orders or opinions and give the citations if they were reported.  Also list citations to any appellate review of these orders or opinions.

24.
Have you ever held public office other than judicial office?  None.

25.
List all employment you have had while serving as a judge other than elected judicial office.  Private law practice.

26.
Have you ever been an unsuccessful candidate for elective, judicial, or other public office?  Circuit Court:  1996, 1998, and 1999.

27.
Have you ever been engaged in any occupation, business, or profession other than the practice of law, teaching of law, or holding judicial or other public office?

Charleston County School System, administrator in Adult Education Department, 1981-1987.

28.
Are you now an officer or director or involved in the management of any business enterprise?  No.

30.
Describe any financial arrangements or business relationships that you have, or have had in the past, that could constitute or result in a possible conflict of interest in the position you seek.  Explain how you would resolve any potential conflict of interest.  None known.

31.
Have you ever been arrested, charged, or held by federal, state, or other law enforcement authorities for violation or for suspicion of violation of any federal law or regulation; state law or regulation; or county or municipal law, regulation, or ordinance?  No.

32.
Have you, to your knowledge, ever been under federal, state, or local investigation for possible violation of a criminal statute?  Never formally or officially advised of such.

33.
Has a tax lien or other collection procedure ever been instituted against you by federal, state, or local authorities?  Have you ever defaulted on a student loan?  Have you ever filed for bankruptcy?  None.

34.
Have you ever been sued, either personally or professionally?  Neither applies to my knowledge.

36.
Are you now or have you ever been employed as a “lobbyist,” as defined by S.C. Code § 2-17-10(13), or have you acted in the capacity of a “lobbyist’s principal,” as defined by S.C. Code § 2-17-10(14)?  Not applicable.

37.
Since filing with the Commission your letter of intent to run for judicial office, have you accepted lodging, transportation, entertainment, food, meals, beverages, money, or any other thing of value as defined by S.C. Code § 2-17-10(1) from a lobbyist or lobbyist’s principal?  Not applicable.

38.
S.C. Code § 8-13-700 provides, in part, that “[n]o public official, public member, or public employee may knowingly use his official office, membership, or employment to obtain an economic interest for himself, a member of his immediate family, an individual with whom he is associated, or a business with which he is associated.”  Please detail any knowledge you have of any formal charges or informal allegations against you or any other candidate for violations of these provisions.  Not applicable.

39.
S.C. Code § 8-13-765 provides, in part, that “[n]o person may use government personnel, equipment, materials, or an office building in an election campaign.”  Please detail any knowledge you have of any formal charges or informal allegations against you or any other candidate for violations of these provisions.  Not applicable.

40.
Itemize all expenditures, other than those for travel and room and board, made by you, or on your behalf, in furtherance of your candidacy for the position you seek.


Postage – approx $40.00

41.
List the amount and recipient of all contributions made by you or on your behalf to members of the General Assembly since the announcement of your intent to seek election to a judgeship.  None known.

42.
Have you directly or indirectly requested the pledge of any member of the General Assembly as to your election for the position for which you are being screened?  Have you received the assurance of any public official or public employee that they will seek the pledge of any member of the General Assembly as to your election for the position for which you are being screened?  No.

43.
Have you requested a friend or colleague to contact members of the General Assembly on your behalf?  No.

44.
Have you or has anyone on your behalf solicited or collected funds to aid in the promotion of your candidacy?  None known.

45.
List all bar associations and professional organizations of which you are a member and give the titles and dates of any offices you have held in such groups.


(a)
South Carolina Bar Association

46.
List all civic, charitable, educational, social, and fraternal organizations of which you are or have been a member during the past five years and include any offices held in such a group, any professional honors, awards, or other forms of recognition received and not listed elsewhere.


Not applicable.  I do not belong to these organizations because I have been a judicial officer for the past five years to avoid any potential conflict.

47.
Provide any other information which may reflect positively or negatively on your candidacy, or which you believe should be disclosed in connection with consideration of you for nomination for the position you seek.


I have been recommended to serve as a special circuit court judge for our circuit.

48.
Personal References:


(a)
W. Charles Hood, Jr., Esquire


(b)
John R. Yoder, Esquire


(c)
Charles Rowell, Banker


(d)
Larry Kobrovsky, Esquire


(e)
Harold M. Richman

MR. CHAIRMAN:  The Judicial Merit Selection Commission has thoroughly investigated your qualifications for the bench.  Our inquiry is focused on our nine evaluative criteria, and has included a survey of the bench and the bar; a SLED and FBI check; a credit check; a grievance and reprimand check; a thorough study of your application materials; a verification of your compliance with state ethics laws; a search of newspaper articles in which your name appears; a study of previous screenings; and a check of economic conflicts of interest.  We have received no affidavits filed in opposition to your election.  No witnesses are present to testify.  So I would ask you if you have any brief opening statements you would like to make at this time, keeping in mind it is purely optional.  If not, counsel has some questions for you.

JUDGE TURNER:  I had two statements that I did want to make to the Committee.  First of all, I wanted to thank you for your consideration.  I will try to be brief in the opening statement, because I know you have some other folks to screen.  During my preliminary interview, I -- in going over with staff counsel, one of the things that was mentioned about me was I was sometimes long-winded.  That might be epidemic to the

profession, but I'll try to be kind of brief.  The first thing I wanted to say to you is I am very thankful and I am very proud to be considered before you today for such a calling from a personal standpoint, because I am the son of one parent who had the equivalent of a fourth grade education in this country; and, on her behalf, I am very proud to be considered by this Committee.  

Secondly, in thinking in terms of what might be important to the Committee in your evaluation -- and I know that there are many things -- one thing that I did want to emphasize is in January of this year I was asked by the Circuit Court to be designated as a Special Circuit Court judge, and that was related to the

Chief Justice, who, my understanding, was prepared to approve it.  Before that occurred -- although some terms were set, before that occurred, Judge Martin, as you all know, decided not to seek reelection.  He initially decided to seek reelection.  And so that was put on hold until we could complete this particular race.  But I do want to emphasize that some others have expressed some confidence in me in that regard and wanted the Committee to know that.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Thank you, sir.  Please answer any questions counsel has for you.

MS. CRAWFORD:  Hi, Judge Turner.

JUDGE TURNER:  Hi.

MS. CRAWFORD:  Mr. Chairman and Members of the Commission, Judge Turner has provided a sworn statement with detailed answers to over 30 questions regarding judicial conduct, constitutional qualification, office administration, temperament, and general housekeeping.  That statement is in your notebooks and is -- I have no concerns with this statement.  With the Commission's approval, I would ask that those questions be waived at the public hearing today.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Without objection.  

MS. CRAWFORD:  I would also ask that that statement be entered into the public record at this time.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Is there any objection to that being done?  There being none, so done.

Sworn Statement to be included in Transcript of Public Hearings

Full Name:
James A. Turner

Home:

351 Confederate Circle, Charleston, S.C. 29407




(843) 766-1737

Business:
4045 Bridgeview Drive, North Charleston, S.C. 29405




(843) 202-6650

E-Mail Address:
jjturnerjj@aol.com

1.
Why do you want to serve as a Circuit Court Judge?


Seek the challenge of progressing as a judge.

2.
Do you plan to serve your full term if elected?  Yes.

3.
Do you have any plans to return to private practice one day?  Prefer Judicial Service.

4.
Have you met the Constitutional requirements for this position regarding age, residence, and years of practice?  Yes.

5.
What is your philosophy regarding ex parte communications?  Are there circumstances under which you could envision ex parte communications being tolerated?


Only in the few instances noted under the Canons of Judicial Ethics.

6.
What is your philosophy on recusal, especially in situations in which lawyer‑legislators, former associates, or law partners are to appear before you?


This often must be handled on a case by case basis, but I recuse myself in any situation where I suspect a conflict of interest.

7.
If you disclosed something that had the appearance of bias, but you believed it would not actually prejudice your impartiality, what deference would you give a party that requested your recusal?  Would you grant such a motion?


Complete deference and I always grant the motion.

8.
How would you handle the appearance of impropriety because of the financial or social involvement of your spouse or a close relative?


I would not hear the case.  The Canons require avoiding the appearance of impropriety.

9.
What standards would you set for yourself regarding the acceptance of gifts or social hospitality?


Non-acceptance policy.  My personal policy is stricter than the Canons require, but I am more comfortable with my personal policy.

10.
How would you handle a situation in which you became aware of misconduct of a lawyer or of a fellow judge?


The Canons require reporting although it may be personally unpleasant.

11.
Are you affiliated with any political parties, boards or commissions that, if you were elected, would need to be re‑evaluated?  None.

12.
Do you have any business activities with which you would envision remaining involved if elected to the bench?  None known.

13.
How would you handle the drafting of orders?


My policy is to either prepare my own orders or invite both counsel to submit a proposed order.

14.
What methods would you use to ensure that you and your staff meet deadlines?


We utilize a docketing system.

15.
What is your philosophy on “judicial activism,” and what effect should judges have in setting or promoting public policy?


Although we should be devoted to the improvement of the legal system, that does not suggest that we should engage in judicial activism.

16.
Canon 4 allows a judge to engage in activities to improve the law, legal system, and administration of justice.  What activities do you plan to undertake to further this improvement of the legal system?



I have served on committees and spoken to groups concerning the improvement of the legal system.

17.
Do you feel that the pressure of serving as a judge would strain personal relationships (i.e. spouse, children, friends, or relatives)?  How would you address this?


I have served in a judicial capacity for almost nine (9) years and such potential problems have been resolved.

18.
The following list contains five categories of offenders that would perhaps regularly appear in your court.  Discuss your philosophy on sentencing for these classes of offenders.


a.
Repeat offenders:



Repeat offenders statistically commit the majority of crime in our state.  Recent statutory changes have also limited the discretion in sentencing.  I believe that the legislature has enacted proper guidelines.  I would follow the stricter sentencing inclination with these individuals as a rule.


b.
Juveniles (that have been waived to the circuit court):


I would attempt to follow the philosophy that recognizes that offenders at this age may show potential for reform.  However, that would be balanced by the realization that often these may be repeat offenders who may also be accused or convicted of the most heinous of adult crime.


c.
White collar criminals:


Although these offenders are often productive members of society, their crimes should not be taken lightly.  Often restitution may serve the more useful purpose to the victim and society.


d.
Defendants with a socially and/or economically disadvantaged background:


We must evaluate the impact of these factors against the standard that ultimately each person makes conscious choices and must be responsible for their own actions and any consequences that may result.  I can personally empathize; however, personal values and respect for the law are the aims of all decent people irrespective of their social or economic level.


e.
Elderly defendants or those with some infirmity:


This group may often have medical considerations.  Those with particular infirmities should be handled in a way that does not impact negatively on their conditions but also recognizes that such an offender must be measured and evaluated by the same standards as other similar offenders without the infirmity.  Elderly defendants will receive a very case specific approach.  One may recognize through the wisdom of years that a change in lifestyle is demanded.  Another may be beyond the point of rehabilitation and accepted the criminal way of life.

19.
Are you involved in any active investments from which you derive additional income that might impair your appearance of impartiality?  None known.

20.
Would you hear a case where you or a member of your family held a de minimis financial interest in a party involved?  No.

21.
Do you belong to any organizations that discriminate based on race, religion, or gender?  None known.

22.
Have you attended all mandatory continuing legal education courses?


Yes, to my knowledge, and I attempt to attend many more CLE programs than required.

23.
What do you feel is the appropriate demeanor for a judge?


Patient but probing.  Respectful, courteous and to demonstrate a good example in serving the public.

24.
Do the rules that you expressed in your previous answer apply only while you are on the bench or in chambers, or do these rules apply seven days a week, twenty‑four hours a day?


These rules apply all of the time so long as one serves as a judge.

25.
Do you feel that it is ever appropriate to be angry with a member of the public, especially with a criminal defendant?  Is anger ever appropriate in dealing with attorneys?



Anger is not appropriate.  A firm but courteous demeanor may be required for some situations.

26.
How much money have you spent on your campaign?  If it is over $100, has that amount been reported to the House and Senate Ethics Committees?


A nominal amount for postage.

27.
Have you sought or received the pledge of any legislator prior to this date?  No.

28.
Have you sought or been offered a conditional pledge of support by any legislator pending the outcome of your screening?  No.

29.
Have you asked any third parties to contact members of the General Assembly on your behalf before the final and formal screening report has been released?  No.

30.
Have you contacted any members of the Judicial Merit Selection Commission?  No.

31.
Are you familiar with the 48‑hour rule, which prohibits a candidate from seeking pledges for 48 hours after the draft report has been submitted?  Yes.

I HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THE ANSWERS TO THE ABOVE QUESTIONS ARE TRUE AND COMPLETE TO THE BEST OF MY KNOWLEDGE.






S/James A. Turner

Sworn to before me this 26th day of February, 2001.

W.C. Hood, Notary Public for South Carolina

My commission expires:  5-05-10

MS. CRAWFORD:  Mr. Chairman, I also would like to note for the record that based on the testimony contained in the candidate's PDQ, which was introduced earlier into the record, Judge Turner meets the constitutional requirements for this position regarding age, residency, and years of practice.  

EXAMINATION BY MS. CRAWFORD:  

Q.
Judge Turner, you've been through screening a few times, and I believe your last screening was a little over a year and a half ago.  However, there are several new members on the Commission, so I'm going to ask you some of the same questions you've been asked before just to give them a feel.

A.
Certainly.

Q.
Why do you now want to serve as a Circuit Court judge?

A.
Really, my position on that has not changed since the other times of screening.  As you know from reviewing my material, I serve presently as judge of the small claims court in Charleston County.  We now have an increased jurisdiction.  Since the time I have been handling the court, the jurisdiction had steadily increased.  I have also served as a preliminary hearing court judge, was asked by the solicitor when the transfer court was started down there, to do criminal work as well.  And I also believe I have a varied resume concerning civil and criminal experience in practice.  

It seems to me that this is a natural progression.  I have been asked to do cases by the Circuit Court, things have been referred to me on occasion, and I believe this to be a very natural progression and that our subject matter is similar enough that this would be a natural progression for me to run for this particular position.

Q.
Okay.  Regarding your experience as it relates to your candidacy today, can you explain -- you kind of touched on it, but can you explain more how you feel your legal, professional experience as a magistrate will help you be an effective judge?  And if you could please go back before some of your trial work or some of your practice -- experience as an attorney.

A.
Absolutely.  Kind of starting from the beginning chronologically, with the emphasis on practice, I believe it's important that I had a verification of civil and, also, criminal work, as well as plaintiff- and defense-oriented work.  I worked for a defense firm for a period of time doing essentially civil defense work.  I then, in another juncture, opened my own office as a private plaintiff attorney and -- as some do upon getting started -- took about whatever came through the door, and that offered a wide variety, mostly on the plaintiff's side; did some specialized issues, and also did criminal work.  For a period of time when I was practicing in a private capacity, I was appointed as a part-time magistrate, and that allowed me to receive judicial experience, hearing different cases, preliminary hearings and transfer court.  And, of course, as you all know, when you're doing preliminary hearings, they are general sessions offenses, actually.  So it is important that the preliminary hearing court judge know the elements of the substantive criminal offense.
So I felt that this gave me a good mix, and I utilize that today in dealing with attorneys in terms of plaintiff's orientation or a defense orientation and feel that I have a wide variety of experience to bring to that.  It has also given me what I believe to be a wealth of jury trial experience and I believe, to some extent -- although I know the other candidates, and I believe we all like each other -- I believe that distinguishes me somewhat, because I am the person that has been doing jury trials for approximately nine years.  I've had to make difficult calls when motions have been made by the attorneys about whether or not we grant a new trial absolute or it's a new trial nisei or it's a mistrial situation or whether or not to charge pain and suffering as opposed to loss of enjoyment of life.  These are the things I see on a daily basis, and I believe that has given me the necessary experience to do this.

MS. CRAWFORD:  Thank you, Judge Turner.  I would note for the record that the bench and bar surveys that were received regarding Judge Turner were generally favorable.  Of the 21 responses, six of which indicated some problems.  For example, there was one question as to his impartiality; however, one person that said that he was plaintiff-oriented and another response said he was defense-oriented.

JUDGE TURNER:  I was happy with that, incidentally. 

MS. CRAWFORD:  Any other issues that were raised by the bench and bar have been addressed today.  I would also note that the low country Citizens Committee reported Judge Turner qualified and recommended.  Mr. Chairman, without objection, I would ask that this report be made into the record.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Is there objection?  There being none, so done.

 (The Citizens Committee Report was made a part of the record.)

MS. CRAWFORD:  And I have no further questions.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Does any member of the Commission have a question?  With that, that concludes this part of the screening process.  Several things very quickly.  One is that the Commission reserves the right to keep the record open until it votes.  In the event that it should have a question or whatever, it would either have you come back or through staff.  Secondly, remind you, of course, of the 48-hour rule, preliminary report, final report, no commitments until final report.  Lastly, we ask you please not to discuss the proceedings in here with the other candidates until we finish today.

JUDGE TURNER:  Absolutely.  And I thank you again for your consideration.  It's good to see some of you again and meet some of your for the first time.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Thank you, sir.  Have a nice day.

JUDGE TURNER:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Thank you very much.  

(Off the record.)

MR. CHAIRMAN:  All right.  We'll go back on the record at this time.  And we have before us Mr. Steven H. John offering for the Circuit Court, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit, Seat Number 1.

MR. JOHN:  That's correct, sir.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  If you'd be so kind as to raise your right hand.

(STEVEN H. JOHN, being first duly sworn by the Chairman, testified as follows:)

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Have you had an opportunity to review the Personal Data Questionnaire?

MR. JOHN:  Yes, sir.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Is it correct, or does it need any additions or deletions thereto?

MR. JOHN:  No additions or deletions that I'm aware of, sir.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Do you object to our making this summary a part of your sworn testimony today as if you fully stated those matters here on the record?

MR. JOHN:  I have no objection to making it a part of the record, sir.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Thank you.  It will be done so at this point in the transcript.  

PERSONAL DATA QUESTIONNAIRE

Circuit Court, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit, Seat #1

Mr. Steven H. John

HOME:
1003 Thomas Avenue, N. Myrtle Beach, S.C. 29582

(843) 272-6188

BUSINESS:
P.O. Box 628, N. Myrtle Beach, S.C.  29597 or


205-A Highway 17 North, N. Myrtle Beach, S.C.  29582

(843) 249-8200

(fax):
(843) 249-7032

2.
Date and Place of Birth:  December 1, 1953, at North Augusta, S.C.

3.
Are you a citizen of South Carolina?  Yes, I have been a resident of the State of South Carolina since my birth in 1953.

Have you been a resident of this state for at least the immediate past five years?  Yes.

5.
Family Status:  Married on September 1, 1990, to Susan Watts John.

Never Divorced.


Child:  Nicolas Blake John, born June 14, 2000.

6.
Have you served in the military?  Not applicable.

7.
List each college and law school you attended, including the dates of your attendance, the degrees you received, and if you left an institution without receiving a degree, the reason for your departure.

The Citadel, 1971 - 1975, B.A. Political Science;

University of South Carolina Law School, 1975 - 1978, Juris Doctor.

8.
List the states in which you have been admitted to practice law and the year of each admission.  Also list any states in which you took the bar exam, but were never admitted to the practice of law.

South Carolina, 1978.

9.
List the significant activities in which you took part during your attendance at college, graduate, and law school. Give the dates you were involved in these activities and list any leadership positions you held.

The Citadel ~ Cross Country, Debate Team, Honor Court

10.
Briefly describe your continuing legal or judicial education during the past five years.

2000 - 43.75 legal ed hours and 6.0 ethics hours;

1999 - 45.02 legal ed. hours and 4.83 ethics hours;

1998 - 45 legal ed. hours and 4.58 ethics hours;

1997 - 25.5 legal ed. hours and 5.75 ethics hours;

1996 - 42.92 legal ed. hours and 9.5 ethics hours.

11.
Have you taught law-related courses or lectured at bar association conferences, educational institutions, or continuing legal or judicial education programs?  Not applicable.

12.
List all published books and articles you have written and give citations and the dates of publication for each.  Not applicable.

13.
List all courts in which you have been admitted to practice and list the dates of your admission.  Give the same information for administrative bodies that require a special admission to practice.

South Carolina Supreme Court - November 8, 1978;

U.S. District Court for South Carolina - October 4, 1979;

U.S. Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals - October 31, 1979;

U.S. Supreme Court - April 20, 1987.

14.
Describe chronologically your legal experience since graduation from law school and include a list of all law firms with which you have been associated.  Describe the general character of your practice and divide it into periods with dates if its character has changed over the years.

a) LAW CLERK TO THE HONORABLE SIDNEY T. FLOYD, RESIDENT JUDGE, FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, 1978 – 1980;

b) PRIVATE TRIAL PRACTICE, 1981 - Present.  Opened solo practice in N. Myrtle Beach, S.C. in 1986, having an active trial practice in all of the State Courts. In Civil Court, cases ranging from contracts and automobile accidents to multi-million dollar construction cases; Criminal Court, cases ranging from traffic offenses to court appointed defense in death penalty cases; Family Court, cases from uncontested divorces to all manner of contested family disputes;

c) COURT APPOINTED SPECIAL REFEREE in the Circuit Court, appointed by Judges Sidney T. Floyd and David H. Maring, Sr., in over Fifty (50) cases;

d) CERTIFIED CIRCUIT COURT ARBITRATOR, By South Carolina Supreme Court Board of Arbitration;

e) COURT APPOINTED MEDIATOR in the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit, appointed by Judges Sidney T. Floyd and David H. Maring, Sr., in over Fifty (50) cases;

f) COURT APPOINTED GUARDIAN AD LITEM in disputed child custody cases in the Family Court of the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit, in over One Hundred (100) cases;

g) CITY OF NORTH MYRTLE BEACH ZONING BOARD, 1993 – Present;

h) PRO BONO LAWYER FOR HORRY COUNTY DISABILITIES AND SPECIAL NEEDS AGENCY, 1993 – Present.

Experience:

In criminal court I have handled a variety of cases ranging from traffic and driving offenses to violent crimes involving lethal weapons.  The most recent death penalty case I have had was State v. Titus Huggins.  (Please see 19. (b) for a brief description.)

In civil court I have handled many different types of cases, both for plaintiffs and defendants, including construction defect cases, contracts, 1983 actions, wrongful discharge, mechanic and condominium liens and foreclosures, mortgage disputes and foreclosures, auto accidents and personal injury, slander and libel, property and zoning disputes, landlord tenant, negligent infliction of emotional distress, premises liability, tort claims act, and unfair trade practices.  (Please see 19(a) and (c) for brief descriptions.)

15.
What is your rating in Martindale-Hubbell?  BV.

16.
What was the frequency of your court appearances during the last five years?

(a)
federal:
Infrequent


(b)
state:
Over the last five (5) years in Circuit Court and Family Court I have had a variety of matters, whether by motion, uncontested action, non-jury trial, or jury trial, in virtually every week that there has been Court in the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit

17.
What percentage of your practice involved civil, criminal, and domestic matters during the last five years?

(a)
civil:

40%

(b)
criminal:
20%

(c)
domestic:
40%

18.
What percentage of your practice in trial court during the last five years involved matters that went to a jury?

(a)
jury:

30%

(b)
non-jury:
70%

Did you most often serve as sole counsel, chief counsel, or associate counsel in these matters?  Sole Counsel.

19.
List five of the most significant litigated matters that you have personally handled in either trial or appellate court or before a state or federal agency.  Give citations if the cases were reported and describe why these matters were significant.

(a)
Mariners Pointe Homeowners Association v. U.D.C.-Universal Development, d/b/a U.D.C. Homes Limited Partnership vs. over thirty (30) Third Party Defendants, and Paul Martin and Be Bushong, Individually and as Class Representatives v. U.D.C.-Universal Development, d/b/a U.D.C. Homes Limited Partnership - 1990 - 1996.

As the title indicates, this was an extremely complex construction case.  The main action by the Association dealt with the damages to the common elements at the Mariners Pointe Condominium and Marina project.  The construction issues involved roofing damage, settlement of the marsh in areas near the buildings, pool defects, marina design defects, porch and deck defects, fire wall defects, spoilage basin design defects, ventilation defects, irrigation system defects, parking lot design defects, sighting defects, and a host of other general construction problems, many of which violated the standard building code.  The class action dealt with interior unit damages suffered by the individual owners.

I developed the case from its initial interviews through development of all of the necessary experts, numerous depositions and production of documents, and upon the eve of trial, through the use of mediation, this case was eventually settled to the satisfaction of the Plaintiffs in the multi-million dollar range.

(b)
State v. Titus Huggins, 1996.  This was a death penalty case.  I was court appointed with a public defender for Horry County to provide the defense.  There was an initial trial of the first phase, during which Mr. Huggins was convicted armed robbery and murder with a pistol.  The Defense presented Motions to the Trial Judge regarding juror improprieties, which led the Court to declare a mistrial.  There was a retrial in which I again participated as one (1) of the two (2) defense counsels for Mr. Huggins, in which Mr. Huggins was again convicted of armed robbery and murder of a shopkeeper, and subsequently received the death penalty.  This matter is currently on appeal.

(c)
North Carolina Federal Savings and Loan Association v. DAV Corporation, et al., 1986 - 1993.  I was retained to file a mortgage foreclosure action on certain ocean view property, upon which there had been a failed condominium project.  Before trial, due to motions for a jury trial, made by one (1) of the Defendants on certain of his counter-claims, this matter was the subject of an appeal to the South Carolina Court of Appeals and thereafter, Certiorari was granted and an opinion issued by the South Carolina Supreme Court, which helped to define legal and equitable claims.  This matter was also placed in the purview of the Bankruptcy Court for a period of time due to actions of a Defendant, which caused certain filings to remove the matter from the Bankruptcy Court.  Thereafter, the Plaintiff went into receivership and was taken over by an agency of the Federal Government, the Resolution Trust Corporation, which caused the matter to be transferred to Federal Court. Eventually we were able to successfully convince the Federal Court to issue a Summary Judgment Order granting Foreclosure.  Besides the issues decided on Appeal, as reported in 294 S.C. 27, 362 S.E.2d 308, and 298 S.C. 514, 381 S.E.2d 903, this case also epitomized the difficulties that can be encountered and necessarily overcome in what may appear to be initially a relatively straight forward matter.

(d)
State v. Limme Arther, 1985 - 1988.  This was a death penalty case.  I was Court appointed, with another counsel, to provide the defense for Mr. Arther, who was ultimately convicted of armed robbery and murder with an ax.  At Mr. Arther’s first trial, he was convicted and given the death sentence; however, due to objections made by myself and other trial counsel, because of improper arguments and statements by the Solicitor, the Supreme Court overturned the death sentence and returned it for new sentencing hearing.  At the second trial of the death penalty phase, due to the intervention of Attorney David Bruck, who was also appointed as defense counsel for Mr. Arther, this matter was tried only by a Circuit Judge, without a jury, over my objections, and the death sentence was then imposed.  The Supreme Court reviewed this and returned the matter for the imposition of a life sentence.  This case was reported in 290 S.C. 291, 350 S.E.2d 187 (1986), and 296 S.C. 495, 374 S.E.2d 291 (1998)

(e)
McCormac v. The Town of Pawleys Island, et al.  I was the Court Appointed Special Referee in this matter. This case involved an Appeal from the decision of the Town of Pawleys Island Zoning Board of Appeals, in which that Board granted a variance for the construction of a residence.  As the non-jury trial judge in this matter, I reversed the decision of the Zoning Board of Appeals.  The Town and the other parties appealed this matter to the South Carolina Court of Appeals, and in an unpublished opinion, number 95-UP-077, filed March 23, 1995, my decision was upheld and my Order was adopted as the decision on Appeal.

(f)
Horry County v. The Insurance Reserve Fund, a division of the S.C. Budget & Control Board, an agency of the State of S.C., Op. No. 3301, S.C. Ct. of Appeals, 2/20/01.  I was the Court appointed Special Referee in this matter.  It involved a declaratory judgment action filed by Horry County against the Insurance Reserve Fund whereby the County was asking to be indemnified for damage payments it paid in other actions regarding a country operated coquina mine.  My decision finding the Insurance Reserve Fund contractually liable under a tort liability insurance policy was affirmed by the Court of Appeals in the above referenced decision.

20.
List up to five civil appeals that you have personally handled.  Give the case name, the court, the date of decision, and the citation if the case was reported.

(a)
State v. Sapps, 295 S.C. 484, 369 S.E.2d 145 (1988).  I filed this appeal on behalf of a defendant who was convicted of first degree criminal sexual conduct and kidnaping.  The main issue on appeal was whether or not it was proper for the Solicitor, in cross examination, to ask the Defendant whether other witnesses were lying, thereby forcing the Defendant to attack the veracity and truthfulness of other witnesses, thereby improperly invading an area to be determined by the Jury.  The South Carolina Supreme Court overturned the conviction and returned the matter for new trial.  Later this party pled guilty to lesser charges, more reflective of his limited involvement in the crime.

(b)
Kincaid v. The Landing Development Corporation, et al., 289 S.C. 89, 344 S.E.2d 869 (Ct. App., 1986).  This was a significant construction case that I developed for trial, along with John R. Clarke, Esquire, and upon a successful verdict being rendered to our client, an appeal was taken by the Defendants.  The verdict was upheld by the Court of Appeals, and certain important areas in construction litigation were clarified by this decision, including qualification of expert witnesses, sufficiency of damage information, and liability of interrelated corporations.  I wrote the appeal brief in this matter and participated in the oral arguments with John R. Clarke, Esquire.

(c)
Roundtree Villas Association, Inc. v. 4701 Kings Corp., et al., 282 S.C. 415, 321 S.E.2d 46 (1984).  This was a construction case which I developed for trial with John R. Clarke, Esquire, and upon a successful jury verdict, an appeal was taken by the Defendants.  The Supreme Court returned the matter for a new trial, in which the Plaintiff was again successful.  This matter is significant because it did extend liability when a lending agency undertakes to make repairs on a building it previously only participated in by financing.  There is then a common law duty which arises to use due care in the repairs, thereby making the lender liable for any damages caused by negligent repairs.  I wrote the appeal brief in this matter and participated in the oral arguments with John R. Clarke, Esquire.

(d)
Piedmont Aviation, Inc. v. Quinn, 294 S.C. 502, 366 S.E.2d 31, (Ct. App) 1988.  I was retained to write the appeal brief for the Plaintiff in this matter by the trial counsel, and they used these arguments I developed at oral arguments.  The jury verdict was upheld by the Court of Appeals which helped define the two issue rule.

Note: for the above cases, no trial briefs are available.  Since all of these matters have been concluded, the trial briefs were destroyed as extraneous and are no longer available.  Therefore, for the last Appeal I am listing the case of:

(e)
Baldwin Construction Co., Inc. (Respondent) v. Barry P. Graham and Terry D. Graham, d/b/a The Auto Tech (Appellants), which is currently on appeal to the South Carolina Court of Appeals, under Docket Number 98-CP-26-3362.  This is an appeal before final decision alleging the trial court erred in denying Appellants Motion for a Jury Trial and their Motion to Amend their Answer. Attached please find a copy of my Final Brief of Appellant.

21.
If you seek election to an appellate court, list up to five criminal appeals that you have personally handled.  Not applicable.

22.
Have you ever held judicial office?  No.

23.
If the answer to question 22 is yes, describe or attach five of your most significant orders or opinions and give the citations if they were reported.  Not applicable.

24.
Have you ever held public office other than judicial office?  Not applicable.

25.
List all employment you have had while serving as a judge other than elected judicial office.

As listed previously in response to question fourteen (14), I have been appointed as a Special Referee in the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit in over fifty (50) cases.

26.
Have you ever been an unsuccessful candidate for elective, judicial, or other public office? If so, give details, including dates.

In 1998 I filed as a candidate for Seat #2 of the Circuit Court, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit.  I was qualified as one (1) of the three (3) candidates by the Judicial Merit Selection Commission for this seat.  At Large Judge Paula Thomas was the eventual successful candidate.  In the fall of 1998, I filed as a candidate for At Large Seat #1 of the Circuit Court of the State of South Carolina.  I withdrew as a candidate for this seat which the Honorable John Milling won by acclamation.  In 1999 I filed as a candidate for At Large Seat #8 of the Circuit Court of the State of South Carolina.  I was found qualified, but not selected by the Judicial Merit Selection Commission.  The Honorable Kenneth G. Goode won this seat by acclamation.

27.
Have you ever been engaged in any occupation, business, or profession other than the practice of law, teaching of law, or holding judicial or other public office?  No.

28.
Are you now an officer or director or involved in the management of any business enterprise? No.

30.
Describe any financial arrangements or business relationships that you have, or have had in the past, that could constitute or result in a possible conflict of interest in the position you seek.  Explain how you would resolve any potential conflict of interest.  None.

31.
Have you ever been arrested, charged, or held by federal, state, or other law enforcement authorities for violation or for suspicion of violation of any federal law or regulation; state law or regulation; or county or municipal law, regulation, or ordinance?  No.

32.
Have you, to your knowledge, ever been under federal, state, or local investigation for possible violation of a criminal statute?  No.

33.
Has a tax lien or other collection procedure ever been instituted against you by federal, state, or local authorities?  Have you ever defaulted on a student loan?  Have you ever filed for bankruptcy?  No to all questions.

34.
Have you ever been sued, either personally or professionally?

Shortly after starting to work for John R. Clarke, Esquire, in 1981, I was called to Circuit Court on a case previously filed by John Clarke.  Though I knew nothing about the case or the client, and Mr. Clarke was either in another Court or out of state, I was told by the Circuit Judge to try the case, which I attempted to do to the best of my ability. At some point during the trial the Court directed a verdict for the Defendant.  Thereafter, the Defendant in this action sued the client, Mr. Clarke and myself.  I was dismissed from this case, pursuant to a Summary Judgment Motion, due to the circumstances set forth above, and later the total case was dismissed by Summary Judgment Motion.

36.
Are you now or have you ever been employed as a lobbyist, as defined by S.C. Code § 2-17-10(13), or have you acted in the capacity of a lobbyist’s principal, as defined by S.C. Code § 2-17-10(14)?  No.

37.
Since filing with the Commission your letter of intent to run for judicial office, have you accepted lodging, transportation, entertainment, food, meals, beverages, money, or any other thing of value as defined by S.C. Code § 2-17-10(1) from a lobbyist or lobbyist’s principal? None.

38.
S.C. Code § 8-13-700 provides, in part, that “[n]o public official, public member, or public employee may knowingly use his official office, membership, or employment to obtain an economic interest for himself, a member of his immediate family, an individual with whom he is associated, or a business with which he is associated.  Please detail any knowledge you have of any formal charges or informal allegations against you or any other candidate for violations of these provisions.  None.

39.
S.C. Code § 8-13-765 provides, in part, that “[n]o person may use government personnel, equipment, materials, or an office building in an election campaign.”  Please detail any knowledge you have of any formal charges or informal allegations against you or any other candidate for violations of these provisions.  None.

40.
Itemize all expenditures, other than those for travel and room and board, made by you, or on your behalf, in furtherance of your candidacy for the position you seek.  None.

41.
List the amount and recipient of all contributions made by you or on your behalf to members of the General Assembly since the announcement of your intent to seek election to a judgeship.  None.

42.
Have you directly or indirectly requested the pledge of any member of the General Assembly as to your election for the position for which you are being screened?  Have you received the assurance of any public official or public employee that they will seek the pledge of any member of the General Assembly as to your election for the position for which you are being screened?  No.

43.
Have you requested a friend or colleague to contact members of the General Assembly on your behalf?  No.

44.
Have you or has anyone on your behalf solicited or collected funds to aid in the promotion of your candidacy?  No.

45.
List all bar associations and professional organizations of which you are a member and give the titles and dates of any offices you have held in such groups.

South Carolina Bar Association, 1978 – present;

Horry County Bar Association, 1978 – present.

46.
List all civic, charitable, educational, social, and fraternal organizations of which you are or have been a member during the past five years and include any offices held in such a group, any professional honors, awards, or other forms of recognition received and not listed elsewhere.

(a)
Rotary International and local North Myrtle Beach Club, 1987 - present.  I have been a member of our local club Board of Directors and held numerous committee chairmanships.  I am also a Paul Harris Fellow and have received the perfect attendance award ever since joining in 1987;

(b)
Optimist International and local North Myrtle Beach Club, 1987 - 1996.  I was a member of the Board of Directors and held various officer positions;

(c)
Citadel Alumni Association and Citadel Brigadier Club, both 1975 – present;

(d)
Horry County Citadel Club, 1980 – present;

(e)
U.S.C. Alumni Association and U.S.C. Gamecock Club, 1978 – present.

47.
Provide any other information which may reflect positively or negatively on your candidacy, or which you believe should be disclosed in connection with consideration of you for nomination for the position you seek.  None.

48.
Personal References:

a) Edward T. Kelaher, Esquire


Kelaher, Connell & Connor, P.A.


P.O. Drawer 14547, Surfside Beach, S.C. 29587
(843) 238-5648

(b)
Joan Rooney-Graham, Executive Director


Horry County Disabilities and Special Needs


250 Victory Lane, University Commerce Park


Highway 501, Conway, S.C. 29526

(843) 347-3010

(c)
Jack M. Scoville, Jr., Esquire


P.O. Drawer 1228, Georgetown, S.C. 29442
(843) 546-1130

a) Kenneth S. Corbett, Esquire

P.O. Drawer 7618, Myrtle Beach, S.C. 29577
(843) 449-7779

a) Rachel M. Whitley, Senior Vice President/City Executive


National Bank of South Carolina


P.O. Box 219, Myrtle Beach, S.C. 29598
(843) 626-1800

MR. CHAIRMAN:  The Judicial Merit Selection Commission has thoroughly investigated your qualifications for the bench.  Our inquiry is focused on our nine evaluative criteria.  It has included a survey of the bench and bar, SLED and FBI check, credit check, grievance and reprimand check, a thorough study of your application materials, a verification of your compliance with the state ethics laws, a search of newspaper articles in which your name appears, a study of previous screenings, and a check for economic conflicts of interests.  We have received no affidavits filed in opposition to your election.  No witnesses are present to testify.  It is purely optional, but do you have any brief opening statement you wish to make before I turn you over to counsel for questioning?

MR. JOHN:  If you don't mind, Mr. Chairman.  I appreciate the Committee giving me the opportunity to present myself to them.  I think my past experience as a trial attorney, special referee work that I have done, being Judge Floyd's first law clerk, has given me, you know, good experience to be a trial judge in this case. I humbly submit that if I'm given the opportunity, I will represent the state and judiciary very well, and I ask the Committee to give me the opportunity to present myself to the legislature for their consideration.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Thank you, sir.  With that, I turn you over to counsel for a few questions.

MR. JOHN:  Thank you.

MR. DAVIS:  Mr. Chairman, Members of the Commission, Mr. John has provided a sworn statement with detailed answers to over 30 questions regarding judicial conduct – regarding judicial conduct, constitutional qualifications, office administration, temperament, and general housekeeping.  The statement was provided to you all and is included in your notebooks.  I have no concerns with the statement.  With the Commission's approval, I would ask that those questions be waived in the public hearing today.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  All right.  Is there any objection to that? 

MR. DAVIS:  Mr. Chairman, I would also ask that the statement be entered into the public record at this time.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Is there any objection to it being put into the record?  If not, it will be at this point.  

 (The Sworn Statement of Steven A. John was made a part of the record.)

Sworn Statement to be included in Transcript of Public Hearings

Circuit Court Judge

Full Name:
STEVEN H. JOHN

Home:

1003 Thomas Avenue, N. Myrtle Beach, S.C.  29582

(843) 272-6188

Business:
P.O. Box 628, N. Myrtle Beach, S.C.  29597




(843) 249-8200

1.
Why do you want to serve as a Circuit Court Judge?  


First, I believe my legal experience has trained me well to handle the duties of a circuit court judge.  Secondly, having been Judge Floyd’s first law clerk and my brother’s experience as a trial judge and appellate judge in North Carolina further introduced me to the idea of being a circuit court judge. 

2.
Do you plan to serve your full term if elected?  Yes.

3.
Do you have any plans to return to private practice one day?  No.

4.
Have you met the Constitutional requirements for this position regarding age, residence, and years of practice?  Yes.

5.
What is your philosophy regarding ex parte communications?  Are there circumstances under which you could envision ex parte communications being tolerated?


As a general rule ex parte communications should not be allowed.  In the area of purely administrative details such as scheduling, an initial ex parte contact might be appropriate followed up as quickly as possible by whatever communications are needed by all involved.

6.
What is your philosophy on recusal, especially in situations in which lawyer‑legislators, former associates, or law partners are to appear before you?


As to recusal, I think avoiding the appearance of impropriety should be the guiding principle.  A judge should not allow judge shopping, but after looking at the situation, and if the judge feels it would give the appearance of impropriety, that the judge should recuse himself.

7.
If you disclosed something that had the appearance of bias, but you believed it would not actually prejudice your impartiality, what deference would you give a party that requested your recusal?  Would you grant such a motion?


If a party requests a recusal and there is the appearance of bias, I would grant the request barring an overwhelming reason to go forward with the matter.

8.
How would you handle the appearance of impropriety because of the financial or social involvement of your spouse or a close relative?


The judge should recuse himself.

9.
What standards would you set for yourself regarding the acceptance of gifts or social hospitality?


I am assuming the question is about gifts from parties other than normal family and social friends outside of the legal community.  With this assumption, gifts should not be accepted.  Social occasions with lawyers should be limited to the normal functions put on by County and State bar organizations or similar organizations.

10.
How would you handle a situation in which you became aware of misconduct of a lawyer or of a fellow judge?


There are reporting mechanisms through the South Carolina Bar and the South Carolina Supreme Court that would need to be used regarding reporting misconduct.

11.
Are you affiliated with any political parties, boards or commissions which, if you were elected, would need to be re‑evaluated?


I am a member of the City of North Myrtle Beach Board of Zoning Appeals from which I would resign if elected to the Circuit Court.

12.
Do you have any business activities with which you would envision remaining involved if elected to the bench?  No.

13.
How would you handle the drafting of orders?


If I asked for a proposed order I would either ask both sides for a proposed order or have one (1) side to do the proposed order and forward it to the other side for comments prior to submitting it to the court.

14.
What methods would you use to ensure that you and your staff meet deadlines?


I would use computer calendaring and some written calendaring with my staff and the appropriate members of the Clerk of Court’s office.  Also, I would use the regular reports to the South Carolina Court Administration to assist in this.

15.
What is your philosophy on judicial activism, and what effect should judges have in setting or promoting public policy?


I don’t believe in judicial activism.  Judges are not elected to promote or set public policy.  That is the job of the Legislature.  If called upon to interpret a statute I would do my best to enforce the purpose intended by the Legislature.

16.
Canon 4 allows a judge to engage in activities to improve the law, legal system, and administration of justice.  What activities do you plan to undertake to further this improvement of the legal system?


Speaking when invited to address public groups such as a Rotary Club is a good way to help the public understand the legal system and the administration of justice system we have.

17.
Do you feel that the pressure of serving as a judge would strain personal relationships (i.e. spouse, children, friends, or relatives)?  How would you address this?


No.  I discussed before I ever ran what the life of a judge is like with my wife and she supports me completely in my seeking to be a circuit judge.  I believe also my friends understand that I would no longer be a practicing attorney and could not help them as I might have in the past.  

18.
The following list contains five categories of offenders that would perhaps regularly appear in your court.  Discuss your philosophy on sentencing for these classes of offenders.


a.
Repeat offenders:



A person’s criminal record should properly be a factor in sentencing.


b.
Juveniles (that have been waived to the circuit court):



If a minor has been waived to general sessions court they should be treated as any other person in the same situation.


c.
White collar criminals:



I don’t believe in this classification as a criminal offender category.  You have either committed the crime or you have not.  


d.
Defendants with a socially and/or economically disadvantaged background:



I do not believe that this can be used to excuse criminal behavior.  In some circumstances it might be taken into consideration regarding sentencing.


e.
Elderly defendants or those with some infirmity:



It has been my experience that in guilty pleas the Solicitor’s Office takes this into consideration regarding sentencing requests, and I believe it could be used as a factor regarding sentencing.

19.
Are you involved in any active investments from which you derive additional income that might impair your appearance of impartiality?  No.

20.
Would you hear a case where you or a member of your family held a de minimis financial interest in a party involved?  No.

21.
Do you belong to any organizations that discriminate based on race, religion, or gender?  No.

22.
Have you attended all mandatory continuing legal education courses?  Yes.

23.
What do you feel is the appropriate demeanor for a judge?


I believe a judge should be courteous to all parties before him.  Obviously, the judge needs to control the courtroom environment to insure a fair and impartial hearing, but in controlling that environment, common courtesy should never be abandoned.

24.
Do the rules that you expressed in your previous answer apply only while you are on the bench or in chambers, or do these rules apply seven days a week, twenty‑four hours a day?


The rules apply so long as a person is a circuit court judge.

25.
Do you feel that it is ever appropriate to be angry with a member of the public, especially with a criminal defendant?  Is anger ever appropriate in dealing with attorneys?  No.

26.
How much money have you spent on your campaign?  If it is over $100, has that amount been reported to the House and Senate Ethics Committees?  None.

27.
Have you sought or received the pledge of any legislator prior to this date?  No.

28.
Have you sought or been offered a conditional pledge of support by any legislator pending the outcome of your screening?  No.

29.
Have you asked any third parties to contact members of the General Assembly on your behalf before the final and formal screening report has been released? No.

30.
Have you contacted any members of the Judicial Merit Selection Commission?  No.

31.
Are you familiar with the 48‑hour rule, which prohibits a candidate from seeking pledges for 48 hours after the draft report has been submitted?  Yes.

I HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THE ANSWERS TO THE ABOVE QUESTIONS ARE TRUE AND COMPLETE TO THE BEST OF MY KNOWLEDGE.

S/ STEVEN H. JOHN

Sworn to before me this 28th day of February, 2001.

LYNN E. NORTHRUP

Notary Public for South Carolina
My commission expires:  October 12, 2005

MR. DAVIS:  Mr. Chairman, I note for the record that based on the testimony contained in the candidate's PDQ, which was introduced earlier in the record, Mr. John meets the constitutional qualifications for this position regarding age, residency, and years of practice.

EXAMINATION BY MR. DAVIS:

Q.
Mr. John, you've been screened before, I think most recently in 1999, but we do have a few more repeat questions I'd like to address today.

A.
Certainly.  Not a problem.

Q.
Mr. John, why do you now want to serve as Circuit Court judge?

A.
Well, I think my opening statement said a little bit about that, but that's been my area of work and I thoroughly enjoy it and I think I will do a good job.

Q.
And regarding your experience as it relates to your candidacy today, can you explain to the Commission how you feel your legal and professional experience thus far will help you be an effective Circuit Court judge?

A.
Well, I've had a wide variety of cases in civil court and circuit and criminal court.  I've had death penalty cases I've been appointed to; I've tried a number of misdemeanors, some felonies; I've had a lot of experience in civil court, non-jury and in trials; and you might note in my resume that I've been appointed by Floyd and former Judge Maring to be a special referee in the circuit.  Now it's -- it was 50 cases.  I'm sure it's much more than that now at this point in time.

Q.
And in your interview, we discussed the results of the bench and bar survey, and the results were generally very favorable.  Of the 54 surveys, two of which indicated some possible concerns.  One regarding maybe a lack of criminal trial experience on your behalf and, also, some kind of management issue that you may encounter based upon the nature of your practice.  Would you address those issues today, please?

A.
I think that I have a good varied background in the criminal court system, so I personally don't have any concerns about that myself.  Time management is always an issue when you're a sole practitioner.  I've been such since 1986.  So that's an utmost concern, I guess, to any sole practitioner.  You have to rely on your staff, and a circuit judge would, too, rely on his staff; rely on his secretary and his law clerk to help him out and, of course, the Supreme Court with their forms and everything that you have to fill out on a regular basis, will obviously assist you in that, also.

MR. DAVIS:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. John.  Again, I would just like to note for the record that the bench and bar surveys regarding Mr. John were very favorable.  Any issues that were raised in the surveys were addressed today.  I would also note that the Pee Dee Citizens Committee reported that Mr. John is well qualified for the position of Circuit Court judge and recommended candidacy without reservation.  Mr. Chairman, without objection, I would ask that the Citizens Committee report be entered into the record.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Is there an objection?  There being none, it will be done at this point.  

 (The Citizens Committee Report was made a part of the record.)

MR. DAVIS:  Mr. Chairman, I have no further questions.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  All right.  Let's see if any members of the Commission have any questions.  If not, that concludes this stage of the screening process.  This Commission reserves the right to keep the record open until such time as it takes a final vote.  That is not to indicate that there anything pending, but rather that we are dedicated to thoroughness and we reserve the right to explore anything if anything comes up.  Secondly, we remind you about the 48-hour rule and caution you about trying to get any commitments prior to the report becoming final.  Lastly, we would ask you, please, not discuss this hearing with the other candidates until we have concluded our hearings today.

MR. JOHN:  Yes, sir.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Thank you, sir.  With that, we appreciate you coming.  Have a nice day.

MR. JOHN:  Thank you.  Appreciate it. 

MR. CHAIRMAN:  We're back on the record, and we have before us Mr. Charles W. Whiten, Jr.  He is offering for Circuit Court, Tenth Judicial Circuit, Seat Number 1.  If you would be so kind as to raise your right hand.  

(CHARLES W. WHITEN, JR., being first duly sworn by the Chairman, testified as follows:)

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Thank you, sir.  Have you had an opportunity to review the Personal Data Questionnaire?

MR. WHITEN:  Yes, sir.  I've reviewed it.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Is it correct, or does it need any additions or deletions thereto?

MR. WHITEN:  It's correct.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Do you object to our making this summary a part of the record of your sworn testimony as if you fully stated all those matters here on the record today?  

MR. WHITEN:  No.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  All right.  Let it be done so at this point in the transcript.  We need to just temporarily check and make sure we have a quorum.  

PERSONAL DATA QUESTIONNAIRE

Judge of the Circuit Court for the Tenth Judicial Circuit, Seat #1
Charles W. Whiten, Jr.

HOME:
403 Binewood Lane, Anderson, South Carolina 29625



(864) 716-0300

BUSINESS:
215 East Benson Street, Anderson, South Carolina 29622



(864) 225-6268

2.
Date and Place of Birth:  September 17, 1944, at Anderson, South Carolina.

3.
Are you a citizen of South Carolina?  Yes.


Have you been a resident of this state for at least the immediate past five years?  Yes.

5.
Family Status:  Married on May 18, 2000, to Carla Renee Whiten.

Divorced:  April 11, 2000; Cherry C. Whiten; Anderson County Family Court on grounds of one year separation.

Children:



Brandice Camille Whiten, age 30, Projectionist;

Matthew William Whiten, age 26, Stand-up comedian/waiter;



Christopher Allen Davis (stepson), age 18, Full-time student at Tri County Tech, Pendleton, S.C. and works part-time for Kirby, Inc./vacuum cleaner salesman;



Harold Marshall Davis (stepson), age16, Student at Westside High School.

6. Have you served in the military?

September 1969–February 1976 US Air Force Captain; Honorable Discharge–Non-active.

7. List each college and law school you attended, including the dates of your attendance, the degrees you received, and if you left an institution without receiving a degree, the reason for your departure.

The Citadel 1962–1966




BA Political Science;

University of South Carolina School of Law 1966–1969
Received a JD degree.

8. List the states in which you have been admitted to practice law and the year of each admission.  Also list any states in which you took the bar exam, but were never admitted to the practice of law.  If you took the bar exam more than once in any of the states listed, please indicate the number of times you took the exam in each state.

Admitted to practice law in South Carolina in 1969.  I have not been admitted to practice law in any other state.  I passed the South Carolina bar exam on the first effort.

9. List the significant activities in which you took part during your attendance at college, graduate, and law school. Give the dates you were involved in these activities and list any leadership positions you held.

The Citadel: Member of the cross-country team; staff sergeant; first lieutenant-G Company; Chairman, Standing Hop Committee; Yacht Club.

10.
Briefly describe your continuing legal or judicial education during the past five years.


(a)
03/05/96
Medical Malpractice


6.0 hrs.



12/06/96
Family Ct. Bench/Bar Updates

6.0 hrs.


(b)
11/14/97
Criminal Practice in SC


6.5 hrs.



11/21/97
Breaking the Ties that Bind





(Effective Intervention Strategies 





with Violent Relationships)

5.0 hrs.



12/09/97
Ethics for Family Law Practitioners
3.25 hrs.



12/12/97
The Masters in Trial


7.5 hrs.


(c)
10/02/98
Traffic/DUI



6.5 hrs.



12/19/98
Ethical Dilemmas Common Problems





and Not-So-Common Solutions

6.0 hrs.


(d)
01/29/99
PC’s from the Inside Out

6.0 hrs.



08/20/99
Paralegal Practice in SC

6.0 hrs.



11/19/99
Drug Litigation in SC


6.83 hrs.


(e)
3/10/00
Solo & Small Office



6.0 hrs.



09/22/00
Issues in Domestic Violence

6.0 hrs.



11/10/00
10th Annual Criminal Practice in SC
6.25 hrs.

11.
Have you taught law-related courses or lectured at bar association conferences, educational institutions, or continuing legal or judicial education programs?  None.

12.
List all published books and articles you have written and give citations and the dates of publication for each.


The Republican Manifesto, a novel published by 1st Books Library, December 1999.

13. List all courts in which you have been admitted to practice and list the dates of your admission.  Give the same information for administrative bodies that require a special admission to practice.

South Carolina State Courts, May 13, 1969;

U.S. District Court for the District of South Carolina, May 13, 1969;

U.S. Court of Appeals for the 4th Circuit, November 28, 1980;

Supreme Court of the United States, December 8, 1975.

14. Describe chronologically your legal experience since graduation from law school and include a list of all law firms with which you have been associated.  Describe the general character of your practice and divide it into periods with dates if its character has changed over the years.

1969-1976
Prosecuted and defended numerous criminal cases while with U.S. Air Force JAG; was Chief of Claims at Seymour Johnson Air Force Base, North Carolina; advised base commanders on military related issues including impact of martial law imposed by Ferdinand Marcos in The Republic of the Philippines; advised military members and defendants on legal issues; staffed remote Air Force legal office in Tahkli, Thailand; advised returning POW’s on legal issues;

1976-1978:
Worked as an associate with Harold Lowery Law Firm, Anderson, S.C.;

1978–Present:
I have been a sole practitioner with a general practice with primary emphasis on Civil Law, Family Law, Criminal Law, Social Security, Estates, Elder Law, Landlord & Tenant Law and other legal questions of a general nature. In the past, I have also practiced in the area of Workers’ Compensation (including representation of clients in byssinosis cases) and have handled several bankruptcy cases in Bankruptcy Court.



Also, from January 1979-1984, I served as Public Defender for Anderson County.  The character of my practice has changed very little over the years and retains its general nature.



Experience:



In the last twenty-five years, I have represented thousands of criminal defendants for every criminal offense from traffic violations to capital murder. I served as Public Defender for Anderson County from 1979-1984 and represented Defendants in three capital murder trials during that period.



In the last five years, I have served as Chief Counsel on two capital murder cases and represented dozens of criminal defendants in other General Sessions cases ranging from trafficking in drugs to DUI. Some of the issues involved in these cases were: search and seizure; voluntariness of confessions; admissibility of evidence obtained by forensic specialists; credibility of psychiatric and psychological expert testimony; accuracy of judge’s charges, and sentencing considerations.



I have handled civil cases in torts, contract disputes, products liability, medical malpractice, unfair trade practices, and other cases involving issues usually associated with a Plaintiff’s practice. In the past five years, I have appeared in The Court of Common Pleas as sole counsel for Plaintiffs in automobile accident cases, slip and fall cases, contract disputes, and insurance claims.  I have also appeared to represent a few Defendants in insurance claims including subrogation and rate issues.

15. What is your rating in Martindale-Hubbell?  If you are not listed in Martindale-Hubbell, state the reason why, if known.  If you are currently a member of the judiciary, list your last available rating.

I am not listed in Martindale-Hubbell because I have not submitted information to Martindale-Hubbell for a listing.

16.
What was the frequency of your court appearances during the last five years?

(a)
federal:
Once (excluding Social Security disability hearings before Administrative Law Judge)


(b)
state:
Fifty to Sixty

17. What percentage of your practice involved civil, criminal, and domestic matters during the last five years?


(a)
civil:

25%


(b)
criminal:
25%


(c)
domestic:
25%


(d)
other

25%

18.
What percentage of your practice in trial court during the last five years involved matters that went to a jury?


(a)
jury:

60%


(b)
non-jury:
40%


Did you most often serve as sole counsel, chief counsel, or associate counsel in these matters?  I served as sole counsel in all trials in which I appeared other than death penalty trials and on both death penalty cases, I served as Chief Counsel.

19.
List five of the most significant litigated matters that you have personally handled in either trial or appellate court or before a state or federal agency.  Give citations if the cases were reported and describe why these matters were significant.

(a)
State v. Timothy Wayne Brown (not reported)  This case involved a fourteen-year-old child charged with murder.  Timothy Wayne Brown was one of the youngest defendants ever charged with murder in the State of South Carolina.  The case began in Family Court and was removed to General Sessions Court for trial of the juvenile as an adult. Issues included “when is a juvenile to be treated as an adult for criminal prosecution”.  This case helped establish appropriate guidelines for removal of juvenile cases to the Court of General Sessions.  Another issue in the case was the mens rea of the child, to wit: was a fourteen-year-old child capable of forming the malice aforethought necessary for a conviction of murder?  The jury found the defendant guilty of manslaughter, an offense not requiring malice aforethought.

(b)
Gerald Williams v. G.R.C., Inc.; Ig-Lo Products, et al. (not reported)  This was a products liability suit brought against G.R.C., Inc., the manufacturer of a can of starter fluid containing ethyl ether. The plaintiff was set afire when the can exploded as he started his riding lawnmower.  Issues involved federal laws and regulations allegedly preempting imposition of liability under South Carolina statutory or common law in respect to the type and design of the container used by the Defendants to distribute the ethyl ether; adequate safety warnings; chemical properties of the ethyl ether; standards for admissibility of expert testimony, and the level of damages to someone with first and second degree burns. The case was settled favorably to the Plaintiff just before trial was to begin

(c)
State v. Norris, 285 S.C. 86, 328 S.E.2d 339 (1985).  This was a capital murder case involving the aggravating circumstance of criminal sexual assault in the first degree. The defendant was convicted and sentenced to death.  At the trial, I intentionally waived voir dire of the jury venire and secured an agreement by the solicitor not to conduct voir dire.  My purpose in waiving voir dire was to attempt to obtain a jury that was not death penalty oriented.  The tactic was approved on appeal, the court ruling that 16-3-20 (D) grants a capital defendant the “right” for such examination, but does not mandate its exercise and agreeing that voir dire could be waived.  In that case, a detailed questionnaire was submitted to all prospective jurors.  This case was one of the first cases in which such a questionnaire was allowed and helped establish the current procedure of submitting detailed questionnaires to jury venire in capital cases.  The case also was the first to establish the right of a defendant to both testify as a witness and to make a closing statement to the jury in a capital case. The case also dealt with the restriction on reference to parole eligibility upon a conviction (which was the law at the time) and lead to the current status of the law on reference to parole eligibility. The court also ruled that the statutory aggravating circumstance of a prior conviction for murder can only apply to “murder” as defined in South Carolina law. At the trial, the State submitted as a statutory aggravating circumstance appellant’s second-degree murder conviction in Virginia which did not contain the critical element of malice aforethought as required in South Carolina. The case was remanded for re-sentencing and at the re-sentencing, John Foster Norris received a life sentence instead of the death penalty.

(d)
State v. Angela Taylor, 323 S.C. 162, 473 S.E.2d 817 (1996)  In this case, defendant was charged with trafficking in methamphetamine.  At the trial, the judge instructed the jury that “The State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was at least criminally negligent”.  On appeal, the Court of Appeals of South Carolina reversed and remanded the case for a new trial.  The case was never retried and was dismissed.  The case was significant in that it established that a person charged with trafficking in methamphetamine must be found to act “knowingly” and that negligence is a lower standard than knowledge.

(e)
George Tucker v. Covil Insulation Co., Inc., et al.  (not reported)  This was a workers’ compensation case in which Mr. Tucker incurred mesothelioma, a cancer of the lining of the lungs, from breathing asbestos some 20 years before he was pronounced terminally ill.  I was able to acquire workers’ compensation benefits for Mr. Tucker’s wife after he died by preserving pieces of Mr. Tucker’s lung and acquiring testimony from a pathologist at Duke University that Mr. Tucker had asbestos in his lung lining which was the cause of his mesothelioma. Mrs. Tucker later received additional amounts from national asbestos litigation.  The case was significant in that it was one of the asbestos cases that strongly supported the link between remote asbestos exposure and terminal cancer.

20.
List up to five civil appeals that you have personally handled.  Give the case name, the court, the date of decision, and the citation if the case was reported. 

(a)
Christopher M. Jordan and Betty Branyon v. Narcissus Payton, 305 S.C. 537, 409 S.E.2d 739 (1991)  This case was in the Court of Appeals for South Carolina. Date of decision was September 23, 1991.

(b)
State v. James B. King, 306 SC 335, 412 S.E.2d 375 (1991)  This case was in the Supreme Court of South Carolina.  Date of decision was December 2, 1991.

21.
If you seek election to an appellate court, list up to five criminal appeals that you have personally handled.  Not applicable.

22.
Have you ever held judicial office?  I have not held judicial office.

23.
If the answer to question 22 is yes, describe or attach five of your most significant orders or opinions and give the citations if they were reported.  Not applicable.

24.
Have you ever held public office other than judicial office?  I have not held public office.

25.
List all employment you have had while serving as a judge other than elected judicial office.


I have not been employed as a judge.

26. Have you ever been an unsuccessful candidate for elective, judicial, or other public office?

I ran unsuccessfully for Anderson County Council in 1978.  Also, I applied for the position of Judge of the Circuit Court, Tenth Judicial Circuit, Seat One in 1998, but withdrew when Circuit Judge H. Dean Hall announced that he would be seeking that position.

27. Have you ever been engaged in any occupation, business, or profession other than the practice of law, teaching of law, or holding judicial or other public office?  If so, give details, including a description of your occupation, business, or profession, the dates of your employment, and the name of your business or employer.



I am a partner in Whiten Enterprises, a partnership, with my cousin, James E. Whiten. This partnership was established in 1988 and the partnership owned and leased 24 apartment units in the last 13 years.  We recently sold all units except one that is still being rented.  I collect the rent for that unit.  I also incorporated a business as Writers Internet Publishing, Inc.  That business never began operations and has recently been terminated.  My intention at the time of establishing the corporation was to publish unpublished authors on the Internet.

28. Are you now an officer or director or involved in the management of any business enterprise?  Explain the nature of the business, your duties, and the term of your service.

I am the controlling partner of Whiten Enterprises and am responsible for collecting the rent on the one remaining rental unit owned by the partnership and for paying the mortgage payments, taxes, and insurance.  I was also the President of the now defunct Writers Internet Publishing, Inc.

30.
Describe any financial arrangements or business relationships that you have, or have had in the past, that could constitute or result in a possible conflict of interest in the position you seek.  Explain how you would resolve any potential conflict of interest.



I do not believe any financial arrangements or business relationships I have or have had will constitute or result in a possible conflict of interest in the position I am seeking.

31. Have you ever been arrested, charged, or held by federal, state, or other law enforcement authorities for violation or for suspicion of violation of any federal law or regulation; state law or regulation; or county or municipal law, regulation, or ordinance?



I have not been arrested, charged or held by federal, state or other law enforcement authorities for violation or for suspicion of violation of any federal law or regulation, state law or regulation or county or municipal law, regulation or ordinance.

32. Have you, to your knowledge, ever been under federal, state, or local investigation for possible violation of a criminal statute?  If yes, explain.

I have not, to my knowledge, ever been under federal, state or local investigation for possible violation of a criminal statute.

33. Has a tax lien or other collection procedure ever been instituted against you by federal, state, or local authorities?  Have you ever defaulted on a student loan?  Have you ever filed for bankruptcy?


No tax lien or other collection procedure has ever been instituted against me by federal, state or local authorities.  I have never defaulted on a student loan.  I have never filed for bankruptcy.

34. Have you ever been sued, either personally or professionally?

(a)
My partner, James E. Whiten, and I d/b/a Whiten Enterprises, a partnership, was sued by William Thompson, et al. in 1989 during the construction of sixteen apartments by Whiten Enterprises.  Mr. Thompson and his partner were the developers of the project and as part of the contract between Whiten Enterprises and the developers, the developers were to install a waste pump by a certain date to handle the waste from the sixteen apartments.  The developers failed to install the waste pump until several months after the apartments were completed and Whiten Enterprises was unable to lease the apartments as planned.  Whiten Enterprises refused to pay the final installment due the developers and the developers sued.  A judgment was obtained in favor of the developers and was immediately paid by Whiten Enterprises.  The issue has been resolved.

(b)
I was sued by Jessie Holland, a prisoner, at McCormick Correctional Institution alleging that I had negligently represented him on a PCR.  Mr. Holland sued me, his original lawyer, the Department of Corrections, the PCR judge, and several other people in a lawsuit that was heard originally in Richland County.  The case was turned over to my legal malpractice insurer and is currently being handled by my attorney, Curtis Dowling.  Mr. Holland has filed numerous motions and appeals in this case even though it has been dismissed against all defendants.

36.
Are you now or have you ever been employed as a “lobbyist,” as defined by S.C. Code ( 2-17-10(13), or have you acted in the capacity of a “lobbyist’s principal,” as defined by S.C. Code ( 2-17-10(14)?


I am not now and have never been employed as a lobbyist.

37.
Since filing with the Commission your letter of intent to run for judicial office, have you accepted lodging, transportation, entertainment, food, meals, beverages, money, or any other thing of value as defined by S.C. Code ( 2-17-10(1) from a lobbyist or lobbyist’s principal?



I have not accepted lodging, transportation, entertainment, food, meals, beverages, money or any other thing of value as defined by South Carolina Code, Section 2-17-10(1) from a lobbyist or lobbyist’s principal since filing my letter of intent to run for judicial office.

38. S.C. Code ( 8-13-700 provides, in part, that “[n]o public official, public member, or public employee may knowingly use his official office, membership, or employment to obtain an economic interest for himself, a member of his immediate family, an individual with whom he is associated, or a business with which he is associated.”  Please detail any knowledge you have of any formal charges or informal allegations against you or any other candidate for violations of these provisions.


I have no knowledge of any formal charges or informal allegations against me or any other candidate for violations of South Carolina Code, Section 8-13-700.

39. S.C. Code ( 8-13-765 provides, in part, that “[n]o person may use government personnel, equipment, materials, or an office building in an election campaign.”  Please detail any knowledge you have of any formal charges or informal allegations against you or any other candidate for violations of these provisions.

I have no knowledge of any formal charges or informal allegations against me or any other candidate for violations of S.C. Code, Section 8-13-765.

40. Itemize all expenditures, other than those for travel and room and board, made by you, or on your behalf, in furtherance of your candidacy for the position you seek.



No expenditures by me or on my behalf have been made in furtherance of my candidacy for circuit judge.

41. List the amount and recipient of all contributions made by you or on your behalf to members of the General Assembly since the announcement of your intent to seek election to a judgeship.



No contributions have been made by me or on my behalf to members of the General Assembly since the announcement of my intent to seek election as Circuit Judge.

42. Have you directly or indirectly requested the pledge of any member of the General Assembly as to your election for the position for which you are being screened?  Have you received the assurance of any public official or public employee that they will seek the pledge of any member of the General Assembly as to your election for the position for which you are being screened?



I have not directly or indirectly requested the pledge of any member of the General Assembly as to my election for the position of Circuit Judge.  I have not received the assurance of any public official or public employee that they will seek the pledge of any member of the General Assembly as to my election for the position of Circuit Court Judge.

43.
Have you requested a friend or colleague to contact members of the General Assembly on your behalf?



I have not requested a friend or colleague to contact members of the General Assembly on my behalf.

44.
Have you or has anyone on your behalf solicited or collected funds to aid in the promotion of your candidacy?



I have not, nor has anyone on my behalf solicited or collected funds to aid in the promotion of my candidacy for Circuit Court Judge.

45.
List all bar associations and professional organizations of which you are a member and give the titles and dates of any offices you have held in such groups.


(a)
I am a member of the Anderson County Bar Association.


(b)
I have held no offices or titles with the Anderson County Bar Association.

46. List all civic, charitable, educational, social, and fraternal organizations of which you are or have been a member during the past five years and include any offices held in such a group, any professional honors, awards, or other forms of recognition received and not listed elsewhere.


(a)
I am not a member of any civic, charitable, educational, social or fraternal organizations and have not been in the last five years.


(b)
I have not received any professional honors, awards or other forms of recognition in the last five years

47. Provide any other information which may reflect positively or negatively on your candidacy, or which you believe should be disclosed in connection with consideration of you for nomination for the position you seek.




I have been engaged in the practice of law in Anderson County since 1976.  From 1978 to the present, I have been a sole practitioner with a general practice at my current address for the last 22 years.  During that time, I have represented 897 litigants in civil actions, 1,013 domestic litigants, 214 Social Security claimants, 148 Workers Compensation claimants and have handled 195 estates, 1,041 real estate transactions, including closings, and have prepared 1,317 Wills, Powers of Attorney, corporate charters, licenses of various forms or other legal documents not falling into one of the above categories.  I have also represented approximately 4,000 criminal defendants, including criminal defendants assigned to me as Public Defender from 1979 through 1984.  I have appeared as Chief Counsel in five death penalty cases and as Assistant Counsel in one other death penalty case.  I was also successful in avoiding a death penalty prosecution for a client charged with the murder of a police officer through an agreement with the solicitor’s office involving a substantial assistance agreement.  I have appeared in Bankruptcy Court and before various other administrative agencies.  I have represented students before school boards and a politician in an election dispute.


I also served as deacon at Central Presbyterian Church, have taught Sunday School at that church, served as legal advisor for the Council on Aging in Anderson County for several years, including a period in which I served on the committee to elect a new chairman to the Council on Aging.  I prepared the original charter for the Good Neighbor Cupboard in Anderson County (established to provide free food for the indigent) and monitored its initial steps.  I am familiar with the political workings of Anderson County as well as the educational processes and I believe I have served my community well the past 25 years.  I am seeking the position of circuit court judge in hopes of continuing my community service at a different level.  I have achieved all I hoped to achieve professionally in my law practice and am prepared to serve the remainder of my legal career as a circuit court judge.

48.
Personal References:

a) Cary C. Doyle



Post Office Box 2125, Anderson, S.C. 29622
(864) 224-7111

b) Rev. Russell W. Rice



1031 Lady’s Lane, Anderson, S.C. 29621
(864) 225-1111

c) Henry Adair, Principal, Westside High School



806 Pearman Dairy Rd., Anderson, S.C. 29625
(864) 260-5230

d) Richard Shirley, Mayor, City of Anderson


401 South Main St., Anderson, S.C. 29624 
(864) 231-2200 or








(864) 261-4150

e) Barry Visioli, Perpetual Bank FSB


907 North Main St., Anderson, S.C.  29621
(864) 225-0241

MR. CHAIRMAN:  The Judicial Merit Selection Committee has thoroughly investigated your qualifications for the bench.  Our inquiry is focused on our nine evaluative criteria, and has included a survey of the bench and the bar, SLED and FBI check, credit check, a grievance and a reprimand check, a thorough study of your application materials, a verification of your compliance with state ethics laws, a search of newspaper articles in which your name appears, a study of previous screenings, if any, and a check of economic conflicts of interest.  We have received no affidavits filed in opposition to your election.  No witnesses are present to testify.  So I would ask you if you have any brief opening statement you may wish to make to the Commission before I turn you over to counsel for questions.  I would advise you, though, that the opening statements are purely optional.

MR. WHITEN:  I'm just glad to be here, and I'm ready to answer any questions you may have.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Thank you.  Please answer questions counsel has for you.

MR. DAVIS:  Mr. Chairman, Members of the Commission, I have -- Mr. Whiten has provided a sworn statement with detailed answers to over 30 questions regarding judicial conduct, constitutional qualifications, office administration, temperament, and general housekeeping.  That statement was provided to you all earlier and should be included in your notebook.  I have no concerns with the statement and, with Commission's approval, I would ask that those questions be waived in the public hearing today.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Is there objection to waiving those questions?  If not, they're so waived.

MR. DAVIS:  Mr. Chairman, I would also ask that the statement be entered into the public record at this time.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Is there objection to the statement being entered into the public record as his testimony?  There being none, it will be so done. 

Sworn Statement to be included in Transcript of Public Hearings

Full Name:

Charles W. Whiten, Jr.

Home Address:

403 Binewood Lane, Anderson, SC  29625




(864) 716-0300

Business Address:
215 E. Benson Street, Anderson, SC  29621




(864) 225-6268

E‑Mail Address:
Chazlimited@carol.net
1.
Why do you want to serve as a Circuit Court Judge?


I have practiced law as a general practitioner in Anderson County, South Carolina for over twenty-five years.  During that time, I have represented more than five- thousand members of my community.  I have served as chief counsel in five death penalty cases and have handled complex civil litigation from products liability claims to wrongful death and survival actions.  I believe my experience in criminal and civil litigation can be most beneficial to the Anderson community if I were elected to serve as the resident Circuit Court Judge.

2. Do you plan to serve your full term if elected?

If I am elected Circuit Court Judge, it is my wish to serve three full terms.

3. Do you have any plans to return to private practice one day?


I do not have plans to return to private practice at this time.  As indicated in Question 2., it is my intention to serve as Circuit Court Judge for three full terms or until I am forced to retire.

4. Have you met the Constitutional requirements for this position regarding age, residence, and years of practice?

I have met all Constitutional requirements for this position regarding age, residence and years of practice.

5. What is your philosophy regarding ex parte communications?  Are there circumstances under which you could envision ex parte communications being tolerated?


Ex parte communications are to be avoided at all costs unless allowed by statute such as fee petitions in death penalty cases.

6. What is your philosophy on recusal, especially in situations in which lawyer‑legislators, former associates, or law partners are to appear before you?

I have not served as a legislator and have no recent former associates or law partners and, therefore, recusal for those reasons would not be a problem.  A judge should recuse himself if he has any personal, financial or other interests in the outcome of the litigation.

7. If you disclosed something that had the appearance of bias, but you believed it would not actually prejudice your impartiality, what deference would you give a party that requested your recusal?  Would you grant such a motion?


The appearance of bias can be as damaging to the court system’s credibility as actual bias.  The public’s confidence in our courts can be eroded by careless inattention to courtesy and fairness to all involved with the courts. Although a judge should not recuse himself for “perceived bias”, if there is an appearance of bias, I would lean toward recusing myself should either party requests recusal.  However, I have known of situations wherein attorneys have moved for recusal to gain tactical or strategic advantage and any circuit judge must be alert to such a motive.

8. How would you handle the appearance of impropriety because of the financial or social involvement of your spouse or a close relative?


If the appearance of impropriety because of financial or social involvement of my spouse or a close relative compromised the integrity of the judicial process, I would recuse myself without motion from either attorney.  At the very least, should my spouse or close relative have an actual financial or social involvement in any of the issues before the Court, I would disclose such involvement to the parties before the Court and ask for their position on recusal.

9. What standards would you set for yourself regarding the acceptance of gifts or social hospitality?


I would not accept a gift or paid social hospitality from any members of the Bar or the public.  I do not feel it inappropriate to participate in social outings where other members of the judiciary and the entire Bar or members of the public are invited.

10. How would you handle a situation in which you became aware of misconduct of a lawyer or of a fellow judge?


If I became aware of misconduct of a lawyer or of a fellow judge that rises to the level of a violation of the canons of ethics of our profession, I would report such misconduct to the appropriate ethics committee.  If I became aware of misconduct that appears to be leading to such a violation, but a violation has not reached the level of a violation of the canons of ethics, I believe it would be incumbent upon me to counsel that lawyer or judge before the misconduct arises to such a level.

11. Are you affiliated with any political parties, boards or commissions that, if you were elected, would need to be re-evaluated?


I am not affiliated with any political party, board or commission which would require reevaluation if I am elected to the Circuit Court.

12. Do you have any business activities with which you would envision remaining involved if elected to the bench?


I own a rental house with my cousin, James E. Whiten, under Whiten Enterprises which I envision I would keep if elected to the bench.  I do not feel ownership of this rental house would interfere or conflict with my responsibilities as Circuit Court Judge in any way.

13. How would you handle the drafting of orders?


I prefer to draft my own orders and would always do so unless time constraints prohibit my personally drafting of orders.  In situations where time constraints might compromise the judicial process, I would direct the attorney for the prevailing party to draft a proposed order based on an outline of the major points of decision and I would provide a copy of the outline to the lawyer on the other side of the issue and direct that the attorney for the prevailing party provide a copy of the proposed order to the losing attorney prior to sending it to me for signature.  I would also direct all attorneys involved not to advise their clients of the results of the proposed order until the order had been actually signed by me.  This prevents clients from misconstruing the outcome of litigation prior to the final order being actually executed.

14. What methods would you use to ensure that you and your staff meet deadlines?


I would keep my own calendar.  I would require that my clerk keep an identical calendar and that my secretary keep a calendar.  The three calendars would be coordinated weekly to insure that deadlines were met.

15. What is your philosophy on judicial activism and what effect should judges have in setting or promoting public policy?


I am not an advocate of judicial activism.  I believe in stare decisis and that judges are interpreters and not writers of public policy. The making of laws should be left to the legislative body.

16. Canon 4 allows a judge to engage in activities to improve the law, legal system, and administration of justice.  What activities do you plan to undertake to further this improvement of the legal system?


Anderson County is in dire need of a drug court.  I plan to evaluate the possibility of establishing such a court in the Tenth Judicial Circuit.  I have already discussed the requirements of establishing such a court with the Tenth Judicial Circuit Solicitor and others who would be instrumental in setting up such a court along the lines of those established in Richland and Charleston Counties.  


I’m also very concerned, as are most practicing attorneys, with the roster system under which civil cases are called for trial.  Lawyers and litigants are rarely given ample opportunity to plan for the date and time their case is to be heard.  Witnesses are often subpoenaed for four or five terms of court and work and vacation plans must be put on hold.  I plan to undertake improvement of the roster system so that litigants, witnesses, and attorneys are all fairly informed of the date and time their trials are to be commenced.

17. Do you feel that the pressure of serving as a judge would strain personal relationships (i.e. spouse, children, friends, or relatives)?  How would you address this?


I am not certain the pressure of serving would strain personal relationships any more than the strain placed on a family from the workload of a general practitioner in solo practice who works fifty to sixty hours per week and handles many of the capital murder cases in the county.  We, as a family, try to take family vacations once a year and we openly communicate about problems within the family.

18.
The following list contains five categories of offenders that would perhaps regularly appear in your court.  Discuss your philosophy on sentencing for these classes of offenders.

a. Repeat offenders:



Every case I have ever handled has unique facts and circumstances and the people before the court are unique.  The law of each case sets the parameters for sentencing, and there are enhanced penalties for repeat offenders in many criminal cases.  The fact that an accused is appearing before the court as a repeat offender is one of the factors to be considered in imposing sentence upon that offender, but not the only factor.  

b. Juveniles (that have been waived to the circuit court):



If a juvenile has been waived to the circuit court, it means that the offense is a very serious one and, therefore, the gravity of the offense should be considered in sentencing.  However, as with all offenders, the facts and circumstances of the case must be weighed, including the age and mental faculties of the person before the court.

c. White collar criminals:



White-collar criminals should be treated no differently than those who are accused of taking property directly from its owners.  Again, the facts and circumstances, including the individual’s background and possible good deeds within the community would impact upon sentencing any criminal, including white collar criminals.

d. Defendants with a socially and/or economically disadvantaged background:

The same is true of socially and economically disadvantaged defendants as with white-collar criminals.  Their social and economic backgrounds are one factor to be considered in the sentencing process.  However, social and economic disadvantage does not, in and of itself, constitute a reason for clemency. It is a factor to be incorporated in the sentencing decision.

e. Elderly defendants or those with some infirmity:

Again, a person’s age or infirmity is a factor to be considered along with all other factors and circumstances before the court in the sentencing process.  Elderly and infirm defendants can be just as culpable as young and healthy defendants.

19. Are you involved in any active investments from which you derive additional income that might impair your appearance of impartiality?


I am not involved in any active investments that might impair an appearance of impartiality.

20. Would you hear a case where you or a member of your family held a de minimis financial interest in a party involved?

I believe I could hear a case where I or a member of my family held a de minimis financial interest in a party involved (such as a case against IBM if I held one hundred shares of IBM).  However, under those circumstances, I would notify the parties and the attorneys on both sides that I or a member of my family held such an interest and give them an opportunity to consider recusal.

21.
Do you belong to any organizations that discriminate based on race, religion, or gender?


I do not belong to any organization that discriminates based on race, religion or gender.

22. Have you attended all mandatory continuing legal education courses?

I have attended all mandatory continuing legal education courses required of me.

23. What do you feel is the appropriate demeanor for a judge?


I believe a circuit court judge should be consistent in his demeanor both on and off the bench. A circuit court judge must be firm and in control of the court proceedings without being overbearing or insulting to the attorneys, witnesses, or litigants.  He should be courteous to all those before him and strive to create an atmosphere in which both lawyers and litigants can appear comfortable. 

24.
Do the rules that you expressed in your previous answer apply only while you are on the bench or in chambers, or do these rules apply seven days a week, twenty‑four hours a day?


The rules expressed in my answer to question number 23 apply seven days a week, twenty-four hours a day whether on the bench, in chambers or in the public.

25.  Do you feel that it is ever appropriate to be angry with a member of the public, especially with a criminal defendant?  Is anger ever appropriate in dealing with attorneys?


I do not feel it is appropriate to be angry with an attorney or a member of the public.  To display such an emotion compromises the objectivity of the judge’s position and authority.  A judge is on the bench to see that all procedures are followed and that the litigants on both sides receive a fair hearing.  Anger directed toward witnesses or either side of the litigation process implies bias. This is not to say that a judge should not remain firm in his control of the courtroom and its litigants.

26. How much money have you spent on your campaign?  If it is over $100, has that amount been reported to the House and Senate Ethics Committees?

I have spent no money on my campaign for the position of circuit court judge.

27. Have you sought or received the pledge of any legislator prior to this date?


I have not sought or received the pledge of any legislator prior to this date.

28. Have you sought or been offered a conditional pledge of support by any legislator pending the outcome of your screening?


I have not sought or been offered a conditional pledge of support by any legislator pending the outcome of my screening.

29.
Have you asked any third parties to contact members of the General Assembly on your behalf before the final and formal screening report has been released?


I have not asked any third party to contact members of the General Assembly on my behalf before the final and formal screening report has been released.

30.
Have you contacted any members of the Judicial Merit Selection Commission?


I have not contacted any members of the Judicial Merit Selection Commission other than staff requesting applications and forms.

31. Are you familiar with the 48‑hour rule, which prohibits a candidate from seeking pledges for 48 hours after the draft report has been submitted?


I am familiar with the 48-hour rule prohibiting a candidate from seeking pledges for 48 hours after the draft report has been submitted.

I HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THE ANSWERS TO THE ABOVE QUESTIONS ARE TRUE AND COMPLETE TO THE BEST OF MY KNOWLEDGE.






S/Charles W. Whiten, Jr.

Sworn to before me this 25th day of February, 2001.

Notary Public for South Carolina

My commission expires:  11-08-09

MR. DAVIS:  I note for the record that based on the testimony contained in the candidate's PDQ, which was introduced earlier into the record, Mr. Whiten meets the constitutional requirements for the position regarding age, residency, and years of experience.

EXAMINATION BY MR. DAVIS:

Q.
Mr. Whiten, you're a first-time candidate, and I have a few questions I would like to ask you for the record.  Mr. Whiten, why do you now want to serve as a Circuit Court judge?

A.
I've been practicing law for 25 years in Anderson County and other counties as well.  I served in JAG six years before that time.  I grew up in the courtroom in Anderson.  My mother was the first probation officer in that -- in that county -- woman probation officer, and I would go to court and Judge Pruitt and watch the court during that time.  I was 14, 15 years old.  

And I have known Judge Pruitt and Judge Agnew, Judge Cox, all of the judges that have ever been since that time.  I have practiced before most of them, all of them except Judge Pruitt.  And I believe that I can -- I know that I can bring some improvement to the court.  I've seen a lot of improvement through those judges.  I followed the improvements to the court system through those judges, and I know that I can bring some improvements to the way cases are litigated.  There needs to be a balance between court efficiency and the considerations for the litigants, the witnesses, and the lawyers.  And we don't -- we don't always accomplish that, but there are a lot of things that can be done, I believe, to improve that system.  One of them is the docketing system with civil cases.  Right now we do it very poorly.  Litigants are sometimes shoved in and out without given any consideration to their cases, and that needs to be improved.

We have an ADR system now that's working quite well.  We have a complex litigation system that's working quite well.  But the smaller cases, the cases that are one day and half-day cases, are not getting consideration that I believe they should.  And those really are the bulk of our -- of our caseload.  The court caseload is mostly small cases.  I want to – I would like to concentrate and get some emphasis to that -- to those cases.

Also, the drug cases, we need more emphasis on drug courts.  We don't have one in Anderson County.  We have them throughout the state.  They are -- you can -- we've had mixed results on those courts, but I believe that because criminal cases -- at least 70 percent of them -- involve drugs somewhere or another, we need to concentrate on trying to address that issue in the court system so that the community will not be as effected as they are now.  Those are the things that I would like to address if I'm elected.

Q.
Mr. Whiten, you touched generally upon your experience, but could you give some further explanation specifically as to how your legal and professional experience thus far will help you be an effective Circuit Court judge?

A. 
Yes, sir.  I have tried over 5,000 criminal cases during my 25 years.  I was a public defender for Anderson County for five years.  I tried over 100 murder cases.  I have tried, as chief counsel, five death penalty cases and been counsel on three others that were not -- did not go to trial and as well as second counsel early on in my career in another death penalty case.  I've tried every criminal case you can imagine from shoplifting, DUI, to capital murder.  I have -- in the civil area, I have tried every case, including motor automobile accidents, workers' compensation, product liability cases, medical malpractice cases, contract cases.  Every case you can imagine.  I've also practiced -- I'm a general practitioner.  I'm a sole practitioner.  It's very difficult to balance all those things, but I have an office with myself and one staff, sometimes two.  But my practice entails workers' compensation, civil cases, criminal cases, Social Security, estate planning, wills, deeds.  Everything.  I've tried bankruptcy cases.  I've been involved in everything except maritime.  I don't believe I've ever tried a maritime case.  But everything but that, I've tried.  So I'm -- I'm able to view every case that comes before the court, I believe, with some experience.

Q.
Mr. Whiten, in your interview with me, we discussed the bench and bar surveys that were submitted.  There were a total of seven that were received.  Three raised concerns regarding your candidacy.  In particular, there were concerns raised about your decisiveness, about your personality and how you relate to people, and also your diligence in terms of your files.  Would you like to expound upon those issues?

A.
Yes, I would be glad to.  I would address the outgoing part first.  I don't party.  I don't go to parties.  I work.  I'm friendly with everybody.  I'm glad to help everybody.  I want to help everybody.  But I do not go to parties, and I don't, I guess you could call it, kiss-up because I just don't do that.  I work.  I work 60 hours a week.  As far as the decisiveness is concerned, I really don't know what they're talking about because my orders are in time.  They're submitted in a timely fashion.  There's nothing that I can think of that we haven't --that I haven't done on a timely manner that would affect the way I would decide cases in court.  We have calendars that we use.  We have three calendars in my office, and I try to keep them up-to-date.  That's all I can really say about that. 

Q.
And we also discussed a former grievance you disclosed in your PDQ regarding a misconduct report that there -- you have not been disciplined and there aren't any charges pending.  You indicated there were two scenarios.  Would you like to give any further answer to those?

A.
Yes, sir.  About ten years ago, I sued the sheriff of Anderson County for return of some weapons that my client had.  He was charged with a misdemeanor.  He was entitled to get his weapons back.  The sheriff disagreed alleging that it was a felony.  We had a hearing on it.  He didn't like the result, because we got the weapons back.  He filed a grievance against me.  It was fully examined, and I was exonerated on that.  I didn't do anything wrong, in the first place. 

The second one was recently.  It's still pending.  That one is from an inmate who received 20 years -- I'm sorry, 25 years from Judge Epps.  On probation, he was brought back before Judge Epps.  Judge Epps did not take to having people brought back -- or he didn't.  He's no longer on the bench.  He revoked his probation.  I felt, after evaluating the case, that he might be entitled to a new trial based on after-discovery evidence.  I investigated in Tennessee and Anderson County.  We filed that motion and we lost.  I filed an appeal before the Court of Appeals.  We lost.  I filed a writ of certiorari before the Supreme Court, and we lost. 

He didn't like it because we lost.  Basically, he said I didn't do my job, but I did it the best I could all the way through.  This was a prisoner filing the complaint.  I have answered the complaint, and I haven't really --it hasn't been -- I've gotten no result from it so far.

MR. DAVIS:  Thank you, Mr. Whiten.  I would like to note for the record that the bench and bar surveys regarding Mr. Whiten were generally favorable, and that any issues regarding the surveys have been addressed today.  I would also note that the upstate Citizens Committee reported that Mr. Whiten is qualified according to his criteria.  Mr. Chairman, without objection, I would ask that the Citizens Committee report be entered into the record.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Is there any objection?  There being none, it so be done at this point in the record.

 (The Citizens Report was made a part of the record.)

MR. DAVIS:  Mr. Chairman, I have no further questions.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  All right.  Let's see if any Commissioners have any questions.  That concludes this part of the screening process.  Just several house cleaning chores.  One is that the Commission reserves the right to keep the record open should it, in its review of any materials, find any questions that need to be answered and we'll propound those through staff or have you back for clarification.  That is not intended in any way to mean that there is anything pending.  Secondly, we remind you about the 48- hour rule and both the preliminary and formal report and then the formal report is issued before you can get the commitments.  Lastly, we would ask you, please, not to discuss with any other candidates the proceeds here today until we are on concluded.

MR. WHITEN:  Yes, sir.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  We thank you.  You're free to go.  Have a nice day, sir.

MR. WHITEN:  Thank you.

 (Off the record.)

VICE-CHAIRMAN:  We have with us today C. Reuben Goude who seeks a position on the Circuit, Fifth Judicial Circuit, Seat Number 1.  Mr. Goude, if you would, please raise your right hand to be sworn.

 (C. REUBEN GOUDE, being first duly sworn by the chairman, testified as follows:)

VICE-CHAIRMAN:  Have you had an opportunity to review your Personal Data Questionnaire?

MR. GOUDE:  Yes, sir.

VICE-CHAIRMAN:  And is it correct?

MR. GOUDE:  Yes, sir.

VICE-CHAIRMAN:  Would you object to our making it a part of your sworn transcript to be your sworn testimony at this point?

MR. GOUDE:  No objection.

VICE-CHAIRMAN:  It will be done at his point in the transcript.  

PERSONAL DATA QUESTIONNAIRE

Circuit Court, 15th Judicial Circuit, Seat 1

Mr. Charles Reuben Goude

HOME:
4765 Carvers Bay Road, Hemingway, S.C. 29554


843-558-5454

BUSINESS:
119 2 Screven Street, Georgetown, S.C. 29440


843-527-2505

2.
Date and Place of Birth:  April 17, 1950, in Georgetown County, S.C.

3.
Are you a citizen of South Carolina?  Yes.

Have you been a resident of this state for at least the immediate past five years?  Yes.

5.
Family Status:  Single; Never divorced; No children.

6.
Have you served in the military?

USMC, 1968-1972, Sgt., honorable discharge.

USAF, 1980-1983, Capt., Judge Advocate General Office, honorable discharge.

7.
List each college and law school you attended, including the dates of your attendance, the degrees you received, and if you left an institution without receiving a degree, the reason for your departure.

USC, 1972-1975, magna cum laude BA, history, Phi Beta Kappa;

USC Law School, 1976-1979, JD, Dean’s Honor Scholarship.

8.
List the states in which you have been admitted to practice law and the year of each admission.  Also list any states in which you took the bar exam, but were never admitted to the practice of law.  If you took the bar exam more than once in any of the states listed, please indicate the number of times you took the exam in each state.

Admitted to S.C. in 1979.

9.
List the significant activities in which you took part during your attendance at college, graduate, and law school. Give the dates you were involved in these activities and list any leadership positions you held.

Undergraduate, dean’s list and/or president’s list, magna cum laude, Phi Beta Kappa, studied my butt off.  Worked part-time.

Law school, studied, in freshman year taught an extracurricular type class on campus.

10.
Briefly describe your continuing legal or judicial education during the past five years.

Attended more than mandatory hours of CLE.

11.
Have you taught law-related courses or lectured at bar association conferences, educational institutions, or continuing legal or judicial education programs?  If so, briefly describe each course or lecture.

Taught paralegal and criminal justice courses at Georgetown, S.C., branch of Horry-Georgetown TEC, for couple of years.

12.
List all published books and articles you have written and give citations and the dates of publication for each.  None.

13.
List all courts in which you have been admitted to practice and list the dates of your admission.  Give the same information for administrative bodies that require a special admission to practice.

S.C. Supreme Court, 1979;

U.S. District Court, District of South Carolina, about 1984;

U.S. Court of Military Appeals, 1980.

14.
Describe chronologically your legal experience since graduation from law school and include a list of all law firms with which you have been associated.  Describe the general character of your practice and divide it into periods with dates if its character has changed over the years.

1980-1983, Judge Advocate in USAF, was prosecutor and defense attorney in courts-martial cases; also was a claims officer, reviewed contracts, advised personnel on private civil matters such as divorces, wills, etc.

1984-present, private attorney, solo practice, large practice of divorces, bankruptcies, injuries, wills, adoptions, real estate.

1984-present, public defender in Georgetown County, S.C., represent all types of General Sessions, and Juvenile Court offenses, from murder to shoplifting.

General Sessions experience:  Represented about 3,000 clients in general sessions or juvenile family court, mostly general sessions cases.  Represented clients in approximately 100 trials in general sessions court.  Represented clients in trials involving murders, rapes, burglaries, drugs, assaults, you name it.

Common Pleas court:  Represented numerous clients in wrecks, slip and falls, injuries cases. I generally represent plaintiffs.

15.
What is your rating in Martindale-Hubbell?  If you are not listed in Martindale-Hubbell, state the reason why, if known.  I don’t buy the books so I don’t know if I am rated or not.

16.
What was the frequency of your court appearances during the last five years?

(a)
federal:
Bankruptcy court, 2-3 times per month

(b)
state:

in General Sessions court about one week per month.  In Common Pleas court, once each couple of months or so.

17.
What percentage of your practice involved civil, criminal, and domestic matters during the last five years?

(a)
civil:

25%

(b)
criminal:
50%

(c)
domestic:
25%

18.
What percentage of your practice in trial court during the last five years involved matters that went to a jury?

(a)
jury:

10%

(b)
non-jury:
90%

Did you most often serve as sole counsel, chief counsel, or associate counsel in these matters?  Sole counsel.

19.
List five of the most significant litigated matters that you have personally handled in either trial or appellate court or before a state or federal agency.  Give citations if the cases were reported and describe why these matters were significant.

(a)
presently defense counsel in murder case, representing defendant charged with murder of 2 year old boy.  Significance is penalty client faces, and amount of preparation involved.

(b)
In 2000, represented a defendant in a murder case, trial lasted about 3 days, significant for penalty client faced, and amount of preparation involved.

(c)
In 2000, represented client, elderly lady, in medical malpractice case against hospital involving client falling and breaking leg in hospital room.  Significant for extent of injuries, amount of preparation involved, and my willingness to work for client and take case all way through trial.

(d)
In 1999, represented wife in family court contested trial.  We offered to settle case.  Husband would not settle.  We tried the case.  We won larger award at trial than we had offered to settle for.  Husband now appeals case.  Appeals hearing before Court of Appeals is in March 2001.  Significance was amount of work I put in, and fact that husband is on his 4th lawyer now, and I’m still the sole lawyer for my client.

(e)
Years ago, represented defendant in murder trial.  Trial resulted in not guilty verdict for my client.  Significant for penalty client faced, amount of preparation involved, trial lasted about 3 days, and the good work I did in case, and good not guilty result.

20.
List up to five civil appeals that you have personally handled.  Give the case name, the court, the date of decision, and the citation if the case was reported. 

I have appealed or defended a couple of family court appeals, and one or so workers compensation appeals to circuit court.  I do not do a lot of civil court appeals.

21.
If you seek election to an appellate court, list up to five criminal appeals that you have personally handled.  Not applicable.

22.
Have you ever held judicial office?  No.

23.
If the answer to question 22 is yes, describe or attach five of your most significant orders or opinions and give the citations if they were reported.  Not applicable.

24.
Have you ever held public office other than judicial office?  No.

25.
List all employment you have had while serving as a judge other than elected judicial office.  None.

26.
Have you ever been an unsuccessful candidate for elective, judicial, or other public office? If so, give details, including dates.

I applied for circuit court judge 1998.  I was not elected.

27.
Have you ever been engaged in any occupation, business, or profession other than the practice of law, teaching of law, or holding judicial or other public office?  No.

28.
Are you now an officer or director or involved in the management of any business enterprise? No.

30.
Describe any financial arrangements or business relationships that you have, or have had in the past, that could constitute or result in a possible conflict of interest in the position you seek.  Explain how you would resolve any potential conflict of interest.  None.

31.
Have you ever been arrested, charged, or held by federal, state, or other law enforcement authorities for violation or for suspicion of violation of any federal law or regulation; state law or regulation; or county or municipal law, regulation, or ordinance?  No.

32.
Have you, to your knowledge, ever been under federal, state, or local investigation for possible violation of a criminal statute?  No.

33.
Has a tax lien or other collection procedure ever been instituted against you by federal, state, or local authorities?  Have you ever defaulted on a student loan?  Have you ever filed for bankruptcy?  No.

34.
Have you ever been sued, either personally or professionally?  If so, give details.

There is presently a complaint filed against me in bankruptcy court by a former client who has sued me, also sued the second attorney who represented the client after I got out of the case, and also sued the mortgage lender who foreclosed on the client’s house.

36.
Are you now or have you ever been employed as a lobbyist, as defined by S.C. Code § 2-17-10(13), or have you acted in the capacity of a lobbyist’s principal, as defined by S.C. Code § 2-17-10(14)?  No.

37.
Since filing with the Commission your letter of intent to run for judicial office, have you accepted lodging, transportation, entertainment, food, meals, beverages, money, or any other thing of value as defined by S.C. Code § 2-17-10(1) from a lobbyist or lobbyist’s principal?  None.

38.
S.C. Code § 8-13-700 provides, in part, that “[n]o public official, public member, or public employee may knowingly use his official office, membership, or employment to obtain an economic interest for himself, a member of his immediate family, an individual with whom he is associated, or a business with which he is associated.”  Please detail any knowledge you have of any formal charges or informal allegations against you or any other candidate for violations of these provisions.  None.

39.
S.C. Code § 8-13-765 provides, in part, that “[n]o person may use government personnel, equipment, materials, or an office building in an election campaign.”  Please detail any knowledge you have of any formal charges or informal allegations against you or any other candidate for violations of these provisions.  None.

40.
Itemize all expenditures, other than those for travel and room and board, made by you, or on your behalf, in furtherance of your candidacy for the position you seek.  None.

41.
List the amount and recipient of all contributions made by you or on your behalf to members of the General Assembly since the announcement of your intent to seek election to a judgeship.  None.

42.
Have you directly or indirectly requested the pledge of any member of the General Assembly as to your election for the position for which you are being screened?  Have you received the assurance of any public official or public employee that they will seek the pledge of any member of the General Assembly as to your election for the position for which you are being screened?  No.

43.
Have you requested a friend or colleague to contact members of the General Assembly on your behalf?  No.

44.
Have you or has anyone on your behalf solicited or collected funds to aid in the promotion of your candidacy?  No.

45.
List all bar associations and professional organizations of which you are a member and give the titles and dates of any offices you have held in such groups.

(a)
S.C. Bar

(b)
Georgetown County Bar;

(c)
Off and on I join and quit the ATLA, and the SCTLA.

46.
List all civic, charitable, educational, social, and fraternal organizations of which you are or have been a member during the past five years and include any offices held in such a group, any professional honors, awards, or other forms of recognition received and not listed elsewhere.

(a)
Member Mount Zion Baptist Church, Hemingway, S.C.;

(b)
Member Georgetown Breakfast Rotary Club, Georgetown, S.C.

47.
Provide any other information which may reflect positively or negatively on your candidacy, or which you believe should be disclosed in connection with consideration of you for nomination for the position you seek.

48
Personal References:

a) Sherwyn Jacobs

Georgetown, S.C.



546-7317

b) Eric Fox

Conway, S.C.




248-6075

c) John Hilliard

Georgetown, S.C.



527-1335

d) Raymond Fischer

Georgetown, S.C.



546-2491

e) Mary Lee, Bank of America

Georgetown, S.C.

MS. SHAH:  Did you want to make an addition to your PDQ?

MR. GOUDE:  Yes.  I wanted to make a statement regarding Question 34 on the Personal Data Questionnaire regarding a complaint that was filed this morning, April the 24th, 2001, to the U.S. Bankruptcy Court right down the street.  Dismissed in contempt.  It was filed against me and dismissed the action in that case.  The complainant didn't even appear at the courthouse.  They faxed a letter to the judge at nine o'clock this morning saying they were not coming to the hearing.

VICE-CHAIRMAN:  Okay.  Without objection, that will be included in the transcript -- that addition will be made.  The Judicial Merit Selection Commission has thoroughly investigated your qualifications for the bench.  Our inquiry was focused on our nine evaluative criteria.  Those criteria included a survey of the bench and bar, SLED and FBI check, a credit check, a grievance and reprimand check, a thorough study of your application materials, a verification of your compliance with the state ethics laws, a search of any newspaper articles in which your name may have appeared, a study of any previous screenings, and a check for economic conflicts of interest.  We do not have any affidavits filed in opposition to your candidacy, nor are there any witnesses here to testify today.  Would you like to make an opening statement, or is there

anything else you would like to include?

MR. GOUDE:  Only thing else I would need to say is Thursday -- last Thursday, April 19, 2001, the Georgetown County Bar Association unanimously recommended me and endorsed me for this position, and I've given that to Ms. Shah.

VICE-CHAIRMAN:  That's already been included in the record.

MR. GOUDE:  Thank you.

VICE-CHAIRMAN:  Do you have a brief opening statement you would like to make?

MR. GOUDE:  No, sir.

VICE-CHAIRMAN:  Thank you.  Answer any questions our able counsel, Ms. Shah, might have for you.

MS. SHAH:  Good afternoon, Mr. Goude.  How are you?  

MR. GOUDE:  Good afternoon, Ms. Shah.

MS. SHAH:  First, I need to take care of a couple of procedural matters.  Mr. Chairman, Members of the Commission, Mr. Goude has provided an original sworn statement and an addendum to it detailing questions which are provided in your notebooks dealing with questions regarding ethics, constitutional qualifications, temperament, sentencing philosophies, office administration, and general housekeeping.  This statement has been provided.  I have no found no issues with the statement.  And without objection, I would ask that it be entered into the record.

MR. VICE-CHAIRMAN:  Without objection, it will be done.

 (The Sworn Statement of C. Reuben Goude, was made a part of the record.)

AMENDED  Sworn Statement to be included in Transcript of Public Hearings

Circuit Court Judge

Full Name:
Charles Reuben Goude


Home Address:

4765 Carvers Bay Road, Hemingway, SC 29554

Business Address:
119 2 Screven St., Georgetown, SC 29440

Home Telephone:
843-558-5454

Work Telephone:
843-527-2505

E‑Mail Address:
reubengoude@earthlink.net

1.
Why do you want to serve as a Circuit Court Judge?


Professionally:  A judge has an important role in helping people solve their legal problems.  A judge helps maintain the integrity of the judicial system.  The judicial system helps maintain the 3 branches of government. Together the three branches of government in South Carolina, and in the United States, help maintain our individual freedoms and personal liberties.


Personally:  The pay is good, good retirement program, good benefits, good working conditions, good working hours.

2.
Do you plan to serve your full term if elected?  Yes

3.
Do you have any plans to return to private practice one day?  Not if I get elected to the judiciary.

4.
Have you met the Constitutional requirements for this position regarding age, residence, and years of practice?  Yes

5.
What is your philosophy regarding ex parte communications?  Are there circumstances under which you could envision ex parte communications being tolerated?


Generally no.  In general sessions, defense attorneys are allowed to ex parte ask the Judge to approve costs for indigent defendants.

6.
What is your philosophy on recusal, especially in situations in which lawyer‑legislators, former associates, or law partners are to appear before you?


If appearance of conflict, recuse.  Generally, if either or both parties ask Judge to recuse, I would recuse.  If neither party requested it, but if I thought for some reason that I should recuse myself, then I would recuse myself.

7.
If you disclosed something that had the appearance of bias, but you believed it would not actually prejudice your impartiality, what deference would you give a party that requested your recusal?  Would you grant such a motion?


Generally I would recuse if requested by either party.

8.
How would you handle the appearance of impropriety because of the financial or social involvement of your spouse or a close relative?


Recuse if requested by either party, I should disclose involvement to the parties.  If I thought recusal was warranted, I would recuse myself even if neither party requested the recusal.

9.
What standards would you set for yourself regarding the acceptance of gifts or social hospitality?


Gifts such as wedding presents, and gifts like that, that are commensurate with the occasion and the relationship are acceptable under the Code of Judicial Conduct.  Ordinary social hospitality, having a meal in someone’s house, hospitality such as that, is acceptable.   The general rule would be for me that I would buy my own meals, and not expect and not accept gifts unless clearly the minimal types gifts allowed by the Code.

10.
How would you handle a situation in which you became aware of misconduct of a lawyer or of a fellow judge?  Report ethical violations.

11.
Are you affiliated with any political parties, boards or commissions which, if you were elected, would need to be re‑evaluated?  No.

12.
Do you have any business activities with which you would envision remaining involved if elected to the bench?  I have none now that I know to be any conflict. 

13.
How would you handle the drafting of orders?


The way the Judges I’ve worked in court with for 16 years have handled.  I’d tell prevailing side attorney to prepare order if I have already ruled, and to send copy to other attorney.  I’d review, if correct, I’d sign it.  If there was doubt in my mind how to rule, I could tell both attorneys to prepare proposed orders.  I would review same, and decide how to rule in case, whether to use one of the proposed orders, or to draft my own order.

14.
What methods would you use to ensure that you and your staff meet deadlines?


Calendar tickler system, and any additional assistance system court administration has.

15.
What is your philosophy on “judicial activism,” and what effect should judges have in setting or promoting public policy?


Judiciary is not to make law, but to use the law as enacted by legislature.

16.
Canon 4 allows a judge to engage in activities to improve the law, legal system, and administration of justice.  What activities do you plan to undertake to further this improvement of the legal system?


Get elected to judiciary.  That would improve judiciary tremendously.  Additionally, I would foresee being asked to speak at different functions, both legal and non-legal.

17.
Do you feel that the pressure of serving as a judge would strain personal relationships (i.e. spouse, children, friends, or relatives)?  How would you address this?


Probably a lot less than the strain a logger has of getting up at 4:00 am, driving to woods, fighting mosquitoes and rattlesnakes, to make $300.00-$400.00 per week.  The point of this answer is that many, many people in our state have great strain on them, the strain of earning a living, of paying their bills, of raising their children, of keeping their marriages together, of working to maintain their health, of trying to keep or get a job, of getting and paying for medical insurance, etc.  I do not see Judges as being singled out as having problems greater than many other citizens have.  In many ways, Judges are much more fortunate than most citizens, in that Judges generally have a stable employment, know they will be paid for their work, and do not face many of the stresses and problems many citizens face in financial matters.

18.
The following list contains five categories of offenders that would perhaps regularly appear in your court.  Discuss your philosophy on sentencing for these classes of offenders.

a.
Repeat offenders:  Would punish more than 1st offenders.

b.
Juveniles (that have been waived to the circuit court): Try to do something that would both punish and teach if possible in many types of cases.  In the most extreme and most violent cases, usually murder, it may be too late to do much teaching, as a citizen has been murdered and it is too late for him/her to come back to life.

c.
White collar criminals: Depends on the crime, maybe restitution, maybe prison, maybe public service, white collar may include lot of different type cases.

d.
Defendants with a socially and/or economically disadvantaged background: Depends on the charge, circumstances, etc.  I see social/economic disadvantages, not as excuses for crime.  However, those circumstances could have a bearing on the sentence I would impose.

e.
Elderly defendants or those with some infirmity: Would consider those factors, and the charge, and record, and decide what to do.  

19.
Are you involved in any active investments from which you derive additional income that might impair your appearance of impartiality?  No.

20.
Would you hear a case where you or a member of your family held a de minimis financial interest in a party involved?  As I understand it, a de minimis financial interest is not disqualifying.

21. Do you belong to any organizations that discriminate based on race, religion, or gender?  No.

22.
Have you attended all mandatory continuing legal education courses?  Yes.

23.
What do you feel is the appropriate demeanor for a judge?


Fairness,,,,,fairness,,,,,,,fairness,,,,,to be reasonably intelligent,,,,,to treat lawyers, parties, witnesses, court personnel, jurors, and everyone else,  fair, courteously, and equally. 

24.
Do the rules that you expressed in your previous answer apply only while you are on the bench or in chambers, or do these rules apply seven days a week, twenty‑four hours a day?


Believe in acting properly all the time.

25.
Do you feel that it is ever appropriate to be angry with a member of the public, especially with a criminal defendant?  Is anger ever appropriate in dealing with attorneys?


Believe it is better not to get or display anger.

26.
How much money have you spent on your campaign?  If it is over $100, has that amount been reported to the House and Senate Ethics Committees?


Yes, I reported about $1,400.00 spent to Kinko’s for costs of resumes printing and mailing.  I reported that I spent about $105.00 for a photograph taken for my resume.

27.
Have you sought or received the pledge of any legislator prior to this date?  No.

28.
Have you sought or been offered a conditional pledge of support by any legislator pending the outcome of your screening?  No.

29.
Have you asked any third parties to contact members of the General Assembly on your behalf before the final and formal screening report has been released?


I have not sought any pledge; and I have not asked anyone else to seek any pledge on my behalf.  I and my family/friends have mailed my resume/letters to members of the General Assembly announcing my candidacy and listing my qualifications.

30.
Have you contacted any members of the Judicial Merit Selection Commission?


See 29 above, and I have mailed all members of the House and Senate my resume, and I hope I have shaken all members’ hands in public in the rotunda. Other than that, I have not contacted members of the Judicial Merit Selection Commission.

31.
Are you familiar with the 48‑hour rule, which prohibits a candidate from seeking pledges for 48 hours after the draft report has been submitted?  Yes.

I HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THE ANSWERS TO THE ABOVE QUESTIONS ARE TRUE AND COMPLETE TO THE BEST OF MY KNOWLEDGE.








S/ Charles Reuben Goude

Sworn to before me this 4-13-2001.

Notary Public for South Carolina
My commission expires:__________

MS. SHAH:  Without objection, I'd like to focus Mr. Goude's testimony on questions relating to his experience, temperament, and response to the surveys and Citizens Committee report.

VICE-CHAIRMAN:  Without objection, it will be done.

EXAMINATION BY MS. SHAH:

Q.
Mr. Goude, if you could elaborate on your sworn statement, the question as to why you want to be a Circuit Court judge.

A.
I want to be a Circuit Court judge for two main reasons.  You've got the professional job reason, and you've got the personal reason.

The professional reason would be because, like I said in my statement, the judges help resolve conflicts between people so that we can do that peaceably in the United States instead of like most countries in the world where they murder each other because that's the only resolution they have to problems.  And the judiciary is strong in the United States unlike it is in other places, and it's independent in other states unlike it is in a lot of places.  And the judge is the integral part of that, because the judge is the person that most of the citizens see on a daily basis, either jurors, witnesses, spectators in the courtroom.

So you have an opportunity to do a lot of good things if you're a good person and a good judge; and fairness, as I see it, is the main thing at being a good judge.  Fairness to the people in front of him.  And that's why I would like that job, because you can do a lot of good things.  And I've always tried to do good things in my life.  I was raised that way.  My family does the same thing.  And that's the professional reason I would like that job, is you do a lot of good things.  

As far as personally, obviously it's a great career step personally.  It has a lot of great opportunities.  The benefits are good, the pay is good, the pension is good, the insurance is good, the working hours are good, holidays are good, vacations are good.  As a lawyer, you basically -- me, I get none of that.  I haven't taken a vacation since 1984, other than weekends and holidays.  I've never taken a week off in my life.  

So basically, personally, it's a good job to have.  Professionally, it's a good thing you can do for your country and for your citizens, your community, and as a lawyer.  It's a good thing to do.  Those are the reasons.

Q.
Thank you, Mr. Goude.  I'd like to go ahead and get up to some questions dealing with your legal experience.  You've stated in your PDQ that you represented about 3,000 clients in general sessions or juvenile family court in the last 20 years.  You've handled a number of civil and jury cases, jury trial, and been sole counsel to most of these cases.  If you could, just very briefly, give us -- maybe elaborate a little more on what I just said as to your experience in criminal and civil matters and also focusing on your trial experience.

A.
I graduated law school in '79, I went in the air force as JAG, a Captain in the Air Force, was an air force lawyer because I wanted to travel some and see some of the world.  I wanted to see Europe and things like that, in particular, and get a job and pay off some student loans.  And there they had us work as prosecutor or defense counsel.  One day you might be prosecutor, next day you might be defense counsel.  You weren't strictly one thing.  So you learn to sort of have a balanced approach to it.  You developed a pro-prosecution or a pro-defense attitude, because you were representing both sides, different cases.  It worked real good.  I did that for four years.  I don't think I -- I think I lost one trial when I was prosecuting cases in the air force.

Got out of there, I opened an office in Georgetown.  I just bought a shingle and put it up, opened my own little office right there near the McNair firm between me and the courthouse in Georgetown.  I've been in that same building since.  I started out as a deputy public defender.  Harry Bonnoitt, who is now a family court judge in Georgetown, he was the public defender.  

Before him, the public defender was David Maring, who was a family court judge and circuit court judge and now is retired.  I became the deputy public defender and worked the juvenile court and minor cases in general sessions court, and Mr. Bonnoitt quit and come to merry Georgetown in the '86, '87, somewhere in there, and I moved up to chief public defender. 

Public defenders in Georgetown are part-time contract attorneys.  You have a private practice, and you do part-time public defender work through a contract.  So since then – since about '87, I've been the chief public defender in Georgetown County.  So as juvenile part-time deputy public defender and chief public defender, I've been doing that since about 1984, 1985, and I've represented about all kinds of cases you can think of.  

I've represented murderers.  I've gotten not guilty verdicts in murder trials.  I've represented rapes, burglaries, armed robberies.  I've represented people that shot people in the back of their head and killed them because they disrespected them in the afternoon.  That was the basis and the reason for it.  I've represented all types of drug cases.  And minor stuff, too.  Some minor stuff, too.  I've done about everything in general sessions.  I've not had to try any death penalty cases.  Thank the Lord we were able to work out deals so the charges were reduced to something else, didn't have to go to death penalty case.  In the juvenile court, I've done probably 400 or 500.  I think I had about 3,000 criminal cases in general sessions and juvenile court all together.  

I had cases in February of this year, about four of those were juvenile court cases.  Of course, in juvenile court you have the same law, same rules of evidence, same elements of the crime, same preparation of getting witnesses and defending the cases, you make arguments and same things you do in general sessions court.  But I've got great experience, probably about as much as any candidate – of course, as I say that, then I know y'all are going to think of some prosecutor that becomes a judge that's tried 5,000 or something like that.  But I've got a lot of experience in general sessions court.  I've done that for a long time, tried a lot of cases. 

In civil court, we do car wrecks.  I did a -- I tried a medical malpractice case last year in Horry County in Conway.  A lady slipped and fell in the hospital room and broke her leg and I had a nurse from Tampa, Florida to be the expert witness.  The trial lasted about a week.  We do car wreck cases, slip and falls, food poisoning cases.  I ate at a restaurant yesterday in Georgetown I was suing for causing a fish food poisoning.  Someone had ate some blackened tuna there several years ago and it resulted in skin cancer, and we're trying to figure out if the skin cancer is caused from food poisoning.  So we do all kinds of cases.  A lot of workers' comp cases, do a lot of bankruptcy cases.  I've been in bankruptcy court in Columbia, in Charleston.  Done a lot of that.  I've done a good bit of experience in mortgage foreclosures and things like that, which would be the common pleas part of the circuit court judge.  Refer a lot of that to the master.  I've tried some car wreck cases in common pleas court.  So I'm experienced in both of them.  

And I've also done municipal and magistrate court trials, civil and criminal.

Q.
Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Goude.  I'd like to go ahead and focus in on the surveys and the Citizens Committee report.  The Pee Dee Citizens Committee report stated Mr. Goude was qualified for the position and recommends him.  They also stated -- and I like to also allow you to respond to the statements that have been made.  They stated that some of his peers felt that he did not possess the temperament or personality necessary for a circuit court judge.  However, the Citizens Committee responded by saying that Mr. Goude appears to be a very intense person and totally devoted to the legal profession, his family and his country, and that his intensity should not necessarily translate into a lack of necessary temperament for a circuit court judge.  Mr. Goude, I'd like to let you, at this time, respond in any way to the Citizens Committee report.  

A.
Well, as far as personality and temperament, it's hard to know what to say because you don't know what the people that said that or the person that said that are saying.  I don't know if they're saying that my personality is too jovial and I'm too humorous and not serious enough in court or they're saying I'm too intense and serious and don't joke enough.  

So it's hard to exactly know how to direct that.  I'll just say that basically, for the most of my career since I've been in Georgetown, I've worked most of the time.  Last couple of years I started lacking up a little in working quite so much, but most of that time I worked six or seven days a week.  I was single and that was mostly my life, was building up my business.  I didn't go into another firm, I didn't have a family member or a big corporation doing all the forms and take over the clients.  I opened and office and tried to get the best cases I could get.  

So I've worked most of the time, and I don't -- I don't socialize with a lot of members of the Bar.  I socialize with my family.  I live out in the country.  I have a home out in the country where I was born and raised.  I bought some land out there in about '87, built a house in '91.  I go to the local church there where I was born and raised in, and that's basically my temperament.  

I was raised with a -- with a strict family to work.  I was raised on a tobacco farm, so we worked and we obeyed our father.  When I got out of high school, I enlisted in the marines; and there they don't teach you to be too jovial.  You have to be serious.  I still do that.  I still exercise.  I exercised last night which I learned in the marines.  So -- and I've heard that.  Some of my friends told me that I wear dark suits and things like that, that I'm kind of tall and I stand over witnesses or the jury, some of them might be intimidated or whatever, and I see that as a positive thing.  I want the people on the other side to be intimidated, if possible.  I don't go up to them with a bully club or something like that and say, I'm going to hit you if you don't do what I say.  

But anything I can do to help our side of the case, I will if it's legal and proper.  Juries, I don't think they've had a problem with me, because I try to get as close to the jury box as I can when we're having trials.  I would get up in there with them if I could so they would think I'm one of them and try to help my side of the case.  And I think I've done pretty good.  I counted up the number of cases, and I've gotten more not guilty verdicts and favorable verdicts than I have lost cases.  A defense lawyer never wins as a defense lawyer, because the prosecutor chooses the charges he's going to charge, when he's going to try it.  You go to the courthouse and his witness does not show up; the prosecutor, he just continues the case.  Defense lawyer shows up and his witness is dying of cancer in the hospital and the prosecutor says, if that sorry defense lawyer had his witness here, we could go forward.  So let's not continue the case.  

So the point of that is that you can never really win as a defense lawyer, but I've done pretty good.  So the jury must not have thought I had a bad personality.  That would be my answer to that.  And I am intense.  I agree with that.  I don't see how you could be a lawyer and care about the people you're representing in murder trials or child custody and dividing property and things like and be too flippant about it.  I'm not that kind of person.  I don't have that attitude.  I've never learned that if I lose, just laugh and think it's funny.

Patton said, and I guess he was an intense guy, too, never had much use for a guy who would lose and laugh.  I mean, I'm not that kind of person.  And as a judge, I'm not planning on losing or winning.  If I was the prosecutor and the guy is charged with murder, I would want him to get the death penalty.  Like the guy I got appointed to represent two or three years ago for shooting my neighbor that taught me Sunday school, shooting her in the chest and killing her in the store for $40 or $50.  But I got off that case because I knew her.  If I were the prosecutor, I would want that guy to go to the electric chair.  If I was the defense counsel, naturally I would want him to get off with a not guilty verdict.  And I didn't represent him.

So it depends on your job.  Your job as a prosecutor is to prosecute.  Your job as defense counsel is to defend.  If you're a judge, you're not going to prosecute or defend.  You're going to be impartial and rule on the evidence, things of that nature.  You've got a different job and a different attitude when you go in that job.

Q.
Thank you, Mr. Goude.  There was one other item of concern on both the bench and bar and the Citizens Committee report that I wanted to allow you to respond to, and that was they had stated concerns that you were difficult to contact, that you didn't return phone calls in a timely fashion.  And I wanted to let you respond to that. 

A.
That may be true sometimes.  Of course, what first brings to my mind is that about October or so I'm representing a guy in a civil case that the other attorney from Kingstree is supposed to have done a consent order to agree to dismiss my client in the case.  It is now April, and I don't yet have the consent order.  That was six months ago he was supposed to prepare it.  I don't -- I would never dream of saying that he was a bad person or not a good lawyer, but it's been six months that I've been waiting on that consent order that he was to prepare.  I know he's got other things to do, and nothing bad is going to happen because of that. 

I've had a busy practice.  I'm one lawyer.  I have one secretary.  And we do criminal court -- we have about one week of criminal court per month, month after month, year after year.  We have preliminary hearings, magistrate court, bankruptcy court.  I do bankruptcy court where I'm driving to Charleston, driving to Columbia.  That's seven hours up here and back from Georgetown to Columbia.  I do family court.  I've done about 800 adoptions, family court cases, divorces, legal separations.  Many of those are trial.  We did an argument before the Court of Appeals here in March where the man -- I represented the wife.  We were going to trial and he was on his fourth lawyer.  Two or three of them from Charleston, one from Georgetown.  He was not discriminative.  He hired them from everywhere.  And they have not won yet.  So all that stuff takes time.  And what I try to do is I get a lot of -- I don't -- I don't respond to every one the day I get it.  I try to respond as quickly as I can.  But if you know you've got a temporary hearing in a family court case tomorrow and you're trying to do your affidavits on it so you'll be ready for that, you can't respond to a prosecutor who calls about a case that's going to come up a month from now.  You have to put that aside and wait.  You might have to go to family court tomorrow, bankruptcy court in Columbia the day after that, a divorce in Summerville I just did the day after that.  So it might be several days or a week before you get back to people.  And it works on all kinds of cases:  family court, civil court, criminal court.

So, yes, I would agree that I do not respond as fast as I would like to, but I can't do that.  You can't do that.  I can't do that.

MS. SHAH:  Thank you, Mr. Goude.  I have no further questions, Mr. Chairman.

VICE-CHAIRMAN:  Does any member of the Commission have any questions for Mr. Goude? 

REPRESENTATIVE SMITH:  Mr. Chairman, I think I know Mr. Goude.  I think we stayed in the same room.  I think he's a pretty good fellow, personally.  I mean, I know him.  We stayed in the same room at the Horseshoe; isn't that right?

MR. GOUDE:  That's right.

REPRESENTATIVE SMITH:  I haven't seen you in a number of years, so --

REPRESENTATIVE McGEE:  Since you graduated back in the '50s.

REPRESENTATIVE SMITH:  Yeah.  I think the whole thing about the phone call rule is crazy anyway.  I practice by myself as well, and I wouldn't hold that against you at all.  But I like, Mr. Goude.  Thank you. 

VICE-CHAIRMAN:  Without objection.  

 (Laughter)

VICE-CHAIRMAN:  Any other member of the Commission have any questions of Mr. Goude?  Okay.  With that, Mr. Goude, this concludes your public hearing, although we could recall you up until the time we actually vote and issue a report and reconvene the public hearing and ask you questions.  I don't foresee that happening.  I also remind you about the 48-hour rule where you can't seek commitments until 48 hours after we issue the report.  Of course, the time and date will be on the report at which time you can feel free to seek commitments.  But with that, I'd just like to thank you for being willing to participate in the process and hope you have a safe trip back to Georgetown.

MR. GOUDE:  Thank you.  

 (Off the record.)

MR. CHAIRMAN:  All right.  We'll go back on the record at this time.  We have before us Mr. J. Cordell Maddox, Jr. offering for the position of Circuit Court, Tenth Judicial Circuit, Seat Number 1.  Good afternoon, sir.

MR. MADDOX:  Good afternoon.  How are you?

MR. CHAIRMAN:  All right.  If you would be so kind as to raise your right hand.

(J. CORDELL MADDOX, JR., being first duly sworn by the Chairman, testified as follows:)

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Have you had an opportunity to review the Personal Data Questionnaire?

MR. MADDOX:  Yes.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Is it correct, or does it need any additions or deletions thereto? 

MR. MADDOX:  It's correct.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Do you have any objection to our making that summary a part of your sworn testimony as if you fully stated those matters here on the record?

MR. MADDOX:  No, sir.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  It will be done so at this point in the transcript.

PERSONAL DATA QUESTIONNAIRE

Circuit Court for the Tenth Judicial Circuit, Seat #1.

Jesse Cordell Maddox, Jr.

HOME: 
101 Victoria Circle, Anderson, South Carolina 29621




864) 226-0596

BUSINESS:
Glenn, Haigler, Maddox & McClain, LLP

121West Benson Street, Anderson, South Carolina 29624

(864) 226-1885

2.
Date and Place of Birth: 06/14/58

3.
Are you a citizen of South Carolina?  Yes.

Have you been a resident of this state for at least the immediate past five years?  Yes.

5.
Family Status:  Married on June 26, 1999, to Victoria Tobin Maddox.


Divorced:  November 18, 1998; J. Cordell Maddox, Jr. v. Sharon Maddox; Case No.:  1998-DR-32-2880; Lexington County Family Court; Separation for One Year.

Children:
Jesse Cordell Maddox, III, age 15;

Brett Garland Maddox, age 12;

Jacob Hunter Maddox, age 6.

6.
Have you served in the military?  No.

7.
List each college and law school you attended, including the dates of your attendance, the degrees you received, and if you left an institution without receiving a degree, the reason for your departure.


1.
Furman University, B.A. in Political Science, 1976 – 1980;


2.
University of South Carolina Law School, J.D. 1983.

8.
List the states in which you have been admitted to practice law and the year of each admission.  Also list any states in which you took the bar exam, but were never admitted to the practice of law.  If you took the bar exam more than once in any of the states listed, please indicate the number of times you took the exam in each state.

South Carolina, admitted 1983.

9.
List the significant activities in which you took part during your attendance at college, graduate, and law school. Give the dates you were involved in these activities and list any leadership positions you held. 

Furman University Honor Counsel

University of South Carolina Student Government 1980-1983

Honor Counsel 1980-1983

10.
Briefly describe your continuing legal or judicial education during the past five years.

I have attended a multitude of continuing legal education courses during my time in practice.  These courses range from General CLEs regarding the general practice of law to specialized law education courses.  I’ve tried to vary the courses taken to expand my knowledge in different areas.  I have met or exceeded the CLE requirements in each of the last five years.

08/10/95
1995 Annual Convention- S.C.T.L.A.

09/05/95
The New South Carolina Rules of Evidence

10/10/95
Client Relations LEPR Series

01/02-06/96
Law Education Institute

Civil Litigation Conference

01/02/96
1996 Winter CLE Conference - Civil

08/08/96
1996 Annual Conference - S.C.T.L.A.

08/14/97
1997 Annual Convention-S.C.T.L.A.

11/08/97
Better Client Relations the Key to Success

12/04/98
S.C.T.L.A. Auto Torts

08/13/98
1998 Annual Convention-S.C.T.L.A.

09/27/98
1998 Annual SC Solicitor’s Conference

12/11/98
SC Association of Counties

05/19/99
Family Court Judges Conference

10/03/99
1999 Annual SC Solicitors’ Association Conference

11/12/99
SC Ethics Seminar

11/15/99
Judge Ross Anderson’s Ethics Seminar

12/17/99
10 Things You Need to Know

10/--/00
ADR Seminar

12/02/00
Auto Torts

12/20/00
Ethics Update

11.
Have you taught law-related courses or lectured at bar association conferences, educational institutions, or continuing legal or judicial education programs?  If so, briefly describe each course or lecture.


(a)
I taught Business Law at Central Wesleyan College (now known as Southern Wesleyan University) for several years during the late 1980's.  I was an adjunct professor of business law teaching undergraduate courses in general business law at Central Wesleyan College.


(b)
1998 Family Judges Conference - Legislative Update


(c)
1999 Family Judges Conference - Legislative Update


(d)
1999 South Carolina Solicitors Conference - Legislative

12.
List all published books and articles you have written and give citations and the dates of publication for each.  None.

13.
List all courts in which you have been admitted to practice and list the dates of your admission.  Give the same information for administrative bodies that require a special admission to practice.

South Carolina Courts - December 16, 1983

U.S. District Court - December 15, 1983

U.S. Court of Appeals - June 25, 1984

14.
Describe chronologically your legal experience since graduation from law school and include a list of all law firms with which you have been associated.  Describe the general character of your practice and divide it into periods with dates if its character has changed over the years.

From 1983 until 1986 I practiced as an associate and partner with Charles Welborn, Jr., in a two-man law office in Anderson, South Carolina.  My practice was predominantly civil in nature and involved exposure to collection work, civil matters of all nature, and general real estate practice.

From 1986 until 1992 I was an Associate and then Partner at Jones, Spitz, Moorehead, Baird & Maddox in Anderson, South Carolina.  My practice was predominantly a civil practice with some small amounts of real estate and criminal matters.

From 1992 until 2001 I have been a Partner with the Law Firm of Glenn, Haigler, Maddox & McClain.  My practice continues to be predominantly a civil practice with some criminal work.

From 1996 until 2000, in addition to practicing law, I served in the South Carolina House of Representatives representing District 9 in Anderson County.

Criminal Matters:

a) State v. Young – I was appointed co-counsel in the penalty phase of the State v. Young.  This case involved re-trial of the death penalty phase of a previously tried case.  The case required the picking of a jury in Lancaster County and the approximate one-week trial of the penalty phase.

b) During the past I represented a defendant in a criminal case in which my client was charged with engaging a child for sexual performance, contributing to the delinquency of a minor, and assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature.  This case involved the issue of the admission of video taped evidence.  The case was dismissed.

c) I handled a criminal case in 2000 in which my client was charged with grand larceny.  The issues were whether or not the defendant and her co-defendant were guilty of stealing $10,000.00 to $15,000.00 worth of jewelry and personal items from the home of an acquaintance.  The defendant pled guilty.

d) Currently I am representing a defendant who has been charged with numerous counts of burglary and breaking and entering.  The case is currently awaiting trial or other disposition.

e) I have also been involved, in a peripheral manner, with several criminal cases handled by my law partners including a murder case in which the death penalty was at issue and a case involving a guilty plea for assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature.

f) I have represented, either as the attorney or as the guardian ad litem, several juvenile defendants and adult defendants in the Family Court.  The charges have ranged from criminal domestic violence to various degrees of child abuse and neglect.

While my background in criminal matters is less than my experience in civil matters, I feel that I could compensate for the lack of experience.  I am aware of and keep abreast of developments in the case law regarding criminal matters.  It is my intention to continue to keep abreast of criminal case law developments and to step up my observation of criminal court pending election to the bench.

Civil Matters:

My primary practice in the last several years in civil court has been as a representative of the plaintiff.  In the past I have also represented defendants including corporations, individuals, and financial institutions.  In the past five years my trial experience has included:

a) Two complicated medical malpractice cases.  One case involved the alleged negligence of a surgeon leading to the death of the plaintiff after laparoscopic surgery.  This case was tried in Chester County.  Both plaintiff and defendant utilized experts from throughout the country and the case involved many elements common to most medical malpractice and other tort actions.  The case was settled after trial began and after opening statements and the call of two of the plaintiff’s witnesses.  I was co-counsel on that case with an out of state attorney and a local attorney who had associated me.



Additionally, I have tried a medical malpractice case in Richland County involving obstetrical malpractice.  The case was tried for approximately eight days and involved fairly complicated issues of causation.

b) I was co-counsel with my law partner in a dental malpractice case tried for three days in Anderson County involving the issue of malpractice resulting from a broken jaw during a dental procedure.

c) Currently I am involved as co-counsel in a nationwide class action filed in Federal Court in Anderson County.  This case involves the issue of fraudulent interest computation by a lending institution.  The case has been filed and the nationwide class has been certified.  The trial is expected in October 2001.

d) I have been associated with co-counsel in another Federal Class Action case involving the allegations of fraudulent recordation of credit information.  That case should be tried some time in the late fall of 2001.

e) I have, in addition to the above, handled numerous automobile accident cases that have settled prior to trial.

f) Currently I am representing a civil defendant in a breach of contract action that has been set for trial in June of 2001.

g) I have also represented several physicians as personal attorney in malpractice cases and in other general litigation matters.

h) I am currently involved innumerous litigation matters including a case based upon negligent construction of a subdivision and the subsequent denial of a payment bond.  The complaint has been filed; the trial has not been set.

i) I am also currently representing a large homeowners’ association in a lawsuit against adjoining homeowners regarding the application of restrictions to the adjoining landowner’s property.  The case was tried and a verdict was granted to my clients.  The case involved the application of restrictions to property and the interpretation and restoration of the restrictions and by-laws of the homeowners’ association.  The case is currently on appeal to the South Carolina Supreme Court.”
15.
What is your rating in Martindale-Hubbell?  If you are not listed in Martindale-Hubbell, state the reason why, if known.  If you are currently a member of the judiciary, list your last available rating.  B.V.

16.
What was the frequency of your court appearances during the last five years?

(a)
Federal:
1996-2000- Infrequent.  2000-2001 - Frequently.  I am currently involved in two Federal Class Actions that have required numerous appearances in District Court.

(b)
State:
I have appeared in State Court either in Civil, Criminal or Domestic matters on average twice a week for the past 5 years.

17.
What percentage of your practice involved civil, criminal, and domestic matters during the last five years?

(a)
civil:

30%

(b)
criminal:
10%

(c)
domestic:
60%

18.
What percentage of your practice in trial court during the last five years involved matters that went to a jury?

(a)
jury:

10%

(b)
non-jury:
90%

Did you most often serve as sole counsel, chief counsel, or associate counsel in these matters?  Both as sole counsel and as co-counsel.

19.
List five of the most significant litigated matters that you have personally handled in either trial or appellate court or before a state or federal agency.  Give citations if the cases were reported and describe why these matters were significant.

(a)
State v. Young.  I was appointed co-counsel in the sentencing phase of Kevin Dean Young.  The State had obtained a guilty verdict and sentence of death in a prior trial. The case was remanded to the circuit court for the retrial of the penalty phase only. A jury was selected in Lancaster County and brought to Anderson for the trial.  Every case potentially involving the death penalty has significant ramifications not only for the defendant but the community, attorneys and other court personnel.  Apart from its nature, the case was significant from a personal legal perspective because it exposed me to the complicated legal issues associated with a criminal trial in general and a death penalty trial in particular.

(b)
Linda A. Massingale, Ruth I. bickel, Denise M. McTigue, Marie A. Pacifico, and all other similarly situated v. The Money Store, Inc., TMS Mortgage, Inc., and John Does 1-100.  This is an ongoing case in Federal Court.  The case involves a large nationwide class action against the defendant.  The class has been certified by the District Court and 2 appeals have been taken to the 4th Circuit Court of Appeals.  We’ve prevailed on both appeals and are now awaiting trial in April or May of 2001. The case is significant in that it involves unique issues of interest computation and the possibility of up to 20,000 class members seeking damages against the defendant. I am co-counsel in this case with several out of state attorneys.

(c)
Laughridge v. Parkinson, et al. - This case was a medical mal-practice case involving complicated issues of causation and damage.  The lawsuit was on behalf of the minor child injured at birth.  The case was tried initially in Greenville County, South Carolina, over a period of approximately 22 weeks.  After deliberating for a day and a half, a mistrial was declared because of a hung jury.  Approximately one year later the case was re-tried for approximately 10 days and the jury returned a verdict for $5,000,000.00.  Prior to the first trial the Circuit Court granted partial Summary Judgment for the hospital.  I was involved in the appeal to the Supreme Court which resulted in a ruling that the abolition of the doctrine of charitable immunity was prospective in application only. The case was significant because almost every possible evidentiary scenario was presented during both trials.

(d)
Kneale v. Bonds, 452 S.E.2d 840; 317 S.C.262, SC Court of Appeals 1994.  This case was significant in that it involved interpretation of the covenants of a horizontal property regime and a mandatory injunction for the removal of a structure.  I represented 12 homeowners who sought a mandatory injunction to have a structure removed from the regime property.  After an approximate 3-day non-jury trial, the Circuit Court ruled in the favor of the defendants.  On Appeal, the Supreme Court found in favor of my clients and issued an Order requiring defendants to remove a previously constructed building on the property.  The case is significant in that it involved interpretation of legal documents as well as equitable principals of law.

(e)
South Carolina Department of Social Services v. Broome, 413 S.E.2d 835, SC 48 and SC (SC 1992)  I was appointed to represent Mrs. Broome in a DSS termination of parental rights action.  Mrs. Broome was a Schizophrenic who opposed the termination of her rights.  Subsequent to the trial, Ms. Broome asked me to appeal and then disappeared.  After perfecting her Appeal, I filed an affidavit with the Supreme Court and was asked to do a Brief and argue certain elements of her appeal.  The case was argued before the South Carolina Supreme Court and has been cited many times by the Court as an example of one of the standards for termination of parental rights in South Carolina. 

20.
List up to five civil appeals that you have personally handled.  Give the case name, the court, the date of decision, and the citation if the case was reported. If you are a new applicant for family court, answer this question using domestic appeals.  If you are a candidate for an appellate court judgeship, please attach one copy of briefs filed by you in each matter.

(a)
In the matter of Marshal - S.C. Supreme Court - 03/23/98, 498 S.E.2d 869, 331 SC 514 (S.C. 1998)

(b)
Laughridge v. Parkinson (co-counsel) - 04/01/91, 403 S.E.2d 120, 304 SC 51 (S.C. 1991)

(c)
South Carolina Department of Social Services v. Broome - 01/13/92, 413 S.E.2d 835, 307 SC 48 (S.C. 1992)

(d)
Kneale v. Bonds, et al., 425 S.E.2d 840; 317 S.C.262, SC Court of Appeals 1994

21.
If you seek election to an appellate court, list up to five criminal appeals that you have personally handled.  Not applicable.

22.
Have you ever held judicial office?  No.

23.
If the answer to question 22 is yes, describe or attach five of your most significant orders or opinions and give the citations if they were reported.  Not applicable.

24.
Have you ever held public office other than judicial office?  If so, list the periods of your service, the office or offices involved, and whether you were elected or appointed.

Member of the House of Representatives, District 9; 1996 - 2000 - Elected.

25.
List all employment you have had while serving as a judge other than elected judicial office.  Not applicable.

26.
Have you ever been an unsuccessful candidate for elective, judicial, or other public office?

Yes.  I was defeated for re-election in 2000 for House District 9, South Carolina House of Representatives.

27.
Have you ever been engaged in any occupation, business, or profession other than the practice of law, teaching of law, or holding judicial or other public office?

No, other than part time employment while a student.

28.
Are you now an officer or director or involved in the management of any business enterprise? Not applicable.

30.
Describe any financial arrangements or business relationships that you have, or have had in the past, that could constitute or result in a possible conflict of interest in the position you seek.  Explain how you would resolve any potential conflict of interest.

The only possible financial/business relationship I have had in the past that could constitute a possible conflict of interest would be the various arrangements I’ve had with law partners. I currently own 1/3 of the building in which my practice is located.  If elected, I would obviously liquidate any interest I have in real estate with my current law partners.

The question as to whether or not the past business relationships with partners and employers would require recusal is difficult.  Quite frankly, if a former employer or law partner appeared before me as Judge, recusal might be necessary depending on the case and the position of the attorney representing adverse parties.

31.
Have you ever been arrested, charged, or held by federal, state, or other law enforcement authorities for violation or for suspicion of violation of any federal law or regulation; state law or regulation; or county or municipal law, regulation, or ordinance?  No.

32.
Have you, to your knowledge, ever been under federal, state, or local investigation for possible violation of a criminal statute?  No.

33.
Has a tax lien or other collection procedure ever been instituted against you by federal, state, or local authorities?  Have you ever defaulted on a student loan?  Have you ever filed for bankruptcy?  No.

34.
Have you ever been sued, either personally or professionally?  No.

36.
Are you now or have you ever been employed as a lobbyist, as defined by S.C. Code § 2-17-10(13), or have you acted in the capacity of a lobbyist’s principal, as defined by S.C. Code § 2-17-10(14)?  Not applicable.

37.
Since filing with the Commission your letter of intent to run for judicial office, have you accepted lodging, transportation, entertainment, food, meals, beverages, money, or any other thing of value as defined by S.C. Code §-2-17-10(1) from a lobbyist or lobbyist’s principal?  No.

38.
S.C. Code § 8-13-700 provides, in part, that “[n]o public official, public member, or public employee may knowingly use his official office, membership, or employment to obtain an economic interest for himself, a member of his immediate family, an individual with whom he is associated, or a business with which he is associated.”  Please detail any knowledge you have of any formal charges or informal allegations against you or any other candidate for violations of these provisions.  None.

39.
S.C. Code § 8-13-765 provides, in part, that “[n]o person may use government personnel, equipment, materials, or an office building in an election campaign.”  Please detail any knowledge you have of any formal charges or informal allegations against you or any other candidate for violations of these provisions.  None.

40.
Itemize all expenditures, other than those for travel and room and board, made by you, or on your behalf, in furtherance of your candidacy for the position you seek.  None.

41.
List the amount and recipient of all contributions made by you or on your behalf to members of the General Assembly since the announcement of your intent to seek election to a judgeship.  None.

42.
Have you directly or indirectly requested the pledge of any member of the General Assembly as to your election for the position for which you are being screened?  Have you received the assurance of any public official or public employee that they will seek the pledge of any member of the General Assembly as to your election for the position for which you are being screened?  No.

43.
Have you requested a friend or colleague to contact members of the General Assembly on your behalf?  No.

44.
Have you or has anyone on your behalf solicited or collected funds to aid in the promotion of your candidacy?  No.

45.
List all bar associations and professional organizations of which you are a member and give the titles and dates of any offices you have held in such groups. 

From 1983 to present:

(a)
Anderson County Bar Association;

(b)
South Carolina Bar Association;

(c)
South Carolina Trial Lawyer’s Association;

(d)
American Trial Lawyer’s Association;

(e)
American Bar Association.

46.
List all civic, charitable, educational, social, and fraternal organizations of which you are or have been a member during the past five years and include any offices held in such a group, any professional honors, awards, or other forms of recognition received and not listed elsewhere.

(a)
Rotary Club of Anderson;

(b)
YMCA - member of Board of Directors from 1984 to present; currently ex-officio member of the Board;

(c)
Past and Present member of S.C. Bar House of Delegates;

(d)
Hospice of the Upstate.

47.
Provide any other information which may reflect positively or negatively on your candidacy, or which you believe should be disclosed in connection with consideration of you for nomination for the position you seek.  

I understand that I may be ineligible for this seat as a result of my service in the House of Representatives.  In the event that the election for this judicial seat is held this year, my intention is to withdraw due to my ineligibility.

48.
Personal References:

(a)
Druanne D. White, Solicitor, Anderson County


Post Office Box 8002, Anderson, S.C.

(864) 260-4046

(b)
George M. Ducworth, Retired Solicitor, Anderson County


2903 Rambling Path, Anderson, S.C. 29621

(c)
Chuck Welborn, Jr., Attorney

309 South Main Street, Anderson, S.C. 29621
(864) 225-2565

(d)
J. Victor McDade, Attorney

Post Office Box 2125, Anderson, S.C. 29621
(864) 224-7111

(e)
Jim Thomason, Minister, First Baptist Church

105 Brown Avenue, Anderson, S.C. 29627
(864) 338-7776

(f)
Jack Buice, First Citizens Bank

 

102 North Main Street, Anderson, S.C. 29621
(864) 231-6062

MR. CHAIRMAN:  The Judicial Merit Selection Commission has thoroughly investigated your qualifications for the bench.  Our inquiry is focused on our nine evaluative criteria which has included a survey of the bench and the bar, SLED and FBI check, a credit check, a grievance and reprimand check, a thorough study of your application materials, a verification of your compliance with state ethics laws, a search of newspaper articles in which your name appears, a study of any previous screenings, a check for economic conflicts of interest.  We have received no affidavits filed in opposition to your election.  No witnesses are present to testify.  So I ask you if you have any brief opening statement you wish to make, it is purely optional, before I turn you over to counsel for a few questions.

MR. MADDOX:  Well, I don't want to take up too much time.  I just wanted to address one issue that I know I addressed in my application, and that is my eligibility -- statutory eligibility.  

I recognize that at the present time I probably don't meet the statutory eligibility requirements, because I haven't been out of the legislature for one year.  In the beginning of this process, I really wasn't sure whether I should file or not.  I called around.  I got some advice from Mr. Couick who thought it might be best that I file.  The legislature process is obviously somewhat vague; and pending eligibility in the statute, I wanted to stay in the race.  And, obviously, I will withdraw if I'm ineligible

because of that.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  All right.  With that, please answer any questions counsel has for you.

MS. CRAWFORD:  Mr. Chairman, I would like to note for the record, Mr. Maddox did provide some additional information about his experience which should be included in the notebook, and that is included in the PDQ --addendum to the PDQ.  

I also note that Mr. Maddox has provided a sworn statement with detailed answers to over 30 questions regarding judicial conduct, constitutional qualifications, office administration, temperament, and general housekeeping.  That is also in your notebooks.  I have no concerns with the statement.  With the Commission's approval, I ask that those questions be raised in this public hearing and that the statement be entered into the public record at this time.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Is there any objection?  There being none, so ordered.  

(The Sworn Statement of J. Cordell Maddox, Jr. was made a part of the record.)

JUDICIAL MERIT SELECTION COMMISSION

Sworn Statement to be included in Transcript of Public Hearings

Circuit Court Judge

Full Name:

Jesse Cordell Maddox, Jr.

Home Address:

101 Victoria Circle, Anderson, South Carolina 29621

Business Address:
121 West Benson Street, Anderson, South Carolina 29624

Home Telephone:
(864) 226-0596

Work Telephone:
(864) 226-1885

E‑Mail Address:
CMaddox@millenicom.com

1.
Why do you want to serve as a Circuit Court Judge?

I have practiced law in South Carolina for 18 years.  During that time it has become clear to me that the judiciary serves an important and unique role in the legal system and society in general.  As a practicing lawyer I have seen the good that can be accomplished by a competent and compassionate member of the judiciary.  During my 18 years of practice I’ve had an opportunity to be involved in almost every type of civil and criminal matter.  I’ve had the opportunity to represent both plaintiffs and defendants.  I have been fortunate enough to be compensated for the representation of clients and I have had the pleasure of fulfilling my obligation to represent those that could not afford legal services.  I believe that my experience has prepared me for service as a member of the Judiciary of South Carolina.

2.
Do you plan to serve your full term if elected?  Yes.

3.
Do you have any plans to return to private practice one day?  No.

4.
Have you met the Constitutional requirements for this position regarding age, residence, and years of practice?  Yes.

5.
What is your philosophy regarding ex parte communications?  Are there circumstances under which you could envision ex parte communications being tolerated?

In general, ex parte communications should be forbidden.  They tend to undermine the public’s and the Bar’s confidence in the Judiciary.  The only circumstances in which I can envision ex parte communications being tolerated would be those that are allowed by law and those with the permission of opposing party.  There have been times in my practice when, with the permission of opposing party, I have contacted a judge or his staff to notify them of the disposition of the case or to request that the judge or his staff take some action upon a case. 

6.
What is your philosophy on recusal, especially in situations in which lawyer‑legislators, former associates, or law partners are to appear before you?


A judge’s determination to recuse himself from a case should be taken on a case by case basis.  A judge should weigh the problems caused by a recusal against either the appearance of impropriety or actual impropriety caused by serving as a judge on a particular case.  


In regard to lawyer-legislators, I would only recuse myself if the adverse party in good faith, could show that the recusal was necessary.  The issue of former associates and law partners is more difficult. I would be inclined to recuse myself from any case involving a former law partner or associate unless both parties agree that recusal was unnecessary.


In general I would recuse myself if I felt that I could not fairly weigh the issues presented and reach a just determination.

7.
If you disclosed something that had the appearance of bias, but you believed it would not actually prejudice your impartiality, what deference would you give a party that requested your recusal?  Would you grant such a motion?


In this circumstance, I would be inclined to give great deference to a party that requested my recusal. As in many cases, I believe that the mere appearance of prejudice or impartiality creates a very serious problem in the courtroom.  If I felt that the party requesting the recusal sincerely felt that he would be prejudiced by my involvement, I would be inclined to recuse myself.  On the other hand, if I felt that a Motion for Recusal was made for the purposes of delay, or for another ancillary purpose, I would be strongly inclined to deny that motion.

8.
How would you handle the appearance of impropriety because of the financial or social involvement of your spouse or a close relative?


In the event of financial involvement of my spouse or close relative, I would be recuse myself.


Again, the social involvement of a spouse or close relative creates a more difficult situation.  My inclination would be to recuse myself unless the parties agreed, on the record, to my involvement. 

9.
What standards would you set for yourself regarding the acceptance of gifts or social hospitality?

I would not accept gifts from lawyers.  I would also be diligent in avoiding social situations that might give the appearance of impropriety.

10.
How would you handle a situation in which you became aware of misconduct of a lawyer or of a fellow judge?

I would investigate the situation to assure myself that misconduct had occurred.  If it had, I would report it to the proper parties.

11.
Are you affiliated with any political parties, boards or commissions which, if you were elected, would need to be re‑evaluated?

I strongly believe that a judge should be non partisan and would not be involved officially or unofficially in any political party if elected.

12.
Do you have any business activities with which you would envision remaining involved if elected to the bench?  No.

13.
How would you handle the drafting of orders?

In the age of computerization I would envision drafting many orders myself.  In the event that I requested a lawyer to draft an order, I would require that the order be either approved by opposing counsel or furnished to him prior to submission.  Under certain circumstances I would request both parties furnish proposed orders for review prior to ruling. 

14.
What methods would you use to ensure that you and your staff meet deadlines?

I would envision continuation of the computer tickler system I’m currently using.  Deadlines would be cataloged well in advance.  I would expect staff to utilize the calendaring systems to assure that deadlines are met.

15.
What is your philosophy on judicial activism, and what effect should judges have in setting or promoting public policy?



I believe that it is the Legislator’s duty and obligation to make “law.”  A judge’s duty and obligation is to apply the law.  I do not believe that The Judiciary should be utilized to subvert the legislator’s duties and obligations.  Obviously many times a judge is required to interpret either conflicting statutes or ambiguities in the law.  That is the nature of the Judiciary.  Personally, I would attempt to apply the law as written, and in the event interpretation was required, I would do my best to interpret it narrowly.


I believe the nature of a judicial ruling is fairly unique.  Many times rulings effect more than the parties involved in that particular case.  I believe every ruling should be carefully weighed.  Judges should be mindful of the effects of their rulings both on the parties involved and the general public. 

16.
Canon 4 allows a judge to engage in activities to improve the law, legal system, and administration of justice.  What activities do you plan to undertake to further this improvement of the legal system?


It is my desire to continue to be involved in improving the legal system.  I would be anxious to serve in any capacity to further this goal.

17.
Do you feel that the pressure of serving as a judge would strain personal relationships (i.e. spouse, children, friends, or relatives)?  How would you address this?



I am entering into this judicial race with the enthusiastic blessing of both immediate and extended family.  I understand how the pressures of the legal system can affect personal relationships.  Through trial and error and as a result of many successes and failures, I’ve learned that the daily involvement of your spouse and children is required to strengthen relationships and to maintain personal physical and emotional health.

18.
The following list contains five categories of offenders that would perhaps regularly appear in your court.  Discuss your philosophy on sentencing for these classes of offenders.

a.
Repeat offenders: Those that have been given the opportunity to avoid punishment but repetitively break the law should be treated harshly.  I believe that repeat offenders should be punished to the full extent of the law.

b.
Juveniles (that have been waived to the circuit court): Juveniles create a more difficult problem.  While I believe juveniles who have committed serious crimes need to be punished, I also believe that sentencing should reflect any diminished capacity and also it should reflect a juvenile’s ability to correct the causes of criminal activity.  I would seek to find alternative punishment allowed by the law for those juveniles who show remorse and the ability to benefit from any alternative punishment.  Those juveniles who might also be repeat offenders and/or who’ve committed violent offenses should be punished accordingly.  

c.
White collar criminals: To the extent that alternative punishment is available (for example: restitution) I would utilize that in the punishment of white collar criminals.  Restitution and other alternative remedies could be combined with incarceration depending upon the crime.  White collar criminals who have the ability to make their victims whole, would be allowed to do so.  Additionally, I believe alternative housing for white collar criminals is an effective way to keep the costs of the criminal justice system to a minimum.  In the event that a white collar criminal is a repeat offender or lacks remorse, he/she should be punished to the full extent of the law.

d.
Defendants with a socially and/or economically disadvantaged background:  For non-violent offenders with a socially and/or economically disadvantaged background, I would look to alternative penalties to the extent allowed by the law.  I do not believe that social and/or economic disadvantage is an excuse for criminal activity.  As in every case, I would take the defendant’s circumstances as a whole into account when sentencing.  Violent offenders would be penalized to the fullest extent of the law.

e.
Elderly defendants or those with some infirmity:  Obviously elderly or ill defendants create a special problem for the criminal justice system.  The financial burden of the elderly and infirm prisoners make it necessary to seek alternative penalties as allowed by law.  Again, it is my philosophy that violent offenders should be kept from the general population even though they might be elderly or infirmed.

19.
Are you involved in any active investments from which you derive additional income that might impair your appearance of impartiality?  N/A.

20.
Would you hear a case where you or a member of your family held a de minimis financial interest in a party involved?


No.  I would not hear a case in which a family member held even a de minimis financial interest with a party involved.

21. Do you belong to any organizations that discriminate based on race, religion, or gender?  No.

22.
Have you attended all mandatory continuing legal education courses?  Yes.

23.
What do you feel is the appropriate demeanor for a judge?

The best judges I have practiced before were those that were firm yet compassionate. A judge should be in control of his courtroom but should not treat either lawyers, litigants, jurors, or court personnel with disrespect or hostility.  A judge should give each party the opportunity to adequately and completely argue their case.  Each party should feel that he has had the opportunity to express his position to the judge.  Having said this, at some point a judge must make a decision.  In addition to the other qualities required of a judge, a judge must be able to be firmly in the control of his courtroom.

24.
Do the rules that you expressed in your previous answer apply only while you are on the bench or in chambers, or do these rules apply seven days a week, twenty‑four hours a day?

I would hope that the qualities expressed in question 23 would be those qualities that I use in everyday life.  Obviously it would be very difficult to maintain a judicial demeanor 7 days a week, 24 hours a day.  Each judge brings with them their own particular personality traits, some of which may not constitute “appropriate demeanor” while on the bench.  It would be my hope to maintain appropriate demeanor at all times.

25.
Do you feel that it is ever appropriate to be angry with a member of the public, especially with a criminal defendant?  Is anger ever appropriate in dealing with attorneys?


While I believe the judge should always maintain control, I do believe that a certain amount of anger is useful especially with a criminal defendant.  I believe it would be very difficult to remain completely stoic while confronted on a daily basis with the violence and waste present in a criminal courtroom.  I believe it would be appropriate to express your anger with a particular criminal defendant although I don’t believe anger or sympathy should be the determining factor in a sentence for a criminal defendant. 


In regards to attorneys, I believe on occasion, displeasure with their actions or with the proceedings in a case is appropriate.  Anger on the part of the judge should be kept to a minimum.  There are better ways to express your displeasure than overt angry outbursts or overt manifestations of anger.  Firmness with all parties is the best way to control the courtroom.

26.
How much money have you spent on your campaign?  If it is over $100, has that amount been reported to the House and Senate Ethics Committees?  Zero.

27.
Have you sought or received the pledge of any legislator prior to this date?  No.

28.
Have you sought or been offered a conditional pledge of support by any legislator pending the outcome of your screening?  No.

29.
Have you asked any third parties to contact members of the General Assembly on your behalf before the final and formal screening report has been released?  No.

30.
Have you contacted any members of the Judicial Merit Selection Commission?


Prior to my decision to file my notice of intent seeking this judicial seat, I had informal contact with various members of the Judicial Merit Selection Commission regarding the eligibility requirements for judicial elections.  I have had no conversations with any Judicial Merit Selection Commission member regarding my candidacy since I filed my letter of intent.

31.
Are you familiar with the 48‑hour rule, which prohibits a candidate from seeking pledges for 48 hours after the draft report has been submitted?  Yes.

I HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THE ANSWERS TO THE ABOVE QUESTIONS ARE TRUE AND COMPLETE TO THE BEST OF MY KNOWLEDGE.








S/  J. Cordell Maddox, Jr.

Sworn to before me this 2nd day of March, 2001.

Ellie Gillis, Notary Public for S.C.

My commission expires:  6/9/2009

MS. CRAWFORD:  I'd also note based on the PDQ, Mr. Maddox does meet the constitutional requirements for this position regarding age, residency, and years of practice, and he has addressed the statutory requirement.

EXAMINATION BY MS. CRAWFORD:

Q.
Mr. Maddox, why do you aspire to serve as a Circuit Court judge?

A.
Honestly, I've always wanted to do it.  I have practiced law for 18 years in Anderson.  I have had the opportunity -- sometimes in the good and the bad, but I've had the opportunity to basically handle just about every kind of case that I can think of.  I have not done an awful lot of criminal work, but I have done some.  

I have always wanted to serve as a judiciary.  I recognize it's a very important job, and I recognize that you can do a lot of good and you can do a lot of bad as a judge.  I think I'm qualified, and I think I'm young enough to devote a good many years to it and I'm old enough to have the experience to handle the job.

Q.
Mr. Maddox, I would note for the record that the bench and bar surveys that were received regarding you were very favorable with one -- one negative out of 23 responses that you didn't practice the criminal law very much, and you have alluded to that fact.  Can you describe for the Commission your experience and how it would make you an effective Circuit Court judge and how you can compensate for that lack of criminal experience?

A.
Yeah.  I wondered if you didn't just ask the right people if I only got one negative, but I have practiced criminal law.  I've practiced in a firm with a lawyer named Steve Haigler who does primarily criminal work.  So I've been around it for the last nine years.  

I keep up with the law.  I keep up with the changes in the law.  I would basically spend the extra time getting ready for a criminal case.  I intended -- have already been to criminal court just to observe.  Recently I plead someone guilty in Greenville, and I stuck around most of the day just to watch the process. Judge Peeples was up there doing the innovative thing with mass guilty pleas.  So I intend to spend a lot of time getting ready.

Q.
And you have had criminal experience?

A.
Oh, sure.

Q.
Can you expand on that a little more?

A.
Yeah.  I handled -- I was second chair in a death penalty case that was a fairly extensive process, which included going to another county to pick a jury.  It was a very high profile case.  It was tried in about ten days -- a week to ten days.  I have handled a lot of smaller criminal matters, also.

In my firm environment, if someone calls me and they have a criminal matter, I usually refer them to Steve Haigler just because that's what he does and he likes to do.  He and Mike Glenn had an extensive death penalty case last fall.  I was there and helped him.  I didn't feel, quite frankly, like I split that down as my case, but I was there with him.  So I've done a good bit of it and feel confident.

Q.
Can you describe some your civil experience?

A.
I have handled, I guess, just about everything.  I do a lot of medical malpractice claims work.  I have right now a good many contractual cases that have led to litigation.  Again, in our firm environment, if something looks like it's going to be a litigation case, I'm one of the people that handle it.  When I first started practicing law, the guy that hired me, the day I walked in he gave me 400 files.  He said he never wanted to touch litigation again, and so I just started.  So I've handle just about everything.

MS. CRAWFORD:  Thank you, Mr. Maddox.  Mr. Chairman, I note that any issues that were raised by the bench and the bar have been addressed today; and, as I mentioned, they were all quite favorable except for that one comment.  I also note that the upstate Citizens Committee reported that Mr. Maddox was found to be qualified pursuant to the criteria.  And, without objection, I ask that that report be entered into the record at this time.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Without objection, so done.

 (The Citizens Committee Report was made a part of the record.)

MS. CRAWFORD:  I have no further questions.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Does any member of the Commission have a question?  If not, that concludes this stage of the process.  Just three housekeeping things.  First of all, this Commission reserves the right to reopen the record if it so desires at any time.  That's not to mean that there's anything pending, but we just reserve that until we vote.  Secondly, we remind you about the 48- hour rule seeking commitments.  And, lastly, we ask you, please, not to speak to the other candidates about these hearings until we have concluded today.  Thank you, sir.

MR. MADDOX:  Thank you very much.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Good to see you again.

MR. MADDOX:  It's good to see all of y'all again.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Do I hear a motion to go off the record for a minute?

UNISON:  Aye.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  The motion is without objection.

 (The Public Hearings on Judicial Qualifications was concluded at 3:07 p.m.)
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MR. CHAIRMAN:  We'll go on the record at this time.  We have before us Judge Deadra L. Jefferson who will be offering for the Circuit Court, Ninth Judicial Circuit, Seat Number 1.  Good morning.

JUDGE JEFFERSON:  Good morning.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  If you would be so kind as to raise your right hand.  

 (HONORABLE DEADRA L. JEFFERSON, being first duly sworn by the Chairman, testified as follows:)

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Have you had an opportunity to review the Personal Data

Questionnaire?

JUDGE JEFFERSON:  Yes, I have.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Is it correct, or does it need any additions or deletions thereto?

JUDGE JEFFERSON:  Not that I'm aware of.  I believe it is correct.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Would you have any problem with our making this a part of your sworn testimony as if you had fully stated those matters here on the record today?

JUDGE JEFFERSON:  I have no objection.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  It will be done so at this point in the transcript.  

PERSONAL DATA QUESTIONNAIRE

Court, Position, and Seat #: Resident Circuit Court Judge, Ninth Judicial Circuit, Seat 1


Ms. Deadra L. Jefferson

HOME: 

1034 Keats Road, Charleston, SC 29407




843-769-9834

BUSINESS: 

P.O. Box 375, Charleston, SC 29402




843-958-4406

2.
Date and Place of Birth:  October 13, 1963, Charleston, S.C.

3.
Are you a citizen of South Carolina?  Yes.

Have you been a resident of this state for at least the immediate past five years?  Yes.

5.
Family Status:  Single; Never divorced; No children.

6.
Have you served in the military?  None, the question is not applicable.

7.
List each college and law school you attended, including the dates of your attendance, the degrees you received, and if you left an institution without receiving a degree, the reason for your departure.

Converse College, 1981-1985, BA English and Politics

College of Charleston, Fall 1985, Classes in Masters of Public Administration Program,

No degree received left to attend law school at the University of South Carolina

University of South Carolina, 1986-1989, Degree of Juris Doctor

8.
List the states in which you have been admitted to practice law and the year of each admission.  Also list any states in which you took the bar exam, but were never admitted to the practice of law.  If you took the bar exam more than once in any of the states listed, please indicate the number of times you took the exam in each state.

Admitted to practice law in South Carolina on November 15, 1989.  I have not taken the bar exam in any other state.  I took the bar exam one time.

9.
List the significant activities in which you took part during your attendance at college, graduate, and law school. Give the dates you were involved in these activities and list any leadership positions you held.

Converse College Newspaper Staff, Reporter 1981-1983, Co-editor Politics Column 1983-1985, Best Editorial Award 1985; Converse College Student Admissions Board 1982-1985; 

Co-Founder Converse College Minority Student Union, Second Vice-President 1984-1985; Converse College Gospel Ensemble 1981-1985, Secretary 1984-1985; Delta Sigma Theta 
Sorority, Inc., 1982 to the present, Corresponding Secretary 1983-1985; Who's Who Among American College and University Students 1984-1985; Student Bar Association 1986-1989; Black Law Student Association 1986-1989, Editor Advocate 1988-1989.

10.
Briefly describe your continuing legal or judicial education during the past five years.

(a)
Family Law (covering a variety of topics);

(b)
Ethics;

(c)
Criminal Law;

(d)
All judicial seminars and other bar seminars which have included a variety of topics including: family law (equitable distribution, custody, child support, attorneys fees, juvenile issues, adoptions, divorces, bankruptcy, and all other issues relevant to the daily operation of Court) evidence, ethics, civil law updates, U.S. Supreme Court updates, and media issues;

(e)
Chief Administrative Judges Seminar, 1999;

(f)
New Judges School, 1996.

I have consistently satisfied my CLE requirements in excess of the basic hours required.

11.
Have you taught law-related courses or lectured at bar association conferences, educational institutions, or continuing legal or judicial education programs?  If so, briefly describe each course or lecture.

(a)
"Rules, Rules, Rules" South Carolina Practice and Procedures Update, Presenter on the issue of Family Court Rules, SC Bar, March 20, 1998;

(b)
Speaker/Panel Participant Wiley A. Branton Symposium, National Bar Association, October 24, 1998;

(c)
"Current Issues in Attorney's Fees", Presenter, SC Bar Association, November 6, 1998;

(d)
Recent Developments in Family Law, "Six by Six" CLE Seminar, Presenter, Charleston County Bar Association, December 10, 1998

(e)
"Adjudication Hearings", Presenter and Contributor to Family Court Judges Juvenile Workbook, SC Association of Family Court Judges, May 20, 1999;

(f)
"Tips from the Bench", Adoption, Presenter, SC Bar Association, February 25, 2000;

(g)
"The Role of the Judge and Guardian ad Litem in Abuse and Neglect Proceedings" Judges Panel, South Carolina Guardian ad Litem Conference, April 14, 2000;

(h)
"Women, Leadership and the Law", Brown Bag Lunch Panel Participant, SC Women Lawyers Association and College of Charleston Women's Studies Program, September 22, 2000

(i)
Family Law Update and Tips from the Bench, Presenter, Charleston Lawyers Club, May 2, 2001;

(j)
"The Use of Psychological Evaluations in Juvenile Proceedings", Panel, Children's Law Center, May 18, 2001;

(k)
Business Law Instructor, Trident Technical College Paralegal Program, 1993-1994 School Term.

12.
List all published books and articles you have written and give citations and the dates of publication for each.

I have provided written seminar materials for the courses listed above and these materials have been published by the S.C. Bar as a part of their published seminar materials.  I have not published any books or articles.

13.
List all courts in which you have been admitted to practice and list the dates of your admission.  Give the same information for administrative bodies that require a special admission to practice.

All South Carolina Courts- November 1989

United States District Court- District of South Carolina- December 28, 1992

14.
Describe chronologically your legal experience since graduation from law school and include a list of all law firms with which you have been associated.  Describe the general character of your practice and divide it into periods with dates if its character has changed over the years.

(a)
Law Clerk to the Honorable Richard E. Fields of the Ninth Judicial Circuit, Charleston, S.C., August 1989 through August 1990.  Primary Responsibilities: legal research, preparation of jury charges, preparation of Orders, scheduling of motions, all tasks required to prepare the Judge and myself for trials/hearings during the term and all other daily tasks as required by the Judge that ensured the smooth operation of Court.

(b)
McFarland and Associates, Attorney, October 1990 through March 1996.  Trial practice focusing on the following areas: Domestic Relations, Civil Litigation (all types), Probate Law, Real Estate Law and Criminal Law.

(c)
Resident Family Court Judge of the Ninth Judicial Circuit, elected to serve February 14, 1996 to the present.

Experience:

During the past five (5) years I have been a sitting judge.  I was elected to the Family Court on February 14, 1996, and have served continuously in that position since April 1, 1996. Prior to my election I enjoyed an active trial practice.  My civil court experience consisted of representing the plaintiff in personal injury, wrongful death, excessive force, contract dispute and probate cases.  There were also circumstances when my firm represented the defendant in personal injury cases.  I have also represented clients in the Master's Court (default matters, partitions, and references).  I have also represented clients in business incorporations, trademark matters, domestic cases and real estate transactions.  I have also represented the defendant in various contractual disputes.  I would estimate that, in the five (5) years prior to my election, I handled over 100 cases that resulted in settlement during litigation but prior to trial.  The procedural history of these cases involved filing, serving and answering pleadings, motion practice, roster meetings, pre-trial conferences, and either settlement or jury trial.  I would estimate that I tried five (5) to seven (7) cases to jury verdict in the five (5) years prior to my election.  I routinely handled the non-jury motions for my firm.  I have handled civil matters in the Court of Common Pleas in Charleston, Berkeley and Georgetown.  In addition, Family Court matters require application of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure and Evidence in much the same way as the Circuit Court (i.e. motions to compel, discovery issues, default, amendment of pleadings, joinder of parties, relief from judgment, etc.).  These type matters are handled on a daily basis in the Family Court. 

During my years in practice I represented both adult and juvenile defendants in criminal matters.  I represented adults in both state and federal criminal court.  I generally was able to have my clients placed in pre-trial intervention or have the charges dismissed. The vast majority of the remainder of the cases resulted in guilty pleas. I also routinely handled bond hearings for my clients in both state and federal Court.  In the past five (5) years as a Family Court Judge, I have presided over proceedings involving a full range of criminal law and procedure in juvenile court.  My experience has included qualifying various types of guilty pleas, detention hearings (comparable to bond hearings), waiver hearings, adjudicatory hearings and dispositional hearings.  In May of 1999, I was also a contributor to the family court judges manual on juvenile proceedings.  I have conducted trials involving a full range of charges from misdemeanors to more serious felonies.  The Family Court Judge acts as a jury to find facts and fashion an appropriate sentence based on the facts before the Court.  The same constitutional and statutory principles of criminal procedure applicable to adults are applicable to juveniles.  As a result, I have had to apply the South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure and Rules of Evidence in Family Court in the same manner applicable in the Circuit Court. During an average month in Charleston I would estimate hearing an average of one hundred (100) juvenile cases.  On a juvenile court day I will qualify an average of fifteen (15) to twenty (20) pleas.

My experience in the Circuit Court has been broad and varied.  Prior to entering the practice of law and upon my graduation from law school I served as law clerk to the Hon. Richard E. Fields (Circuit Court of the 9th Judicial Circuit) from 1989 through 1990.  During my time as his law clerk my responsibilities included legal research, preparation of jury charges, preparation of Orders, scheduling of motions, assisting the Judge in qualification of the jury venire, all other tasks required to prepare the Judge and myself for trials/hearings during the term of Court and all other tasks required by the Judge that ensured the smooth operation of the Court.  As Judge Fields' law clerk I observed and participated in the Circuit Court on a daily basis.  I would estimate that I have observed and participated in Circuit Court and General Sessions proceedings too numerous to count.  This position afforded me the unique opportunity to not only observe the system but to be an integral part of its operation.

15.
What is your rating in Martindale-Hubbell?  If you are not listed in Martindale-Hubbell, state the reason why, if known.  If you are currently a member of the judiciary, list your last available rating.  I am listed in Martindale-Hubbell but have not been rated.

16.
What was the frequency of your court appearances during the last five years?

I have been a sitting judge since April 1, 1996 and am therefore providing the responses from my previous judicial screening application dated October 1995.

(a)
federal:
approximately 15 times

(b)
state:

approximately 50-60 times

17.
What percentage of your practice involved civil, criminal, and domestic matters during the last five years?  

I have been a sitting judge since April 1, 1996 and am therefore providing the responses from my previous judicial screening application dated October, 1995.

(a)
civil:

49%

(b)
criminal:
2%

(c)
domestic: 
49%

18.
What percentage of your practice in trial court during the last five years involved matters that went to a jury?

I have been a sitting judge since April 1, 1996 and am therefore providing the responses from my previous judicial screening application dated October, 1995.

(a)
jury:

5%

(b)
non-jury:
95%

Did you most often serve as sole counsel, chief counsel, or associate counsel in these matters?  Sole Counsel

19.
List five of the most significant litigated matters that you have personally handled in either trial or appellate court or before a state or federal agency.  Give citations if the cases were reported and describe why these matters were significant.

I have been a sitting judge since April 1, 1996 and am therefore providing the answers from 
my previous judicial screening application dated October, 1995.

(a)
Blake v. County of Charleston.  This case involved complex (federal) civil rights litigation.  It was tried for two (2) weeks and involved many motions and other complex legal issues relating to evidence and the new federal rules.  The case also resulted in a mistrial and was later tried a second time for one (1) week.  I tried this case with two (2) other lawyers, both of whom had been practicing more than eighteen (18) years.  During this process I was treated as an equal and an integral part of the litigation team.  I was entrusted with a great deal of responsibility which included arguing motions, examination of witnesses, preparation of motions, and preparation of jury charges.  This case challenged many current practices within the Charleston County Police Department.  This case caused the Charleston County Police Department to evaluate and change many of their policies and practices.

(b)
Hymes v. Khoury.  This case was a simple auto accident which I did not think would be successful.  This case taught me the importance of the strategic application of the civil rules of procedure and case law.  Although this case took one (1) day to try, the jury deliberated for two (2) days and returned a verdict in favor of my client.

(c)
In Re: The Estate of Joseph J. White, Jr., et. al.  This was a probate court case.  The central issue in this case involved the paternity of a two (2) year old minor child of the victim of an automobile fatality.  The case involved an intense three (3) day probate trial.  The trial involved approximately forty (40) witnesses.  It also involved a unique question of law concerning the jurisdictional conflict between the probate and family courts.  A favorable ruling was returned by the Probate Judge and the Circuit Court on appeal.  In addition, I handled the wrongful death cause of action on behalf of the minor which resulted in a substantial recovery for the minor.

(d)
Ashby v. Ashby.  In this case I represented the plaintiff/husband who sought custody of his three (3) children.  The Court applied the primary caretaker doctrine in awarding custody to the father.  The case also involved issues of equitable distribution, adultery, child support and attorney's fees.

(e)
Thompson v. Polite.  This case involved a hotly contested issue of visitation between the plaintiff/husband and his minor son.  The defendant/wife was adamant in her refusal to allow visitation.  My client was awarded reasonable visitation at the Temporary Hearing of this case.  Prior to the Final Hearing the parties submitted to mediation.  Through this process they were able to come to an amicable agreement regarding visitation and the rearing of their child.  This case reinforced my belief in the value of alternative dispute resolution (mediation) as a method of improving the efficient use of court time and resources.

20.
List up to five civil appeals that you have personally handled.  None.

21.
If you seek election to an appellate court, list up to five criminal appeals that you have personally handled.  Question is not applicable.

22.
Have you ever held judicial office?  If so, list the periods of your service, the courts involved, and whether you were elected or appointed.  Describe the jurisdiction of each of the courts and note any limitations on the jurisdiction of each court.

Yes.  I am currently a resident Family Court Judge of the Ninth Judicial Circuit, seat five. My service in this seat began April 1, 1996, and will expire June 30, 2002.  I was elected to this position by the General Assembly.  The Family Court is a statutory court of limited and specific jurisdiction. The jurisdiction of the Family Court is set forth in S.C. Code Annotated section 20-7-420, et seq. (i.e. divorce, custody, child support, name changes, juveniles, equitable distribution, adoptions, abuse and neglect, and as further set forth in the statute).

23.
If the answer to question 22 is yes, describe or attach five of your most significant orders or opinions and give the citations if they were reported.  Also list citations to any appellate review of these orders or opinions.

(a)
Henggeler v. Hanson, 333 S.C. 598, 510 S.E.2d 722 (S.C. App. 1998), heard November 14, 1998, decided December 14, 1998, Rehearing denied February 27, 1999, Certiorari denied June 24, 1999;

 
(b)
Todd v. Martin, et al., 96-DR-26-2063;

(c)
Dean v. Pollard, 99-DR-10-2508;

(d)
John and Jane Roe v. Baby Girl N, 97-DR-04-1868;

(e)
Dowling v. Dowling, 98-DR-07-0624.

24.
Have you ever held public office other than judicial office?  None, the question is not applicable.

25.
List all employment you have had while serving as a judge other than elected judicial office.

None, question is not applicable.

26.
Have you ever been an unsuccessful candidate for elective, judicial, or other public office?

Yes, I ran for the seat that was to be vacated by the Hon. Robert R. Mallard in or about January 1995 through March of 1995.  I went through the screening process successfully and was found qualified to hold judicial office.  I voluntarily withdrew from the process prior to the election.  I was subsequently elected to the Family Court of the Ninth Judicial Circuit, Seat 5 on February 14, 1996.

27.
Have you ever been engaged in any occupation, business, or profession other than the practice of law, teaching of law, or holding judicial or other public office?

None.  I was employed in various part and full time jobs during college and law school.

28.
Are you now an officer or director or involved in the management of any business enterprise? None.

30.
Describe any financial arrangements or business relationships that you have, or have had in the past, that could constitute or result in a possible conflict of interest in the position you seek.  None.

31.
Have you ever been arrested, charged, or held by federal, state, or other law enforcement authorities for violation or for suspicion of violation of any federal law or regulation; state law or regulation; or county or municipal law, regulation, or ordinance?  None.

32.
Have you, to your knowledge, ever been under federal, state, or local investigation for possible violation of a criminal statute?  None.

33.
Has a tax lien or other collection procedure ever been instituted against you by federal, state, or local authorities?  Have you ever defaulted on a student loan?  Have you ever filed for bankruptcy?  No.

34.
Have you ever been sued, either personally or professionally?

I was sued personally due to an automobile collision.  This occurred approximately nine (9) to ten (10) years ago.  This was a minor fender bender.  The case was settled by my automobile insurance company and dismissed approximately two (2) weeks after I was served with notice of the lawsuit.  I have never been sued professionally.

36.
Are you now or have you ever been employed as a lobbyist as defined by S.C. Code section 2-17-10(13), or have you acted in the capacity of a lobbyist's principal, as defined by S.C. Code section 2-17-10(14)?  None.

37.
Since filing with the Commission your letter of intent to run for judicial office, have you accepted lodging, transportation, entertainment, food, meals, beverages, money, or any other thing of value as defined by S.C. Code § 2-17-10(1) from a lobbyist or lobbyist's principal?  None.

38.
S.C. Code § 8-13-700 provides, in part, that "[n]o public official, public member, or public employee may knowingly use his official office, membership, or employment to obtain an economic interest for himself, a member of his immediate family, an individual with whom he is associated, or a business with which he is associated."  Please detail any knowledge you have of any formal charges or informal allegations against you or any other candidate for violations of these provisions.  None.

39.
S.C. Code § 8-13-765 provides, in part, that "[n]o person may use government personnel, equipment, materials, or an office building in an election campaign."  Please detail any knowledge you have of any formal charges or informal allegations against you or any other candidate for violations of these provisions.  None.

40.
Itemize all expenditures, other than those for travel and room and board, made by you, or on your behalf, in furtherance of your candidacy for the position you seek.

I have spent approximately $100.00 dollars to date on stationary, envelopes, postage and copy costs.

41.
List the amount and recipient of all contributions made by you or on your behalf to members of the General Assembly since the announcement of your intent to seek election to a judgeship.  None.

42.
Have you directly or indirectly requested the pledge of any member of the General Assembly as to your election for the position for which you are being screened?  Have you received the assurance of any public official or public employee that they will seek the pledge of any member of the General Assembly as to your election for the position for which you are being screened?  None.

43.
Have you requested a friend or colleague to contact members of the General Assembly on your behalf?

None, I have generally advised judges, lawyers and friends that I am a candidate for this position.

44.
Have you or has anyone on your behalf solicited or collected funds to aid in the promotion of your candidacy?  None.

45.
List all bar associations and professional organizations of which you are a member and give the titles and dates of any offices you have held in such groups.

(a)
South Carolina Bar Association;

(b)
Charleston County Bar Association;

(c)
S.C. Family Court Judges Association, Legislative Committee 2000 to the present;

(d)
National Council of Juvenile and Family Court Judges.

46.
List all civic, charitable, educational, social, and fraternal organizations of which you are or have been a member during the past five years and include any offices held in such a group, any professional honors, awards, or other forms of recognition received and not listed elsewhere.

(a)
The Life Center of Charleston Church, Charleston, S.C.

Board of Directors, 2001

Co-Founder and Director of Young Women's Ministry "YWCE", 1999-present;

(b)
Charleston Chapter of the Links, Inc., Co-Chair Services to Youth 2000-present;

(c)
Junior League of Charleston, former Strategic Planning Committee, Community Project Development Committee, and Advisory Planning Committee, current President's Ad Hoc Committee on Diversity;

(d)
Junior League Hall of Fame, 1994;

(e)
Delta Sigma Theta Sorority, Inc., 1982-present;

(f)
South Carolina Bar Mock Trial Judge, 1997-1999;

(g)
Sigma Gamma Rho Sorority, Inc., Distinguished Woman of the 1990's, 1997;

(h)
Top 25 African American Influencers, 1998, South Carolina Business Vision Magazine.

47.
Provide any other information which may reflect positively or negatively on your candidacy, or which you believe should be disclosed in connection with consideration of you for nomination for the position you seek.

I served as law clerk to the Hon. Richard E. Fields of the Circuit Court of the Ninth Judicial Circuit.  During my time with him I had the unique opportunity to observe and participate in dozens of trials and hearings and observe a "master jurist."  He taught me the importance of "people skills."  I learned the role of judge is central to the lawyers and the litigants perception that the system afforded them a fair trial/hearing.  In addition, my legal research and writing skills were refined during this process.  These skills were further refined during my time on the bench.  I count myself fortunate to have found my vocation in life and attempt to walk worthy of that vocation.  It is a rare privilege to have been allowed to serve the citizens of South Carolina as a Family Court Judge for the past five (5) years.

At the outset I want to state that I love being a Family Court Judge.  The last five (5) years have been enjoyable, rewarding and intellectually challenging.  I have learned much about the law and human nature.  I was taught that the position of a judge should be a continual growth process.  I believe that I have continuously grown in my judicial perspective.  I still have the same enjoyment for my work as the day I began five (5) years ago.  The Family Court has one of the largest caseloads within the judicial system.  I believe that I have been a productive member of the Court.  Judge Martin's retirement will leave a vacancy on the Circuit Court of the Ninth Judicial Circuit.  This vacancy will create the opportunity for intellectual growth while contributing to the court system and the welfare of the community.

48.
Personal References:

(a) Hon. Richard E. Fields

65 Spring Street, Charleston, S.C. 29403



(843) 577-4374.

(b) Pastor Brian D. Moore, Pastor, Life Center of Charleston

3125 Ashley Phosphate Road, Suite 101, Charleston, S.C. 29418
(843) 552-4111

(c) Morris D. Rosen, Esquire

134 Meeting Street, Charleston, S.C. 29401


(843) 577-6726.

(d) Arnold S. Goodstein, Esquire

136 West Richardson Ave., Summerville, S.C. 29483

(843) 871-1000

(e) Richard E. Gergel, Esquire

P.O. Box 1866, Columbia, S.C. 29201



(803) 779-8080

(f) Nancy Grathwohl, Customer Relations Manager

First Union National Bank, Charleston Main Financial Center

177 Meeting Street, Charleston, S.C. 29401


(843) 727-1000

MR. CHAIRMAN:  The Judicial Merit Selection Commission has thoroughly investigated your qualifications for the bench.  Our inquiry is focused on our nine evaluative criteria.  It is included a survey of the bench and the bar, a SLED and FBI check, a credit check, a grievance and reprimand check, a thorough study of your application materials, a verification of your compliance with state ethics laws, a search of newspaper articles in which your name appears, a study of previous screenings, a check of economic conflicts of interest.  We have received 14 affidavits filed in opposition to your election.  Ten witnesses, I am informed, are present to testify.  I would ask you if you have any brief opening statements you would like to make at this time.  It is purely optional.  Other than that, I'll turn you over to counsel for a few questions.

JUDGE JEFFERSON:  I'd like to reserve that opening statement until after the witnesses have been present.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  That will be fine.  Without objection.  All right.  With that, if you would answer any questions Mr. Couick has.

MR. COUICK:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Did you need a minute Mr. Johnson?

MR. JOHNSON:  No, sir.

MR. COUICK:  Mr. Chairman, this hearing will be a little bit different than the other hearings we've held in this realm in that we have two complaints that have been filed against Judge Jefferson.  There are a number of affidavits that are attached.  

What I would like to do procedurally is move forward with general questioning of Judge Jefferson.  I have alerted Mr. Johnson about this.  I also alerted the two complainants that we would proceed to do that first, then move on to the one complainant and any witnesses that would resolve around his complaint, and then to

the second complainant.


With each complaint, I would like to offer Judge Jefferson the opportunity to respond at the end of the discussion of that witness' complaint or any witnesses that are called.  Mr. Johnson has supplied me with a list of witnesses that he wishes to have called today.  Each of the complainants, in particular, Mr. Rhoades, has supplied me with a list of witnesses they want to call.  


Counsel chose not to call any witnesses in addition to those each asked for in that I believe they will give a fair picture of what transpired, taking in conjunction with any affidavits that were submitted.  

EXAMINATION BY MR. COUICK:

Q.
Having that said, Judge Jefferson, we'll kind of get back to the general part of the process.  You provided a sworn statement with detailed answers to over 30 questions regarding judicial conduct, constitutional qualifications, office administration and temperament.  This statement was provided to the Commission members earlier and is included within their notebooks.  I have reviewed that statement.  I have no concerns with your answers to those questions.  

MR. COUICK:  And with the Commission's approval, Mr. Chairman, I would like to ask these questions be waived in this public hearing today and be entered into the public record to be used by Members of the General Assembly.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Is there any objection?  If not, they will be inserted into the record, the questions and the answers.

Sworn Statement to be included in Transcript of Public Hearings

Circuit Court Judge

Full Name:

Deadra L. Jefferson

Home:


1034 Keats Road, Charleston, SC 29407

Business:

P.O. Box 375, Charleston, SC 29402

Home Telephone: 
843-769-9834

Work Telephone: 
843-958-4406

E-Mail Address:
djeffersonj@scjd.state.sc.us

1.
Why do you want to serve as a Circuit Court Judge?


I count myself fortunate to have found my vocation in life and to attempt to walk worthy of that vocation.  It is a rare privilege to have been allowed to serve the citizens of South Carolina as a Family Court Judge for the past five (5) years.  At the outset I want to state that I love being a Family Court Judge.  The last five (5) years have been enjoyable, rewarding and intellectually challenging.  I have learned much about the law and human nature.  I was taught that the position of a judge should be a continual growth process.  I believe that I have continuously grown in my judicial perspective. I still have the same enjoyment for my work as the day I began five (5) years ago.  The Family Court has one of the largest caseloads within the judicial system.  The average Family Court judge hears in excess of 150 cases per week ranging from average to very complex.  I believe that I have been a productive member of the Court.


I served as judicial law clerk to the Hon. Richard E. Fields.  During my time with him I had the unique opportunity to observe and participate in dozens of trials and hearings and observe a master jurist.  He taught me the importance of "people skills."  I learned that the role of the judge is central to the lawyers and the litigants perception that the system afforded them a fair trial/hearing.  In addition, my legal research and order writing skills were refined during this process.  These skills have been further refined during my time on the bench.  Judge Martin' retirement will leave a vacancy on the Circuit Court f the Ninth Judicial Circuit.  The creation of this vacancy affords me the opportunity to apply the talents I have acquired at a different level of the Court system. This will also afford me the opportunity to interact with the community at a different and closer level.  In addition, it will be an opportunity for intellectual growth while contributing to court system and the welfare of the community.

2.
Do you plan to serve your full term if elected?  Yes.

3.
Do you have any plans to return to private practice one day?  No.

4.
Have you met the Constitutional requirements for this position regarding age, residence, and years of practice?  Yes.

5.
What is your philosophy regarding ex parte communications?  Are there circumstances under which you could envision ex parte communications being tolerated?


Code of Judicial Conduct Canon 3(A)(4) provides that a judge should accord to every person who is legally interested in a proceeding, or his lawyer, full right to be heard according to law, and, except as authorized by law, neither initiate nor consider ex parte or other communications concerning a pending or impending proceeding.  A judge, however, may obtain the advice of a disinterested expert on the law applicable to a proceeding before him if he gives notice to the parties of the person consulted and the substance of the advice, and affords the parties reasonable opportunity to respond.  Pursuant to the Judicial Canons of Ethics, Rule 501, Canon C, SCRCP 65 and S.C. Code Annotated section 20-7-880, a judge is allowed to engage in ex parte communications for emergencies where the conditions warrant such communications as long as the opposing party has the opportunity to be heard and neither party will gain a tactical advantage by such action.  Ex parte communication is permissible in the following situations: to seek emergency restraining orders, to apply for search warrants or wiretaps,
to obtain default judgments when a party has notice but fails to appear, consultation with a disinterested expert on the law, consultation with other judges and consultation with court personnel.  Such communication is also allowed for scheduling purposes.  Ex parte communication is prohibited by the canons with the exception of the circumstances outlined herein.  I have a strict policy regarding ex parte communication and have trained my staff regarding the canons.  In addition, my secretary screens my calls and mail to eliminate the possibility of ex parte contact.  A letter is also sent in response to all ex parte communication received in the office which is mailed to the attorneys and the writer of the letter all of which is made part of the Court record.  Where the statute and canons provide ex parte contact is allowed.  I must emphasize that such contact is in rare circumstances where an emergency exists and there is a possibility of irreparable harm.  The statutes prescribe in these instances that the Order must state the date and time the relief is granted and provide for an immediate hearing.  The Order must also specify a date for expiration of the Order (within 10 days of issuance).  Circumstances requiring the issuance of an ex parte Order are very rare.  The circumstances for ex parte Orders are more frequent in the Family Court than any other Court.  In addition, I clearly post the rules regarding ex parte communication on my chambers door.

6. What is your philosophy on recusal, especially in situations in which lawyer-legislators, former associates, or law partners are to appear before you? 


Code of Judicial Conduct Canon 1 and 2 govern this issue.  A judge should avoid impropriety and the appearance of impropriety in all his activities.  Canon 3(C)(1) provides that a judge should disqualify himself in a proceeding in which his impartiality might reasonably be questioned, including but not limited to instances where he served as a lawyer in the matter in controversy, or a lawyer with whom he previously practiced law served during such association as a lawyer concerning the matter.  Consistent with the canons I do not hear matters in which I have been previously involved.  In addition, I do not hear contested cases with attorneys with whom I have had previous legal associations.  A judge should recuse himself in a proceeding in which his impartiality might reasonably be questioned, including but not limited to, instances where he has a personal bias or prejudice against a party.  Murphy v. Murphy, 319 S.C. 324, 461 S.E.2d 39 (1995) and Mallett v. Mallett, 323 S.C. 141, 473 S.E.2d. 804 (Ct. App. 1996).  Such bias must stem from an extrajudicial source and result in decisions based on considerations other than information that the judge learned from his participation in the case.  The alleged bias must be personal as distinguished from judicial.  Recusal is not required based on the judge's demonstrated tendency to rule or particular judicial leaning derived from his experience on the bench.  United States v. Grinnell Corp., 384 U.S. 563 (1966).  I am not aware of any particular rule that requires a judge to recuse himself in a case involving a lawyer-legislator unless the criteria set forth herein is establish.  If the criteria for recusal is met a judge should certainly disqualify himself from the case.  As a matter of course I would recuse myself from a contested personal case involving a lawyer-legislator from my local delegation.  I also recuse myself from cases involving the attorney from my previous law practice.

7.
If you disclosed something that had the appearance of bias, but you believed it would not actually prejudice your impartiality, what deference would you give a party that requested your recusal?  Would you grant such a motion? 


Code of Judicial Conduct Canon 3(C)(1)(a) provides that a judge should disqualify himself in a proceeding in which his impartiality might reasonably be questioned, including but not limited to the instances where: he has a personal bias or prejudice concerning a party, or personal knowledge of disputed evidentiary facts concerning the proceeding.  I would give great deference to the request, even though I believed that I could be impartial and that any decision I made would not be influenced by actual bias and would not result in actual prejudice to the litigants involved.  I would grant the motion for recusal based on the canons of judicial ethics.  A judge should at all times avoid the appearance of impropriety or bias.  The way this question is posed it is apparent that an appearance of bias is created and therefore recusal, in this instance, would appear to be the most prudent course of action. 

8. How would you handle the appearance of impropriety because of the financial or social involvement of your spouse or a close relative?


Code of Judicial conduct Canon 3(C)(1)(c) provides that a judge should disqualify himself in a proceeding which his impartiality might reasonably be questioned where he knows that he, individually or as a fiduciary, or his spouse or minor child residing in his household, has a financial interest in the subject matter in controversy, is a party or any interest that could be substantially affected by the outcome of the proceeding.  The canons provide that a judge should minimize circumstances causing recusal so that the docket can be handled in an efficient and orderly manner.  Canon 3(D) provides that a judge should disclose the basis of his disqualification.  The judge should then give the attorneys and or litigants the ability to voice their objections for the record.  If there were no objections the judge could then hear the case. The parties and lawyers independent of the judge's participation can also agree in writing that the judge's relationship is immaterial or that his financial interest is insubstantial.  Such an agreement must be incorporated in the proceeding.  In reality, I would not hear any such case, would publish the nature of the disqualification for the record and would recuse myself from any involvement in the matter.  The appearance of impropriety should always be avoided.

9.
What standards would you set for yourself regarding the acceptance of gifts or social hospitality?


Code of Judicial Conduct Canon 5(C)(4) subsections a-c provide that neither a judge nor a member of his family residing in his household shall accept a gift, bequest, favor, or loan from anyone except in the following circumstances: a public testimonial, complimentary books for official use, an invitation to a bar related function or activity related to the improvement of law, the legal system or the administration of justice.  A judge or a member of his family may accept ordinary social hospitality such as a gift, bequest, favor, or loan from a relative, a wedding or engagement gift, a loan from a lending institution in its regular course of business and on the same terms as the general public, a scholarship or fellowship on the same terms as other applicants.  A judge or his family residing in his household may accept any other gift, bequest, favor or loan only if the donor is not a party or other person whose interests have come or are likely to come before him, and, if its value exceeds $100, the judge reports it in the same manner as he reports compensation in Canon 6(C).  The canons make a distinction between gifts and ordinary social hospitality.  As a sitting judge I have established the practice of not accepting gifts from attorneys or anyone who may be trying to gain an unfair advantage.  In addition, I do not allow my staff (secretary or court reporter) to accept gifts because of their close relationship to me and the appearance their acceptance of gifts could create.

10.
How would you handle a situation in which you became aware of misconduct of a lawyer or of a fellow judge?


Code of Judicial Conduct Canon 3(D)(1) and (2) provide that a judge should take or initiate appropriate action or disciplinary measures against a judge or lawyer when the judge receives information that indicates a substantial likelihood or has knowledge that raises a substantial question regarding a violation.  This rule contemplates a judge taking appropriate disciplinary measures when becoming aware of the unprofessional conduct of a lawyer or judge which may include reporting a lawyer or judge's misconduct to an appropriate disciplinary body.  The rules mandate that the judge take appropriate action and or report the offending conduct to disciplinary counsel.  Consistent with the canons I would take appropriate action and report the matter to disciplinary counsel.

11.
Are you affiliated with any political parties, boards or commissions which, if you were elected, would need to be re-evaluated?


Code of Judicial Conduct Canon 7 provides that a judge should refrain from political activity inappropriate to his judicial office.  I am not affiliated with any political boards or commissions which, if elected, I would need to re-evaluate.


At the time of my election in February of 1996, I resigned from all boards or activities that could be considered questionable.

12.
Do you have any business activities with which you would envision remaining involved if elected to the bench?


I have been a sitting judge since 1996 and have curtailed all of my activities to comply with the rules of judicial ethics and I do not have any business activities in which I have remained active since my election.

13.
How would you handle the drafting of orders?


Code of Judicial Conduct Canon (3)(B) subsections 1 and 2 provide that a judge should diligently discharge his administrative responsibilities, maintain professional competence in judicial administration, and facilitate the performance of the administrative responsibilities of other judges and court officials.  The Canon further provides that a judge should require his staff and court officials subject to his direction and control to observe the standards of fidelity and diligence that apply to him.  More specifically, in uncontested matters involving agreements I require that the proposed Orders be submitted to my office and opposing counsel within twenty (20) days so that a Final Order can be signed and filed within thirty (30) days.  If the Order is not received by the deadline a fax memo is sent to both attorneys as a reminder with the directive to submit the Order.  This type of time line gives ample time for changes, modifications and filing within thirty (30) days.  In the majority of contested matters I transmit written instructions to announce my rulings and give specific instructions for the preparation of the Order. These instructions are generally specific and provide the basis for the Order. In other contested matters I rule from the bench and provide that the proposed Order is to be submitted in twenty (20) days.  In other contested matters, I require both attorneys to submit proposed Orders within ten (10) to twenty (20) days depending on the complexity of the issues.  In addition to submitting hard copies I require submission of the proposed Order on a computer disk.  This approach allows me to make modifications to the Order consistent with my findings and research and prevent any delay in the completion and filing of the Order.  If my office has contacted an attorney repeatedly and an Order has not been forthcoming I will have a conference call with the attorneys and determine if there is some problem.  The Order is usually drafted and submitted. If this approach does not work and the Order is not prepared in a timely manner I will draft the Order.  If the matter involves a pro se litigant that has not submitted an Order in a timely manner I will draft the Order.  I generally approach these matters on a case-by-case basis.  I have found that a combination of the above approaches works very well.

9. What methods would you use to ensure that you and your staff meet deadlines?


My staff prepares my docket and case notes for each term of Court.  My staff and I have devised a method whereby after cases are heard my staff ensures that matters are logged and deadlines are checked at the twenty (20) day mark to ensure that Orders are signed and filed within a timely manner.  In addition, deadlines are monitored on a daily basis.  I am advised of the progress of Orders and other matters daily and weekly.  On a weekly basis my secretary and I review deadlines for Orders and other matters that require my attention.  Generally, my staff will utilize a phone call to both attorneys (by conference call) as a reminder at the fifteen (15) day mark and if the Order is not in by the twenty (20) day mark a fax memo is sent to both attorneys as a reminder.  We also have a filing system that is designed around applicable deadlines.  I handle each matter on a case-by-case basis because sometimes circumstances are such that extensions are necessary (i.e. emergencies, death, sickness, and birth of children).

15.
What is your philosophy on judicial activism, and what effect should judges have in setting or promoting public policy?


Code of Judicial Conduct Canon 4(A-C) and Canon 5(G) provide that a judge may engage in activities to improve the law, the legal system and the administration of justice.  A judge may speak, write, lecture, teach and participate in other activities concerning the law, the legal system, and the administration of justice.  A judge may appear at a public hearing before and executive or legislative body or official on matters concerning the law, the legal system, and the administration of justice and he may consult with such bodies concerning the administration of justice.  A judge may serve as a member, officer, or director of an organization or governmental agency devoted to the improvement of the law, the legal system or the administration of justice.  The commentary provides that a judicial officer is in a unique position to contribute to the improvement of the law, the legal system and the administration of justice and should do so to the extent that his schedule permits.  A judge may do so independently, through a bar convention, a judicial conference, or other organizations dedicated to the improvement of the law.  A judge should not become involved in activities that are concerned with issues of fact or policy on matters other than the improvement of the law, the legal system or the administration of justice.  A judge may represent his country, state or locality on ceremonial occasions in connection with historical, educational, and cultural activities.  My philosophy is that a judge should not be concerned with issues of fact and policy.  A judge should take no role in judicial activism.  A judge should, however, actively participate and contribute his particular knowledge and skill to the improvement of the law, the legal system and the administration of justice (to the extent that his schedule permits). 

16.
Canon 4 allows a judge to engage in activities to improve the law, legal system, and administration of justice.  What activities do you plan to undertake to further this improvement of the legal system?


I regularly participate as a speaker at CLE and JCLE programs.  I have participated in civic programs such as the S.C. Bar High School Mock Trial Program as a judge.  I have participated and will continue to be involved in Law Week which is a wonderful opportunity to educate attorneys and the public about the legal system.  In addition, I participate in the Courthouse Keys program sponsored by the Charleston Lawyers Club.  I am involved as a member of the Governor's Juvenile Justice Advisory Committee. This committee works much like the Governor's Youth Councils.   As a member I contribute to the subcommittee working on the development of community alternatives for juveniles within the system and community based juvenile crime prevention programs.  As a member of the Charleston S.C. Chapter of the Links I co-chair the Services to Youth Committee which has adopted the Auxiliary Probation Officers program as a sustained project.  In addition, I routinely speak at my college alma mater.  In addition, I am currently heading the development of the Charleston County Drug Court which we hope to have on line within the next four (4) to six (6) months.  This program will serve to improve the administration of the abuse and neglect system to parents and young children.  In addition, I am a member of the legislative subcommittee of the S.C. Family Court Judges Association which is designated to appear before executive and legislative bodies or officials on matters concerning the law, the legal system, and the administration of justice.

17.
Do you feel that the pressure of serving as a judge would strain personal relationships (i.e. spouse, children, friends, or relatives)?  How would you address this?


I do not feel that the pressure of serving as a judge has strained my personal relationships.  My family, friends and relatives understand the nature of my character and my need to preserve the integrity of the office I hold and the legal process I have sworn to uphold.  As a result, this is not an issue that I have had to address.

18.
The following list contains five categories of offenders that would perhaps regularly appear in your court.  Discuss your philosophy on sentencing for these classes of offenders.

a.
Repeat offenders: In most instances the criminal statutes provide enhanced penalties for repeat offenders.  A repeat offender has by his actions indicated that he has little desire for rehabilitation or reconditioning of his behavior.  It is my philosophy that the consequences for a repeat offender should be given as mandated by the applicable statute.  In addition, criminal history of a defendant is always a relevant consideration

in determining a sentence.

b.
Juveniles (that have been waived to the circuit court): The act of the court in waiving a juvenile up to the circuit court indicates that a family court has already determined pursuant to the applicable criteria that the juvenile should be treated as an adult.  A juvenile that has been waived up to the circuit court has met the criteria to be treated as an adult.  I would apply the appropriate statutory penalty.  I would, however, give consideration to the possibility of rehabilitation, the juveniles ability to re-enter society as a productive adult and the circumstances which brought about his criminal activity.  I would also consider the safety of the community.  The juvenile's age would also be taken into consideration in reaching an appropriate sentence.

c.
White collar criminals: White collar criminals are not entitled to any particular attention.  A white collar crime is not any less criminal than a violent offense.  While the activity committed may not have been violent or caused the loss of life in many instances it has caused harm to innocent citizens.  I would consider the nature of the offense, the kind of harm caused as a result in the community, and the range of citizens that have been affected by his criminal act.  The above criteria would all be relevant in fashioning the appropriate sentence.  I would also consider the appropriate statutory guidelines in determining a sentence.

d.
Defendants with a socially and/or economically disadvantaged background: I would not treat these defendants any differently but the fact that they are socially or economically disadvantaged are factors to consider.  These factors would give some indication regarding the type of crime committed and the ability for rehabilitation of the defendant.  I believe these factors should be given some, but not an over ridding, consideration in determining sentence.

e.
Elderly defendants or those with some infirmity: Elderly and infirm defendants present distinct problems for the system.  In many instances a judge may not want to create an overwhelming financial burden for the taxpayer by incarceration when other means may be available that would provide more viable alternatives.  These factors should be given the appropriate consideration.  While considering these circumstances may provide some mitigation it does not eliminate the judges responsibility to apply the appropriate criminal sanction commensurate with the crime.  The safety of the public should not be sacrificed because of the age or infirmity of a criminal defendant.

In all of the category of offenders listed above I would approach each on a case by case basis, apply the applicable statutes and attempt to review the matter objectively to fashion a sentence that serves the best interests of the community and justice.

19.
Are you involved in any active investments from which you derive additional income that might impair your appearance of impartiality?  None.

20.
Would you hear a case where you or a member of your family held a de minimis financial interest in a party involved?


Code of Judicial Conduct Canon 3(E)(1)(c) provides that a judge should recuse himself if he, a spouse, or household member has an economic interest or has more than a "de minimis" interest that could be substantially affected by the proceeding.  While the canons allow a judge to hear a case where his financial involvement would be defined as "de minimis" I would recuse myself.  Even a de minimis financial interest could cause the appearance of impropriety in many circumstances.

21.
Do you belong to any organizations that discriminate based on race, religion, or gender?


Code of Judicial Conduct Canon 2(c) provides that a judge should not hold membership in any organization that practices invidious discrimination on the basis of race, sex, religion or natural origin.  Membership in such an organization gives rise to perceptions that the judge's impartiality is impaired. Consistent with the requirements of the canons I do not belong to any organizations that discriminate based on race, religion, or gender.

22.
Have you attended all mandatory continuing legal education courses? 

I have attended all mandatory continuing legal education courses.

23.
What do you feel is the appropriate demeanor for a judge?


Code of Judicial Conduct Canon 3(A)(3) provides that a judge should be patient, dignified, and courteous to litigants, jurors, witnesses, lawyers, and others with whom he deals in his official capacity, and should require similar conduct of lawyers, and of his staff, court officials, and others subject to his direction and control.  I feel that the appropriate demeanor for a judge is to be patient, dignified and deliberate while conducting the Court in an efficient and businesslike manner.

24.
Do the rules that you expressed in your previous answer apply only while you are on the bench or in chambers, or do these rules apply seven days a week, twenty-four hours a day?


Code of Judicial Conduct Canon 1 provides that a judge should uphold the integrity and independence of the judiciary by observing high standards of conduct so that the integrity and independence of the judiciary may be preserved.  Further, Code of Judicial Conduct Canon 2(A) provides that a judge should respect and comply with the law and should conduct himself at all times in a manner that promotes public confidence in the integrity and impartiality of the judiciary.  The rules expressed in my previous answer apply seven days a week, twenty-four hours a day.  A judge's conduct on the bench and in public are a reflection on himself and the entire judiciary.


A judge should conduct himself in a manner that promotes public confidence in the integrity and impartiality of the judiciary.  A judge's duty to conduct himself professionally does not end at the courthouse door.

25.
Do you feel that it is ever appropriate to be angry with a member of the public, especially with a criminal defendant?  Is anger ever appropriate in dealing with attorneys?


Code of Judicial Conduct Canon 1, Canon 2(A), and Canon 3(A)(3) require a judge to be patient, dignified and courteous to litigants, jurors, witnesses, lawyers and others with whom he deals in his official capacity.  Even though judges are often confronted with patience trying situations it is not appropriate to deal in anger with a member of the public, a criminal defendant or an attorney.  It is appropriate for the judge to be stern in maintaining the appropriate decorum of the courtroom and the dignity of the process.

26.
How much money have you spent on your campaign?  If it is over $100, has that amount been reported to the House and Senate Ethics Committees?


I have spent $100.00 to date on stationary, postage and copying costs.  The remainder of the question is not applicable.

27.
Have you sought or received the pledge of any legislator prior to this date?

I have not sought or received the pledge of any legislator prior to this date.

28.
Have you sought or been offered a conditional pledge of support by any legislator pending the outcome of your screening?


I have not sought or been offered a conditional pledge of support by any legislator pending the outcome of screening.

29.
Have you asked any third parties to contact members of the General Assembly on your behalf before the final and formal screening report has been released?


None.  I have generally advised judges, lawyers, and friends that I am a candidate for this position.

30.
Have you contacted any members of the Judicial Merit Selection Commission?

I have not contacted any members of the Judicial Merit Selection Commission.

31.
Are you familiar with the 48-hour rule, which prohibits a candidate from seeking pledges for 48 hours after the draft report has been submitted?  Yes.

I HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THE ANSWERS TO THE ABOVE QUESTIONS ARE TRUE AND COMPLETE TO THE BEST OF MY KNOWLEDGE.






S/  Deadra L. Jefferson

Sworn to before me this 21st day of February, 2001.

Patricia A. Danner, Notary Public for South Carolina     My commission expires: 2006

MR. COUICK:  In addition, Mr. Chairman, from the information provided by the candidate, Judge Jefferson meets the constitutional requirements for this position regarding age, residency, and years of practice.

BY MR. COUICK:

Q.
Judge Jefferson, why do you wish to leave the Family Court bench to serve as a Circuit Court Judge?

A.
At first, I'd like to preface my remarks by saying to this Commission that I love being a Family Court Judge.  It has been rewarding for me.  And I feel that just in terms of my involvement with the Family Court, it has just been extremely rewarding for me and a way for me to contribute to my community.  


In terms of going to the Circuit Court and why I desire that, it is an opportunity for growth, it is an opportunity for intellectual growth as well as just in terms of career growth.  And in addition to that, it is an opportunity for me to interact with the community on a different sort of a level and in a different capacity and to serve the community in a different capacity.  And I -- you know, when opportunities present themselves, you offer yourself for them.  And that is why I am doing it.

Q.
And you have had some experience in Circuit Court before, though, as a practicing lawyer, and I believe you were a law clerk for the Honorable Judge Fields; is that right?

A.
I was.

Q.
Tell me about your experience as a trial attorney in the Circuit Court before you went on the Family Court bench.

A.
I was very fortunate.  I opted after I left my clerkship to go into a small practice, which, as you know, gives you a great deal of experience.  Everything from learning how to change the toner in your printer to, you know, typing your own documents.  I learned very early on that I needed to know how all my computer systems worked, because sometimes staff didn't come to work.  You know, all those things you really learn how to work as a unit in a law practice when you're in small practice.  


And I was very fortunate because I had one other -- two senior partners, both of whom have practiced law in excess of 18 years, one of whom after three years of practice went to work for United Methodist Church as head of their missionary operations and one of whom I continued to practice with until I got elected to the Family Court.  


But in terms of my experience, it was just invaluable.  I really -- I tell the story and people often think that I'm not telling the truth.  But I went into practice in October, and within a month I had tried my first case by myself.  And it was, you know -- it was one of those things, trial by fire.  You either sink or

you swim.  And I was sitting in the courtroom looking over my shoulder, and I kept expecting, you know, one of my partners, you know, to show up.  And I was like, you know, it's time to pick the jury and nobody came.  And then it was time to, you know, do opening statements and I kept -- so finally I decided they're not coming, and I finished the trial and it was amazing.  I didn't win.  It was -- it was an interesting case.  It was -- as a matter of fact, it was a pedestrian bicycle accident with a car.  I'll never forget it.  And it was with Judge Cottingham, as a matter of fact.  


And you just learn a lot from those experiences.  And, quite frankly, I learned a lot from what I didn't know, if that makes any sense.  I think sometimes you can go through things and win a lot of stuff and not truly get the whole underpinning of what you're supposed to be learning.  And through that experience, I learned a lot.  I learned what I didn't do, I learned what I should have done, and it was very interesting.  


And just in terms with that same vain, my second year in practice I helped another group of attorneys -- actually, it was three of us all together -- try an excessive force case in federal court which lasted two weeks.  And, you know, as a second year lawyer, that is just almost unheard of because generally you spend most of your time in the library researching, which is good, and there is nothing wrong with that.  I spent a lot of time reading the rules and the statutes and really trying to get up on what I needed to know in terms of practice.  But I'll never forget, I sat down at the table with the other two attorneys and they said, This is your part of the file, and these, you know -- these are the motions you're going to need to prepare for and argue, and these are the witnesses that are your responsibility.  

And we tried that case for two weeks in federal court and it ended up with a hung jury, one juror holding out on a $3 million verdict.  You can imagine how we felt to hear later from the other jurors that we were like that close to $3 million, other than the fact of knowing you prevailed on the facts and it was just so very important.  But the case was mistried and we tried it again for another week like several months later.  So I have had experience from, you know, knowing the guts of practice in terms of, you know, dealing with clients, people skills, which I think is so very important when you're dealing with the public, not talking above people's heads and helping them to understand that you are where they are in terms of the process and helping them to understand the process.  And then the guts of things, you know, depositions, interrogatories, you know, discovery, doing pleadings, you know.  

You name it, I have done it.  I don't believe that I've had the exhaustive experience, because I think we can all learn, but I think that I've had a good foundation in that --

Q.
If I could ask you stop just a moment and let's do a little self-assessment --

A.
Certainly.

Q.
-- for the benefit of this Commission. 

A.
Certainly.

Q.
Taking the components of a practice in Circuit Court realms, kind of tell us or name a couple of areas and just briefly tell us if you feel comfortable, if you feel like you need some growth; and if you need growth, how will you accomplish that as it relates to criminal practice and procedure.  

Criminal practice and procedure in Circuit Court, how do you feel about your background and experience in that area?  

A.
I feel very comfortable with it.  The family court has a very active juvenile practice.  And, as we know, juveniles have the same rights as adults -- what do I want to say -- adult offenders or defendants.  And so, to a large extent, the only thing that I think that in terms of me needing experience with me dealing with that is integrating it with a jury.  And in terms of that, I had experience with that in my clerkship; but, of course, it's been five years.  So in terms of dealing with that, I would go to seminars, you know, I would initially assess where I needed areas of improvement and begin actively to work on that.

Q.
How about on the side of civil matters?

A.
In terms of the civil side, I feel very comfortable.  It was a large part of my practice.  In addition to that, the family court, again, is the same as the civil court except the subject matter is different.  We deal with the same rules.  And, as a matter of fact, when I was Chief Administrative Judge, I instituted a form of pretrials.  So it was much like handling complex civil litigation.  

So, to that extent, I feel very comfortable.  But, again, I would -- I don't think anybody is perfect.  I think we all have areas we need to improve, and I would assess that.  And whatever seminars or other continuing legal education matters that I would need to take, I would actively pursue that.

Q.
Any sub-areas beyond those two that you think you would like to note that you need additional experience or you need to put time into, any matters relating to processes or procedures or rules or anything that you think that you need to work on?

A.
I can't think of anything specifically, but I can honestly say to you that we all need improvement.  None of us are perfect.  And the one thing that I have learned about being a Judge is that it's a continual growth process, and it's something that you need to seek introspection on a daily basis.


So I would really have to, once starting the position, look at myself and assess as I go along what I would need to change and what I would need to improve upon and immediately take action to correct those things or to get more education in those areas.

Q.
Judge Jefferson, we're going to hear from two complainants today, and there will be other witnesses that will talk about issues.  And I don't want to get to the meat of their complaints, but I would like for you to tell the Commission at this time a standard by which you would like to be judged upon as they listen to these witnesses today.  Let you establish your own benchmark.  


What level -- what did you owe to these litigants?  What level of temperament or judiciousness was owed?   What measure would you like to be measured by today as they hear this testimony?

A.
That's a -- I first need to tell you that I think temperament is one of the most important things that a Judge possesses, and I approach litigants in a very common sense kind of a way.  I like to treat them the way I would want to be treated.  Most litigants have no idea of the process, and I think sometimes this is their first contact with the system.  And so, to that extent, I try very hard to break it down, I guess, in a way that they can understand it. 


As a matter of fact, I go to a different level like in terms of explaining processes to litigants.  And attorneys often thank me for that, because they say I don't assume that the litigants know what's going on and I try to explain it to them.  But I think that -- in a very simplistic sort of an answer, I think you should treat people the way you would want to be treated, which is with common respect and courtesy.  I expect that of attorneys that appear before me, and I do the best that I can to give that back not just to the attorneys, but also to the litigants.  I think anything short of that is just inappropriate.

Q.
How about as it relates to diligence and preparation?  What's your standard for yourself that should be applied?

A.
Well, what I do is, you know, the Canons require diligence, without any doubt.  And in addition to that, our rules impose upon us a 30-day standard in terms of getting our orders done and getting our work done except -- and the rules state except where there are exceptional circumstances.  And there are times when there are exceptional circumstances.


I am very -- I don't want to say inflexible, but I kind of am in that way sometimes about getting orders done.  And my secretary will verify that.  I am just very dogged about getting my orders done in 30 days, but I also acknowledge that things happen that sometimes don't allow for that.  It is very rare, but there are instances where it takes longer than 30 days where the matters, you really need to give them your full attention, you need to go over testimony.  And sometimes it just takes a little bit longer than that.  So I deal with exactly what the rule requires, which is 30 days except exceptional circumstances.

Q.
How about preparation for hearings?  What is your standard that you apply to yourself in terms of reading pleadings, reading affidavits, et cetera?  What standard should be applied to you in terms of what's required to prepare for a hearing?

A.
Well, I'll tell you what I do.  I come into my office early every morning and I read.  I think sometimes for lawyers, they don't understand the preparation that goes into a hearing.  I don't just come in and read a file when I come into the courtroom.  I sometimes -- my secretary says I have some very old and hard to shake habits from practice.  I will stay at my office sometimes until six or seven o'clock at night reading my files for the next day.  I don't just wait until I get to court to read files. 


And often times lawyers will provide you with documents before court so that you have an opportunity -- I usually eat lunch in and I read during lunch.  I read over things.  I think it's very important to be prepared.  It is essential to know -- to have some idea and foundation of a case before you start it, and so that is how I approach it.

Q.
So if we go to those rules that you've established for yourself about temperament and preparation and diligence and whether preparation and diligence get things out the door by way of orders or preparing for court, you're comfortable with those being the guidelines that Judge your behavior today?  If this Committee uses what you've just said, that's a reasonable standard for you?

A.
Yes, sir.  I feel very comfortable.

MR. COUICK:  Mr. Chairman, there were 55 responses to the bench/bar survey.  Of those, less than 20 percent indicated any level of problem with Judge Jefferson.  Those issues that were raised in that survey will either be raised during the course of the complaints and affidavits that will be heard today or have been raised in my questioning today.  I would like to note for the record that the low country Citizens Committee found Judge Jefferson qualified and highly recommended her.  And without objection, Mr. Chairman, I would ask that their report be entered into the record.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Without objection, it will be done so.  

 (The Citizens Committee Report was made a part of the record.)

MR. COUICK:  Mr. Chairman, at this point in time, I would like to take a break with Judge Jefferson, call the first complainant, Mr. Dusty Rhoades, who is an attorney in Charleston, and allow Mr. Johnson and Judge Jefferson to listen with the rest of the Commission.  


Mr. Chairman, with leave of the Commission, we're going to pass out notebooks where Ms. Slade has organized the affidavits and complaints for you.  We're going to reference tabs as we go through.  I also asked Ms. Addy to have Mr. David Brunson, Ms. Norma Brunson, Ms. Adele Brunson, and Ms. Elaine Westendorff to come up -- they were involved in this litigation either as litigants or as witnesses to what went on -- just so maybe we can truncate any discussions back that surround this matter.  So if we could wait just about two minutes for them to arrive.  

MR. CHAIRMAN:  We'll stand in recess for a couple of minutes.  

 (A recess transpired.)

MR. COUICK:  Mr. Chairman, the first witness I would like to have the Commission have sworn today is Mr. Dusty Rhoades, an attorney from Charleston.

 (D. DUSTY RHOADES, being first duly sworn by the Chairman, testifies as follows:)

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Thank you, sir.  Please answer any questions that counsel has for you.

EXAMINATION BY MR. COUICK:

Q.
Good morning, Mr. Rhoades.  I'm Mike Couick, and we've spoken by phone several times.  This is our first opportunity to meet, I believe.  Thank you for coming.  Mr. Rhoades, we have heard from Judge Jefferson just on introductory matters today.  This will begin the consideration of your affidavit up for complaint that was submitted to the Commission at some point back.  


For the record, if you could give your full name.

A.
It's David Dusty Rhoades.

Q.
And you reside where?

A.
At 2202 Weepoolow Trail, Charleston, South Carolina.

Q.
And your occupation is?

A.
Attorney, private practice, sole practitioner. 

Q.
How long have you been practicing law, Mr. Rhoades?

A. 
Since 1983.  

Q.
And your practice is confined to the family court, mostly to family court, or what?

A.
Percentage in time, probably 80 percent, at least, in family and often 90.  Some weeks, 100 percent.  Typically very heavy.  Matter of fact, I'm trying to cut that back more into the workers' comp.  


Until recently, the last ten years, I did a lot of lawyer malpractice contrary, I think, to what the general perception was.  I took three to five calls a day, three or four cases a year.  I did a lot of those and also represented attorneys on a gratis basis.

Q.
So the last five years, what percentage of your practice has been in the family court, would you say, on average?

A.
On minimum, 80 to 90 percent.

MR. COUICK:  Mr. Chairman, in tab two of your notebooks is the affidavit of Mr. Rhoades.

BY MR. COUICK:

Q.
Mr. Rhoades, is this the affidavit that you submitted in compliance with the Commission's process and procedure that was dated April 3, 2001?  Do you recollect that affidavit?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Do you have any objection to that being made a part of the record today?

A.
No.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  It will be done so at this point in the transcript.

 (The Affidavit of D. Dusty Rhoades was made a part of the record.)

BY MR. COUICK:

Q.
Mr. Rhoades, within the affidavit you talk about several cases, and I would like to take them in the order of the cases.  The first one is the Brunson case.  And I asked the Commission to have the Brunsons and Ms. Westendorff present so they could hear you give a factual background of the case so maybe as they testified, we wouldn't have to replay the facts each time we have them talk about their recollections.  


I think the key for this Commission today is they're not a trial body.  They're not here as an appellate body to hear that case.  They're really here to hear about Judge Jefferson's qualifications.  
But, if you could, give us a brief overview of what the Brunson case was about, realizing that we don't want to get into too many matters about minors and minors' custody.

A.
With that in mind, my understanding was to stay away from, as much as possible, the disputes in the case.  I just made a few notes that give a quick overview.  


These parties that were -- talk about the Brunson case, Mr. Brunson, which I represented, and Mrs. Brunson, she was represented by other counsel in the earlier part of her case.  They had been married in 1994, if I remember specifically; had a child in January of 1995 named Kristen.  Kristen was really what a lot of this revolved around factually.  They were divorced -- I believe the hearing was in December of 1998, but the actual Order was signed sometime in February of '99.  


After that time, from February to April, visitation continued.  It was joint custody, and that's, with some degree, with dispute and also entails Kristen.  The parties agreed on joint custody.  We didn't have a contested hearing.  And the -- Kristen, having been born in '95, was still real young, but there was a lot of contact visitation with Mr. Brunson.  They went back and forth and had visitation.  They had some counseling that I won't go into a lot of detail with, unless somebody asks me, and there was an argument that came up at counseling, some of which may be in the materials you can look at.  


The ex-wife then, former Mrs. Brunson, took off, left the State of South Carolina on April 16th of that year.  She didn't tell the husband -- ex-husband.  She didn't say where.  Left nothing.  Just goodbye.  Not here anymore.  Husband finds out when he goes for his visitation -- and when I say husband, that's really - I mean ex-husband.  And he tries to track down the mother and finds out she's left town.  


He has suspicions, because she had some relatives back in Colorado.  And over the course of the next year, tries to locate her.  Part of what we're talking about today involves some of those disputes and locations and arguments of that.  


He filed a case, I don't recall exactly when it was, through me in May or June of 1999 saying, I want to change custody.  I want my child and it shouldn't be joint custody any longer.  And when I say joint custody, keep in mind the joint custody was -- they had a joint custody, but the primary custodian was the mother and the secondary custodian was the father.  The visitation was had by the father and child support was paid by the father.  The child support kept getting paid.  It was being paid through the court.  But the mother was in parts unknown.  At one point thought to still be somewhere around South Carolina, maybe Colorado or some other place.  Florida, at one point, I think was one place.  


We finally had a hearing.  Had to do it by publication in a case filed in late spring, early summer of '99, and Judge Jefferson made the finding that the -

Q.
Let me stop you at that point, if I can, Mr. Rhoades, because this is the first time we hear the Judge's name come up.  So at this point, we're in 1999; is that correct?

A.
That's right.

Q.
You are attorney of record for Mr. Brunson at that point?

A.
That's right.

Q.
You mentioned Judge Jefferson's name.  Give us a date attached to this hearing or whatever you're getting ready to bring up so we can keep it in chronological order.

A.
As best I recall, I think it was November of 1999.  I believe it was in my affidavit.  But, as I recall, November 1999 is when we had the hearing.  Notice was done by certified mail to the last known address.  We had sent a number of things certified mail.  Nothing came back.  Somebody -- C.J.-something had picked up the mailings that went there, but nothing came back.  Had the hearing.  The Judge had the final hearing on that case, changed custody -- basically switched it, and then tagged on, said she was going to do a Motion to Vacate allowing the ex-wife to vacate the Order - seek vacating the Order within five days, I believe, after service.  I'd have to defer to whatever the Order says.  I assume everybody has a copy of it.  


And then, again, my client went on to try and locate her.  She had used somebody - my client used somebody named Robbie Diamond -- well, Roberta Diamond.  She goes by Robbie.  And she has a company or a small business called Info-Facto locating witnesses, people that somebody wants to find.  Usually attorneys are asking that.  Roberta Diamond is an attorney as well.  She has a small practice in Charleston.


My client met with her.  Did a lot of computer work to still try and locate her, and I believe if -- I don't know whether you've been given a copy of the draft of the appellate brief in this case, but it outlines in great detail the chronology of what was testified to in the course of the hearing, which I think is important to show where my client was trying to find her.  But every time he'd get one address, then it would change and she was supposedly at some new address.  


The -- finally she was found -- let me back up.  There was -- my client sought every avenue possible to try and get in touch with his daughter for visitation.  One of the options, he went to the federal people to talk and see what kind of criminal action, kidnapping, anything he could pursue.  He also went to the solicitor's office in Charleston County.  And the federal people, I think, after some -- I'm a little vague on this.  I don't recall exactly.


I know that she finally came back in handcuffs when they did locate her out in Colorado, and she was -- I think she agreed to come back and submit herself based on criminal violation.  The law stated that if you have, in essence, custody and remove a child out of the state from custody of a parent -- in this case, a joint custody -- for more than seven days, then it can be assumed to be a violation on a criminal basis.  I understand that's still open.  I'm not handling that matter.  


When that came up, then -- then the mother came back to deal with the issue of visitation, child custody, and then came into file something in Charleston court because, I guess, she was back there anyway and forced to deal with it.

Q.
And what date would that have been, Mr. Rhoades --

A.
That was in -- February of 2000 when she came back to deal with it.  The transcript and the factual scenario in the transcript indicates that apparently she talked to Mendel Rivers at some point.  Mendel had forgotten that he had had a lengthy conversation with my client in an interview for approximately an hour and a lot was discussed, and that's the reason he took a conflict.  


Apparently, from what I garner in the transcript in reviewing the appeal brief, is that Mr. Rivers was doing some work and might have had -- somebody had some ex parte contact with Judge Jefferson.

Q.
Is that raised in any of your affidavits about ex parte contact?

A.
Yes, it is, I believe.

Q.
Where is that within your affidavit about ex parte contact?

A.
Do you have an extra copy, or I might have mine right here?  Do you have a copy of my affidavit?

Q.
It's on page five of nine, I think, what you're talking about.  I just want you to refer to your affidavit.

A.
Let me see if I can pull a copy of it out.  I have it in front of me now.  Yes, your reference is correct.  Paragraph four.

Q.
That is referenced to -- that was -- the date of that contact you are able to locate as being approximately what date, the ex parte?

A.
I don't recall exactly.  It was whatever -- actually, you can see it in the transcript, but it would be several days or a week, I don't recall exactly, prior -- it was just a couple of days, as I recall, just prior to our hearing on February 16th, because all those things were signed.  I remember hearing about it very well, by the way, at the bond hearing.  As I recall, that's what it was -- even though I wasn't counsel of record for that -- when Ms. Brunson was in handcuffs and being brought -

Q.
Mr. Rhoades, let's get really to the facts that relate to Judge Jefferson.  Whether she's in handcuffs or not, I mean, we've heard that.  Let's talk about what did Judge Jefferson do, and how was it wrong?  Here we're talking ex parte contact.  Tell me what was wrong about it, when it occurred, and what happened next.

A.
I was particularly upset that there was obviously contact, because I was informed I think by Mr. Goodstein indirectly at that hearing I just referenced in the criminal matter.  He said, Judge, something to the effect that there's going to be a hearing on this in family court and he said the next day or whatever, and that was news to me.  I was wondering about where all this took place since I was attorney of record.  


Then subsequent to that, I think I talked to one of the attorneys -- I don't recall which one -- on the other side representing the wife, and I believe I received a fax or hand delivery by courier of this hearing to be scheduled.  That was the first information I had, and I was real upset about it because it wasn't so much as the Judge, no one else, by the way, so much as gave me a phone call before all these emergency orders were signed and I -- I was the lawyer then on the case all this time and these new lawyers were on it.  I didn't even have a phone call, didn't know that they were definitely counsel of record at that point.  I certainly didn't know anything was being filed and, yeah, I, frankly, was pretty steamed about that.

Q.
Let me ask you, what is the standard of contact that applied to the Judge, not to the other counsel?  What was the standard of contact that you believe applied to her as related to that ex parte communication, the signing of those emergency orders?  Are all emergency orders on ex parte basis prohibited, or are there any exceptions?

A.
No, there aren't.  That's -- it's just -- I mean, there are scheduling issues.  When it deals with scheduling issues, the commentary in Canon 3 is pretty clear about it.  Reading from it, Certain ex parte communication is approved by Section 3(b)7 to facilitate scheduling and other administrative purposes to accommodate emergencies.  In general, however, a Judge must discourage ex parte communication and allow it only if criteria stated in Section 3(b)7 are clearly met.


Now, when we had that hearing, the Judge verified that, to the best of my recollection, there wasn't any emergency.  She hadn't read the affidavits, then she said she had read the affidavits.  Then she went back and said something to the effect that she hadn't looked at the affidavits, that the child wasn't in danger.  She verified that.  So there wasn't any emergency.


And I was upset that I needed at least an opportunity -- if something was going to be signed that I should have been down there and had an opportunity to be heard before these Orders were all signed effecting my client's rights, especially since I had been on it for over a year and opposing counsel had just gotten on it.

MR. COUICK:  Mr. Chairman, if Members have questions, I'll be glad --

MR. FREEMAN:  I'm just not following this, and I apologize.  I'm looking at page five of nine.  

MR. RHOADES:  In my affidavit?

MR. FREEMAN:  I know you've been on the case for a year, and I know that you're feeling offended.  But I would like to know what specific facts you are alleging regarding the ex parte contact, who was the opposing counsel, what do you know about how the meeting came up, what do you know about what was said at the meeting, what is the basis for your factual charge that this is unethical behavior given that some ex parte contact is permitted?  That's what I want to know.  I want names, and I want specifics. 

MR. RHOADES:  I don't know what went on in the meeting except what was said in the transcript.  I don't -- Mr. Freeman, I don't know what you have and what you don't have.

MR. FREEMAN:  I'm here with five of nine.  Judge had ex parte contact with opposing counsel.  I'd like to know who is opposing counsel, first of all.  Goodstein?

MR. RHOADES:  It was -- well, yes.  It was Mr. Goodstein.  It was Beth Myrick.  It would be Blair Jennings.  I don't -- I only know that firm had contact.  I don't know specifically who in the firm -- the Rosen firm.

MR. FREEMAN:  Okay.  I'm sorry, but I'm just trying to get specifics.  Can you name a name?  I mean, you named a firm, and the record reflects that there are different lawyers from that firm in the case. 

MR. RHOADES:  I don't --

MR. FREEMAN:  The reason I'm asking this is to the extent that there is a charge of unethical behavior here that the candidate has to defend, I would like to understand what the charge is.

MR. RHOADES:  Did you receive a copy of the draft of the appellate brief?

MR. COUICK:  Mr. Chairman, we have all those copies here.  

BY MR. COUICK:

Q.
Mr. Rhoades, you carry the burden of taking this Committee through this complaint. 

A.
I gave a copy --

Q.
What date would you like Professor Freeman to look at?

A.
Give me just a minute, if I can, please.  I apologize.  I wasn't -- didn't realize that you wanted that kind of specifics, and I did have it.  The specifics are here, and I want to be crystal clear to the Committee on this.  It is all here.  That's why I provided the draft of the appeal.  This isn't the final brief, but it lays out all the factual circumstances.  I didn't realize I needed to be that specific in my actual testimony or I would have made an outline for that.


With that in mind, if you'll bear with me.

MR. FREEMAN:  Understand I'm not trying to give you a hard time.  I'm just trying to --

MR. RHOADES:  I understand.

MR. FREEMAN:  -- understand --

MR. RHOADES:  I understand.

MR. FREEMAN:  -- what the nature is, what the specifics are of the ex parte contact charge.

MR. RHOADES:  I don't believe there's any dispute that Judge Jefferson had ex parte contact with opposing counsel.  I can't tell you exactly who she met with.  She didn't say.  She did -- doesn't -- I don't think there's anything in the record, the transcript, where it refers to a specific history that says anything about that she, in fact, had ex parte contact, signed the Order after reviewing or not reviewing the affidavits, depending on which she said.  She contradicted herself many times.

MR. FREEMAN:  Here's the thing.  If -- judges are allowed to have, sometimes, ex parte contact with lawyers.  That's sometimes what's necessary to get an Order signed or to move things along or whatever.  If the charge is that it's unethical ex parte contact, which some ex parte contact is, what I'm looking for are the specific facts as to how it occurred, what transpired, and -- and why it's unethical so that I can make a decision; because if it's not being charged that that is an unethical ex parte contact, then we ought to move on to something else.

MR. RHOADES:  Well, it is being charged as that.

MR. FREEMAN:  Okay.  Then I'm - then I'm just asking for the specifics.

MR. RHOADES:  All right.  And I can sit here and I'll be happy to go through it, but the brief outlines that in great detail, including the transcript lines and references to it.  And I can recite all that.  


And, again, I would ask you to understand that I didn't realize -- I've never been through this particular process before.  I didn't know what kind of specificity anyone was looking for, but that's also why I provided a copy of the brief because it's so specific as to all those points down to the transcript lines, down to the documents, down to the filings, down to the -- what was provided.

MR. FREEMAN:  Okay.  Well, I'm at a disadvantage, because I don't have that.  I don't think I have that kind of specificity.

MR. RHOADES:  Well, if --

MR. FREEMAN:  We have his affidavit which summarizes this incident.  All I was asking for is the detail behind the summary.

MR. COUICK:  Mr. Chairman, my questions of Mr. Rhoades today are he needs to put on the record today the specifics.  You have the brief.  Refer to the specifics.  We'll reference copies of the transcript, which we have.  The brief is not introduced as part of the public record of this hearing.  Your testimony will be.

MR. RHOADES:  I didn't understand that before today, so it may take a little bit longer for us to go through this or I would have given an outline to that effect.  I'm sorry.  I just didn't realize that, but I have to know about it before I got here if that were the case.

MR. FREEMAN:  And I apologize for, you know, any confusion, but I am interested in the specifics underlying the charge of unethical ex parte contact.

MR. RHOADES:  Certainly.  I understand.  I certainly want to answer on that.  If you give me just a couple minutes, I'll go back to the brief I'm referring to and address that.  You don't have a copy of that brief in front of you?

MR. FREEMAN:  I don't.  I've got your affidavit.  

JUDGE SHAW:  That's not in your notebook?

MR. COUICK:  Mr. Chairman, Mr. Rhoades supplied materials about like that (indicating).  We've got copies of the affidavits in front of you.  We've got copies of transcripts available.  We've tried to digest that in some degree.  I don't want to make a commentary on what Mr. Rhoades provided.  There is not a road map to it.  What we hoped to establish in the testimony today was him getting to the specifics of what the allegations were, what benchmarks of conduct were violated, and then him specifically referencing in the transcript where there is a record of that happening.  That is not provided in an organized fashion in the documents we were provided.


Ms. Addy has gone to get copies of the brief now. 

MR. RHOADES:  I'll refer you, if it makes a difference, to page 13 of the brief in part.  Judge Garfinkel scheduled an emergency hearing for February 16, 2000.  Judge Jefferson, by its ex parte application, granted a stay of the Order changing custody.  That refers to vacate order nine, which is an attachment.  Wife turned herself into South Carolina authorities.

BY MR. COUICK:

Q.
Mr. Rhoades, if I could stop you for a moment here.  We're talking about -- what I was talking about earlier -- we're not getting to the facts of the situation in terms of the transcript that show who was present or what was discussed.  


Is there a transcript that discusses who was present during the conversation -- the ex parte communication?  Do you reference the transcript --

A.
In the February 16th transcript, and you do have a copy of that in the materials that I provided.  I'm getting to that right now in terms of specific references that are referred to in the brief.  That's what I'm trying to get to.


Referencing, I believe, what was discussed on February 16th, as stated in the ex parte Order, After carefully considering the affidavits presented, the motions and pleadings, I hereby find there's immediate threat of harm to the minor child.  The minor child shall remain in the care, custody and control of the wife and husband having supervised visitation until such time as the court can hold a hearing on this Motion to Vacate.  Although -- it goes on further about as Judge Jefferson explained and quoting from the hearing on February 16th --

MR. FREEMAN:  What page is that, please?

MR. RHOADES:  Apparently, I'm looking down the transcript, page 11, according to my notations in this brief and transcript 18.  


I have not had an opportunity to review the affidavits.  I have reviewed a couple of affidavits in light of the serious allegations that have been made.  The ex parte Order will remain in effect.  


Onto page 18 she clarified the record.  I had not considered Dr. Hamrick's letter when I issued the ex parte Order.  What I had available to me was the affidavit and the affidavit of Ms. Ferri, the previous Guardian ad Litem.


Then the brief goes on to point out, Six weeks later, however -- Judge Jefferson explained -- the file was never given to me.  Mr. Rivers brought me -- referring you to page 16 of the transcript by the way.  This, again, is February 16th.  Quoting Judge Jefferson, The file was never given to me.  Mr. Rivers brought me the Order to stay and he told me -- gave me a message that Judge Andrews sent me.  And the only thing that accompanied that was the wife's affidavit and an unsigned affidavit by Ms. Ferri, which I did not consider.  


Then the Judge went on, on page 14 -- excuse me.  It's on March 31st.  I did not consider those affidavits -- in another transcript on March 31st.  I did not consider those affidavits in making that decision to stay the Order, and the record is very clear on that.  As a matter of fact, I did not even see those affidavits until the date of the emergency hearing.  


That's stating that she didn't even look at those, but she admits that she did get them.  At first she's saying that she did rely on the affidavits and had by apparent -- apparently, by admission, ex parte contact it appears from, she's saying, Mr. Rivers.  I don't know exactly what went on except that counsel of record are the ones that gave me this -- this contact that is the filings that have been made with the ex parte contact.  I don't know if Mr. Rivers, based on what she said, was the only one who had given her documents; whether when Mr. Rivers got off it as continuing counsel, the Rosen firm then got the documents and had any other contact.  Give me just a minute and I'll go on, unless you have another question.

Q.
So is the basis of your claim, Mr. Rhoades, is that there were no emergency?

A.
Exactly that.  There was nothing that couldn't have been handled by, frankly, for starters, a phone call to me knowing how contentious this case has been and saying we need to at least talk about it.  A phone call conference with a court reporter hearing, Mr. Rhoades come on down to court.  


Somebody -- whoever the lawyers were at the time should have made sure before this thing was signed, and certainly the Judge, specifically, should have said, Gee, what about the other attorney on the other side of this matter.

Q.
Do you believe that either party gained a procedural or tactical advantage as a result of the communication?

A.
Yes.

Q.
And what was that advantage?

A.
I think these affidavits that were read, but not read, based on what I just recited to you in the transcript that Judge Jefferson said -- she wasn't clear about it and contradicted herself a number of times - my client and I are both concerned that that effected her attitude for the remainder of the case, at least in part or more along with more that I'll testify to shortly.  

Q.
And the advantage was that she had access to those documents?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Would she have had access to the documents if it had not been ex parte?

A.
Not that I'm aware of.  I can't imagine how she would have.  I would have objected to them and had -- and filed a motion and dealt with it to the contrary or at least I would have had a chance to counteract on my own affidavits and have my own explanation in there instead of the Judge drawing a conclusion off of these affidavits and what, frankly, I thought was a knee jerk reaction by her own admissions, Well, I didn't read the affidavits and then later states in the transcript that there wasn't any harm specifically to the child and crossed that out.

Q.
Mr. Rhoades, is there any transcript of the ex parte contact?

A.
Not to my knowledge.  Now, there is some more in the transcript specifically referring to the brief that states and quotes that transcript.  This begs to question upon what information did Judge Jefferson include in the gross misrepresentations that she later alleged to have been made.  Although the displayed apparent misrepresentation, Judge Jefferson made no attempt to contact husband's counsel because, and then a quote would be on March 31st in the transcript that is provided to the Committee through counsel.


The case is more disposed; therefore, theoretically, quoting her, as of that date when the case was more exposed, you were no longer counsel of record.  I had no duty to contact husband's counsel under the statutory schemes as well as the rules on why I considered the ex parte Order in emergency situations.  


It goes on further on that basis in the Motion of Recusal.  I had the opportunity to reflect on this and think about really, quoting her, on what I agreed.  Although it was entitled ex parte Order, it really wasn't ex parte Order.  It's really in the nature of injunctive relief, because I gave her the ability to challenge the Order.  So while it's sort of cast that way, it really isn't an ex parte Order.  


That's -- I believe I would defer to what the document says if it's called an ex parte Order.  It was certainly issued without any input from me or my client.  There was -- I don't know -- it's basically what everybody's heard:  if it quacks like a duck, walks like a duck, then it is a duck.

Q.
Is there any other matters that relate to ex parte contact that you would like to bring before the Commission at this time?  

A.
No.  To my knowledge, that's what the controversy surrounds.

MR. COUICK:  Mr. Freeman?

MR. FREEMAN:  It's unethical for a

Judge to engage in ex parte contact, and that's what you're accusing her of; right?  

MR. RHOADES:  Except with the exceptions that are mentioned about scheduling administration.

MR. FREEMAN:  Right.  Right.  And

you're alleging that there was ex parte contact with a lawyer?

MR. RHOADES:  Yes.

MR. FREEMAN:  Which would be unethical for the lawyer?

MR. RHOADES:  Yes.

MR. FREEMAN:  Who is the lawyer that you are charging unethical behavior?

MR. RHOADES:  I am not clear about that.  It appears to be, from what she said, Mr. Rivers; and it would appear from an inference of the circumstances that the -- somebody in the Rosen firm had some kind of contact.  I haven't filed a complaint to that fact, because I'm not clear about it.  I guess we're going to find more about that in the other proceeding.


But as far as -- I don't know which particular lawyer, if any of those lawyers, other than the ones she mentioned, Mendel Rivers, or the agents of the Rosen firm had further contact.  There was some reference in the transcript, and specifically we talked about in court, that I believe, to the best of my recollection, said that one of her paralegals brought paperwork and affidavits up to the Judge, and I believe she said specifically she had gotten it.


That's still an agent and it's still contact, and I'm hearing now after the fact that the Judge has been given all these affidavits from the Rosen firm.

MR. FREEMAN:  Well, can you understand why you might have -- a person might have trouble finding a Judge guilty of ex parte contact when you're the complaining witness and you can't identify the lawyer with whom the contact occurred?

MR. RHOADES:  Well, respectfully, I can't, because while I don't know specif-- there's no doubt in my mind from what the Judge said that she's had contact with the lawyer when she said Mr. Rivers and she's had these affidavits by an inference.  I don't have the clear admission.  Maybe the Judge can explain that further.  


But it is clear, by inference of all circumstances, she had contact with Mendel Rivers or the opposing -- or the Rosen law firm.  And I'm not clear as to exactly which attorney, if any of the attorneys, indirectly or directly she had contact with.  From what I gather from what was said in front of me, it was through paralegals handing up affidavits, is what I recall in the conversation that I was standing listening to in the courtroom.

MR. FREEMAN:  But as for the specifics of the contact, aside from the fact that they -- somebody got her to sign an Order and tendered her affidavits at that time, you don't have any specifics beyond that as to who it was or what was said?

MR. RHOADES:  Other than what she said with Mendel Rivers.  

BY MR. COUICK:

Q.
Is there more than one Mendel Rivers, Mr. Rhoades?

A.
No.  It's the Mendel Rivers who, I think, is also being considered for --

Q.
So there's only one Mendel Rivers, other than the one that's deceased, in Charleston that you're aware of?

A.
The one I'm talking about is the Mendel Rivers who is also a candidate for Circuit Court.

MR. FREEMAN:  And just one -- this -- this incident occurred over a year ago?

MR. RHOADES:  In February, yes.

MR. FREEMAN:  Did you ever talk to Mr. Rivers about the specifics of ex parte contact or Mr. Goodstein or Ms. Myrick?

MR. RHOADES:  I mentioned it to Ms. Myrick.

MR. FREEMAN:  And what did she say?

MR. RHOADES:  Nobody said much of anything.  I normally would get silence, because usually I was upset and -- or we were talking in the hallway or whatever and I normally got no response.  I didn't get a negative response.  I didn't get a positive response.  I just got silence. 

BY MR. COUICK:

Q.
Mr. Rhoades, is there any other matter as it relates to the ex parte contact that we haven't discussed yet that you would like to bring to the Commission's attention?

A.
Not to my knowledge.

Q.
You advised me the other day that you had permission of the Judicial Standards Commission to discuss matters relating to ethical complaints against Judge Jefferson; is that correct?

A.
Yes.  I specifically inquired about it, and Mr. Richardson informed me by letter, of which copy I've also sent to Judge Jefferson and I believe I included it in your materials, stated specifically and quoted me the rules that I don't recall offhand, but that because of the nature of when a complaint is made by a Judge or a complaint is made by a Judge against an attorney, that the confidentiality rules don't imply.

Q.
Do you have any problem with me asking you the question based upon that representation by Mr. Richardson, did you file a complaint against Judge Jefferson about ex parte contact?

A.
Yes, I did.  That's specifically why I asked to verify and be clear that there was not a problem with that.

Q.
Has that matter been resolved?

A.
No, it hasn't.  I understand - I don't believe there's any activity going on.  If there is, I'm not aware of it.

Q.
When you say no activity, you filed a complaint, though?

A.
Yes, definitely.  She filed a complaint, and I filed a complaint.

Q.
Let's keep it just to the ex parte contact and communication.  There was a complaint filed.  When was that complaint filed by you?

A.
Just a minute.  By the way, there's a copy of the letter if you want me to read from it.

Q.
As long as you feel comfortable.

A.
Formal complaint I filed that was sent to him by letter.  It was filed -- I don't have the stamped copy, but it was November 21, 2000, and it states, Formal complainant against Judge Deadra Jefferson.  

Q.
And so this hearing took place in February of 2000; is that right?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Why the delay in filing the complaint with the Judicial Standards Commission?

A.
To -- well, to my knowledge, there's no statute of limitations.  I also wanted to see what was going to happen in the case, whether if anything was going to be remedied as to some of the actions, whether it would change the ex parte contact.  

My client was particularly upset, and I believe -- I think he did speak for himself -- actually filed a complaint against Judge Jefferson, I'm not certain on that, dealing with just that, the ex parte allegations.  You'll have to defer to him on that.  

But as far as delay, Judge Jefferson also filed one against me just prior to this November 21st one saying she had very, quote, grave concern that she put in the Order that she typed and took three months to get to, that I made gross misrepresentations to the court, which I took great --

Q.
I want to make sure we reserve those issues for a little bit later.  But on the ex parte contact, which is the first time we get to a benchmark of conduct that you believe that Judge Jefferson has violated, is there anything else that needs to be presented to the Commission for them to have a full and fair picture of your allegation?

A.
No, not as to that.  But, also, I'm looking at the second page in my complaint where Mr. Richardson also mentioned about ex parte.  It refers specifically, quoting from it, The controversy arose when the Judge, without reviewing any evidence, took ex parte affidavits from opposing side and asked if she were going to vacate her prior Order.  

Q.
But in terms of any other evidence, who participated in the contact or what was mentioned in the contact, you have no other information on that?

A.
Other than what I provided to you. 

Q.
Moving on then --

SENATOR RITCHIE:  -- I have a couple of questions.  

MR. COUICK:  Sure.

SENATOR RITCHIE:  I want to make sure I'm clear, also, Mr. Rhoades.  You did speak to Ms. Myrick either in the hall or sometime over the course of - after the February 16th and before November 21st of 2000?  You did have contact with her in the hall?

MR. RHOADES:  Certainly.

SENATOR RITCHIE:  And at some point you raised this issue with her about an alleged ex parte communication; right?

MR. RHOADES:  Yes, I did.

SENATOR RITCHIE:  Did she acknowledge it ever occurred?

MR. RHOADES:  I -- to my knowledge, I never got an answer.  I always got silence.  It was more just I would talk and then Blair Jennings or Beth Myrick would listen, and I didn't get body language or otherwise any response.  I didn't get anger.  I didn't get hostility.  I didn't get, I don't recall, any response of any kind.  Just silence.

SENATOR RITCHIE:  By both women?

MR. RHOADES:  Blair Jennings is a male.

SENATOR RITCHIE:  Okay.  By both people?

MR. RHOADES:  Yes.

SENATOR RITCHIE:  And to this date, you don't know the content of the conversation of the ex parte communication?  If it occurred, you don't know what the contact was?

MR. RHOADES:  I know only what I testified to or what I heard in court, that being the conversation about Ms. Myrick, as I recall, saying she had a paralegal bring up affidavits or make deliveries to the Judge as the - regarding the Order.  And that's when I assumed, I think on a common sense basis, she's having this information from Ms. Myrick.  I didn't know exactly what it was except the affidavits were being referred to.  The only affidavits were for the emergency Order.  I didn't know about the point about Mr. Rivers until the Judge said it, and that's why it's referred to in the brief.

SENATOR RITCHIE:  Thank you.  

BY MR. COUICK:

Q.
Mr. Rhoades, moving on, then, chronologically, the next hearing that takes place by way of your complaint is March 31, 2000; is that correct?

A.
Yes.

Q.
And I believe that was the hearing on your Motion to Recuse; is that correct?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Tell us about your Motion to Recuse.  What was the motion based upon?  What were your allegations?

A.
The point was, in part, what we've already talked about and I've testified to and in my complaint that the information had already been received and what you heard me just read directly from my complaint.

Also, we had -- Judge Jefferson often, as a matter of course, will call the attorneys in -- I call it the back room -- chambers.  It's a small office.  And Mr. Goodstein, Blair Jennings, myself and Elizabeth Myrick were all called in there, as well as I asked, frankly, my paralegal to be called in and I asked very specifically because I wanted to see what was going on; but, two, I knew the way Judge Jefferson normally thought about things; three, I knew, too, that Arnold Goodstein doesn't come down to family court very often.  And, frankly, I was real concerned about what was going to happen in that room.  

And I was told in the back room by the Judge very quickly that this matter was decided.  She was going to decide to vacate it.  Pursed lips.  I just knew I was, you know -- I know I never should have done this.  I don't -- and this is -- this is a done deal.  And that's - I wasn't surprised by it, because it's like I had before.  Sometimes the Judge will have this meeting, but at least point out, of course, I haven't heard the evidence and I'm not sure about it, but I'm inclined to do -- well, there was none of that.  It was very direct and that this matter -- I'm going to vacate that Order.  And there's nothing left to imagination about it.  It's very clear.

I thought, in my opinion, that she was extremely warm to, frankly, Mr. Goodstein, extremely friendly with him more so than might normally be by a Judge, and I had great cause and concern about that.  Nothing that I can actually sit here and prove, but what I believe was - I knew was common knowledge.  She wanted to get this Circuit Court judgeship whenever Judge Martin retired.  Everyone -- it was common knowledge.

And Mr. Goodstein is not as political.  I've known him over 20 years, too.  So surprise comes down with the family court where I've hardly ever seen him, and we come in there and it's -- the Judge is, Oh, Mr. Goodstein, how good to see you.  Well, you know, she's courteous with other people, too, but not that courteous, in my opinion.  

And, yeah, I was real concerned about what was going to happen in that back room.  And it did.  I came back out -- getting to the Motion to Recuse.  I asked my -- told my client what had happened, that she had already decided this and asked what did he want me to do.  If he wanted me to challenge it or -- it was going to have to be your call.  If I do, it's going to get real bloody.  I know what she's going to do.  It's going to be taken out on me.  

And he very quickly said, Yeah, I want to contest it.  I want to be heard on this.  So we did.  I announced to the Judge later that March 31st we had the Motion for Recusal prior to starting the testimony earlier.  I believe in the February 16th hearing there was some --

Q.
Let's try to keep the dates in a row.  All of what you're talking about now occurs on the 31st; is that right?

A.
No.  This is leading up to why - I believe the meeting in the room occurred on February 16th, to the best of my knowledge.  But that led up to why I filed the Motion for Recusal, which was then heard because the Judge -- I insisted on February 16th that we have a hearing on this Motion to Vacate and not just do it.  And she finally acquiesced to that and said, Okay, we'll have a motion.  We'll have a hearing.

That was set.  Then during the time from February 16th to March 31st, I drafted a formal Motion of Recusal, and that's what we discussed at the outset.  I said what I just talked about, that I believe I asked you to recuse yourself as the appearance in propriety.

The wording in the statute seems clear in the Canon 3.  I quoted it in my motion, a copy of which I sent to you, and said you've obviously decided this.  It was very clear to me in the back room.  It was clear to my paralegal.  It was -- there is -- you've already had contact with opposing counsel.  You knew I was the attorney involved in this case over a year ago.  And all this had been going on, yet you signed all these things.  

Then -- well, we went on.  That was the basis for it with some more detail, if you choose to have --

Q.
Let me go back and refresh myself and the Commission.  The grounds for the Motion of Recusal were more than just ex parte communication?

A.
That's right.

Q.
What did they include again?

A.
That the rancor she had towards me, the attitude.  I don't recall which day it was.  I'll have to look it up in the brief that was specifically quoted in the recusal section.  If the Committee looks at it later, everybody wants to make reference to it, it would be -- excuse me just a minute while I find it.  Page 29 of the brief specifically references the facts dealing with the recusal.  I'm sorry.  I forgot your question.

Q.
The grounds, other than the ex parte communication, were what?  You mentioned rancor and then you were --

A.
He was extremely upset with me for, number one, asking for a hearing and not going along with what she wanted.  I was just to agree on the vacating of the Order.

Q.
And this was on February 16th?

A.
Yes.  And that there was a lot of talk-- I can't recall whether it was both days.  It certainly was on the 31st where I didn't have the chance to even finish many of my sentences.  

Q.
Do you have examples in the transcript you can point out to the Commission on the 31st or on --

A.
Yes.

Q.
- the 16th?  

A.
Yes, I do.  The 16th I'd have to refer back to specifically in the transcript.  Again, I didn't realize I was going to have to give those specifics.  I would like everybody to understand that I haven't been through this proceeding before.  I didn't know, for whatever reason, that I had to give those specifics.

Q.
No problem. 

A.
I thought when I submitted these documents that everyone got a copy of it.  I was wrong.  For instance, page 32, for everyone's later reference, in my brief or the draft of the brief that will be filed by the appellate court in the very near future states that, for example, the record is incomplete where Judge Jefferson interrupted husband's counsel.  I complained throughout, and it quotes it.


Transcript page 12, March 31st and goes onto transcript page 26, transcript page 31.  I constantly -- frankly, literally begged, to be able to finish a sentence.  As soon as the Judge said you may proceed, then I would be cut off.  You'll see all the way through it.  I couldn't seem to finish anything.  


It was her -- by her demeanor, she was clearly disgusted with me.  I said that in the transcript to her and she said, You're wrong about that.  I'm paraphrasing.  I'm not disgusted with you.  Could have fooled everyone in the courtroom, and I believe people will testify and verify that she was extremely disgusted with me.  It's just normal when I've been in front of her on many other occasions.  I'm not going to get into those.  It's just a normal course of conduct that I know when I go into the courtroom with Judge Jefferson that it's - if she's got in her mind which way it's going to go, it's been discussed in the back room, you better make sure you talk with your client about it and she's going to be upset with you if it doesn't go that way.


That's what I got probably the biggest dose of on this day.  And, frankly, I had had it.  This is when it pushed me over the edge that I was tired of coming in the courtroom and tired of having to tell my clients this decision has been made real quickly in the back room, you have to tell me which way you want to go before we even get in the courtroom when I know the Judge has been assigned to the case.


This is the example of it.  I'll give you the specific reference; but if you want, I'll read it.

Q.
I would like for the Commission to have the specifics in terms of the abusive behavior.  You can reference transcript lines.  You don't have to read all of it.

A.
I'll read some of it.  And if anybody thinks it's too much, please let me know.  I'll talk from the pages I mentioned in the transcript, page 12.  

MR. RHOADES:  You keep cutting me off and I need to finish.  

THE COURT:  No, I'm not.  Let me explain to you.  I'm not cutting you off.  I'm going to allow you to put everything you want on the record.  But when you make the statement about clarity, I feel it needs to be clarified.

MR. RHOADES:  What statement is that?  I'm not clear about what you're referring to.  

THE COURT:  Mr. Rhoades, you may proceed.

MR. RHOADES:  I need to proceed.  I just told you I'm not clear about what statement you're saying that I'm -- dot, dot, dot.  

THE COURT:  Your statement was that somehow, by my demeanor, I was disgusted with you, and I needed to clarify that because I'm not disgusted with you.  

MR. RHOADES:  Well, it didn't come across that way.  

THE COURT:  And I'm sorry that's your perception.  

MR. RHOADES:  You keep cutting me off as I'm trying to present it, and I think the transcript will reflect that.  I am trying to get out points on the Motion for Recusal and then --dot, dot dot.  

THE COURT:  You may proceed, Mr. Rhoades.  Then it goes onto page 26.  

MR. RHOADES:  Dot, dot, dot - that she didn't give him notice -- dot, dot, dot.

THE COURT:  You keep referring --

MR. RHOADES:  Judge, I've got to --dot, dot, dot.

THE COURT:  Dot, dot, dot.  No.  When I speak, you stop.  Okay.  That's the end of it.


Page 26, lines, looks like, 10 through 15.  

MR. RHOADES:  Judge, please, I'm trying to finish this sentence.  Honestly, I'm not trying to be rude to you; but every time I get halfway through a sentence, you stop me.  

THE COURT:  Your perception of me interrupting you and my perception of interrupting are two very different things.  I'm not interrupting you.  I'm merely clarifying. 


It goes onto page 31, same day transcript.

MR. RHOADES:  I don't recall what it was, but I have a transcript -- dot, dot, dot.  

THE COURT:  I'm not going through the transcript, Mr. Rhoades.  I remember what we talked about.  

MR. RHOADES:  Judge, I need to finish the sentence.  I didn't finish the sentence.  I was going to move to have it marked as part of the record since you referred to it. 


That's an example.  Anticipated.  I haven't even finished the sentence.  Everything, frankly, was viewed to I've got the executioner's name over here and, you know, you're going to have a bad day.  Was that said?  No.  But it was said by the body language, by the pursed lips that I usually and other attorneys get when you get down there and, like, that's not going to happen, and the attitude that I've -- I've decided it and that's the end of it.  


I understand the Judge is there to decide it, but there's a right way and a wrong way.  And Canon 3 is very clear by a Judge's conduct with words or physical conduct, body language.  The commentary is more specific about it.  On this I can't even finish a sentence, and the people in the audience were able to see that as well.  


The -- another point dealing with just that -- do you want me to go forward?

Q.
If I could ask you a question.  Was it -- you were talking about body language and otherwise.  If we were to listen to a tape of the hearing, what would Judge Jefferson's tone have been?  How would her voice have been modulated?

A.
Very angry, short.  I would request that the Committee should listen to the tape.  Please.  It's very short with me.  Listen especially when I would talk about the disgust.  I was very specific.  It was crystal clear to me that this person is extremely disgusted with me.  And all I had done was try and put on the record what I needed to to make it clear to preserve the record for possible appeal, anything else that might be used for afterwards.  And dot, dot, dot you will see repeatedly throughout the transcript where I am cut off.

Q.
We were talking about grounds for recusal for your Motion to Recuse that you made, and we talked about ex parte and we talked about her interrupting you and her treatment of you at the February 16th hearing.  What other grounds for recusal were put forth in that motion that we haven't talked about that you haven't been able to specifically address so far?

A. 
Well, I think I have addressed most of the points.  The general, clear attitude that you can -- well, it's also stated in here -- I'll go look it up if Mr. Freeman, you, or anybody else wants me to.  She said, in essence -- I'm paraphrasing.  All right.  You can -- you can have your hearing, but he's not getting any visitation in the meantime.  And the clear attitude that everyone, I believe, in the courtroom -- I can't speak for opposing counsel.  I suspect you'll get his perspective later.  It was the clear attitude to most of the people in the courtroom that, all right, you want the hearing.  You'll get it.  But he's not getting any visitation.  


It was a level of intimidation.  If you're going to do this, then I'm calling the shots up here and you're going to get this.  And, ultimately, what I got was -- and not the Motion for Recusal is throwing in there gross misrepresentation allegation, which I believe is without any support.  I won't go any further than that, because I don't believe it references your question.  


Back to the intimidation factor.  That's a standard that I've been used to and I think other attorneys are used to.  You go in there, the Judge wants to go a certain way -- Judge Jefferson, specifically -- and she lets you know very specifically the way she expects to go by her body language, by her frown, by usually pursed lips and/or I can read what I want to in an Order.  That statement I think I also mentioned in my affidavit.  


That's what the track record based on -- that's what all led up to this and I knew that decision was made, but I had to make the record.

Q.
Let me see if I can sum up what you've said so far about your Motion to Recuse.  I have three parts to it now, then.  One is the ex parte communication being a ground; the second is the abusive behavior, particularly cutting you off during the course of the hearing; and the third is the intimidation, candid threat related to visitation.  And I realize there's some nuances to the abusive behavior that you've alluded to.


Have I missed any big category?

A.
Yes. 

Q.
Which was that?

A.
Number four was my opinion based on the statements made by the Judge in chambers, it was already decided and it really didn't matter.  She didn't say this specifically, but that was the follow-up sentence that was not said what was going to happen in the courtroom.  

Q.
That was February the 16th?

A.
February 16th.  That's right.  Before the hearing started, it was already decided.  

REPRESENTATIVE McGEE:  She said it was already decided?

MR. RHOADES:  That is -- I'll try -- let me try and quote the best I recall it.  That was -- I've already decided I'm going to vacate my Order.  That is as close to verbatim as I can recall it.  

MR. FREEMAN:  Is that in the transcript, or is that in -- or there's no record?

MR. RHOADES:  There's no -- it was in chambers.  There wasn't a court reporter.  That's why I came out and I believe I said something orI referred to that in the February transcript, and I'm sure I referred to it in the March transcript.

BY MR. COUICK:

Q.
If we could, then, Mr. Rhoades, take us to the two points, and we'll start with the last one, already decided.  Take us to transcript references where -- we realize there's no in- chambers transcript.  Where on the February 16th transcript do you refer to it being already decided?

A.
I'm not sure just thinking about it now.  I think -- as I recall, I didn't say on the 16th because I knew I had a client who was very upset that we were having a hearing with a Judge who looked like she was ready to come down on me and deal with me just for asking for the Order -- excuse me, the hearing on the motion.  


And I did not -- since I - my recollection -- my thought process was under fire here and I need to think about it.  I think I was thinking about the recusal, but didn't make it on the spot.  And then when the hearing was made, then I knew I had enough time to go ahead and make the formal motion.  So I may not have referenced it.

Q.
Your recollection is now that there is probably not a reference in the -- 

A.
I think that's correct.  I think Imisstated.

Q.
So within your Motion for Recusal, you would have stated that as a ground?

A.
I believe so, yes.  My recollection.  I'll defer to what the motion says.

Q.
I was going to ask you to point toward that in your motion and also to point toward the transcript of the March 31st hearing as to where that's referenced.  I believe it's on page one of three of your motion -- Notice of Motion.

A.
Is my motion in this notebook? 

Q.
We have copies of that.  What we are doing is getting copies out as you bring things up.  So if you reference something, we've got copies. 

A.
I understand.  Can you direct me what number tab the motion was in the notebook or not?  I can try to pull the motion.  I've got it.  I didn't realize it was going to be called out.

Q.
Look at 13, Mr. Rhoades. 

A.
I have my motion.  It's in the material.  I just went through it.

Q.
I believe -- and I'm just trying to move things ahead.  On the bottom of page one of three, is it item two you're referring to?

A.
Yes.  Do you want me to read this?  

Q.
Yes, sir.  Read it.

A.
On that page -- the first page of the motion, number two, the Judge -- it states, The Judge has manifested a bias and is not impartial to the plaintiff based on the Judge's statements in chambers before the hearing held on February 16, 2000 regarding defendant's Motion to Vacate; that the Judge was going to vacate the previous Final Order in this matter when the Judge had not even begun to consider any information, facts, or circumstances asserted on behalf of the plaintiff.  


Any hearing on the motion to vacate by this Judge is pointless, because the Judge has already stated her conclusions and decisions before considering any evidence, documents, or arguments of the plaintiff.


And then I went on to state --

Q. 
The Canons.

A.
Yes.  Quote them specifically. 

Q.
And within the hearing itself on that Motion to Recuse, you would have repeated this argument, I assume.  But in terms of you would have had no transcript of record, because there was none?

A.
That's correct.  Of that previous

hearing.  

Q.
So would this be, more or less, the sum and substance of what you would have argued that day in the March 31st hearing?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Is there anything else that needs to be brought to the Commission's attention in order to evaluate your claim of prejudgment?

A.
No.  And I would ask that some or all the Committee members read the transcript for themselves.  Again, I could sit here a long time and I could read you the transcript, but I don't -- 

Q.
We have that available.  I guess what I'm saying, Mr. Rhoades, in order to get through this, we want you to help us create that road map of where we're going next.


The next thing was punitive - excuse me, punitive threat in terms of visitation.  You offered a moment ago, and I want to go back to that and have you point out in the transcript where that was brought up as a punitive threat.  Again, this would be the transcript of the 16th?

A.
I'll tell you in just a minute.  I know it's referred to specifically in the draft of the appellate brief.  For everyone's reference that has a copy of it, and also I'll reference the transcript page 34 of the draft that I supplied to the Committee of the appellate brief.  Again, it's a draft.  I'm reading from that and it states specifically from the March 31st transcript.


Additionally, Judge Jefferson repeatedly noted that husband was deprived of visitation with the child because of his insistence on a hearing on the merits of the Motion to Vacate.  When Mr. Rhoades complained about the lack of visitation, Judge Jefferson said, quote, that was your choice.  


That's March 31, 2000 transcript, page 28.  And it goes on to quote the Judge, I think you need to -- dot, dot, dot -- go ahead and agree on the visitation.  In parentheses, husband is going to have more visitation this way, end quote.  That was from February 16th.

Q.
Would you reference the transcript directly on that and read out that portion that you were referencing?

A.
That's what I mentioned.  

Q.
I think that you've got the excerpt there, though; right?

A.
Yes, sir.

Q.
Can you go to the transcript and read that total colloquy?

A.
The page first was March 31st.  So let me pull that. 

Q.
So this was not the February 16th hearing?  This was at the Motion to Recuse hearing that you're talking --

A.
It was also February 16th, according to what I already have drafted in the brief.  It refers to the 16th, page 26 of the transcript.

Q.
Well, read that one first. 

A.
I have it here.  What specifically do you want me to read other than what I quoted?

Q.
The part that you've referenced.  I want you to read around it so we can get the context.

A.
All right.  Okay.  All right.  I'll start on page 25 of line 8 -- actually, line 7.  Once again, for what it's worth -- I was stating something.  And that was -- dot, dot, dot.  Then Judge Jefferson stepped in and said, And I think that was sufficient grounds for me to leave the the Motion to Vacate, in which case you all have indicated you are going to have a temporary hearing -- file a temporary motion to set visitation.  


What I had indicated to both, dash, dash, pause, I have no problem saying this for the record.  What I have indicated to both Ms. Myrick and you, that you all need to work out an amiable solution where she is allowed -- Ms. Brunson is allowed to go back to Colorado to resume her job and work out visitation, and we'll all work out the transportation aspect of that.


And I said, Despite the fact that he hasn't had contact with his daughter -- dot, dot, dot.  The Judge then says, It doesn't have anything to do with the merits.  It has to do with preserving status quo until the merits can be heard, which you continually try to advance to this court.  And what you want me to accept is your client's version of what happened, and I have indicated to you that I am not inclined to do that and that no one will be inclined to do that until they hear the full story.  And the only way you hear the full story is to have a hearing on the merits.  


I have indicated to you that I will get you an expedited hearing date where you can hear all the witnesses, but I am not going to accept wholesale Mr. Brunson's version of what has happened, especially in light of these allegations.  And what I will instruct you to do and what I think you need to do is that you need to go ahead and agree on visitation.  He is going to have more visitation this way.  


They have already indicated they will give him a block of visitation.  You need to go ahead and agree to have psychological evaluation done, go ahead and agree to have a guardian.  You know, there are lots of ways that you can get from Point A to Point B; but it seems to me that you have chosen a more rugged route when you choose the direct route.  


And then I spoke again.  The problem is -- dot, dot, dot.  Then the Judge began to speak, But in the interim, if y'all cannot come to an agreement, I am not going to jeopardize the child's best interest and put her in harm's way and mind -- pause.  The way I look at it, if I have to bear on the side of safety with these allegations, no harm, no foul, she will be protected and the court has a remedy.  


I think that states -- there was another reference that I'm trying to find that was important where the Judge -- I've already quoted from it, I believe -- stated that she hadn't read the affidavits, then she said something to the effect that she kind of read the affidavits and then --

Q.
And we're talking about --

REPRESENTATIVE McGEE:  I was going to ask what you said happened at -- what you just said that she threatened if he doesn't take this, then he's going to get the raw deal, so to speak.  That's my own words.  Is that what you took out of what you just read?

MR. RHOADES:  Yes.  That's one of the reasons I'm sitting here.  That's one of the reasons my client is upset.  It's like --

REPRESENTATIVE McGEE:  And what specific portion of that, again, did you --

MR. RHOADES:  It was on page 15 and reading over to 16.

REPRESENTATIVE McGEE:  You don't have to read the whole thing.

BY MR. COUICK:

Q. 
Just specify the exact paragraph.

A.
Excuse me.  I'm wrong.  It was page 28 and 29, I believe.  I'll go back to that in just a second.  I think I started on line -- I started on line -- I started on page 28 and went over to page 29.

SENATOR RITCHIE:  I don't think the pages are matching up between the transcript he's reading and the transcript we have.  Oh, you're reading from the 16th.  I'm reading from the 31st.  The same things are discussed in the 31st.  

MR. RHOADES:  That's right.

SENATOR RITCHIE:  It's almost identical.

MR. RHOADES:  That's because we had to rehash it for the motion.  I think page 28, that's where it was referenced.  But I think you asked me to go back.  I think I started on page 25.

BY MR. COUICK:

Q.
Just reference the specific section that shows the punitive threat since we have the context now. 

A.
Well, frankly, it was just stated.  That was an understood threat.  You either agree with my -- what I am saying, vacate it, let's get on with it, or you can just wait for a hearing and he's not going to get any visitation in the meantime.  Mind you after a year has gone by, he's had no contact with his daughter.

REPRESENTATIVE McGEE:  Tell me exactly where you got that from.  Page number and line number.

MR. RHOADES:  Well, it's what I just read.  She didn't explicitly say it.

REPRESENTATIVE McGEE:  Give me the page number and the line number.

MR. RHOADES:  All right.  I'll get it.  Just a minute.  

REPRESENTATIVE McGEE:  I think what Mr. Couick was doing, when you read the whole thing, it did make more sense in the whole conversation.  But now I would like the specificity, Mr. Rhoades, if you don't mind.

MR. RHOADES:  Sure.  I'm trying to get that for you.

REPRESENTATIVE McGEE:  Thank you.  Would it be on page -- well, I'll let you tell me.

MR. RHOADES:  I'm looking.  I just read from it.  

REPRESENTATIVE SMITH:  Mr. Chairman, when he was reading, I still missed the threat in the context that was read.

MR. COUICK:  I guess that's the question now, Mr. Smith, is for him to specify the punitive threat.  

MR. FREEMAN:  And this transcript --

MR RHOADES:  All right.

MR. FREEMAN:  Just a second.  I don't mean to cut you off.  

MR. RHOADES:  Yes, sir.

MR. FREEMAN:  In the context of what precedes it, which the Commission doesn't have the transcript and hasn't heard, there's been some allegations, I guess, in the affidavit put before the Judge that the mother's life has been threatened.  And then at the bottom of page 24 just before you picked up last time, the court says, Based on the affidavit that her life has been threatened and that he has threatened to have her obliterated from this earth, that is the basis for my allegations -- not my allegations.  That is the allegation that I base my ex parte Order on, that he has threatened her life and he has threatened to hire a hit man to have her eliminated.  


That's what the Judge has had presented, and that precedes this discussion.  And as I -- as I understood what you read before, it was that the Judge wanted the status quo preserved with the father having some visitation pending a hearing on the merits.  Is that - was that where she was coming from?

MR. RHOADES:  Yes, by agreement.

REPRESENTATIVE SMITH:  We have to go to roll call.  Be right back.

MR. RHOADES:  Do you want me to continue?  

MR. COUICK:  Mr. Chairman, it's certainly the Commission's decision.  I think that Mr. McGee and Mr. Smith are both very interested.  

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Why don't we hold for a minute.  I think they're just going to answer a roll call.  That way we won't have to go back over anything.

 (Off the record.)

BY MR. COUICK:  

Q.
Mr. Rhoades, tell me what other documents, if you want to make a list, that we've got -- we've got three or four copies.  What other documents would you like everyone to have a copy of that you're going to specifically reference, and we'll have those copies made because --

A.
That's what I didn't realize, Mike.  I would have -- Mr. Couick, excuse me.  I need to be more formal.

Q.
Everyone has copies of the affidavits.  We have copies of the transcripts, we have copies of motions here.

A.
Certainly one of the more important documents is the draft of the appellate brief which is so specific as to what the problems were.

Q.
If I could say, though, the appellate brief speaks to an argument.  It is to the extent that argument is an argument you make without having specific references to transcripts and giving those transcript references.  It's really just an argument.

A.
It does have transcript references.

Q.
Does it always give the transcript reference --

A.
Yes.

Q.
-- in terms of a quote?

A.
Yes.  It gives the specific transcript page.  That's what I'm reading from.  That's why I'm coming back to these.  That's why I supplied it, because it was so specific.  

MR. FISHER:  Mr. Chairman, I have a question.  In terms of the larger picture, the case -- the Order has been appealed?

MR. RHOADES:  Yes.

MR. FISHER:  That's been appealed.  Okay.  And you have filed a complaint against the Judge with the Judicial Standards.  And the Judge has filed a complaint against you?

MR. RHOADES:  Yes.

MR. FISHER:  And all those are pending?  The appeal is pending and the complaint against you is pending and the complaint against the Judge is pending?

MR. RHOADES:  That's correct.

MR. COUICK:  There's also one other complaint that we can talk about a little bit later that has been dismissed that relates to this same area.  I believe that was filed against Judge Jefferson by another party that will be here today.

MR. FISHER:  That's what I was trying -- all these are unresolved at this point in time?

MR. COUICK:  Except for the one.  

BY MR. COUICK:

Q.
Is there anything else, Mr. Rhoades?

A.
Yes.  I'll just take a moment to go through more specifically.  I had it just a minute ago, and I lost the page when Mr. Brunson was talking to me.  I can go further or we can wait.

Q.
Just tell me other documents that you feel are the most important for the --

A.
Frankly, I thought all of the documents and transcripts were.

Q.
They are all available, Mr. Rhoades, but you carry the burden of bringing the specifics to the attention of this Commission.  The documents that you filed, as I said, there was no road map to tie them to your allegations.  We've attempted to digest them.  The staff has done that.  But to the extent we provide our digest, it's not your complaint.  It's not your allegation.

A.
I understand that.  I think, Mr. Couick, what you're asking me, that's the reason why I gave a copy of this brief because it does give a road map.  It does outline the problems very specifically with transcript pages and lines. 

Q.
Then I expect you to go through the brief, then, and bring it to the Commission's attention.  

A.
And that's why I keep referring to it.  I understand.  There are a few things in addition that I'll add to it. 

Q.
All right. 

MR. CHAIRMAN:  We'll stand in recess for 15 minutes, let the record show, to obtain documents.  

 (A recess transpired.)

MR. COUICK:  Mr. Chairman, if we could go back on the record.  

BY MR. COUICK:

Q.
Back to the issue in the transcript of the presence of a punitive threat and intimidation as relates to visitation.  I believe Mr. McGee had asked you right before he left, Mr. Rhoades, to specify where in the transcript that occurs.

A.
If I may, since I had that time, I utilized the time to go back through the transcript to be as specific as possible.  I'd like to go back a few pages that back up to that and lead up to specifically answer that question.  Those of you who do have a copy of the transcript, I refer you, first, to page 11.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Which - which transcript?

MR. RHOADES:  I'm sorry.  February 16, 2000.  You'll see on line 8 where it says -- quotes the court, I must say here, the ex parte Order needs to be amended because it says in here that I hereby find that there is an immediate threat of harm to the minor child, and I don't feel that way because I have not had an opportunity the review the affidavits.  I have reviewed a couple of affidavits, but not the one that everybody has been referring to.  I think this is misleading.  So what I will do is strike out the immediate harm sentence.  


You all need to resubmit this to me and it will state minor child shall remain in the care, custody and control of the defendant.


Again I stated, What about -- dot, dot dot.  And then another one down below I was cut off again, typical.  Page 13 --

BY MR. COUICK:  

Q.
Are we on the issue of intimidation, Mr. Rhoades, or are we on a collateral group of issues?

A.
I'm on the issue of, in part, going back to ex parte -- they all interlock, in my opinion.

Q.
I would like to focus on getting an answer to this question that Mr. McGee asked; and that was, where is the threat?  Where is the intimidation?  

REPRESENTATIVE McGEE:  In other words, Mr. Rhoades, what I understood you to say was that -- what I believe you were saying was the Judge told me in this hearing that if I didn't do what she said to do, that she was going to make sure that the client suffered because of that.  Is that -- would that be a fair --

MR. RHOADES:  Well, that would be the inference to take from what was said, and I'll give you those specifics.  I spent the time of 15 minutes looking at it.  It's from the same transcript.  Go to page 22, line 21.  


I stated, The other point is, Your Honor, is you're not giving -- you're suspending all visitation when there is no -- dot, dot.  And the Judge said, I'm leaving the ex parte Order in effect.  That was your choice.  We could have gone forward on the motion today with the affidavits, but you have indicated that you want to have live testimony.  And I have no problem with that; but in the interim, I'm leaving my ex parte Order in effect.  


This is going onto page 23.  He will have visitation today and through this evening and tomorrow and he will return the child.  


Mr. Rhoades:  All right.  I'm going to ask the court, please, then to state -- and I know my client would like to know and I would like to know for the record how, based on the affidavits, the court has determined that my client is a danger to his child and can't see his child. 


I didn't say he was a danger to his child.  It is my understanding that Ms. Brunson will be leaving the state to go back to Colorado where she is now living.  I am not going to leave her here.  I have stayed the effect of my Order.  It is very clear from my Final Order.  I have read it since I granted a relief when I granted -- that I granted.  That's why I put the provisions in there that she could challenge it, and I've given you the ability to challenge it. 


I never felt I had the full understanding of the circumstances.  I never felt I was hearing the full story.  Until I hear the full story, I'm staying my Order.


And I said, Well -- dot, dot.  I think it's in the child's best interest and there are very serious allegations here.  And it goes on about there are allegations that the mother's life has been threatened.  


I'll stop there.  The point is,

getting from this, I and my client got it real clearly if you don't want to go along with what I'm suggesting, then he's not going to get any visitation other than he's got whatever she gave right there.  It goes back to what I said earlier on page 11.  I said the Judge said she hadn't read the affidavits, then she's saying he's not a threat to his child.  


Then she's turning around and saying, basically, what I understand out of this -- and, obviously, y'all will interpret it your way - is -- and you didn't see the body language and the way it was being stated.  Mr. Thrower might be able to shed some light on that.  That is that I -- well, you can take this or he's not getting any visitation.  That's it.  


And, by the way, keep in mind the Judge has read all, supposedly -- has the affidavits, either did or didn't read them.  It's unclear.  She said she did or didn't.  And it's, well, he's not getting visitation.  Remember she said, You chose that, or something to that effect that I read.  That's where I got that that's a threat.  You chose it.  That's your choice.  This is what you get, is not said.  Here's what you're going to get in return, nothing, other than just the visitation that --

MR. FREEMAN:  Let's look at page 26, line 5.  I have indicated to you that I will get -- that you will get an expedited hearing date where you can hear all the witnesses.  I'm not going to accept wholesale on Mr. Brunson's version of what has happened, especially in light of these allegations, which at least, I take it, to refer to serious allegations involving the threat of bodily harm.  And what I will instruct you to do and what I think you need to do is you need to go ahead and agree on visitation.  He is going to have more visitation this way.  They have already indicated they will give him a block of visitation.  


Now how is that -- how can you interpret that as coming from somebody who is trying to punish the father and deprive the father of visitation when you see those words?

MR. RHOADES:  Because she's not going to give him any visitation.  She's saying you folks agree on it, or he'll just have to wait.  She's vacating her prior Order, yet she's not putting in the divorce decree that allowed him what he had with visitation.  


So she's, in essence, saying you're going to get punished.  She gets to go to Colorado, regardless of it, and do whatever.  You're not going to get any visitation in spite that I vacated my Order.  Now there's -- I'm not going to have any Orders in effect.  So I'm going to reward the wife for going to Colorado.  You're not getting anything.  You chose you want the hearing.  


This isn't appropriate.  I don't see how that's appropriate.  Then my client is left with no Order, no -- remember she says there's no threat of harm to this child.  I don't think anybody disputes that.  Even you'll see who reads the transcript of the former Guardian.  


And so yet he's being deprived of all this because you chose that.  And what -- I don't know any judges that want to frankly come out and say, Look, I don't like all this.  I'm going to hammer you.  I just want to let you know.  Let me get that on the record a little clearer that get ready, because execution is coming.  That's - I think -- I doubt anybody is going to see that, either, in any circumstances.  


So there has to be some inference in what y'all are not seeing, too, by the way.  The body language of the Judge, the pursed lips, the disgust that I referred to that I expect Mr. Thrower will explain further when -- if he testifies before this Committee.

MR. FREEMAN:  This statement, they have already indicated that they will give him a block of visitation, was there ever any indication from the other side that they were going to give the father a block of visitation?

MR. RHOADES:  Sure.  With lots of conditions and whatever they wanted.  They were writing it when the wife left for Colorado and says, go ahead, you take care of the cost and we'll -- you take whatever we give you or drop dead.  Sure.  I don't see how that's appropriate to -- and then say -- basically the Judge is saying they offered you something, apparently.  You should have taken it.  You don't, too bad.  You get nothing.  You didn't have -- but it's okay.  I'm going to give you at least a day or two.  


So obviously she wasn't concerned about him being a threat to the child.  She specifically said that, the Judge did, in the transcript.  It's -- the clear inference is, okay, you don't want to play ball.  Then we'll do it this way.  That's what I got out of it, and I feel very strongly.  


Does that answer the question?  

MR. FREEMAN:  Thank you.

BY MR. COUICK:

Q.
Mr. Rhoades, we have the four grounds for Motion to Recuse, and we have gone through, I believe, the ex parte, punitive threat, abusive behavior, and there was an already-decided matter.  And then that motion was heard on March 31st; is that correct?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Who was present in the courtroom that day?

A.
I believe Mr. Thrower; the other people behind me that you've asked to be here today; Mr. Brunson, obviously; his mother, Norma Brunson; his sister, I think it was Elaine, as I recall; and Ms. Adele, I don't believe was in the courtroom, but I'm not sure.  I think Angela Brunson was also in the courtroom.

Q.
And the reason given for the denial of your motion that day was what?  When your Motion to Recuse was denied, what was the reason given?

A.
I'll have to quote it.  Well, actually, it was -- it wasn't denied on that day.  It was denied later.  There was never any final -- I don't think.  I'd have to go back and look at it, but I know there was certainly no clear decision, if any decision, was made.  And I know I asked for it to be decided when we went through three days of hearing.  Then a decision was actually made on it, which, in part, I brought up the other letters that I had a problem with writing about to the Judge.

Q.
So on March 31st, the hearing is scheduled to hear a Motion to Recuse; is that correct?

A.
A Motion to Recuse and the beginning, I believe, of a Motion to Vacate.

Q.
So there is no decision made on the Motion to Recuse at the beginning of that hearing?  

MR. FREEMAN:  I think on page 46, I could be wrong, but it says, So the motion is denied.

MR. RHOADES:  I think that's correct.  What page?

MR. FREEMAN:  Page 46, line 12. 

MR. RHOADES:  Is that from April 20th? 

MR. FREEMAN:  This is March 31, 2000. 

MR. RHOADES:  Page 46?

MR. FREEMAN:  Line 12.  

MR. RHOADES:  Yes.  It was addressed, but never -- a formal Order was not issued.  Stated specifically line 7, There is nothing unethical about my concerns.  There is nothing inappropriate about my concerns.  There is nothing in my concerns that indicate that I am bias or prejudice.  It merely bore out what my gut suspicions were about it, and that those gut suspicions were learned from the context of this case, which I am entitled to do.  So the motion is denied.  


Then she doesn't deal with the in- chambers discussion, what she said to me and my paralegal and the other people.  It doesn't deal with, as best I recall -- unless it's on the other pages -- the ex parte references.  There was never any discussion, I believe, other than just -- 

REPRESENTATIVE SMITH:  Mr. Chairman.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Yes, Representative Smith.

REPRESENTATIVE SMITH:  I'm sorry.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Did you ever ask the Judge or anybody else to bring in the court reporter so you could have a transcript of record with the chambers -- with the chamber discussions?

MR. RHOADES:  No, because it was virtually over right after it started.  It was a very short meeting.  And, frankly, while I wasn't floored by it, because I was sitting there - in this short meeting, we're going to have to go out there -- I think I -- I don't recall exactly what I said.  I probably said something like I'll have to go check with my client, because I always do.  And that was the -- it was probably only about five minutes, if it was that.  


And if -- even if I had -- I would have assumed, well, if I get a court reporter in that meeting, then it's the same as going into the hearing.  Anything that's said, we're going to have to have a hearing or something to that effect, and we did. 

REPRESENTATIVE SMITH:  That's all, Mr. Chairman.

SENATOR RITCHIE:  Mr. Chairman.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Yes, sir, Senator. 

SENATOR RITCHIE:  In your mind, is there a difference in a Judge signing to stay an Order that's enforce versus vacating an Order that's enforce?

MR. RHOADES:  Yes.  Stay, as I understand, is holding off on having it take effect.  Vacating it is to throw it out. SENATOR RITCHIE:  And what was your understanding of what the Judge was doing after the -- at the February 16th decision prior to the hearing on March 31st?  Was she staying it or vacating it?

MR. RHOADES:  Little bit of both.  Kind of like a temporary vacating.  She was saying I'm not going to do it.  But, as best I can recall, she also didn't put what I think should have been common sense, okay, we go back to the divorce decree.  That's the only outstanding Order, then.  But that wasn't okay.  Everything -- there was nothing.  My client was left with nothing.  


And back to what I just testified to was, I got it.  Well, you chose that.  Yeah, I chose that because my client chose not to just take whatever crumbs or whatever the other side says, I get to go to Colorado, do whatever I want to.  Here, we'll give you this.  Wait a minute.  I had full joint custody.  I had all this.  I didn't move.  


And so my client should just say, yeah, I guess I've just got to take whatever because my ex-wife chose to take off with her boyfriend to Colorado.  I don't think that's appropriate, and especially when the Judge is saying herself that she didn't see any danger to the child.  Why did he chose anything?


Does that answer your question?  

SENATOR RITCHIE:  (Nodding head.)

BY MR. COUICK:

Q.
Mr. Rhoades so we now agree that on that day, the 31st, there was a decision made on the Motion to Recuse and Judge Jefferson --

A.
Yes.

Q.
-- denied the Motion to Recuse?  Is there anything else at this point that we need to bring up about the filing of the Motion to Recuse, the grounds for the Motion to Recuse, or the denial of the Motion to Recuse?  Is there anything else that needs to be discussed from your standpoint?

A.
Yes.  As far as the filing of the Motion to Recuse.  The decision, as far as the details of it, were not reduced to writing and were never made until the end of the case after the Motion to Vacate hearing and it was incorporated and the decision was made after we offered to propose Orders.  I made a Proposed Order, but was never paid any attention to.  The Judge finally issued her Order on the Motion to Recuse.  


Subsequent to that, though, during the course of the hearing -- and I brought up in the letters, which I think are further indication of her bias and prejudice against me personally, as well as my client -- were letters that I listed and I think --

Q.
We have those.  If I could stop you, though.  I want to keep this focused, if we can, on the Motion to Recuse itself.  The Motion to Recuse was denied on March 31st during the course of the hearing.  There's actually an Order to recuse granted on October 6, 2000 and a question as to whether those two things were tied together under question of fact.  But is there anything else about the Motion to Recuse that you filed or its denial on March 31st that this Commission needs to hear?  I realize there's other behavior, but --

A.
I don't think so.

Q.
Okay.  Then we're to the 31st chronologically of March.  During that hearing, you complained within your affidavit -- I'm looking, again, on page five of nine - that during the hearing of the Motion for Recusal, the Judge constantly cut you off from finishing your statements.  Was that on the Motion to Recuse or was that more specifically on the Motion to Vacate that was heard during that same time?

A.
It was, as best I recall, substantially through the case, although I recall it wasn't as bad on the last day.  The Judge seemed to calm down a little bit.  I've already cited a number of those instances where there's dot, dot, dot.  I don't know if you want me to go further than that.

Q.
Just you note -- and I'll read, Mr. Chairman, quoting -- She was condescending and abusive in her demeanor towards me regarding my arguments when there was no justification except that, upon information and belief, in her mind this was one way she could try and get me to back off and do what she wanted.  


Do you have any specifics that you would point to in the transcript on the 31st of March that would support that conclusion that you've not previously read?

A.
Not that I recall.  There may be, but I don't recall anything right off the top of my head other than what I've already read.

Q.
Are those that you've already read, would you care to go back and point to any specifically that would show specifically that the Judge was trying to get you to back off and do what she wanted?  Is there anything?

A.
Yes, but I don't believe it's in a transcript.  I don't know why it wasn't.  At some point, out of the blue, in the middle of, I believe, the Motion to Vacate hearing, I don't believe I saw Pat Danner writing it down or typing it in.  I wish I had thought about it.  I guess I was angry at being told that.  


And I know and I'm careful because of being a lawyer represents matters in malpractice, I read these rules and know these rules pretty well.  And I read the commentary that says that if a Judge defaults on any Canons of Conduct, the attorney must not default in addition.  I was very careful of that, and I read that before I went in that hearing.  


Having said that, for some reason the Judge called us up out of the clear blue, irritated, I guess, with objections, whatever was going on in the Motion to Vacate.  And I was told in no uncertain terms -- and everyone - I believe the other witnesses could hear it.  Although it wasn't taken down for some reason by the court reporter, everyone else -- Mr. Thrower and the people sitting in this courtroom - could hear it.  


Something to the effect of, Mr. Rhoades, you need to understand that I think you're in contempt.  I've talked about you with a colleague of mine, and they think you're in contempt.  And it basically is saying, you better think about it.  You're on your way to a lot of trouble.  I'm paraphrasing.  That's what I got out of it real clearly.  


And I gritted my teeth.  What am I going to say?  I'm standing in front of the Judge and she's lambasting me.  I have to remember that commentary and humbly now say something more specific.  So I -- I did later.  I turned around and went back to the table.  I did later write letters when I got to thinking about it.  You know, Judge, I want to know who that Judge was, because you prejudiced me now to another Judge.  And I don't know what you told him, and that Judge ought to hear from me.  


And like I have said, I've got 80 or 90 percent of my time coming down before all of these Judges.  I know about every crack on the wall.  And now do I have some Judge that's now hearing something without hearing from me, in fairness, about another Judge is complaining, You know that Dusty Rhoades, he's a jerk.  You wouldn't believe what he was doing.


I'm sure that goes on.  But when you make a point of saying that with everybody present in a very hotly contested case like this and that you're virtually on the verge of holding someone like me in contempt, that's right serious.  And I demanded by letter that I submitted, and it wasn't allowed by Judge Jefferson to be put into the record, to let me know who that Judge was.  


To this day, three letters were written, and I have never received so much as an acknowledgment that I had asked that.  Not, I'm not going to tell you; not, here's the Judge I talked to; not, it's none of your business.  The Judge did not even acknowledge the question.  


And you'll see, finally, that I've asked those letters to be submitted to you that the -- and I'll tell you why.  This is important.  The last letter said, I still haven't heard from you.  I'm going to assume if I don't hear from you in two days -- I think this was June 21st or 23rd of last year -- that I'm not going to hear from you and act accordingly.  


I wasn't quite sure what I was going to do, whether a formal complaint or whatever the case was.  I had to think about it.  But still no acknowledgment.  Not even a response.  I think I deserved at least the dignity of a response.  The reason I think I didn't get a response, and I would like to just --

Q.
If we could, Mr. Rhoades, is --

A.
Yes.

Q.
-- we're getting kind on a --

A.
All right.

Q.
We're talking about the March 31st hearing.  We're trying to go chronologically.  What you're speaking about was a continuation of that hearing on April 20th; is that right?

A.
I think it was the last day of the hearing and then --

Q.
I believe in your complaint you specify it was on April 20, 2000 is when she called the three attorneys to the bench.

A.
That's what I said.  That's when I believe it was.

Q.
Just so we can keep moving literally so we can get through and not revisit issues --

A.
Yes.

Q.
- on the 31st of March, you indicate that Judge Jefferson was condescending and abusive in her demeanor towards me regarding my arguments and that she tried to get you to back off and do what she wanted.  Please tell me and the Commission on the 31st of March, as you allege, what did Judge Jefferson do to do those two things, be abusive and get you to back off?

A.
It was primarily her cutting me off, her tone of voice, her being very cursory with me that I believe everyone observed.  The transcript doesn't pick up any of those things.  The looks, the pursed lips, the body language; but mainly being so curt.  The transcript does show how many times I was cut off.  Look at the pages and you'll see just that.  


The -- specifically beyond that, you'll see in the affidavit, I believe, of Roberta Diamond and Mr. Thrower --

Q.
Excuse me for a moment.  You're talking about affidavits that are not before this Commission in regard of Ms. Diamond.  Now Mr. Thrower will be here to present his own testimony a little bit later.

A.
I thought you received --

Q.
Ms. Diamond's testimony is not before the Commission.  She's been excused from subpoena for medical reasons.  We'd like to discuss that with you, but if we could talk about the 31st.  You said that there's really nothing on the record other than being cut off and that the tone does not suggest it from the record; is that right?  Is there anything else from the 31st that supports your allegation of her being abusive or threatening to you?

A.
Not that I can add.  No.

Q.
On page six of nine of your affidavit you say, After the initial making of the Motion for Recusal -- this is number eight -- the Judge thereafter attempted to clear the courtroom of anyone until I firmly objected and requested to have the Judge state her specific reasons for doing so upon which she backed off the request to clear the courtroom.  She took the approach that I have not seen before of taking inventory of all persons in the courtroom.  


When she spoke to Attorney William Thrower at one point during the hearing, she stated in a sarcastic tone, I know why you're here, Mr. Thrower.  She knew that Mr. Thrower had already written an affidavit verifying the hostile attitude/demeanor she had towards me in an earlier hearing and she clearly resented that he was there again.  


Going now just to the hearing on the 31st, please tie this to a benchmark in the pages

that Judge Jefferson violated any of these actions that you outline in paragraph eight. 

A.
I don't know that I can add anything to what I just said and what you just reviewed.

Q.
What is the benchmark of behavior under the Canons that she would have violated?

A.
What it should have done is - what the words are, and more specifically, Patient, dignified, and courteous.  None of those things were there.  Not to mention at the litigants attitude to the attorneys.  Sarcasm, certainly wasn't courteous.  She was clearing the courtroom, which was certainly against the public policy of this state, and that's why I believe she backed off on it when I said I didn't want the courtroom cleared.  These same people were to be in the courtroom.  


And the benchmark, as you call it, would be that simply should allow the people in there.  I don't know what the reason was for the inventory, frankly, to this day.  I have not seen it from any other Judge, but the inventory was point-by-point of the same people that she had seen on the other days.

Q.
Mr. Rhoades, in my review of your affidavit -- and I'm beginning on page four now -- I believe that we've covered the first page, page four of nine.

A.
Yes.

Q.
And then on the second page we've covered item four, item five.  We've -- we've kept back item six and reserved it for a moment to come back to.  And then on page six, we've not covered item seven.  So we have item six and seven left.  We've covered item eight, and then we've got item nine and ten left.  So do you agree?

A.
Yes.

Q.
If we could go back to page five of nine and go to the April 20th hearing, and this is what you were referring to earlier when you talked about the conference at the bench between three attorneys and the additional attorney being you and Judge Jefferson.  Please tell me what is the benchmark of behavior that she would have violated here, and then describe how it was violated.  And give specific references in the transcript, if there is one, that would show that. 

A.
I don't believe it's in the transcript.  I think -- I don't know why it wasn't on the record when it was so loud that everyone in the courtroom could hear it.  But as best as I recall the transcript, it doesn't show up in the transcript.  I suspect it would be on the tape, though, because it was so loud.  


Having said that, the benchmark, as you call it, as I understand it, would be her attitude was anger, that she was ready to do something to me and hold me in contempt, some reference to my tone or otherwise.  I was very careful with my tone and just for that reason, because I knew that, again, the Judge controls and I can't.  And I have to watch myself.  


And it's like going into the courtroom to some degree with your own hands handcuffed and you have to take it because of the Judge's position no matter who they are to some degree.  You put your objections on the record thoroughly, maybe firmly, but respectfully.  I believe I did that, and the witnesses will verify that.  She took a different approach, and it was, I'm going to hold you in contempt and I'm all but there.  And I've got a colleague I've talked to that agrees with me.  


And I don't think it's appropriate that she's discussing me knowing that, specifically my practice, as many times as I'm in the court, that she's now prejudicing me to another Judge by her own statements.

Q.
Is it your memory that she mentioned to you or told you that she had mentioned your name to the other Judge?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Did she tell that I have discussed your behavior?

A.
Yes.

Q.
So the Judge would have been aware of your identity?

A.
According to her statements, absolutely.  Yes.

Q.
Is it ever appropriate under the Canons for a Judge to consult with other court personnel or Judges about general matters of the administration of their responsibilities without divulging to counsel that they're doing that?  Is that considered ex parte communication for them to do so?

A.
I don't think so.  Not to my knowledge.  But this wasn't in that category when you're talking about the specifics of my conduct that some other Judge hasn't seen, and especially knowing, in essence, the communication that this man is a problem.

Q.
How does it take it outside of that category?  Is there an exception to the exception that we're talking about?  Is there something that you're aware of in the Canons that says a Judge can't talk about attorneys with other Judges?

A.
Judges can't make misstatements and lie.  There was nothing I knew of in that hearing that indicated that I had anything even remotely close to contempt.  And stating that to a Judge, there is something in the Canons -- I can't look it up right now.  I'll get to it -- saying a Judge will not lie.  And if that statement was made to a Judge, I want to know about it because it would not be supported, in my opinion.

Q.
The concern there is a lie being told.  It's not the communication; is that right?

A.
That's correct.

Q.
So it depends really on what was communicated or conveyed.  


What were you told, again, specifically -- at the in-camera conference at the bench, what were you told was said?  What did Judge Jefferson tell you she told the other Judge?

A.
Let me clarify your question.  I never had the understanding it was in-camera.

Q.
I'm not talking about -- I mean, there at the bench.  I'm sorry.

A.
Or even that.  I never had an understanding one way or the other it was off the record.  My understanding was we were told to approach the bench.  And until I saw the transcript, to the best of my recollection, it was not in the transcript.  

I'm sorry.  Based on that preface, would you please ask the question again?

Q.
What were you told by Judge Jefferson that she said that he had told another Judge about you or about the proceedings?  What statement did she make?

A.
Something to the effect that my behavior was contemptuous.  That the way my conduct had been in the courtroom, that she ought to hold me in contempt and that because my tone or something to that.  It was vague and general and it wasn't specific.

Q.
Is there anything else about the April 20th hearing that you were concerned about and you noted?  As I said, on page five of nine it continues on.  Is there anything else we need to bring to the Commission's attention about that hearing?

A.
No.  

MR. FREEMAN:  Mr. Chairman.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Yes, sir.

MR. FREEMAN:  I've got just a quick question.  Just so I'm clear, what was it that she thought was contemptuous?  Is it the - the affidavit says actions and now you mention tone.  I mean, can you call to mind, as well as you can, what she said?

MR. RHOADES:  Can you tell me what you're pointing to on that?

MR. FREEMAN:  Yeah.  It's on paragraph six, line four of your affidavit. 

MR. RHOADES:  Well, that's just when she said my actions.  She didn't specify.  It was her tone to me that I understand about I think she -- I'm not even sure she referred -- it was have a very general, vague thing.  My action and my behavior and the way I handled myself in the courtroom was contemptuous without saying anything specific.

BY MR. COUICK:

Q.
Mr. Rhoades, on page six of nine of your affidavit and talking about during the course of the hearing, the parties agreed upon a Guardian ad Litem.  Could you tell me who that -- when that was done and who the Guardian ad Litem is?

A.
It was the, I believe, the second or last day of the hearing.  I'd have to go back and look.  I'll do that if you want.  For the moment, I'll try to answer that question the best I can.  The Motion to Vacate hearing took three days.  And during the course of one of those days of the hearing, the parties, both sides, had agreed that Paul Schwartz would be the Guardian ad Litem.  I don't believe there was a formal Order at that point, but we had informed the Judge of that.

Mr. Schwartz -- am I going too far?

Q.
Go ahead.

A.
Mr. Schwartz, during the course of the hearing -- I think while somebody, it was Ms. Myrick or Mr. Jennings were asking questions -- Mr. Schwartz asked -- tapped me on the shoulder and he asked me to ask a certain question.  I don't recall what it was.  He's known to do that.  That's not unusual.  Then there was an immediate demeanor change with the Judge watching that.  She clearly had a problem, from what I observed, about it.  

First we went to -- and that part should be in the transcript.  I'll have to go back and look it up.  But what was said specifically was that that -- she thought that was inappropriate or something to that effect that the Guardian -- potential Guardian was tapping me on the shoulder asking me to ask questions.  

Then, as I recall, the other side -- nobody complained and said, Okay, well, let's take this Paul Schwartz man off as potential Guardian.  We're not going to do that.  That didn't seem to satisfy her, because we went on with a hearing and it kept sticking in her craw, so to speak, and it came up again and she brought it up again.  

Finally ended up saying, well, something to the effect -- and the transcript will speak for itself -- well, I guess it really bothers me and I think it has an appearance or something to the effect of appearance of impropriety and that shouldn't have been done.  I have -- I have a very huge problem with that.  And neither party was objecting to the Guardian to be pulled off.  Both parties obviously felt -- both parties obviously felt that he was acceptable, and then the Judge turned around -- you want me to stop?

The Judge turned around and saying, well, finally -- basically, from what I observed and the physical demeanor and the inferences from the conduct and the words and the way they were said, well, if you're not going to object to it, then I'm going to object to it.  So basically she had a problem with Mr. Schwartz tapping me on the shoulder and asking a question.  And, therefore, it's good enough for Mr. Schwartz to ask me a question.  It wasn't good enough for her and she excluded him.  

The problem with that is she certainly had no problem making those kind of statements in the back room that she's setting the standard for appearance of impropriety.  If that's the standard, then it also ought to be applied to her actions in the course of this case and others, which it was not.

Q.
The next paragraph that we've not considered is paragraph one -- it's page six of nine, paragraph nine.  You were generally talking about dilatory performance.

You say here the Judge put in her Final Order, which she personally drafted, and unjustifiably took three months or more to accomplish, that my client and I, plaintiff and his counsel made gross misrepresentations, and you said you were adding extra words because it was so simple for the Judge to tack on and his counsel, et cetera, et cetera.

So you first raised the issue that it took three months or more to accomplish.  I take that was part of the dilatory performance; is that right?

A.
Yes.

Q.
What is your general expectation of the issuance of a Final Order in family court on a matter like this, Mr. Rhoades?  What's your self-experience?

A.
It depends.  It could be that long.  But in a case like such as this -- it depends on the case and circumstances.  This Judge had Proposed Orders.  And when Judges receive Proposed Orders, generally, I know the court administration, to the best of my knowledge, wants them within 30 days.  

And I believe I nicely inquired when will you have the Order?  When will you have the order?  We need a response.  It's going to have to be appealed.  Let's get on with it.  I didn't say that, but that's what I needed it for.  And I don't recall getting any real response until finally I had to write Justice Toal.  I think I deserved the courtesy of response and didn't even get that.  

For instance, one Judge -- typically, it's not unusual, a Judge will say, I'm under the gun.  I've had a lot of cases that have gone on and been contested.  I have a death in the family.  I haven't heard none of that, and there is no excuse, in my opinion, to sit on this for three months.  And that's one of the problems I had.

SENATOR RITCHIE:  Mr. Chairman.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Yes, sir.  Senator from Spartanburg.

SENATOR RITCHIE:  Any other instances in your practice where there's been a delay of 60 to 80 days from the time the Proposed Orders were submitted and the Final Orders came out where you wrote the Chief Justice about the Judge's delay?

MR. RHOADES:  I don't believe so.

SENATOR RITCHIE:  This is the only case where you have written to the Chief Justice about the delay in issuing the Order?  

MR. RHOADES:  To the best of my knowledge.  I'm pretty certain -- 99 percent certain of that.

SENATOR RITCHIE:  And have you had cases where there's been a longer delay than 80 days?

MR. RHOADES:  Yes, I have.  But not with these circumstances and the acrimony that was in this case and the facts that seemed, to me, to be not very complicated to make a decision.  Some cases take longer because the factual circumstances of property division and all that is involved in it.  There's no property division in this circumstance.  

This was an issue of just vacating the Order.  And three months seems, based on my experience -- with considerable experience, I might add -- is unjustified.  And at least I deserved a response.  If she had a death in her family, if she had another problem.  I'm having this problem.  Please bear with me.  Things happen.  We all know that.  But I didn't -- to my knowledge, I didn't even get the courtesy of that, nor did anybody else, as far as I know. 

BY MR. COUICK: 

Q.
Mr. Rhoades, the letter you referred to is dated September 22, 2000, is that correct, to Justice Toal?  

MR. COUICK:  I believe it's in the packet that was handed out, Mr. Chairman, item number ten.

MR. RHOADES:  I don't have a copy of it.  I'd have to -- I would assume it is since that's what it says.

BY MR. COUICK:  

Q.
It's about 10 or 15 pages into that packet.  Within that letter, and if I could Mr. Chairman, you note the issues primarily involved custody, visitation, child support, and last date of hearing was June 23, 2000.  Judge Jefferson requested that both sides provide Proposed Orders along with computer discs to the Judge by July 7, 2000.  That was done.  

So the delay was between what date and what date that you wrote?  Was it between the 23rd of June and the 22nd of September, or was it between July 7th and September 22nd?  When was the delay?

A.
I guess it would be July 7th is when we had the Proposed Orders.

Q.
Were the Orders filed on time, are you aware?  You said that she requested both sides to provide Proposed Orders.  Are you aware were you provided a Proposed Order when the other side provided Proposed Orders?

A.
I believe it just about that day.  My recollection is it was just about that day.

Q.
Were you given a copy of the Proposed Order by the other side?

A.
That's my recollection.

Q.
So would you believe it was about the 7th of July?

A.
Yes.  It might have been even a little bit late on the other side, but I didn't complain about that.  I'm not sure about that.

Q.
Senator Ritchie was going to ask -- part of the question I was getting ready to ask, and that was your practice of asking for things to be filed and orders to be filed.  This was the first time you had ever written a Chief Justice, is that correct --

A.
Yes.

Q.
-- about an Order?

A.
But can I explain that?  

Q.
Yes.

A.
I've written other judges nicely about saying, Gee, Judge, you know, my client has asked about the Order.  It's been three months or two months or one month.  And all clients want closure.  Everybody does.  And that's a simple one-line statement to a Judge.  But at least what I normally, almost virtually always get, is the courtesy of some response about what is going on that a lawyer is unaware of and the litigants are unaware of.  

With Judge Saunders, he took something like seven or eight months.  He had heart problems and he had some other things going on.  He had the courtesy to at least respond on a case that I had with him.  Other judges, that's just normal problems.  Stuff happens.

Q.
Would you usually just write once to the Judge or multiple times and ask --

A.
Usually once.  At the most, twice, in my experience.

Q.
So in this case, you wrote Judge Jefferson on August 7, 2000.  That's attachment number seven as part of that same packet.  You wrote Judge Jefferson August 7th, which was, I believe, 30 days after the deadline for the submission of Proposed Orders; is that correct?

A.
Yes.  I believe that's correct.

Q.
Within that letter you say, My client has asked how much longer it will be before you've made a decision on the above-referenced case.  The last hearing was held on June 23rd.  I old Mr. Brunson I would try to attempt to find out when the Order of the decision could be expected.  

Is that the only time you wrote Judge Jefferson about -- after -- that the matter was filed after the --

A.
I'm not sure.  It could be.  But my recollection, also, is I have my paralegal call down and talk to her secretary.  We routinely do that.  Simply make a phone call and check with the secretary sometimes.  I prefer to do that and not get the Judge upset.

Q.
But in terms of written record before this Commission, the correspondence here is a letter on August 7th to Judge Jefferson.  Do you have any other correspondence you would like to make available to us --

A.
No.

Q.
-- about the issue of the Order?

A.
I think that's correct.

Q.
Are there any other matters relating to the Final Order other than you say the issue of retribution there; is that right?  Paragraph nine, page six of nine.

A.
Do you want me to testify regarding that?

Q.
Right.  Are there any other issues within that paragraph other than retribution?  I believe that's all I read, but I want to make sure you get a fair reading of your own allegations.  And if not, if you could describe the threat of retribution that you felt.

A.
Yes.  I think, frankly, I would -- it's obvious I was being very candid in that paragraph, and I still mean what I wrote there.  It hasn't changed.  The retribution factor is back to what I pointed out in the transcript, you chose.  


Well, that was the theme of the whole case from the moment I walked in the in-chambers.  It was condescension, attitude, you're not going the way I think you need to go, we don't need to go through all this, this ought to be -- well, I've got a way of dealing with this, was the attitude.  And I got the body language, pursed lips.  


The retribution was, as I said very succinctly, I think, and directly -- I don't think I've mixed words -- that it is very simple and all lawyers know that.  A Judge can put what they want in an Order, which is why I'm here testifying now.  You can put any three extra words, unsupported or supported.  Unsupported you still get your paycheck at the end of week.


Plaintiff and his counsel made gross misrepresentations.  Don't have to support it, the check still comes in that week.  Maybe if somebody wants to go through all this, they'll deal with it.  And being the question and all that the retribution factor is, yeah, because me, my client, and other people have to deal with all this.  


What do you have?  The appeal.  You have to go up on that.  So what's the retribution?  It is very easy for the Judge to do.  And I submit, expect and will see what the appellate court will do, but I think it was put in there specifically as retribution.  


I wasn't questioned.  This is so important.  The problem I have with retribution is the Judge never put me on the stand, didn't ask me as an officer of the court what I knew or didn't know, didn't question me.  It was just slapped in there.  And I resented it, and I think that's exactly what's going on and stand by my words.

Q.
So the retribution was the words of you and your client were both deemed to have made gross misrepresentations.  Is it possible for a counsel to make gross misrepresentations in addition to gross representations made by a party?  Is that -- could that be an accurate statement of fact?

A.
Sure.  It's possible for counsel to do that.

Q.
Are you aware of any other -- is there a circumstance where it would not be appropriate to reference where both had made gross misrepresentations of fact?

A.
Yes.  Circumstances -- it is not appropriate when it's not supported by the facts, by the record, by the evidence.

Q.
But if there was a belief that the record supported it, is there any Canon or any benchmark of behavior that would say you're not to point out gross misrepresentations of fact made by counsel but you can only point out gross misrepresentations of fact made by a party?

A.
No.  But there is a Canon -- I'd have to look that up -- that says you can't state something you know or reasonably should know, in my opinion, that is not true.

Q. 
And then, finally, Mr. Rhoades, paragraph ten on page seven of nine of your affidavit, The Judge issued her Order of Recusal spontaneously on October 6, 2000 and she issued the Final Order in the same case on October 5, 2000, quoting, it's a clear indication that she should have been off the case in the first place and a violation of Judicial Canon 3 as are all of the other violations asserted above.


You used the word "spontaneously" there.  Is that on her own motion?  She's already denied a motion before, so she's brought closure to your motion.  Is this in the realm of sui spontae --

A.
Yes.

Q.
-- that she's considering this?

A.
There was no -- the first time I knew that there was -- she was going to take herself off the case was when I opened the mail, and it was the day -- as I believe, the day after the other one or day before -- what was - October 6th, yeah.  October 5th, the other Order.  


And why after all this?  If it was good the day after you signed the Order - I received no information.  I don't know.  Maybe other attorneys heard something I didn't hear.  Why is she taking herself off the case?  We go through all this misery and all these jumping through hoops, and then it's good enough to take yourself off at the end of the case.  I had a huge problem with that.  I think it's an inference to be drawn from it and it's obvious, that being specifically why didn't she take herself off this case before?

Q.
Mr. Rhoades, my notes indicate that we've gone through each of the allegations now as it relates to Brunson.  We've not gone through each of the letters.  The Members have them before them.  


I would point out that there's letter number two dated May 18, 2000 where you discussed her conference with you at the bench.  There's a letter -- excuse me, there's the affidavit of William Thrower attached to that.  There's letter number three, and this is a letter back from Judge Jefferson to you dated May 19th, which is, I guess, the next day saying -- 

MR. COUICK:  The Members have it.  I believe, Mr. Chairman, it's three or four pages over into the packet.  

BY MR. COUICK:

Q.
It acknowledges receipt of your letter that she says, Because of the seriousness of the allegations in your letter, I am persuaded to seek the opinions of other persons that were present and involved in the case.  She goes on to say, I will place all this information, including your letter, in the file for the purposes of reviewing this information at the conclusion of the trial.


I do not feel that it is appropriate r ethical to respond to this matter at the current time in that we are still in the process of concluding this trial.  The appropriate time for consideration can be requested at the conclusion of the impending matter.  By copy of his letter, I'm advising proposing counsel of my response.  


Then the next piece of correspondence is your response back to her, number four, wherein you say that your primary request was your desire to know the identity of the Judge which she had spoken to.  Then you say in the second paragraph, Just to clarify what I referred to earlier, I was not asking again that you recuse yourself in the Brunson case, because you have already heard that motion and decided it; is that correct?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Then you say, My recusal request was for future cases; is that correct?

A.
Yes.

Q.
So there was no ongoing motion you were making of some sort for recusal in Brunson; is that right?

A.
Not at that point since it had been decided.  

Q.
Then we have a letter of June 5th where you write again, this is number five, asking for the identity of the Judge.  And then there's June 16th where you write again about the identity of the Judge.  And I believe that takes us up to where we were before to the August 7th letter where you asked about the case being delayed, and then the September 22nd letter to the Chief Justice; is that correct?

A.
That's correct.

Q.
That's the correspondence you asked to be brought to the Commission's attention?

A.
That's correct.

MR. COUICK:  Mr. Chairman, I have no further questions for Mr. Rhoades at this point on the Brunson case.  We have other witnesses on the Brunson matter.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Do any members of the Commission have any questions?  Did you have something?

MR. RHOADES:  Yes, I did.  There's one -- there is a misunderstanding between, apparently, myself and Mr. Couick.  I understood that Mrs. -- or Roberta Diamond's affidavit was used in lieu of her being under subpoena to come up here.  Did you not receive --

MR. COUICK:  Ms. Diamond asked that her affidavit not be submitted unless she was subpoenaed.  Mr. I.S. Leevy Johnson subpoenaed Ms. Diamond.  We served that subpoena.  She asked to be excused from that subpoena because of the health of her father.  He is actually dying, I believe, now.  He's in intensive care in Connecticut.  She wanted to travel up.  


Because it was Mr. Johnson's witness and not yours, I called Mr. Johnson and asked for his permission to excuse her if he chose to do so.  He chose to excuse her.

MR. RHOADES:  If those were the circumstances, I would have done the same, obviously, under the circumstances of a death in the family.  

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Any members of the Commission have any questions at this point?  If not...

MR. COUICK:  Thank you, Mr. Rhoades.  We'll be back with you on the Graham case in just a moment.  


If we could have Mr. David Brunson come forward. 

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Mr. Brunson, please raise your right hand. 

 (DAVID T. BRUNSON, being first duly sworn by the Chairman, testified as follows:)

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Thank you, sir.  Please answer any questions Mr. Couick, counsel, has for you.

EXAMINATION BY MR. COUICK:

Q.
Good afternoon, Mr. Brunson.  Thank you for being here.

A.
Thank you for hearing me.

Q.
Sir?

A.
Thank you for hearing me.

Q.
Thank you.  Would you please state your full name for the record?

A.
David Tuller Brunson.  

Q.
And you live where?

A.
1437 Hindman Avenue, Mt. Pleasant.

Q.
How long have you lived in Mt. Pleasant?

A.
All my life.

Q.
What is your occupation?

A.
I'm a water pump technician, I guess you would say.

Q.
And how long have you been in that business?

A.
Since mid '70s. 

Q.
You had employed Mr. Rhoades to be your attorney in this matter; is that correct?

A.
Yes.

Q.
And you heard his testimony today as it relates to each of the hearings that took place.  I want to ask you to give your take on what happened without you having to carry the burden and not worry about carrying the burden about legal matters, Canons of Conduct, any of that.  The Commission and I would just like to hear your impressions of Judge Jefferson.  


What I would like to do is start with the first hearing, which was the one on the 16th of February.  

A.
Okay.

Q.
Do you recollect being present at that hearing?

A.
Yes.

Q.
You were there as the client of Mr. Rhoades.  What -- what was your impression of Judge Jefferson at that time?

A.
The very first thing -- the very first thing that happened was she asked them to go in the back room.  Immediately, within a few minutes, Mr. Rhoades came out and said she's already decided she's going to vacate the Order.  She goes, There's not a whole lot we're going to do.  At that time he mentioned about, you know, that she was running for the Circuit Courtship and that Arnold Goodstein was supporting her.  And he goes, And he came in there and -- and she is going to do whatever he says. 

Q.
He said that on -- on the day of that hearing on February 16th?

A.
Yes.  And he goes, We can take it to trial.  He goes, But you're going to lose.  I said, Well, if I come to an agreement, I'm not going to see my little girl.  And he says, Yes.  And I go, Well, I can't appeal an agreement.  I go, So we might as well go ahead, have the hearing, lose, and go for an appeal.  Because we -- we -- we knew from the very start that we were going to lose.  Within the first few minutes, she had indicated that she had already decided the case.

Q.
Let me move forward from that.  That's what your attorney told you -- Mr. Rhoades came and told you after the in-chambers meeting? 

A.
Yes.

Q.
Then you're in the hearing that day, is that correct, on the 16th?

A.
Yes.

Q.
What happened that day that you personally observed?

A.
Oh, she -- she was just awful.  I mean, just right off the bat she would not let Dusty finish any sentences.  He was -- in fact, she was no, you know, and she would not allow him to say -- you could tell she was just as mad as she could be because I asked for a trial.  


She also mentioned in here about they offered visitation in agreement.  There was no offer of any visitation until I believe it was later in May, and that wasn't an offer of temporary visitation.  That was a permanent thing and it was -- we'll get to that in a few minutes.  


But, no, she was -- she did not allow him to say anything.  She didn't allow any questions to be asked.  Any objections that -- that Dusty had was automatically overruled.  Any objections that Ms. Myrick or Mr. Jennings had was immediately sustained.  I mean, it was like night and day.  It was -- it was -- it was just -- you know, you could tell that she was not -- and we -- like I said, we knew right off the bat that we were going to lose this case.

Q.
Did you take the stand that day at all, Mr. Brunson, on the 16th, that first hearing date?

A.
I don't think so.

Q.
So you -- you didn't have any direct interaction?  You're witnessing what's going on between her and Mr. Rhoades; is that right?

A.
Yes.

Q.
You're having no direct interaction with her?

A.
Right.  And she was going back and forth on I did read the affidavits, I didn't read the affidavits.  Well, I think I left this affidavit out.  I didn't consider this.  Well, I did consider this.  And she -- she didn't make any sense.  She was just back and forth.  She contradicted herself the entire time. 

Q.
So the next hearing that took place was the hearing on the Motion to Recuse, which was March 31st.  Were you present at that hearing as well?

A.
Yes, sir.

Q.
Tell me what was your impression of Judge Jefferson that day.

A.
That was virtually the same thing.  I believe that was -- I think it was April she took the roll call.  But, yes, at that time, things were so bad, Mr. Thrower had come in and he was watching what was going on.  He was horrified from what he saw, also.

Q.
Was Mr. Thrower representing you in any capacity?

A.
No, sir.  Not at that -- he had represented me prior; but, no, it was -- he came in as a witness. 

Q.
A witness for you or a witness to what was going on?

A.
A witness to what was going on in the court.

Q.
Who asked Mr. Thrower to be present?

A.
I don't know.  I don't -- I didn't and I don't know if Dusty did or not.

Q.
So the motion -- on the Motion to Recuse, the hearing on that, and then the Motion to Vacate, we've all heard on the 31st, 17th and the 20th, were all those days the same?  Was her behavior and demeanor the same on each of those days?

A.
She calmed down a lot on the last day.  But, now, the biggest thing was on the last day, it was supposed to have been in August.  She called within like four days and said, I'm going to finish this thing in June.  And we had, you know -- and that was for my witnesses, and we had our witnesses lined up, you know, to go in the order, and we couldn't get them in the order I wanted because it was only a few days to try to line things up.  And these were professionals and, you know, and they had to change schedules and all.  


So we weren't able to get them in the order which we wanted, which I felt really hurt my case because there's a lot of contradictions in the testimonies; and if they were in the order in which I expected, it would have came out better.

Q.
Did you testify during any of the hearing dates in March or April or June?

A.
Yes, I did.

Q.
And when you were on the stand, were any questions asked of you by Judge Jefferson, follow-up questions?

A.
I don't think so.  I don't remember, to tell you the truth.

Q.
Do you think she was generally respectful of you as an individual or not respectful of you?  I'm not talking about Mr. Rhoades.  I'm talking about you.

A.
No.

Q.
Did she have any interaction with you?

A.
She was giving me some really nasty looks the whole time.  She, at one time, right in the middle of a sentence I was -- as I was still going, there was an objection made.  And before I could even stop, she immediately shushed me and pointed her finger and started shaking it at me and said, You shut up or you -- don't talk at all when an objection is being made.  


It was really mean the way she --

Q. 
Do you know what hearing date that was on, Mr. Brunson?

A.
I think that was in April.  There was also -- I do remember -- and I looked for it in the transcripts and it was left out.  The last date, on March 31st, I asked about my visitation.  Like I say, there was no visitation set up prior to before then.  


And she also -- there's also in here where she granted me the February 16th that night.  That's not true.  That was granted by Judge Guedalia of the bond hearing court.  She had nothing to do with that.  


But there was, you know -- there was just so much -- so much things going on.  She -- she did threaten me with the child and she held that child over my head the entire time.  She -- the ex parte communication was on the grounds that the child was in major danger.  She immediately said the child is in no danger.  But she held the ex parte Order, and the ex parte Order has to be if the child -- from what I understand in the Canons, that the child or the person has to be in physical danger.  She immediately said no.  And she contradicted herself the entire time, and she held that over my head.

Q.
You've heard Mr. Rhoades's testimony about intimidation or threats.  The specifics he offered, are those the specifics that you would offer up?

A.
There's a couple more.  Like the Order that she signed, 16, page ten, it goes over 14 and all where they offered visitation.  There was none offered.  Fifteen was I could vacate - she could vacate the Order and they would give me some type of visitation.  In spite of his position, the court granted overnight visitation and concluded the evening visitation was structured this way.  


Right there, in spite of his position.  My position is I wanted the trial.  All I wanted was a fair trial, and I was not offered that.  


And, like I say, in spite of my -- they granting me visitation.  My position was I wanted a trial, and so that's -- that's definitely a threat.  She also threatened it again in March when it was said -- let's see here in this one.  Because I asked - basically because I asked for the trial, I was not getting visitation which - 

Q.
Do you have a specific reference to that?

A.
Yes, sir, I do.  I sure do. 

Q.
Is it the one that Mr. Rhoades has already mentioned?

A.
This is one on March 31st.  When Mr. Rhoades complained about lack of visitation, Judge Jefferson said that was your choice.  That was in the March 31st.  

Q.
And I believe that was a reference that Mr. Rhoades made earlier.

A.
Right.  The he went to the February 16th.

Q.
Is that out of the draft brief that you're reading from?

A.
Yes.  Yes, sir.  


Also, in March 31st at the very end of the trial, I asked for at least telephone visitation with my child.  Beth Myrick said we'll agree with that.  Judge Jefferson said okay.  It never happened.  It never happened.  It never come to.  


And y'all got to keep in mind here, I had not seen my child since April 1999.  I did not get any visitation except for that one day in February 2000.  From then, I was not allowed any contact with the child one more time the day -- the next visitation I got was the day of the preliminary criminal hearing for her felony charges of kidnapping.  Then after that --

Q.
What happened with those charges, Mr. Brunson?

A.
They are still pending.

Q.
When you say they are still pending, they were brought in 2000; is that right?

A.
Correct.  Yes, sir.

Q.
February 2000.  So they're still pending some 16, 18 months later; is that correct?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Is it your understanding that the charges are still under active investigation?

A.
They are.  I have talked with the solicitor and their intentions are -- from what I understand, they're hoping family court will do the right thing and turn custody over.  If not, they're going to prosecute her.  They don't wish to put her in jail.  


We tried to find her without -- when I asked for the assistance from the police, they did not want to put her in jail.  They called her father.  Where is she?  They called other people.  They finally called Colorado police, and they said we'll go find her.  And then they called later and said we know she's here.  We haven't seen her, but we know she's here.  Come on out and pick up the child.  


When I went out there, she had apparently known that I was coming.  She put a restraining order against me in Colorado.  I had to come back to Colorado a few days later.  At that point in time, they filed felony charges against her.  The police were upset enough that they were not going to put up with her anymore.  They knew she was hiding.  They knew she was avoiding, you know, court action.  They filed -- I went back to court, she doesn't show for court.

Q.
If I could interrupt you --

A.
Okay.

Q.
-- I really want to focus on Judge Jefferson.

A.
Right.

Q.
We're talking about each of the hearings that you were at, and I think we've covered all of them now up until June.  Have there been any other instances where you observed Judge Jefferson and determined her conduct to be unbecoming to being a Judge, more or less, that we haven't talked about?

A.
The -- I do remember distinctly her saying about she had talked with her colleagues about Mr. Rhoades.  It was very -- when she took roll call that day, I believe it was in April, and she was very rude about the way she said, Oh, I know why you're here, Mr. Thrower.  She was just outright -- but yet she turned around and said, Oh, I don't see Mr. Goodstein here.  How is he doing today?  See -- and, I mean, it's - you could tell there was a bias on the counsel.


As far as Mr. Schwartz goes, that was another thing, because we had agreed on a guardian.  She knew that.  She was trying - we were trying to work things out.  She saw we were trying to work things out.  She threw it out.  She interrupted.  She put that nail in the gear there and tried to make things a little worse.


She extended what Judge Timothy Brown did in a matter of a few hours, which was almost exactly the same testimony, and found the wife guilty.  It took her from February to June without me seeing my little girl at all.

Q.
And where did the matter end up in Judge Jefferson's Order as it relates to custody?

A.
It didn't.  It didn't.

Q.
What was the finding?

A.
Oh, she -- I was totally wrong.  I had no, basically --

Q.
Did you have any rights to visitation?

A.
I do now.  I got temporary visitation we set up.  There has been -- there was nothing set.  It finally got set in December until this case is heard again.  


I mean, it's just totally wrong.  We had a good Order.  The Order was well written, and it was very well stated.  I had, basically, ten days a month with my little girl.

Q.
In terms of what Judge Jefferson ordered in October, that's what you're unhappy with, too, the result of that Order?  Is that what you're saying?

A.
Yes.  In fact, this Order, she made up stuff in here.  There are things that were never testified to, that were never in the transcripts and never came up.  She took -- I've got a prime example.  


She said I was found guilty of threats when the fact of the matter is -- and she took this from hearsay and she avoided the actual court document.  She did not take into consideration the court documents said I was dismissed of all the charges.  That came directly from the court.  


But she took hearsay from a person that wasn't even at the trial, wasn't even there, and said I plead guilty.  I never plead guilty to anything.  She said I was found guilty - plead and was found guilty, and the fact of the matter is it was dismissed.  But she made that up.  She made that up.  I can't believe she would do that.  


She also -- I mean, I could go through virtually every page of this Order and show something that was not even in the transcript, was not there or is just totally made up.

Q.
My question goes to, though, Mr. Brunson, the result as it relates to visitation specifically in the Order was what?  What did she rule as it related to visitation?

A.
She didn't.  She didn't.

Q.
So you were unhappy with that conclusion; is that correct?

A.
She's left everything up in the air.  There was still no Order for visitation.  I mean, there was -- there was nothing.  She knew that the mother had took off and went to Colorado,  but she left nothing of any type of visitation.


Yes, I was unhappy with that.  We had to go back.  Like I say, we -- the day I received this, we were in court with Judge Timothy Brown who heard virtually the same testimony, immediately found her guilty, and that was the first time I got to see my little girl.  And he immediately gave me 60 days of that.  Other than that, I haven't seen her.  


And at the end of March -- I saw her for a couple of days in February.  And by the way, my visitation will run out 60 days at the end of May.  That will be the end of my visitation.  We're going to have to go back to court for me to get more visitation, and I have to fight for every single day of visitation.  


I mean, they -- they try to take my days from me every single time.  It's just unreal.  And the court will not back up visitation.  They -- she knew that the ex-wife had put -- had opened a post office box --

Q.
Mr. Brunson, let me stop you, because I think we've got a pretty clear picture of what you believe from the interpretations in the Order.  And I want to get to the other witnesses that are here, and I appreciate your testimony.  I want to make sure the Commission members have an opportunity to ask you questions now.  

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Does any member of the Commission have a question at this time?  

REPRESENTATIVE SMITH:  You say you have problems getting visitation each and every time.  Are you talking about with other judges?

MR. BRUNSON:  No, sir.  No.  Since then, we had a temporary hearing in December 2000.  All right.  This was the first time any Temporary Order was established.  That's what she was supposed to do in February.  She was supposed to establish temporary visitation, temporary custody, and she didn't do it.

REPRESENTATIVE SMITH:  So the - go ahead.

MR. BRUNSON:  In December, the temporary was done -- I'm sorry, this is in October.  Judge Brown ordered that she turn the child over or go to jail, and I got her for 60 days.  Okay.  Sixty days is very easy to count on a calendar.  I had the 60 days.  It's on this day, no this day.  And we argued back and forth. 


Her counsel, Beth Myrick - Beth Myrick sent over a calendar -- a calendar with the days marked on them, checked off, so that I could prove that.  They put on there November 31st, and there is no November 31st.  They made up a calendar with November 31st on it and marked it as a date.  This is the kind of stuff I have to deal with.

MR. COUICK:  That's Beth Myrick.  That's totally separate.

MR. BRUNSON:  Right.  I agree.  But it was constant what I got.  Beth Myrick would misrepresent facts.

MR. COUICK:  Mr. Chairman, I want to make sure all the other witnesses have an opportunity to be heard.  

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Do any other Commission members have any questions of this witness?  Senator Ritchie from Spartanburg.

SENATOR RITCHIE:  I've read through the transcript of your testimony on April 20th of last year, and you had mentioned there was one time where you were trying to answer a question and the Judge stopped you from doing that.  I'm going to read to you the testimony going into that, and I want to ask you if that's -- this is the portion you're referring to.  


You are on the witness stand, and there's the discussion about the alleged threats against your ex-wife.  Okay.  And I'm on page 67 for the record.  


Your Honor, I object.


The court says, What's the basis of your objection?  Your attorney says, It's been asked twice or at least three times. 

MR. BRUNSON:  No, sir, that wasn't it.

SENATOR RITCHIE:  Let me finish.  And it says the lawyer for your ex-wife says he won't answer the question.  The court says, I don't think it's been asked and answered.  The objection is overruled.  You may answer the question.  Then the question from Mr. Jennings asked you, You threatened her life.  You showed up at her house waiving -- your answer was, Wait a minute.  Let me -- then Mr. Jennings says, Let me just finish.  And then the court injects here, Sir, do not interrupt the lawyer.

MR. BRUNSON:  No, that was not the time.

SENATOR RITCHIE:  I'll look for it another place.

MR. COUICK:  The colloquy begins with, Any objections, Mr. Rhoades?  Mr. Rhoades says, The same objection as before.  I don't think it has any relevance to this litigation.  This is another matter.  It has nothing to do with the allegation in the Motion to Vacate.  Nothing.


The witness, Mr. Brunson, begins to say, I have not -- the court, Mr. Jennings, would you like to respond to the objection?  Mr. Jennings says, Just the same as before, Your Honor.  The court says, I think it is admissible if they are going to prove the state of mind and looking at his motivation and leading up to the proceeding of the action.  I think it's irrelevant, and I'll overrule the objection and the document will be admitted.  It will be marked next in line.  


And then the Judge continues to say, When an objection is rendered, you do not speak, sir.  The witness, Mr. Brunson, says, Oh, I'm sorry.  I did not verify if that was anything that I had filed.  He did not show me.  I did not verify anything.


That might be what you were talking about.

MR. BRUNSON:  It may be, but it was as soon as the objection was made that she did this.

MR. COUICK:  We may find another reference in that hearing to that.

MR. BRUNSON:  And there's also another thing I'd like to add.  The -- the motions were very specific, and Judge Jefferson just ran all over and would not stay within the boundaries of the motions.  She would go, Oh, we're going to go back five years and talk about this.  We're going to go back before this last Order.  We'll go ahead here.  We'll go back there.  


It was a very set structure, and she should have maintained in that realm.  But she -- she avoided the realm just so she could get other stuff in, and it was -- like I say, a lot of this stuff was not relevant because it didn't matter.  It was before -- a lot of the stuff they complained about was prior to or was -- yeah, prior to the first court Order which was already settled.  And according to what I understand from the rules, that once it's heard, once it's said and once it's settled, you can't argue it again.


And -- but they kept -- and it kept on and on.  

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Professor Freeman.

MR. FREEMAN:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Just quickly.  Did you, in watching the Judge and watching the proceedings, see what you thought was evidence of her being bias or prejudice in favor of other sides and their witnesses?  And if so, what?

MR. BRUNSON:  Yes, sir.  Prime example -- prime example.  She would not allow Mr. Rhoades to ask the ex-wife hardly any questions.  In fact, if you look through the transcripts where Chantelle was testifying, I forget the day, she was, No, you're not asking her.  And it was the same questions.  A lot of them were the same questions she allowed the other side to ask me, but she was not going to allow him to ask her. 


And it was to the point where Mr. Rhoades -- and I know you'll see it in the transcript -- responded, Your Honor, why can't I ask her?  You're not allowing me to ask her anything.  


And she was protecting her.  And it was outright, very clear, she was protecting the defendant by not allowing him to ask her any questions.  And it was -- and there was other examples, too, but that was the prime example.

MR. FREEMAN:  Another quick question.  Did Dr. Hamrick testify; is that correct?

MR. BRUNSON:  She did testify.

MR. FREEMAN:  Did she testify truthfully?

MR. BRUNSON:  No, sir.  In fact - in fact, another time again, she would not come testify in municipal court, which she, you know, doesn't bother to say all those charges were dropped before this hearing was even started.  And she -- she would not come testify in municipal court.  


She changed her testimony in - in Judge Timothy Brown's court only after she had found that I had tape recorded a conversation that we had.  She absolutely changed her testimony then and couldn't remember anything.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Any other questions?

MR. COUICK:  If could, then, call Ms. Norma Brunson.  

MR. RHOADES:  Excuse me, Mr. Chairman.  Would there be any chance -- Bill Thrower is -- has been away from his practice.  Is there any chance of possibly calling him only because he's probably sitting down in the lobby waiting to be called.

MR. COUICK:  Mr. Chairman, it's certainly up to the Commission.  Let me tell you the witnesses that are left.  We have Ms. Norma Brunson, Ms. Adele Brunson, Ms. Elaine Westendorff, and then Mr. Thrower.  Then we have for Mr. Johnson, Mr. Goodstein, Ms. Myrick, Mr. Jennings, and the court reporter was called by the Commission, Patricia Danner.


I'd like to take those in any order as it relates to Mr. Rhoades.  We still have to get back to the Graham case and the Benjamin case as it relates to Mr. Rhoades.  So we've got some pretty far plow by the end of the day.  


I would ask the question, perhaps, of the Brunson witnesses, including Ms. Westendorff, perhaps it may be that there's nothing else that they can add that would only be cumulative, I would go to Mr. Thrower next.  I certainly don't want to exclude their testimony, though, Mr. Chairman, and they were certainly noticed as witnesses by Mr. Rhoades.  I'm willing to get guidance from Mr. Rhoades on that and be heard. 

MR. RHOADES:  I would defer to them at least probably one or more of them, Ms. Brunson, his mother, and Adele, probably.  I don't know whether all three would -- I defer to them on testifying.  

MR. COUICK:  Were all three of you looking to testify today?  

MS. NORMA BRUNSON:  We're not anxious, but --

MR. COUICK:  If I could, Mr. Chairman, this might be a quick way.  If we could have Ms. Brunson come forward, Ms. Norma Brunson.  

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Why don't we see if they have some testimony -- additional testimony or not so they can confirm whatever on the record for purposes of establishing.  That way we can do it.  

 (NORMA T. BRUNSON, being first duly sworn by the Chairman, testified as follows:)

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Thank you.  Please answer any questions Mr. Couick has for you.

EXAMINATION BY MR. COUICK:

Q.
Good afternoon, Mr. Brunson.  Could you state your full name for the record?  

A.
Norma Tuller Brunson.

Q.
And you live where?

A.
1217 Water Front Drive, Mt. Pleasant.

Q.
Have you lived in Mt. Pleasant most of your life, Ms. Brunson?

A.
Just about all my life.  Long time.

Q.
Ms. Brunson, Mr. David Brunson is your son; is that right?

A.
Right.  Uh-huh.

Q.
And you've heard his testimony today and --

A.
Yes, I have.

Q.
-- you've heard Mr. Rhoades's testimony?

A.
Right.

Q.
Do you agree with the substance of their testimony, to the extent you may understand it -- not the legal part, but the part about temperament, would that tend to be your testimony about Judge Jefferson's behavior and temperament?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Is there anything else specifically that you would like to add?

A.
I don't think it's been said, but I was one that she wanted excluded from the courtroom, and I think it was the very last day.  That must have been June.  But my daughter and daughter-in-law, attorney told us that the Judge did not want us to come in.  And he said there was no reason we should not be in there.


And so anyway, all of a sudden called -- we went on anyway.  And the bailiff said, Did the Judge say they could come in?  And the - as I remember, Mr. Rhoades said if they were not a security risk.  So, anyway, so he said, Well, that's not what she told me.  And he went to question the Judge as to whether or not we could be in there, and we weren't thrown out.  So apparently she said we could.  


And I did witness her interrupting Mr. Rhoades just about every time he opened his mouth.  I don't know how he kept his thoughts together, to tell you the truth.

Q.
And I don't want to interrupt you now and be accused of that as well, but I do want to ask the question what you heard testified to earlier, you agree with that assessment in terms of interruption, behavior, and temperament?

A.
Right.

Q.
I just want to make sure we keep things moving.

A.
Yes.  Uh-huh. 

Q.
And I think you told me that you didn't necessarily want to testify, but --

A.
Well, I'm shaking. 

Q.
How about if I cut my questions short now and let the Commission members ask you.  I'm very glad that you were here.  I appreciate your coming.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Any members of the Commission have a question for her?  

REPRESENTATIVE McGEE:  Thank you for coming.  How many other judiciary proceedings have you been to besides those involving your son and that you were able to --

MS. NORMA BRUNSON:  Other than my son?

REPRESENTATIVE McGEE:  Yeah.  In which you have been able to observe the demeanor of a Judge and how a Judge interacts with attorneys?

MS. NORMA BRUNSON:  Not too many.  Maybe one or two other than this one.  Of course, I had the opportunity to see a couple other judges and how they dealt with circumstances, and they were not angry.  They -- uh-huh.  In the same case, you know.

REPRESENTATIVE McGEE:  With your son?

MS. NORMA BRUNSON:  Right.  Uh-huh. 

REPRESENTATIVE McGEE:  Thank you. 

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Any other questions? 

MR. COUICK:  Ms. Brunson, thank you very much.  Thank you for coming.  Mr. Chairman, Ms. Adele Brunson. 

 (REBECCA ADELE E. BRUNSON, being first duly sworn by the Chairman, testified as follows:)

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Please answer any questions Mr. Couick has for you.

EXAMINATION BY MR. COUICK:

Q.
Good afternoon, Ms. Brunson.  I'm calling you Adele.  You're Rebecca Adele.  Do you go by Adele; is that correct?  

A.
Yes.

Q.
Is your full name Rebecca Adele Brunson?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Where do you live?

A.
I live at 2165 Medway, Charleston, South Carolina, 29412.

Q.
And how long have you lived there?

A.
Since about three days after Hugo. '89.

Q.
Where did you live before Hugo hit?

A.
Temporarily in Tennessee.  Primarily I've been in Florida.

Q.
So you came here because of Hugo?

A.
(Nodding head.)

Q.
You've heard the testimony of Mr. Rhoades, your mother-in-law, and your brother-in-law.  Do you agree with their assessment of Judge Jefferson's temperament?

A.
I didn't until I went in the courtroom, and yes, sir I do.

Q.
And what hearings were you present for?

A.
The dates I can't get real clear, but I did make notes the times -- two of the three times I was in the courtroom.  I was there for the one episode where she got so irritated with Mr. Rhoades.  She walked in briskly from the very start, and so I just started taking notes.  


I just noticed that she was - her attitude was just like she was irritated.  And she was constantly busy.  And I had only been in one -- one courtroom one other time in my whole life, and I was surprised.  Maybe it's technology.  She typed or read or wrote, and she just kept typing and reading and writing.  


And so, finally, I started just making little notes on the side of the times.  And, I mean, consistently she was typing or talking - I mean, reading.  And then there came a time whenever Dusty would speak, she started interrupting him.  And he referred to her about the problem with him being interrupted all the time.  


And if you go back -- I beg you to go back and listen to some of the tapes, especially around 11:10.  Somewhere right in there is when it really broke loose in that courtroom.  And she was on the edge of her chair and her voice got louder and you can hear it for yourself.  


There were other times when I was, you know, listening and I would notice when she would get irritated she would (witness indicating) like that with her lips and her cheeks would sink in or she'd get the little lines right here that my husband gets when he gets irritated and I try to rub them away.  And your face would just go like that.  


And the whole time all this is going on, you know, we have not seen grandchild/niece/daughter.  You know, we don't know where she is.  We don't know what size clothes to buy for her when she's coming home.  When we do get to see her, we can't even tell her before she leaves what -- when she's going to see us again.   


And, you know, a lot of it just didn't make sense, and I saw for myself it was truly

happening.

Q.
Ms. Brunson, if I could ask you to look toward me just a second and make sure I see your answers.  


You mentioned that the 11:10 a.m.  Is that on the February 16th hearing?  I believe you referenced there was a lot of commotion going on that day.  Is that what you're talking about, or was it the March 31st hearing?

A.
I can't answer that, and the reason being is because a couple of them -- a couple of the times I was in court, there were so many of the same things said and being debated or argued or whatever that they really get confusing.

Q.
How would you --

A.
I know that --

Q.
How would you have the time written down, I guess, is what --

A.
I used the clock that was in the courtroom and wrote it in the margins of these pages.  These pages came from one visit.  These pages came from another.

Q.
And you're just not sure which is which, is that it?

A.
No.  But the one where she really was interrupting -- well, not interrupting, because that's her right, I guess, because she's the Judge.  Where she kept stopping Dusty mid- sentence is this stack.  This is the day we were there all day long.  


I was in -- at the courthouse one other time.  The very first time I went, we never saw her.  There were a lot of us there that day, and we were never allowed to go in and testify because there were a bunch of us.  But there was a lot of support there that day, including the mother of David's first child.  Now of all people she should have talked to, I think, is a woman that knows how her child has been raised when the father raised it, and that was the first wife.

Q.
If I could ask you --

A.
I just don't understand.

Q.
- did anyone suggest to you that you keep those notes?

A.
No, sir.

Q.
Why did you decide to keep notes?

A.
Well, I guess because it's just habit.  I keep everything.

Q.
What is your occupation?

A.
I'm a school teacher.  

Q.
So you keep notes at school, then, of what you see and what you observe?

A.
You have to.

Q.
You mentioned in your affidavit that you were told on March 31, 1999 that Judge Jefferson had sent word to us through Mr. Dusty Rhoades that you would not be allowed in the courtroom.  Later she changed her mind, and that was consistent with your mother-in-law's testimony.


Why -- why would she have decided not to allow you in the courtroom?  Was there anything that happened that day?

A.
I can't guess what she was thinking or what her reasons were.

Q.
Any outbursts?

A.
Oh, no, sir.  Huh-uh.  No.  We were always real good in the courtroom and polite and cordial like you should be.

Q.
Anybody say anything or do anything without permission?

A.
Other than I raised my hand one time to correct what my relationship was, no, sir.  Huh-uh.

Q.
Did anybody shake their head or nod their head or shake their head in disagreement during the course of the trial?

A.
Probably.  Probably.  But not to the point -- I mean, you know, that's kind of hard to do.  Sometimes you catch yourself.  Not that she ever called down.  Not -- I mean, eye contact was made.  I mean, there was -- I never knew of anything.  No, sir.  I don't know of anything.

MR. COUICK:  Mr. Chairman, I have no other questions of Ms. Brunson.  Thank you.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Does any member of the Commission have a question?  All right.  Ms. Brunson, thank you, ma'am.

MR. COUICK:  Mr. Chairman, Ms. Elaine Westendorff.

 (ELAINE WESTENDORFF, being first duly sworn by the Chairman, testified as follows:)

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Thank you, ma'am. 

Please answer any questions that counsel has for you.  Mr. Couick.

EXAMINATION BY MR. COUICK:

Q.
Ms. Westendorff, if you would state your full name for the record.

A.
Elaine Brunson Westendorff.

Q.
And you reside where?

A.
1199 Parkway Drive, Mt. Pleasant.

Q.
And how long have you lived in Mt. Pleasant?

A.
All my life.

Q.
And what's your occupation?

A.
I sell real estate.

Q.
You filed an affidavit with the Commission, and in that you noted that you observed Judge Jefferson on occasions in recent years.  It's my understanding that you were present at all the hearings; is that correct?

A.
I'm not sure if I was there for every single hearing, but I was there for most of them.

Q.
Do you agree with the characterizations that you've heard so far of her demeanor, whether it be from your brother, the attorney or anyone else?

A.
Most certainly I do.

Q.
Is there anything you disagree with?

A.
No.  There's nothing I disagree with other than I know we were very well behaved in court.  I know there was absolutely no reason for us to be banned from the court.  But I would also like to add I feel like her actions showed complete disregard for the law in that she's basically honored this mom's whim to go to Colorado, you know.  That's not in the divorce decree, and she's just allowed her criminal behavior and deprived us of visitation.

MR. COUICK:  Mr. Chairman, I have no other questions.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Any member of the Commission have a question?  Thank you ma'am. 

MR. COUICK:  Mr. Chairman, Mr. Thrower.  

 (WILLIAM J. THROWER, being first duly sworn by the Chairman, testified as follows:)

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Thank you, sir.  Please answer any questions our counsel, Mr. Couick, has for you.

EXAMINATION BY MR. COUICK:

Q.
Good afternoon.  Mr. Thrower, please state your full name for the record.

A.
William James Thrower.  T-h-r-o-w-e-r.

Q.
And where do you reside?

A.
Charleston.

Q.
How long have you lived there?

A.
I guess on and off my whole life.

Q.
And you practice law; is that correct?

A.
Yes, sir.

Q.
Do you primarily practice in family court, or do you have a mixed practice?

A.
Very seldom practice family court.  Criminal defense is my area.

Q.
You had occasion to file an affidavit to tell this Commission that on March 31, 2000, April 20, 2000 during a Motion to Vacate hearing, you were present in the courtroom where Dusty Rhoades was representing the plaintiff and Ms. Myrick and Mr. Jennings were representing the defendant.  The presiding judge was Judge Jefferson; is that correct?

A.
Yes, sir.

Q.
You characterized at the beginning of the hearing the plaintiff brought a motion asking Judge Jefferson to recuse herself.  Do you recall that?

A.
Yes, sir.

Q.
And that Judge Jefferson immediately took offense to this motion and denied it.  For the remainder of the hearing, her behavior toward Mr. Rhoades was extremely unprofessional.  Judge Jefferson denied every objection made and interrupted him in a very angry tone as he was trying to perfect the record, end of quote.  

Is that your testimony today, Mr. Thrower?

A.
Yes, sir.

Q.
Is there anything that you would like to add to that characterization of her behavior that day?

A.
No, sir.

Q.
Have you had occasion to observe Judge Jefferson in other settings in the family court?

A.
Judge -- I went to Wofford at the same time she went to Converse, and we have a lot of mutual friends and we've talked about that.  And we had a conversation not -- I can't remember if it was -- I think it was right before this actual incident and we have had just a short, personal conversation.  But other than that, I can't think that I've appeared in front of her more than once or twice, and that would be on family court bench warrants for failure to pay child support.  That's primarily the only reason I go to family court.

Q.
When you've been there, do you have any present day recollection of having problems dealing with Judge Jefferson, you, personally?

A.
No, sir.  

Q.
Have you ever been in the courtroom before other than this incident where some other attorney in your presence has had a problem dealing with Judge Jefferson?

A.
No, sir.

Q.
In the last paragraph of your affidavit -- 

MR. COUICK:  Mr. Chairman, I apologize.  This is under tab five of your notebooks.  

BY MR. COUICK:

Q.
The last paragraph says, During the second day of the proceedings, which I would take to be April 20th, Mr. Thrower, I overheard a bench conference wherein she threatened to hold him in contempt for his tone.  She further stated that she had discussed his prior behavior with her colleagues and they agreed that he should be held in contempt.  In my opinion, Mr. Rhoades diligently represented his client and never showed any disrespect to Judge Jefferson in any way.  If I could ask you from what you overheard, what did Judge Jefferson specifically state to Mr. Rhoades?

A.
It was a bench conference and she asked him to approach, and I can't remember if Ms. Myrick or Mr. Jennings approached.  But I think they were -- they did hear.  And I was approximately 15 feet away.

Q.
Where were you?

A.
In the pew -- second pew.  I think there's three.  It's either two or three, and I was in the second row.  I do know that.  And I heard exactly what I put in there.  She said, I'm not going to -- essentially, I'm not going to tolerate this again today.  She was referring, I think, to the hearing that had started on March 31st.  And said, I'm not going to -- I'm not going to tolerate this.  I've talked to my colleagues, and I'll hold you in contempt if you continue with that tone.

Q.
Did she ever specifically reference that she had mentioned his name to her colleagues?

A.
I heard her say, I've talked to my colleagues about this.

Q.
But tell me what she said.  I've talked to my colleagues about you, talked to my colleagues about this?  What did she say?

A.
I can't remember specifically, but I think it was -- I got the impression I talked to my colleagues about how you have behaved in front of me, is my recollection of it without quoting it.

Q.
It's my understanding there was a hearing that took place sometime between March 31st and April 20th on this same matter.  There's actually been several hearing dates.  And I may e wrong.  At least the records we've received suggest one was held on 4-17 -- April 17th.  Were you present at that hearing?

A.
I don't believe so.  No, sir.

Q.
So you were present at the first hearing and the third hearing in this case?

A.
And not even all of those hearings.  No, sir.

Q.
Is there a possibility something could have happened when you were not in those hearings, Mr. Thrower?

A.
Oh, sure.

Q.
What is -- how long have you known Mr. Rhoades?

A.
I would say approximately two years.

Q.
What's your relationship to him?  Do you have a social friendship?  Do you have - 

A.
No, sir.  We had -- he represented a client and I represented her husband in a divorce, and I can't remember how I got the husband came to me.  Again, I don't do many divorces.  It was a favor to somebody, if I remember correctly.  

And Mr. Rhoades immediately called me and said, Let's get the people together and try to work this thing out and save some attorney fees and save a lot of court time.  And we did that, and I liked how he did it.  I thought he had a good style and really temperamentally so.  He really resolved the situation without any -- and these people were way of heart, remind you.

But just with his common nature, I appreciated the fact that he did it without running up fees.  He could have soaked them both.  And ever since that time, I've referred my family law cases to him.

Q.
And how long has that been going on?  For two years, you say?

A.
Yes, sir.

Q.
Is there any kind of fee-sharing arrangement when you refer cases to him in that way?

A.
Absolutely not.  No.

Q.
So you have no ongoing relationship with each other that's financially based; is that correct?

A.
That's correct.

Q.
Are you aware of any conversations Mr. Rhoades has had with other members of the Charleston County Bar about Judge Jefferson?

A.
No, not specifically.  

Q.
Have you ever been present when he's discussed her capabilities or lack of capabilities with other members of the bar?

A.
No, sir.  We really -- we really rarely see each other.  After that -- I honestly, in two years, probably have had four face-to-face meetings.  We've talked on the phone a few times.  But for the most part, it's just a referral situation.  And I appreciate -- he refers criminal cases to me, and there is no fee-sharing that goes on there, either.

MR. COUICK:  I have no further questions. 

MR. CHAIRMAN:  All right.  Does any member of the panel have a question?  

REPRESENTATIVE McGEE:  Mr. Thrower, you were in the courtroom on the 31st and the 20th, and I imagine it wasn't by happenstance you were in the courtroom.  Did Mr. Rhoades ask you to come to the courtroom and observe this?

MR. THROWER:  And I believe Mr. Brunson did as well.

REPRESENTATIVE McGEE:  They called you how many days in advance and asked you to come and witness?

MR. THROWER:  I couldn't tell you.

REPRESENTATIVE McGEE:  Was it a day in advance?

MR. THROWER:  May have been, yeah.

REPRESENTATIVE McGEE:  And what did they tell you when -- what did they tell you why they wanted you to be there?

MR. THROWER:  If I remember correctly -- and I don't remember if it was Mr. Rhoades or Brunson said -- they said we've got a hearing to vacate, and I didn't even know what one was.  I don't do family law.  And he said, you know, the criminal matter may have some relevance.  And knowing the City of Charleston and the prosecutor's office, they would have never got anybody from that office, even with a subpoena, to come to family court.  They don't respond to anybody's subpoena.  They don't even show up for court.  So I thought, if nothing else, I could go down there if they needed some input on what happened in the criminal matter and I would be able to provide it.  And I checked my schedule, whatever they said, and I said I can come down for some of it, and that's what I did.

REPRESENTATIVE McGEE:  So you weren't down there to witness the behavior of the Judge?  You were down there for a collateral criminal matter?

MR. THROWER:  In case somebody wanted -- in case the Judge wanted to know or anybody in the courtroom wanted to know the outcome of the criminal matter or any input on that.  

MR. FREEMAN:  Did you represent Mr. Brunson in a criminal matter?

MR. THROWER:  Yes, sir.  That's the matter I'm referring to.

MR. FREEMAN:  And were you being compensated for those two days that you were in the courtroom?

MR. THROWER:  No.  

SENATOR RITCHIE:  Mr. Thrower, you heard some witness' testimony during the day you were there, whether it be Mr. Brunson or someone else.  I assume you heard witnesses from the stand.  Did you -- you testified about the demeanor of the Judge towards Mr. Rhoades.  Did you notice any problem with the demeanor of the Judge towards any witnesses that were on the stand?

MR. THROWER:  I -- I thought she was short with Mr. Brunson as well.

SENATOR RITCHIE:  You try a lot of cases?

MR. THROWER:  Yes, sir.

SENATOR RITCHIE:  The people around this table try a lot of cases and judges are short and judges are patient.  They have different styles.  Was this Judge's demeanor out of the step of being short with the witness, or was it just as we have seen other judges be short with a witness?  Do you understand my question?  Was it out of the range of what you've seen in your experience?

MR. THROWER:  She seemed to be more short with him than she was with the other witnesses that day.

SENATOR RITCHIE:  And in your experience with judges and litigant -- lawyers, was this Judge's behavior toward Mr. Rhoades, as we've come to hear or as you observed, is what I'm driving at, out of the range of judicial temperament you've seen in this state or was it just at one end of the scale?

MR. THROWER:  I've been yelled at, too.  I've seen a lot.

SENATOR RITCHIE:  We've all been yelled at.  That's what I'm driving at.

MR. THROWER:  It wasn't the worse I've ever seen, but it was -- it was more inappropriate towards Mr. Rhoades than it was towards Ms. Myrick and Mr. Jennings.

SENATOR RITCHIE:  And that pronounced difference, did that indicate to you a bias towards one party or the other or an agitation with one lawyer versus another?

MR. THROWER:  I -- I noticed a bias towards the attorney and the client, in my opinion, and that's what was disturbing.  I've had judges angry at me and not take it out on my client.  And if that's the case, you lick your wounds and you go on about your business.  But when it goes to the client, that's what -- that's the only reason I'm here, is because it went toward Mr. Brunson, who I thought was blameless in the whole situation.  

REPRESENTATIVE SMITH:  You're saying that Mr. Brunson was blameless.  Are you saying that Mr. Rhoades was not blameless?

MR. THROWER:  By saying that, I don't know what conversations Mr. Brunson and Mr. Rhoades had about their strategy, but the Motion to Recuse is what brought out the animosity, in my opinion.  And since David -- Mr. Brunson doesn't know any more about family court than I do, I wouldn't imagine it was his idea to make the Motion to Recuse.

REPRESENTATIVE SMITH:  Oh, okay.

MR. THROWER:  That's what I'm saying.  I doubt if he said, She heard that ex parte.  Let's make a Motion to Recuse.

REPRESENTATIVE SMITH:  Was there any talk in the courtroom that the reason why he's making the Motion to Recuse is because he thought that Judge Jefferson and Mr. Arnold Goodstein had some kind of political motive to make the case come out the way they wanted it to come out?

MR. THROWER:  I never heard that.

JUDGE SHAW:  Mr. Thrower, you've represented Mr. Brunson in criminal matters?

MR. THROWER:  It was the one matter that's mentioned in this case, the threat.  It was the one entitled threats.  I have a copy if you would like to see it.

JUDGE SHAW:  What was the outcome of that?

MR. THROWER:  It was dismissed.

JUDGE SHAW:  It was dismissed?

MR. THROWER:  Yes, sir.  In fact, the expungement order has been sent in.  It's completely expunged.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Any other questions?  Thank you, sir.  

SENATOR RITCHIE:  When was it dismissed?

MR. THROWER:  In December of '99. 

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Let me ask one follow-up question.  How would you describe Mr. Rhoades's tone towards the Judge in the interaction?

MR. THROWER:  He was on the defensive, I could tell, just from my conversation with him and knowing his tone when he speaks.  He was -- he was on his heels.  I could tell he was being as professional as he could be to try to make a record, and he couldn't get the record perfected, in my opinion.  Certain things he was trying to get on the record and he wasn't -- he was not going to force it.  He did the best he could. 

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Was he polite or impolite?

MR. THROWER:  Overly polite.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  And did he raise his voice or talk in a normal tone?

MR. THROWER:  He never raised his voice.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Thank you, sir. 

MR. COUICK:  Mr. Chairman, at this point, we have kind of a natural breakpoint.  We have Mr. Goodstein, Ms. Myrick, Ms. Jennings, and the court reporter, Ms. Danner, who will be called.


The other complainant, Ms. Gaither, has not appeared.  We have her affidavit of complaint.  We do not have anything from her attorney.  Her attorney had offered to forward an affidavit.  He needed permission from his client before he could sign it.  So really, at this point in time, the only thing we have left by way of witnesses are whatever Mr. Johnson's witnesses are.


We could take a break for a few minutes here.  We could let the court reporter refresh, whatever.  I'm glad to receive questions from Mr. Johnson.  Whatever the Commission would like to do.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  If no one needs Mr. Thrower, I'm going to let him go on back since he's got a schedule.  Thank you, sir, for coming.


All right.  How would y'all like to proceed?  Would you like to continue on?  We'll take short recess at this time.

 (A recess was taken at 2:15 p.m.)
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MR. CHAIRMAN:  The next witness is Arnold Goodstein.  I would ask that you please raise your right hand.

(Witness sworn.)

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Please answer any questions our counsel, Mr. Couick, may have for you.

ARNOLD GOODSTEIN, being first duly sworn by the Chairman, testified as follows:

EXAMINATION BY MR. COUICK:

Q.
Mr. Goodstein, we spent a good part of the morning and part of the afternoon talking about the Brunson case, and in particular I would ask for guidance from counsel for Judge Jefferson and the committee members to kind of focus in on a couple of issues. 

We're going to try to avoid being cumulative with each other so whatever you testify about I'll ask them whether they agree or disagree.  The one thing I would like to start with on the record is to state your name and tell me where you live.

A.
My name is Arnold S. Goodstein.  I live at 208 Sumter Avenue, Summerville, South Carolina.

Q.
How long have you resided in Summerville, Mr. Goodstein?

A.
Twenty years.

Q.
And you're employed as an attorney; is that correct?

A.
I am an attorney.

Q.
Your practice in the courts, mainly in the Family Court, Circuit Court, Civil, can you characterize that?

A.
A little of everything.  I don't do very much Family Court work, but occasionally I do go to Family Court.

Q.
I understand that you were a part of a team of lawyers that was representing Mrs. Brunson in the matter of custody relating to the child she had with Mr. David Brunson; is that right?

A.
Yes, sir, I was basically the senior member of the team in the firm.  Ms. Myrick was the domestic law specialist and Mr. Jennings did criminal work in the case involving both Family Court work and criminal work, and since I do a little of both and I was a senior member of the firm.  I basically supervised it.  When I say supervised it, I was in and out.  I had a lot of confidence in both of them so they really didn't take much supervision.

Q.
I understand that you filed an affidavit with this Commission.  Mr. Chairman, that's under tab nine of your notebooks, affidavit of Arnold Goodstein.

Within that affidavit you said you appeared in the hearing on February 16th, 2000 for a hearing on a motion to vacate.  There was a pre‑trial conference held prior to the commencement of the motion in the judge's chambers. 

So you were present in her chambers when this conversation took place; is that correct?

A.
That's correct, sir.

Q.
Could you characterize Judge Jefferson's behavior and temperament in chambers?  Not in the courtroom but in chambers.

A.
Yes, sir, I could.  I've known Judge Jefferson a long time so I know her fairly well and knew her back when she was Judge Fields’ law clerk.  Her demeanor is always the same, very open.  She's a very kind and friendly person and approaches judging in that way.  I can't think of, while we're on the record, the only judge I can think that has been better to me would be my wife, Diane Goodstein.

I genuinely mean that.  Her demeanor has always been appropriate.

Q.
While you were in the chambers with her and other counsel, were there any discussions on what she was likely to rule as it related to visitation?  Did she predict her ruling in any way about what she was likely to rule on?

A.
I have no recollection.  The only prediction was Mr. Rhoades, a couple of times he was out in the hall and he kept carrying on about he knew how she was going to rule.  Saying that once, at least once, maybe twice to me and I wanted to ‑‑ I think I questioned him on why he was so clairvoyant.

Q.
But you had no perception of any indication of how.

A.
No, sir, it was a difficult situation, a difficult case.  Our clients had some problems, both with the solicitor's office and with Family Court, and we knew we had problems.  We had a case.

Q.
What was Mr. Rhoades' behavior in chambers?

A.
Surly, arrogant, overly aggressive.  Most of us lawyers suffer from aggression, but he was overly aggressive with the judge and overly aggressive with everybody.

Q.
Had you ever tried a case against Mr. Rhoades before, Mr. Goodstein?

A.
I don't have any recollection of that.

Q.
Do you have a recollection of being in the court while he was trying a case?

A.
I have seen him.  I've been around and seen him try a case.

Q.
Was this behavior something that was consistent with other opportunities to observe him or was this something that was a departure from the other opportunities you observed him?

A.
One reason I went down there was Mr. Rhoades has a reputation of being extraordinarily aggressive and can be belligerent.  Mr. Jennings is an experienced lawyer, but he came to the firm from the solicitor's office and hadn't been in private practice very long. 

Ms. Myrick is an experienced lawyer, but she practiced in Bamberg for many years and she married a Charleston lawyer and she hadn't been practicing in Charleston too long.  And so one of the reasons I went down there was I felt that we were going to have a contest of aggression.  Maybe I could bring something to the table.

Q.
Did you feel like you had to be aggressive in the chambers meeting?

A.
No, I didn't.  No, sir, because I was a little floored by Mr. Rhoades' demeanor and his attitude toward the judge.  I mean, he didn't talk to the judge like I expect lawyers to talk to judges and treat judges.  Frankly, I thought he was out of line.

Q.
There was no transcript made of the in‑chambers meeting that day.  Do you have a specific recollection of what Mr. Rhoades may have said that you thought was a departure from the standards of conduct that you thought were appropriate?

A.
I can't recollect, Mr. Couick, any particular expression, but he would cut off the judge.  He would interrupt the judge.  The judge would be speaking and before she could finish the sentence he would interrupt her.

I find that to be fairly rude to a judge or, frankly, anybody, but more specifically to the judge, and that comes to mind.  The tone of voice was much less than what you would expect in chambers with a member of the judiciary.

Q.
Yes, sir.  Once you left the in‑chambers meeting and you went to the courtroom for the hearing, I understand you were present during the hearing as well that day; is that correct?

A.
I was not present during the hearing that day.

Q.
So you left right after the in‑chambers meeting; is that right?

A.
That's correct.  I think I had to go somewhere else.  I don't remember where, but I did leave after the hearing, another court appearance or something else I had to do.  We were well represented by Mr. Jennings and Ms. Myrick.

Q.
Have you ever practiced before Judge Jefferson on any other matter?

A.
I can only recollect one other case that I was involved in.  I'm not involved in a lot of domestic court cases.  This was ‑‑ at that time my partner Robert Rosen was ‑‑ this was a domestic matter and I did participate in the trial of that case, but these are the only times that I can recollect.

Q.
Was your assessment of her temperament consistent with that hearing earlier?  Was she the same during that hearing?

A.
Absolutely, and she settled the case which all the lawyers ‑‑ there were lots of lawyers and lots of money involved and lots of property, and nobody ever thought it would be settled.

Frankly, she did just a Herculean effort to get it settled in just the most bitartrate of situations, so I can't tell you how impressed I was in her ability to handle that case and all the history that went along with that case.

Q.
Mr. Goodstein, in paragraph three of your affidavit, the third sentence begins during the pendency of the proceeding before Judge Jefferson I became aware that Dusty Rhoades had discussed his client's grievances against one of the lawyers in their office and Judge Jefferson. 

There were concerns over how Mr. Rhoades indicated the lawyer in our office should thank him since he had dissuaded his client from pursuing this action.  You go on to say, I also received numerous letters sent to Judge Jefferson and others pressing Judge Jefferson to provide information regarding his personal relationship with the judiciary and to render a decision.

Going back to the indication about the grievance against one of the lawyers in your office, was there ever a grievance filed?

A.
It's my understanding there was against Ms. Myrick.  Ms. Myrick came and ‑‑ yes.

Q.
Was ‑‑

A.
I should probably just answer your question, but I was going to react and you cut me off.  How irate I was when Ms. Myrick came and told me the conversation that she had with Mr. Rhoades about that.

Q.
I was going to ask you that.  Was the complaint brought by Mr. Rhoades or by his client?

A.
It's my understanding that was his client but he ‑‑ the conversation that I recollect having with Ms. Myrick, she talked to me right after it happened, and then he ‑‑ Mr. Rhoades said that she ought to be grateful that he was trying to talk him out of doing it.  I just found it to be coercive and beyond the pale.

Q.
Was this during the pendency of the matter?  Was the matter going on for months?

A.
Yes, it looked to me like it was.  My reaction was that it was part of the tactics of the other side to file grievances and I found that repugnant.

Q.
I wanted to clarify one matter in your affidavit.  The last sentence you said I also received numerous letters sent to Judge Jefferson and others pressing Judge Jefferson providing information regarding his, the pronoun his, personal relationship.

That should be her; is that right?  The letter was going to Judge Jefferson's personnel relationship with the judiciary; is that right?

A.
Could I see it?

Q.
Yes, sir.  Just to clarify, I believe it should be her, if I'm correct.  Otherwise, I'm not getting the import of the sentence.

A.
Well, obviously it's not very artfully worded, Mr. Couick.  I'll take the responsibility, but I think what I meant there, he was talking in those letters about his relationship.  His meaning Mr. Rhoades with other judges and she had discussed it with him and the whole thing was right bizarre, the whole series of letters that kept coming pushing Judge Jefferson for some kind of reply.

Q.
This is on the issue of whether she discussed his behavior in her courtroom with other judges.  In terms of a personal relationship with the judiciary, it's referring to Mr. Rhoades.  That's what we're talking about.  We're not talking about any other kind of personal relationship with the judiciary.  It's the matter of his reputation, alleged contentious nature of his conduct.

A.
I believe so, Mr. Couick, because I look back at it and it could have been written a little better.

Q.
I just want to make sure I didn't miss anything.

A.
No, I think I should have taken legal writing from Mr. Freeman.

Q.
Mr. Goodstein, have you been aware of Mr. Rhoades discussing the matter of Judge Jefferson's conduct with other attorneys on a regular basis in Charleston?  Is this a source of conversation between Mr. Rhoades and other attorneys?

A.
I've heard that by hearsay.  I mean, I haven't heard him say it but I heard that.

Q.
Has he discussed with you directly her potential election ‑‑

A.
No, sir.

Q.
‑ to the Circuit Court bench?

A.
No.

Q.
Have you had any active involvement in Judge Jefferson's decision to run for the Circuit Court?  You mentioned her realizing that certain things would be appropriate and inappropriate.  Are you part of any plan to help her become elected when the time is right?

A.
No, sir, due to the fact that my wife has enough burden to carry with me and the fact she's a circuit judge.  I have shown some restraint in Circuit Court races and whoever gets elected is always going to be a colleague of my wife, and so I found it's probably not appropriate for me to get involved in other circuit judge races at this point in time.

MR. COUICK:  Mr. Chairman, I have no further questions.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Does any member of the Commission have any questions?

MR. FREEMAN:  Back to paragraph three. What was the nature of the charge of misconduct against Ms. Myrick?

THE WITNESS:  Maybe she ought to answer that.

MR. FREEMAN:  Okay, fine.

JUDGE SHAW:  There was the meeting in chambers but you left after that?

THE WITNESS:  Yes, sir, I did not go into the hearing.  I did leave the meeting afterwards.  I'm not quite sure, but I'm sure I did some milling around in the hall and probably Blair and I had some conversations, and I think I had some conversation with Mr. Rhoades that morning.

JUDGE SHAW:  Paragraph three you said you believe the judge's demeanor was honorable, appropriate and ethical at all times during this hearing.

THE WITNESS:  That would have been incorrect.  That would have been during the conference.

JUDGE SHAW:  You said and the time in chambers.  You said and the hearing and in chambers. 

THE WITNESS:  That's incorrect.  I was not in that hearing.  I beg your pardon.  I read it over at the time.  I was not at the hearing.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Any other questions?  Thank you, sir.

Ms. Myrick.  If you would, raise your right hand please, ma'am

Witness sworn.)

Please answer any questions that our counsel, Mr. Couick, has for you.

ELIZABETH R. MYRICK, being first duly sworn by the Chairman, testified as follows:

EXAMINATION BY MR. COUICK:

Q.
Ms. Myrick, could you state your full name for the record.

A.
My name is Elizabeth Rhoad Myrick.

Q.
And you reside where?

A.
I reside in Charleston at 8 Elmwood Avenue.

Q.
How long have you lived in Charleston?

A.
I married my husband, Jim, in the summer of '97.  I kept a residence in Bamberg as I closed my law practice there, but officially I became a resident of Charleston in January of '98.

Q.
How long have you practiced law?

A.
I finished law school and was admitted to the bar in 1987.

Q.
Ms. Myrick, I understand your primary practice is in Family Court?

A.
It is.

Q.
How often do you appear before Judge Jefferson?

A.
I first appeared before her when she was holding court in the First Circuit when I practiced in Bamberg for ten years.  I know of at least one occasion, one six month period she held court and I appeared before her then, and since I have been in Charleston I have appeared before her on various occasions.  You just don't know.  It's on a random basis with normally three or four judges so I'm regularly in Family Court.

Q.
Can you guesstimate a number of appearances before her, anything that would constitute an appearance?  Would it be once a month, once a year?  How often would you appear before her?

A.
I would say since I've been practicing law less than a dozen.

Q.
You were the primary counsel for the marital, excuse me, custody matters in Brunson versus Brunson; is that right?

A.
I was.

Q.
And you were involved in all the hearings, including hearings that started in February and continued on through June; is that right?

A.
I did.  I participated in some of the criminal hearings and all the Family Court hearings, other than the June hearing because I was on maternity leave at that time.  I didn't make the very last hearing.  Mr. Jennings appeared in my stead at that hearing.

Q.
Who represented the mother before you did?

A.
Mendel Rivers did.  Well, in the domestic proceeding I can't think of the lawyer in North Charleston, but the client came to us through Mendel Rivers who she initially employed to represent her when this post‑divorce matter arose.

It was discovered then that Mr. Rivers had had a conversation at some point with Mr. Brunson.  Mr. Brunson's attorney raised a conflict and Mr. Rivers then referred the case to us.

Q.
As it relates to the emergency order, the question has been made as to whether that was ex parte in nature.  What is your take on that?

A.
What was happening at the time that we became involved with the client, she was facing a state kidnapping charge.  She was trying to make arrangements to turn herself in.  She was very concerned about coming to South Carolina and turning herself in and having the minor child removed from her custody.  It was without question that she had been the primary caretaker of this child. 

At the time that we took ^174offer ^ over the file Mr. Rivers provided to me a motion that he had drafted on an emergency basis asking to vacate the custody order taking custody from the mother to the father. 

He also provided to me an affidavit from Hazel Ferry, who is a lawyer who represented the minor child in the first divorce proceeding.  Miss Ferry was very clear in her affidavit that she thought it would be detrimental to this child to be removed from the mother despite what the mother may have done. 

She even said that.  She said the mother had talked with her before moving to Colorado, that she had had conversations with her, had advised her to do so, but that she had observed the child and the mother together and felt there was a strong relationship there and that nothing ‑‑ that it would be very harmful to this child if the child was taken from the mother.

So once I found out that we were going to be involved in the case I called Mr. Rhoades.  I spoke with him. I told him that my client was coming to turn herself in.  We were making arrangements and we had conversations with the solicitor's office, and that I didn't know whether they really wanted to see her in jail or not.  I didn't know if there was something that we could do to work it out.  He said he would talk with his client and let me know.  I never heard back from him.

At that point we made arrangements.  The client was going to be driving in and turning herself in I believe on a Tuesday morning and there was going to be a bond hearing that day.  So we felt that we had no other choice but to file an action in Family Court and seek some type of order setting an emergency hearing so that the continuing custody of the child could be considered.

We also at that time submitted an order to allow our client to retain custody of the child until there was a hearing.  She was planning to bring the child with her to South Carolina.  She told me she needed to do that.  She was very concerned.  She didn't want to come but she realized that she needed to turn herself in.  The child needed to come with her. 

The way that we handled the mechanism, someone from our office delivered the materials, the packet of materials to the Family Court.  Each week the Family Court in Charleston has a different judge that is designated as the emergency judge.  I don't know whether I knew who the emergency judge was, but the person taking it from my office was given the instructions to deliver it to whomever the emergency judge may have been for consideration. 

We were filing the motion irrespective, but consideration to see if the judge would schedule on an expedited basis so the client could at least get into court to have the matter heard.  And, secondly, to determine whether she would be allowed to keep the minor child with her until it could be heard.

My understanding was it was presented to Judge Seegars-Andrews who was the emergency judge.  Judge Seegars-Andrews elected to sign an order scheduling on an expedited basis, scheduling the hearing for two days later.  However, Judge Seegars-Andrews made the decision that she did not feel that she could, since the order allowing our client to have custody ‑‑ because Judge Jefferson had been the one to ^issue ^ usual the order.  So she referred it on to Judge Jefferson.  

There were never any conversations between me and Judge Jefferson or me and Seegars-Andrews or anyone else.  We just delivered it to the Court.  The Court was free to sign it or not sign it.  The Court did and went to court two days later to begin the proceeding of the motion to vacate.

Q.
Let me just stop you.  Is this where the complaint came from Mr. Brunson about the ex parte matter as it relates to you or is there something else?

A.
There were numerous things in there.  I think that was some of the consideration.

Q.
So was that matter considered by the grievance panel as to ‑‑

A.
It was.

Q. 
‑ if it was ex parte?  What was the determination?

A.
It was the determination that I had not committed any inappropriate conduct.

Q.
When you reviewed the matter, stepping back a little bit, about what happened with the various chain, the motion, was there anything that should have happened that did not happen in terms of notification to Mr. Rhoades?

A.
I don't believe so.  He was certainly aware that we were involved in the case and that we were trying to make arrangements and trying to handle things.

He also was told that we were filing the motion, that we were scheduling it.  We even talked about it that morning at the bond hearing, and at that time I don't think they signed on it or they had just signed it and scheduled the hearing.  So, no, I do not believe so in retrospect.

Q.
Do you think he was aware of the hearing?

A.
Aware of which hearing?

Q.
The temporary hearing, the emergency hearing that was scheduled.

A.
Absolutely.  We went to a bond hearing I believe on Tuesday morning and two days later we were in Family Court.  He was there at the bond hearing and all of us were there.  We were all part of the same process, criminal proceeding and Family Court proceeding involving this same couple.

Q.
During the course of the hearing that took place beginning in February, there has been allegations made that Judge Jefferson used intimidation, the threat of punitive action as it relates to visitation to Mr. Rhoades' client Mr. Brunson.  Do you have any memory of that occurring or not occurring?

A.
I do.  It absolutely did not.  When we went into the in‑chambers meetings after we started talking and it was fairly informal talking with the judge, and obviously she had heard the case before so she had some background and even heard the divorce. 

She had two prior cases that she dealt with this particular couple and this child, but she told us that we needed to make arrangements for visitation, that that needed to be set up.

So after the in‑chambers meeting there was a negotiation session in which all the attorneys talked trying to work out visitation.  It was at that point Mr. Goodstein left, but we, in fact, were successful in at least arranging visitation for that day. 

Mr. Brunson had the minor child the day of the in‑chambers hearing through the following day at six o'clock.  Now we made offers on behalf of Mrs. Brunson to schedule additional visitation for Mr. Brunson but he declined to do so. 

Q.
During the course of the hearings over the next several months was there any later threat of punitive action as it relates to visitation that were communicated by Judge Jefferson to Mr. Brunson or Mr. Rhoades?

A.
There were not.  She had instructed us that we needed to deal with each other on visitation, scheduling psychological evaluations, and the appointment of a guardian ad litem.  Those were the instructions that she gave to all of us and we were to do so in February.

Q.
At the February 16th in‑chambers meeting there was an allegation made that Judge Jefferson indicated that she had already decided certain matters as it relates to this case.  Do you have any recollection whether that was said or not said?

A.
I do.  Once we went in and started talking about the case ‑‑ see, our client had not participated in the case that was over the change of custody to the father.  It was solely the father, Mr. Rhoades and Judge Jefferson, and the three of them actually were participants in that case. 

Judge Jefferson said to Mr. Rhoades, you know, as you recall I had reservations about making this change in custody but I felt that I had no other choice at that time because I only heard from one side.  As you are aware, also, I put that in my order that the mother could come in and made that decision. 

She indicated to Mr. Rhoades that she did not know as to who should have custody, but that she felt that both sides should be heard in a custody dispute in order to determine what was in the best interest of this child.

Q.
Also, allegations were made that Judge Jefferson was abusive in her behavior in terms of particularly cutting Mr. Rhoades off during the course of his arguments or presentation during the course of several hearings, most particularly the ones I believe that were earlier on, the 16th and the 31st of March. 

Talking about the case ‑‑ see, our client had not participated in the case that was over the change of custody to the father.  It was solely the father, Mr. Rhoades and Judge Jefferson, and the three of them actually were participants in that case. 

Judge Jefferson said to Mr. Rhoades, you know, as you recall I had reservations about making this change in custody but I felt that I had no other choice at that time because I only heard from one side.  As you are aware, also, I put that in my order that the mother could come in and made that decision. 

She indicated to Mr. Rhoades that she did not know as to who should have custody, but that she felt that both sides should be heard in a custody dispute in order to determine what was in the best interest of this child.

Q.
Also, allegations were made that Judge Jefferson was abusive in her behavior in terms of particularly cutting Mr. Rhoades off during the course of his arguments or presentation during the course of several hearings, most particularly the ones I believe that were earlier on, the 16th and the 31st of March.  Do you have any present sense of memory whether that occurred or did not occur at this time?

A.
There were some interruptions from Mr. Rhoades interrupting the Court and the Court interrupting Mr. Rhoades.  Judge Jefferson did interrupt him on occasion to clarify certain things for the record, but at the conclusion of her making comments she always turned the floor back over to Mr. Rhoades and asked him was there anything else that he needed to state for the purpose of the record.

Q.
You have no doubt been in many courtrooms with different judges.  Was the level of interruption that you witnessed on those occasions different, either more or less, or significantly more obtrusive than other judges?  How would you characterize it?

A.
I don't think any more so than other judges.  Different judges have different styles in different cases.  It depends what the case itself may warrant, but I didn't find her asking questions or wanting to clarify things for the record to be any more so than another judge might have done in the same case.

Q.
Going back to the ex parte communication for one moment.  I know Mendel Rivers was involved in this matter but he never actually filed; is that right?  He forwarded something to you so it could be filed?

A.
He prepared papers but he did not file them because the conflict was raised before he actually filed the paperwork.

Q.
So any reference to a Rivers or Mr. Rivers may be someone else more than Mendel Rivers?  As far as you know there was not involvement by Mendel Rivers in this matter at any time after he became involved?

A.
Not after I became involved, but before that I know he had spoken with Mr. Rhoades.  He prepared paperwork.  He may have been also dealing with the solicitor's office.

Q.
Ms. Myrick, what is your general impression of how Judge Jefferson manages her courtroom?  

A.
I think she handles herself extremely well.  She handles the courtroom well.  She is a hands‑on judge.  There is no question that she is very interested in maintaining the integrity of the judicial process and that she's very interested in children so she communicates with litigants.  She communicates with attorneys.  She tries to help people fashion reasonable resolutions and also guide the process, but she also at the same time allows individuals, litigants to have their say.  They have their day in court.

Q.
Have you ever lost a case on appeal from Judge Jefferson ruling?

A.
I have not.  I've never been involved in a case that has been appealed from one of her rulings.

Q.
During the course of the hearings did your ever witness her lose her temper, so to speak?

A.
No, I did not.

Q.
With either Mr. Rhoades or a witness?

A.
I did not.

Q.
Did you ever witness her tone went beyond the bounds of what you thought was acceptable?

A.
No.

MR. COUICK:  Mr. Chairman, I have no further questions.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Does any member of the Commission have a question?  Professor.

MR. FREEMAN:  Did the parties submit orders in disk to the judge?

THE WITNESS:  We did.

MR. FREEMAN:  And she signed a 20 some page order?

THE WITNESS:  She wrote her own orders.

MR. FREEMAN:  So it wasn't the order that you gave her?

THE WITNESS:  It was not the order I gave her.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Any other questions?

REPRESENTATIVE SMITH:  When you came out of the chamber meeting, I think it was on the 16th?

THE WITNESS:  That's correct.

REPRESENTATIVE SMITH:  The judge had not made any decision on that hearing that you were going to have, correct?

THE WITNESS:  No, she had not.  We actually had a brief recess to try to work out visitation and some other issues and then we went on the record after.

REPRESENTATIVE SMITH:  Did you hear Mr. Rhoades say to his client in the hall that the judge has already made her decision?

THE WITNESS:  I did not hear him say that.

REPRESENTATIVE SMITH:  Thank you.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Mr. Jennings.

 (Witness sworn.)MR. CHAIRMAN:  Sir, please answer any questions our counsel, Mr. Couick, may have for you.

BLAIR C. JENNINGS, being first duly sworn by the Chairman, testified as follows:

EXAMINATION BY MR. COUICK:

Q.
State your full name, for the record.

A.
Blair Cunningham Jennings.

Q.
You're an attorney; is that correct?

A.
That's correct.

Q.
Where do you reside?

A.
At 1504 Island Overlook in Mount Pleasant.

Q.
How long have you lived in Mount Pleasant?

A.
Just been back since November of 2000.

Q.
Are you a native of Charleston?

A.
Yes, sir.

Q.
I understand that you were employed to represent Miss Brunson in some portion of the criminal and court proceedings we were discussing; is that correct?

A.
I was.  I am not currently.

Q.
You're currently employed with the solicitor's office?

A.
Correct.

Q.
At the time you were employed by Miss Brunson you were representing mainly the criminal or the family, custody side?

A.
When it initially came to our office it was to facilitate her turning herself in on the criminal charges and to participate in that process, and then I was also taking the opportunity to take part in the Family Court proceedings.  Since I had not had any experience with Family Court I went with Ms. Myrick and Mr. Goodstein to learn about that.

Q.
Mr. Jennings, you've heard the testimony of both Mr. Goodstein and Ms. Myrick.  I'd like to make these proceedings as efficient as possible.  Is there any characterization that you disagree as to the manner of ex parte communication with Ms. Myrick as to what occurred?

A.
Yes, at the time I didn't know the procedures and exactly what was going on as far as the motions that had been filed and sort of where things stood procedurally with the Family Court process.  But I agree with her characterization of the demeanor of Judge Jefferson and the conversations.

Q.
You're getting a little bit ahead of me.  I would ask each one separately.  In terms of whether there was an intimidation factor or punitive threat about visitation, would her testimony tend to be the same, were you ever aware of any threat made about visitation?

A.
No.

Q.
Abusive behavior by cutting in, you heard her characterization of what happened.  Is there anything you would like to add or subtract from her testimony about that?

A.
I would just add that I was surprised with Mr. Rhoades' behavior and I asked her during one of the proceedings, since this was the first time I appeared in Family Court, if this was normal in the way that attorneys addressed Family Court judges due to his cutting the judge off and antagonistic behavior at times, but otherwise I would agree with her assessment.

Q.
The final general matter as it relates to there being a decision made at the in‑chambers meeting and Judge Jefferson giving advance notice what her decision would be.  Did you hear any representation by Judge Jefferson that she made a decision, prejudged the situation?

A.
No, sir, I did not.

Q.
You were present at all the hearings; is that correct?

A.
That's correct.

Q.
What's your general perception of Judge Jefferson's temperament?

A.
I thought she was very fair and patient.  I thought she was extremely patient with Mr. Rhoades and his behavior.  Some of the hearings ‑‑ she never raised her voice during the hearings that I was present at.

Q.
Have you had any other occasion to appear before Judge Jefferson other than in the Brunson matter?

A.
I have not.

Q.
Do you see Judge Jefferson from time to time in your capacity with the solicitor's office?

A.
I've run into her in the parking lot of the Berkeley County Courthouse once and that's it.  I'm in General Sessions.

Q.
You filed an affidavit with the Commission dated April 12th, Mr. Jennings.  Does that testimony continue to be true?

A.
It does.

Q.
There you talk about your representation in the case, you talk about your observations of Judge Jefferson and your participation in the hearings.  I would draw that to the attention of the committee members.  I have no further questions of Mr. Jennings.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Does any member of the Commission have any questions?

MR. FREEMAN:  Do you remember at the April 20th hearing being called to the bench by the judge and her saying something with Ms. Myrick and Mr. Rhoades being there to the effect that she thought Mr. Rhoades' actions had been contemptuous and that she and colleagues had discussed the matter and she had decided she would probably hold him in contempt?

THE WITNESS:  My recollection is that --

MR. FREEMAN:  Just tell me, do you remember this?

THE WITNESS:  Yes.

MR. FREEMAN:  Tell me everything you remember about that.

THE WITNESS:  My recollection is that she had discussed his behavior in the courtroom and if that had continued on the trend that it had been up until that point, that she will consider holding him in contempt as an option.

MR. FREEMAN:  Had she discussed him personally, Dusty Rhoades' behavior or that type of behavior?

THE WITNESS:  That type of behavior.  She did not use ‑‑ say that she had brought his name up specifically.

MR. FREEMAN:  Was it one colleague or more than one colleague?  What do you remember about that?

THE WITNESS:  I don't recall her using the term colleagues.  I don't remember if it was plural.

MR. FREEMAN:  Do you remember anything else about the incident?

THE WITNESS:  No, sir.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  Any other questions?  That concludes the questions.  Thank you, sir.

MR. COUICK:  Mr. Chairman, we're at a point, aside from the court reporter, we have heard from both sides of the witnesses in the matter of Brunson.  The court reporter obviously has lots of exposure to Judge Jefferson, also has tapes that she had forwarded up to us and we have possession of.

I would give the Commission as an option, we can now hear from Judge Jefferson as a response to the Brunson matter or we can go back and let Mr. Rhoades respond.  Excuse me, let Mr. Rhoades address two smaller case matters that I don't think will take much time.  I'll be glad to be guided by how the Commission wishes to proceed.

MR. CHAIRMAN:  How does the Commission wish to proceed?  Any preference?

JUDGE SHAW:  Let's go to the two small matters and then let her testify to all three at one time.

MR. COUICK:  Mr. Rhoades, if you could, come forward.  

EXAMINATION BY MR. COUICK:

Q.
I'll remind you that you are still under oath.  When you filed your affidavit you referenced a case called the Graham case which is on page seven of nine of your affidavit.  There you talk about two other attorneys that were having a case before Judge Jefferson after an in‑chambers meeting.  I'm summarizing part of what you have here.

Counsel to the Commission contacted each of the attorneys involved, Stirling and DeTreville.  Miss DeTreville chose not to file an affidavit.  Miss Stirling did and her affidavit is under attachment 14 for the members of the commission's reference.  Neither party chose to call Miss Stirling today to discuss this matter.

I have cautioned you and I have discussed with Mr. Johnson the only matter that you can talk about would be your observations about Judge Jefferson.  Realizing that you have Miss Stirling's affidavit here, is there anything that you would like to discuss specifically about that?

A.
If I understand you correctly what I observed was completely different treatment with Judge Jefferson's treatment of Ann Stirling compared to what she ‑‑ the treatment she gave to me.  Do you want me to expound on that?

Q.
I don't want to be in a position of taking you on your testimony, Mr. Rhoades, and that's why I'm trying to be very cautious, and that's why I pointed out Miss Stirling's affidavit under tab 14 where she talks about that she supports Judge Jefferson being elected to the Circuit Court bench and thinks she'll do a fine job there and that it would ‑‑ she has no strong independent memory of the hearing, and from her discussion with me that affidavit is consistent.  Do you wish to proceed and offer testimony on this matter?

A.
Yes.  Robert Polk's affidavit is, I believe part of this, too.

Q.
No one subpoenaed him.  His affidavit is not before the Commission.

A.
My concern about it is that I was sitting in a hearing in the Graham case and I had to find out about it later and I was just an audience member.  Mr. Polk was standing or sitting next to me.  We watched as Ann Stirling and I believe Miss DeTreville, I think Lee Robertson came back in from an in‑chambers meeting. 

Miss Stirling said to Judge Jefferson in an extremely loud voice and very angry, saying I want to go on record.  You haven't read anything.  Judge Jefferson had consistently a reputation of her not ‑‑

Q.
Excuse me just a minute.  Now I want to be very careful, Mr. Rhoades, about what it is we're talking about.  I want to restrict it to this case and to what your impressions were.

A.
As to this case I would give her credit that it was just the reverse, that Judge Jefferson sat there and probably took far more than she should have because if anybody was out of line in that case, Miss Stirling was.  She was virtually yelling at Judge Jefferson.

That particularly upset me when we came to our case, the Brunson case, because I was the exact opposite, contrary to what I just heard, and went out of my way to remember the commentary that I testified to earlier.  Yet, I was being bludgeoned or cut off every time I turned around and the attitude that I was getting of Judge Jefferson when she did absolutely nothing when she probably should have to Ann Stirling. 

I didn't understand the inconsistency.  The point I was trying to make is why is it one way this time and nothing apparently for whatever reason that she let Miss Stirling go on and on yelling, really out of line.  Frankly, in my opinion, far over the line ethically as to why she wasn't in contempt of court.  Ann Stirling was in my opinion. 

Yet, I didn't do any of that and I'm being threatened for it in the Brunson matter.  That was the point I was making, the inconsistencies, contradictions.

MR. COUICK:  Mr. Chairman, I have no further questions.

VICE CHAIRMAN:  Does any member of the Commission have any questions at this time?

BY MR. COUICK:

Q.
This is the next matter.  Mr. Rhoades this part of your complaint, page seven, you represent that you were the father's attorney.  Stanley Feldman was the mother's attorney.  You said you were at a temporary relief hearing on October 4th, 1996 in part discussing visitation.  It was an issue about summer visitation not stated in the order. 

The judge told us she could read whatever she wanted to into an order.  The judge was reviewing a previous order.  I'm quoting, "This is an example of what I heard her state many times regarding what she considered her virtual total control to interpret an order by adding provisions she thought appropriate though not an issue before her."  If you would, please characterize your concerns about that.

A.
I don't have anything to add to it, but I'm not sure if you want to ask me if I want to expound on it.  It was to point out patterns of conduct that I have seen and, finally, the so‑called straw that broke the camel's back was the Brunson case, and that's why I offered that as an example. 

One thing I do want to add.  I have been through this process before and I clearly did not understand that while affidavits are submitted that affidavits wouldn't be submitted if the individual was not somehow formally listed.   I don't know of any rules that indicate that. 

I understood that Mr. Polk's affidavit was going to be a part of this and I understood that ‑‑ I misunderstood, correct me if I'm wrong if that's the case.  My misunderstanding then was that Mr. Polk's affidavit, Roberta Diamond's affidavit, and that's why I didn't know they had to be less than specific. 

Had I known that and had I known that it was incumbent upon me to specifically say he needed to be here in lieu of an affidavit unless opposing counsel wanted that to happen.  I would like it clear for the record that I would have, but I just didn't understand that to be the case, my misunderstanding.

MR. COUICK:  Mr. Chairman, I'm very sorry if there was a misunderstanding.  I have talked to Mr. Rhoades on several occasions and one of the things I thought I made clear was that counsel gave everyone the opportunity to review every affidavit that had been submitted.  Miss Diamond never chose to submit one until the last moment.

In the case of Mr. Polk, I would also say I would rely upon each counsel, you and Mr. Johnson, telling me who you want called and those would be the persons that would be called as witnesses.

The Commission has collected all the affidavits as part of its fact finding process.  In fact, I've referenced Miss Stirling's today because we had gone into that case.  Also, Mr. Polk's, there's nothing about Mr. Polk's, I'll ask you, that would take away from your testimony.  The Commission also has a copy available at tab 12 of their notebook.  I think that serves the purpose of what you're speaking to.

THE WITNESS:  That's correct.

MR. COUICK:  They're not here as witnesses because you chose not to call Mr. Polk.

THE WITNESS:  That's correct.  Well then maybe we don't have a misunderstanding.  I thought that the Committee would receive the affidavits in lieu of the live testimony, if what my understanding was that the live testimony was thought by one side or the other not to add anything to the affidavits, then I wouldn't have to ask that anybody be called.  What I again misunderstood as to the case, I thought you were saying that these affidavits would not be considered by the Committee.

MR. COUICK:  What I'm saying, and I want to be clear about this, Mr. Chairman, you have the burden of carrying forward your case as it relates to your complaint.  Mr. Johnson has to respond.  To the degree that neither one of you were called to question evidence which may be directed towards what you say or what Mr. Johnson says, these are available for counsel, for the Commission to bring up, but they're not being brought up with the exception of Miss Stirling.

THE WITNESS:  Whatever, if there was just a misunderstanding, it was just that, nothing more.

MR. COUICK:  I have no further questions.

VICE CHAIRMAN:  Does any member of the Commission have any questions? 

MR. COUICK:  Mr. Chairman, at this time I would at this point like to give Mr. Johnson the opportunity to either call Miss Danner or call Judge Jefferson.

MR. JOHNSON:  Miss Danner.

MR. COUICK:  Miss Danner, if you would, let the chairman swear you.

 (Witness sworn.)

VICE CHAIRMAN:  Please answer any questions Mr. Couick has.

PATRICIA DANNER, being first duly sworn by the Vice Chairman, testified as follows:

EXAMINATION BY MR. COUICK:

Q.
Miss Danner, please state your full name for the record.

A.
My name is Patricia Ann Danner.

Q.
You reside where?

A.
222 Okehampton O‑k‑e‑h‑a‑m‑p‑t‑o‑n Drive, Goose Creek.

Q.
How long have you lived in Goose Creek?

A.
Maybe five, maybe six years. 

Q.
Are you a native of Charleston?

A.
'm a native of Colleton County.

Q.
Did you know Judge Jefferson before becoming a court reporter?

A.
No, sir.

Q.
Do you have a social relationship with Judge Jefferson?

A.
No, sir, other than going to lunch every day.  Not every day but a lot.  But other than that, no, sir.

Q.
Last week I had the Commission forward to you a subpoena to ask you for each of the tapes in each of the matters that were referenced.  You provided those; is that correct?

A.
Yes, sir, the ones that I had.

Q.
Are those are the only tapes in existence that relate to those cases mentioned; is that correct?

A.
Yes, sir.

Q.
Are those originals or are those copies of tapes?

A.
Those are the originals.

Q.
Do you have another copy?

A.
No, sir.

Q.
So we have the only tapes in your possession of those hearings?

A.
Yes, sir.

Q.
Miss Danner, were you present during the Brunson hearing?

A.
Yes, sir.

Q.
What was your general impression of Judge Jefferson's temperament?

A.
I thought her temperament was fine.  I didn't see anything out of the ordinary.

Q.
Has she ever lost her temper with you?

A.
No, sir.

Q.
Have there ever been occasions when you thought it would probably be appropriate for her to lose her temper with you?

A.
Yes, sir, when the bridge went out and I was late.  Yes, sir.

Q.
Do you have any recollection of Judge Jefferson losing her temper on any occasion when you served as a court reporter in the courtroom?

A.
No, sir.

Q.
Have there been occasions when it probably would have been appropriate for her to lose her temper?

A.
Lots, yes, sir.

Q.
What kind of occasions would those have been that she did not lose her temper that she should have?

A.
When ‑‑ I guess I would say when we're really, really behind.  Like we've had a real rough docket and things were left off the docket and she was told maybe a case would last for, like, 30 minutes and it wound up being a two or three hour case and it's, you know.  She's got a lot of people waiting.

That's stress.  I guess I shouldn't say lose her temper but it's really stressful and maybe lash out at other people.  I think those are the--

Q.
Have you ever witnessed attorneys not treating her with the deference that you think she's due?

A.
Yes, sir, I have.

Q.
How often has that occurred?

A.
When she first started it was ‑‑ when she first started it was ‑‑ it's been maybe, like, once every two months or something.

Q.
Has it lessened as a problem over time?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Do you think Judge Jefferson has grown with her job?

A.
Yes.

Q.
What would you point to as a specific instance in how she has grown?  What does she do differently or better or less which may be appropriate than when she first came?

A.
When she first started she didn't know when to go home.  She would stay late.  She always would let me go to lunch, but she didn't know when to say okay, let's stop now and let's come back.  She's grown. 

She'll say we're going to have to stop at one and we'll start back at two.  And if we're in a long case, and that's when I mean she doesn't know when to go home, she'll say we'll stop at five and we'll just have to go back.

Q.
Any other changes in her temperament or behavior or how she manages her courtroom over the last several years?

A.
No, she has always, you know, been just ‑‑ I haven't seen any changes.

Q.
Would you normally have been requested to go in to chambers with Judge Jefferson on a matter like in Brunson the first day you were having discussions with the attorneys?

A.
No, sir.

Q.
Are you ever called in chambers to record those proceedings?

A.
No, sir.

Q.
You have never on a single occasion been called in to make a transcript of what has transpired in chambers?

A.
No, sir.  You mean before I went to work with her and after?

Q.
Right.

A.
No, sir, not before and no, sir, not after.

Q.
So on no occasion then during your being a court reporter have you been called in to a judge's chambers and said we're meeting and we're out of the courtroom and we want a record of this or an attorney has insisted on a record?

A.
Of an in‑chambers conference?

Q.
Right.

A.
No, sir, I have never.  The only time I can remember is the one time, and it was before I went to work with Judge Jefferson.  They were ‑‑ the attorneys, and I can't remember the judge, they were having a phone conference and they were kind of settling the case over the phone and that's the only occasion.

Q.
They wanted you to get the details down; is that right?

A.
Yes, sir, and put it on conference.


Q.
You were present during each of the hearings on Brunson that have been referenced today, which would be the one on the 16th of February, the one on the 31st of March, April 17th, April 20th and one in June.  Do you recollect being at each of those?

A.
Yes, sir, except for April the 17th.  I don't think that was a hearing.  I think that's a date that you all got wrong.

Q.
Could you tell me about Mr. Rhoades at each of those hearings?

A.
MR. COUICK:  Mr. Chairman, I have no further questions.

VICE CHAIRMAN:  Does any member of the Commission have any questions for this lady?  Thank you, ma'am.

MR. COUICK:  Mr. Chairman, if I could put this on the record before we go on to Judge Jefferson.  There was another complaint filed in this matter.  It's the complaint on Ms. Gaither, G‑a‑i‑t‑h‑e‑r.  It's in the matter of Julie Ann Gaither, 15 through 25 of your notebook. 

Ms. Gaither has been contacted by Ms. Addy over the last several days trying to make arrangements for her to be present.  She is not present.  She was the person earlier today that needed permission from her counsel to file a response of affidavit. 

I'll be glad to discuss those later with the Commission, but because she is not present now we have provided that to Judge Jefferson, copies of everything.  I believe that would be part of the hearing today.

VICE CHAIRMAN:  Judge Jefferson, I believe you have been sworn previously and you're still under oath.  Please answer any questions Mr. Couick may have.

EXAMINATION BY MR. COUICK:

Q.
Judge, I have a couple big groups of questions.  I'll be glad to try to give you as much time as you need to explain.  I want to kind of move through each of the groups and maybe come back and give you an overall chance for a statement at the end.

A.
Sure.

Q.
Taking the big group of motion to recuse and there were four grounds that were given.  One being ex parte communication, two being the punitive ground of intimidation about visitation, and the third was abusive behavior particularly by cutting counsel off in his statements or arguments, and, finally, it was the matter already being decided and that had been indicated in the in‑chambers meeting on February 16th.

The motion to recuse was heard and you denied it the 31st of March; is that correct?

A.
I believe that date is correct.

Q.
But then you came back I guess sua sponte and granted a motion to recuse yourself on October the 6th or thereabouts.

A.
That's correct.

Q.
What is the difference in circumstances between that first denial of the motion to later on your own motion to recuse?

A.
I'll start with ‑‑ do you want me to explain why I denied the motion to recuse in March?

Q.
I don't particularly at this point in time care to go through each of those grounds, other than I want to accept for the moment for argument that your grounds were correct and that you decided not to bring that because you had factual circumstances of law or whatever to recuse that. 

My question goes beyond that.  What happened after that to give you grounds or reason to recuse yourself in October?  What was different?

A.
Well, there was an overriding factor within the Canons that deals with the administration of justice.  It's just sort of an overriding theme that we all are guided by, and  as the proceedings continued to progress I had the opportunity to step back and objectively review a lot of what was going on in terms of Mr. Rhoades' behavior and his contact with me and his reaction to me. 

Under Mallet I had no duty to recuse myself in October, but I felt because of the generalized requirements and ethics that are applicable to judges, that my continued involvement in the case made it unduly complicated.

I felt that at that point anything I did would just result in more motions and more cost to the Brunsons and I just felt in terms of as a judicial officer that sua sponte ‑‑ I needed to remove myself from the equation.  I felt that my involvement at that stage made it unduly complicated, made it more complicated than it needed to be.

In addition to that, just as an aside, I have several judges that I consider my mentors on the bench, who have been on the bench a lot longer than me who do not reside in Charleston County that I have spoken with.  Their advice to me was after you have ruled remove yourself from the case for those very reasons, that the administration of justice requires it. 

If you make a decision for visitation it's just going to compound it no matter what you do at this point.  No one can see it clearly and it's just going to result in an additional cost to these parties and it just makes it unduly complicated, and that is why I removed myself.

Q.
While waiting until that point, while waiting for the conclusion, what is the factor that factors into that?

A.
At the beginning the fact of the circumstances and the behavior of Mr. Rhoades were not markedly different, but it's just as the proceedings continued his behavior continued to escalate with the letters and other things and I felt continually it was being more and more confrontational and it was confrontational in the beginning.  It just continued to escalate.

The letters continued and it just got to the point where I just felt in terms of that case being dealt with efficiently my involvement made it inefficient for the Brunsons.  It didn't make it inefficient for me, so to speak, because I could distance myself from it, but I didn't feel that the Brunsons could, and I just felt that it unduly complicated ‑‑ was duly complicated for them and ran their costs up.

Q.
While waiting until you issued your order you were aware over the summer there were problems.  Why not just take yourself out then? Why wait until you finish and rule on the order?

A.
That was just the advice that I got from my older colleagues.

Q.
What was the basis of that advice?  Was it judicial efficiency?  What was the reason?

A.
That was it exactly, judicial efficiency.   That just my involvement unduly complicated it at that point because every time I got a letter I called one of them and I said, you know, this is continuing. 

They said, well, you know, if it continues to escalate you really need to remove yourself from the equation so that the Brunsons can go on with their case without your involvement.  Even though you have no duty to recuse yourself just in terms of judicial efficiency and economy, you need to remove yourself from the equation.

Q.
I guess let me ask you from the other side of the perspective.  Would it have been judicially inefficient to remove yourself prior to your determination of your order?

A.
The circumstances were different then.  Mr. Rhoades' behavior had not escalated to that stage at that point.  The emotions I think as time went on were more and more embroiled and I think as time went on it was much worse than it was at the beginning.

Q.
I want to be careful how I ask this question.  Let's assume that you knew in July everything that you knew in October which is different than what you knew in February.  But if you knew in July the level of what was going on, you had correspondence back and forth, would it have been inefficient with all the hearings that you held to say I'm going to pull out now and let some other judge review this?  Was that part of the reason?

A.
I think it wouldn't have been very beneficial because it would have been then asking another judge to have to review ‑‑ it would have been really re‑inventing the wheel.  It would have required another judge to relearn a case.  Not that I was personally invested in it, that is not what I am implying, but there was just no reason at that point for me to recuse myself.  The things that I learned subsequently I only ‑‑ if you imagine a snapshot is what I had in February, but by the end of it I had a full blown set of circumstances which was like a glimmer of what ‑

Q.
So I think I understand the reasoning behind your sua sponte motion to recuse yourself, your decision to do that, that was based on that weighing that you did there?

A.
Yes.

Q.
So moving back to your earlier denial of the motion to recuse and taking each of those things in part, starting with the ex parte communication, just briefly tell the Commission how you evaluated that portion of the motion.

A.
Just for purposes of history for the Commission, what happened that day and Ms. Rhoad is absolutely correct, in Charleston we have an emergency judge.  Every week we have duty and that rotates.  It's not any one particular person and it's done randomly and we have a schedule that begins at the beginning of the six months.

I was not the emergency judge that week.  The original package that was delivered to the court was not delivered to me.  It was delivered to Judge Andrews who was the emergency judge.  She sent that entire packet and granted an emergency hearing.  She then had the bailiff, who is Nathaniel Rivers, and that is who we have been referring to as Mr. Rivers.  He is my bailiff.  He's not a lawyer.  He's a retired police officer from New York, brought the documents to me and said Judge Andrews wants you to look at this stay because she can not grant it and that is what happened.  So I had no contact with Ms. Myrick.  I had no contact with anyone from her firm.

Q.
Was there anything inappropriate about handling it the way you handled it, even though you didn't have contact, you had communication?

A.
No, sir.  Under the Canons of Ethics as well as the statutory provision, a judge is allowed to engage in ex parte communications for scheduling and for emergencies and where there is a situation where irreparable harm may result.  And in my estimation and based upon the affidavit of Miss Brunson those circumstances did exist. 

And just for clarification, my order was signed one day and the hearing was the very next day.  So there was really no ‑‑ it was less than 24 hours between when I signed it and when the hearing was held, and I knew that when I did it because there would not be enough time for anyone to gain a tactical advantage or for there to be any jockeying of position.  It was merely an effort to maintain the status quo until the challenge could be heard.

Q.
The Canons, as I understand them, require that a judge make provisions and promptly notify all other parties of the substance of the ex parte communication and allow them the opportunity to respond.  How did you do that?

A.
The matters ‑‑ actually, what happened is once Judge Andrews signed her order, once I signed my order, they were then filed with the clerk's office.  They are then immediately delivered to the opposing attorney to immediately serve those documents on opposing counsel or the ‑‑ I guess Mr. Brunson in this instance which in my understanding they were immediately served with the documents.  I'm sorry.  I'm not sure I answered your question.

Q.
I'll ask a follow‑up to that.  As a Family Court judge are you aware of any independent burden that you typically carry of notification in Charleston County, other than what you did in terms of filing that order with the clerk's office?

A.
No, sir, and ex parte orders are really very rare.  I am a stickler about them.  I rarely sign them.  But they are very ‑‑ they are more often in the Family Court because you're dealing with issues of custody and allegations where children can be harmed or assets can be diminished.  They usually are very short in duration and the statute provides if there's not a hearing within ten days they have to dissolve, and most judges write that language in and they cite the rule and cite the time and date that the order was signed.

MR. COUICK:  Mr. Chairman, I have no other questions.  I want to stop at this point and talk about the ex parte communication and see if any member of the Commission has any questions about that.

VICE CHAIRMAN:  Does any member of the Commission have any questions about the ex parte communications?

MR. COUICK:  Mr. Chairman, the next allegation was of either intimidation or threat of punitive action as it relates to visitation. 

Q.
You were present, I believe, for the testimony on that earlier, Judge Jefferson.  How did you evaluate that as the grounds for the motion to recuse?

A.
Actually, that was not in my recollection.  You know, it's funny.  The more cases you hear, some come back to me immediately and others don't.  But I have no specific recollection of that being raised at the motion to recuse. 

I believe the underlying issues raised at the motion to recuse were ex parte communication and me being predisposed as to how I felt about the case, but those other things were not raised.

Q.
Including the abusive behavior of cutting in?

A.
That was not raised on the motion to recuse.

Q.
Then, finally, the last one is indicating that you already made a decision to pre‑decide the case during the February 16th in‑chambers meeting.  How did you evaluate whether that was a ground for you recusing yourself?

A.
I look back at my own behavior and what had actually transpired and what actually took place on that date.  Mrs. Brunson's affidavit indicated that Mr. Brunson and another person had colluded to kill her and that threat had been made in the presence of a therapist, Diane Hamrick, and some other things. 

What I did was prior to the beginning of the hearing it was evident to me that maybe full disclosure had not been made and before I could go any farther I wanted to give the parties ‑‑ you know, Family Court is an interesting animal because you deal with people's lives.  You deal with decisions that are far reaching that they have to live with for long periods of time.

So what I offered to them in‑chambers prior to beginning was what I felt was a middle of the road solution to the situation we all found ourselves in.  Something that was workable for Mr. Brunson that gave him immediate visitation and something that was workable for Mrs. Brunson.

And that is ‑‑ if you like I can tell you the substance of what I suggested or if you don't want me to. 

Q.
I don't want to get into the merits too much, but mainly your reasoning of why the motion to recuse should be raised.

A.
I looked at my behavior and determined that the ‑‑ I looked at the applicable case law and the case law is very clear, that a judge should recuse themselves if they have developed a bias or prejudice as a result of an extrajudicial source.  And I looked at that criteria in determining whether by some extrajudicial source I had developed a bias or prejudice in this case.  In my estimation I had not.

The cases are very clear.  They indicate that if a judge is predisposed on decision‑making as a result of their involvement in the case, that that is not bias or prejudice.  And I felt that my recommending a middle of the road solution was not an indication of bias or prejudice.  It was just an opportunity for them to work it out short of actually having to litigate it and incur the cost of litigation.

Q.
Judge Jefferson, during the course of the other hearings that took place after the motion to recuse hearing on the 31st, do you have any memory of your interaction with Mr. Rhoades and was it a tense situation between the two of you?

A.
I believe this is and this is, of course, my own perception.  I am a fairly easy going person.  It takes a lot.  I generally gauge behavior by the reaction of litigants because I can tolerate a whole lot of stuff and it will not bother me, but it was very obvious to me that Mr. Rhoades had acrimony about the situation, that he was upset and I tried the best that I could to address that without reacting myself.  I feel that I accomplished that.

I have to preface that thought by saying that perception is an interesting thing.  I have, you know, he may well have perceived that I was angry with him, but I was not.  Maybe in my attempts to help him understand that it didn't help.  I'm just not certain, but when I was speaking to him I was trying to relay his concerns.  I think that he was fairly wound up and confrontational in the proceedings and I was trying to even that out.

Q.
You've been on the bench for how long now, Judge?

A.
Five years.

Q.
What have you learned in five years?  Tell me not about the law but about how to do your job better as it relates to people.

A.
I've learned a lot.  It's amazing even in this situation.  You learn a lot.  Hindsight as they say is always 20/20.  I have learned that ‑‑ every day that I sit on the bench I look at myself and I say how can you do this a little bit better?  How can you make people more comfortable with the process?  And to the extent that I can I try to accomplish that. 

I have learned not to be so preachy with my juveniles, you know.  I've learned, you know, because you want to save every single one of them.  I've learned that as much as I want to that's not always possible and sometimes kids just don't hear.

I've learned not to say grace, as one of my mentors would say, so much with litigants because they don't always really want to hear you.  Does that make sense?  Like sometimes when you try to talk to parents and say I really need you all to come together and work together on this.  Most litigants really don't want to hear that. 

I've just grown in terms of ‑‑ even in terms of learning how to handle the courtroom, learning how to handle difficult lawyers and not react myself.  And as I indicated, my inclination is to ignore a lot.  So lots of things that I ‑‑ there are lots of things that I just don't react to. 

There's a joke at the courthouse.  My deputies call me Job.  They just think it's the funniest thing that I have the patience of Job, that I can just ignore a lot of things and so to the extent ‑‑ I think I've just matured a lot.  I've learned how to deal with people a little bit better which I think is an ongoing, developmental process as a sitting judge.

Q.
During the course of this screening process, including this hearing today, has there been anything that you learned?

A. 
I've learned a lot about perception and that has been very helpful to me.  It will color the way I do things in the future.  I've learned a lot about perception.

MR. COUICK:  I have no further questions.

VICE CHAIRMAN:  Does any member of the Commission have any questions of Judge Jefferson?

MR. FREEMAN:  The comments about Ann Stirling supposedly raging at you, do you have any memory of that happening at all?

THE WITNESS:  I remember that Miss Stirling was upset.  Just to clarify, this was not a case I heard for the first time.  It was the third or fourth hearing.  The documents had been delivered to me beforehand so I had the ability to read them.  And, I think, as I recall, she was upset and one of those situations where the bailiff kind of said to me, God, you have so much patience.

But you know what I've learned in sitting on the bench, there is a fine line and a difference between advocacy and rudeness.  There's some people that I know that they just get upset, but it's not being rude.  It is more in the line of advocacy.  I say to them, I need you to modulate your time or I need you to modify your time.  They immediately come to themselves and move on.

So, I think as a sitting judge you learn the distinction between those things.  You get to know different lawyers.  You get to know the ones who are rude and the ones who are just caught up in advocacy and caught up in the case. 

As I recall, she did cross the line a little, but in terms of knowing Miss Stirling as I do, she's a little high strung.  She gets very involved in her cases and I felt she kind of crossed the line a little bit in advocacy and when I maybe just sort of dropped my head a little bit she modulated her tone and she modified her behavior.  So I didn't see any need to address it.

Then, in addition to that, lawyers who generally do that come to you afterwards and apologize.  So you tend to just not think about it any more, and that is how I handled the situation.

VICE CHAIRMAN:  Mr. Smith.

REPRESENTATIVE SMITH:  Based on her tone she did not intimidate you?  You made your decision based on your knowledge and experience; is that correct?

THE WITNESS:  Yes, sir, on the facts and the law.

VICE CHAIRMAN:  Any other member of the Commission have any questions for Judge Jefferson?  Thank you, Judge Jefferson.  Judge, this concludes this portion of your screening.  This is, of course, the public hearing part of your screening and at any time that the Commission found it necessary we could recall you or recall any witnesses we wanted to and reconvene the public hearing portion of the screening process for that purpose.  Not that that's going to happen, but that is a possibility up until the time that we issue the report.

I would also remind you about the 48-hour rule.  You are not to contact anyone prior to, 48 hours after we issue the report. 

Thank you for participating and this concludes things.

(The proceedings concluded at 3:40 p.m.)
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